
Cabinet

Date Wednesday 12 September 2018
Time 10.00 am
Venue Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham

Business

Part A

Items during which the press and public are welcome to attend - 
members of the public can ask questions with the Chairman's 

agreement

1. Public Questions  
2. Minutes of the meeting held on 11 July 2018  (Pages 3 - 8)
3. Declarations of interest  
Key Decision:

4. Delivery proposals for Aykley Heads Strategic Employment Site - Joint 
Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services and 
Corporate Director of Resources [Key Decision: REAL/06/18]        
(Pages 9 - 42)

Ordinary Decisions:

5. Annual Reports 2017/18 - Health and Wellbeing Board and Local 
Safeguarding Adults Board - Joint Report of Corporate Director of Adult 
and Health Services, Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People's Services, Director of Transformation and Partnerships and  
Director of Public Health County Durham  (Pages 43 - 110)

6. Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2018/19 - Period to 30 June 
2018 - Report of Corporate Director of Resources  (Pages 111 - 136)

7. Update on the delivery of the Medium Term Financial Plan 8 - Report 
of Director of Transformation and Partnerships  (Pages 137 - 140)

8. Quarter One 2018/19 Performance Management Report - Report of 
Director of Transformation and Partnerships  (Pages 141 - 218)

9. Transport Asset Management Plan - Annual Update - Report of 
Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services                
(Pages 219 - 270)

10. Update on North East Combined Authority - Joint Report of Chief 
Executive Officer and Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local 
Services  (Pages 271 - 282)



11. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.  

12. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information.  

Part B

Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open to the 
public (consideration of exempt or confidential information)

Key Decision:

13. Delivery proposals for Aykley Heads Strategic Employment Site - Joint 
Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services and 
Corporate Director of Resources [Key Decision: REAL/06/18]  (Pages 
283 - 290)

Ordinary Decision:

14. Commercial Development Opportunity in the County - Joint Report of 
Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services and Corporate 
Director of Resources  (Pages 291 - 294)

15. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.  

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
4 September 2018

To: The Members of the Cabinet

Councillors S Henig and A Napier (Leader and Deputy Leader of the 
Council) together with Councillors J Allen, J Brown, O Gunn, 
L Hovvels, O Johnson, C Marshall, K Shaw and B Stephens

Contact: Ros Layfield Tel: 03000 269708



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a Meeting of Cabinet held in Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham, on 
Wednesday 11 July 2018 at 10.00 am

Present:

Councillor S Henig (Leader of the Council) in the Chair 

Cabinet Members:
Councillors O Gunn, L Hovvels, O Johnson, C Marshall, A Napier, K Shaw and B 
Stephens  

Also Present:
Councillors J Clare, R Crute, S Dunn, B Kellett, M McKeon and J Shuttleworth 

Apologies:
Apologies were received from Councillor J Allen and J Brown. 

1 Public Questions 

There were no public questions

2 Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 13 June 2018 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman. 

3 Declarations of interest 

There were no declarations made.

4 Medium Term Financial Plan(9), 2019/20-2022/23 and Reviews of the Local 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme, Council Tax Discounts and Business 
Discretionary Rate Reliefs [Key Decision: CORP/R/18/01] 

The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Resources and 
Director of Transformation and Partnerships which provided an update on the 
development of the 2019/20 budget and the Medium Term Financial Plan 
(MTFP(9)).  The report included reviews of the Local Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme, Council Tax Discounts and Business Rates Discretionary Rate Relief (for 
copy see file of minutes). 

Cabinet members explained that despite the significant challenges being faced by 
the authority as a result of the continual austerity measures being imposed by the 
government, through diligent planning the authority was in the best position it could 
be and able to maintain front line services, and protect the most vulnerable. 
There were concerns on the public health funding and the negative impact if any 
cuts to it were made by government, and they would continue to lobby on this. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



Officers and cabinet colleagues were thanked for their hard work and enabling 
Cabinet to consider the position early in the process. 

Resolved:

That the recommendations contained in the report be approved.

5 Treasury Management Outturn 2017/18 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources  which 
provided information on the Treasury Management outturn position for the year 
ended 31 March 2018 (for copy see file of minutes).

Resolved:

That the recommendations contained in the report be approved. 

6 2017/18 Final Outturn for the General Fund and Collection Fund

The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which 
provided information on the following:

(a) final revenue and capital outturn for the General Fund for 2017/18;

(b) final outturn for the Council’s Council Tax and Business Rates 
Collection Fund for 2017/18;

(c) use of and contributions to earmarked, cash limit and general 
reserves.

(for copy see file of minutes).

Resolved:

That the recommendations contained in the report be approved. 

7 Update on the delivery of the Medium Term Financial Plan 7 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships 
which provided confirmation that the 2017/18 Medium Term Financial Plan 7 has 
been successfully delivered (for copy see file of minutes).

Resolved:

That the report be noted. 

Page 4



8 Stronger Families Phase 2 Progress Report 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services which presented progress of the County Durham’s Stronger 
(Troubled) Families Programme (for copy of report see file of minutes).

Resolved:

That the recommendations contained in the report be approved. 

9 Children and Young People’s Services Annual Reports and Plans 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services which provided a summary of the following Children and Young 
People’s Services Annual Reports and Plans: 

(a) The Youth Justice Plan 2018/19.

(b) The Annual Report of Fostering Panels and the Fostering Service 2017/18.

(c) The Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 and 
Young People’s Annual Report 2017/18

(for copy see file of minutes).

Cabinet members spoke of the excellent work being undertaken in partnership, and 
asked that their thanks be conveyed to the Boards, Panels, and foster carers.

Resolved:

That the recommendations contained in the report be approved. 

10 Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report 2017-2018 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services which presented the Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report 
for April 2017 – March 2018 (for copy of report see file of minutes). The Corporate 
Director of Children and Young People’s Services advised that the reports would be 
forwarded for the information of full council, and overview and scrutiny.

Cabinet members advised of the excellent work undertaken by members of the 
Corporate Parenting Panel in raising its profile, and that their thanks be conveyed to 
all members of the Panel through its Chairman.

Resolved:

That the report be noted. 

Page 5



11 Lumiere Festival 2019 and 2021 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration and 
Local Services which informed Cabinet of the evaluation of the 2017 Lumiere 
Festival and sought approval for resources to stage a special 10th Anniversary 
Lumiere festival in 2019 with a further event in 2021 (for copy see file of minutes). 

Resolved: 

That the recommendations contained in the report be approved. 

12 Update on Rail Issues  

The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration and 
Local Services which informed Cabinet on current rail issues and to agree a 
position for the Council on key rail infrastructure and service improvements to help 
boost the economy of County Durham (for copy see file of minutes). 

Cabinet members spoke of the huge importance that rail has on the region and for 
its economy. Members would work with the appropriate authorities to ensure 
Durham and the north east has enhanced train services rather than a reduction. 
Councillor Marshall moved an additional recommendation to those listed in the 
report which was ‘Call on the government to give a commitment to publicly run the 
East Coast main line indefinitely, giving greater accountability and putting people 
before profits’.

Resolved: 

That the recommendations contained in the report be approved, together with the 
additional recommendation moved and seconded as detailed above.

13 Exclusion of the public 

Resolved: 

That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the grounds that it 
involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

14 Integra61 Financial Support [Key Decision: REAL/03/18] 

The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration and 
Local Services and the Corporate Director of Resources regarding financial support 
for the Integra61 project (for copy see file of minutes). 

Resolved: 

That the recommendations contained in the report be approved. 

Page 6



15 Business Durham – Purchase of Additional Properties [Key Decision: 
REAL/04/18] 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration and 
Local Services the purchase of additional properties for Business Durham (for copy 
see file of minutes). 

Councillor Marshall responded to the question from Cllr Dunn, one of the local 
members.

Resolved: 

That the recommendations contained in the report be approved. 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet 
 

12 September 2018 
 

Delivery proposals for Aykley Heads 
Strategic Employment Site 
 
 

Key Decision REAL/06/18 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Ian Thompson, Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local 
Services 
John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources 
Councillor Carl Marshall, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economic 
Regeneration 
Councillor Alan Napier, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Portfolio 
Holder for Finance 
 
 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1. Following the Cabinet decision of January 2018 to proceed with the Aykley 

Heads development, this report considers the next steps in delivering the site 
in order to ensure the proposed 6,000 jobs are secured for the benefit of 
County Durham’s economy. 
 

2. The report also proposes a strategy for development of the site in a flexible 
manner, enabling a responsive approach to opportunities and changes within 
the marketplace. 

 
Background 
 
3. The council’s overarching priority is to create an altogether wealthier Durham, 

improving the economic performance of County Durham as a whole.  This 
priority is reflected in the Sustainable Community Strategy and Regeneration 
Statement and is the central theme of the emerging County Durham Plan. 

 
4. In order to deliver the aspirations and in accordance with the Strategic 

Business Case and the Outline Business Case for the new Council 
headquarters, there is an opportunity to bring forward the Aykley Heads site 
for redevelopment as a strategic employment site (SES). 

5. The strategic objectives for the SES were established in 2015 as follows: 

 Maximise economic impact for County Durham; 

 New job creation in Durham City; 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



 To generate income for the council; 

 To deliver a business location of the highest quality; and 

 To create an environment where people want to work. 
 

The objectives will be kept under continual review. 
 

6. The development of Aykley Heads provides an opportunity to create a 
distinctive business location for the North East; providing high quality modern 
offices and complementary uses in a mature parkland setting with a unique 
work and lifestyle offering.  The site has the potential to attract over 700,000 
sq ft of development supporting approximately 6,000 new jobs. 
 

7. The site will be delivered across three phases beginning with the northern 
zone (phase 1) in 2019, park gateway (phase 2) from approximately 2021 and 
parkland plateau (Phase 3) as a later phase depending on market demand.  
The areas are as identified on the Aykley Heads masterplan attached as 
Appendix 2. 
 

8. Overall, Aykley Heads presents an opportunity to bring forward a site that is of 
strategic importance for the economic future of the county and region.  To 
facilitate delivery  in January 2018 Cabinet agreed to note the masterplan for 
the site, approved the submission of an outline planning application later in 
2018/early 2019 and agree to receive a further report in late summer 2018 
setting out next steps to deliver this key regeneration project. 

 

The Site 
 

9. The Aykley Heads masterplan presents a high quality city based site, laid out 
in campus style that respects and embraces the beautiful natural parkland 
landscape of the site, with amazing views to the World Heritage site.  It has a 
direct adjacency to a main line train station, meaning it is 2.5 hours by train 
to London. 
 

10. Sites of this calibre are rarely available and there is currently nothing that 
matches it within the North East.  It is anticipated the site will be a high 
quality business destination that has a unique and distinctive offer and 
retaining these characteristics and developing the site to a high quality 
standard will therefore be central to the success of the development. 
 

11. Analysis of the potential of the Aykley Heads site has been ongoing over the 
past few years, with a particular focus on the northern part of the site.  Land 
is currently available to bring forward development in this part of the site. 

 
Current Position 
 
12. Development within Durham has traditionally occurred when pre-lets have 

been secured meaning that an office development has become fundable, 
thereby limiting the risk for developers.  Across large parts of the UK, market 
conditions mean that developers are often unwilling to speculatively develop 
any good quality office stock and Durham city has been no exception.  This 

Page 10



has meant that there is no surplus good quality office stock readily available 
to meet the needs of companies looking to locate into the area. 

 
13. To understand the approach to developing the SES, a professional team of 

advisors were appointed to assist with the production of a development and 
delivery strategy and a landscape strategy/masterplan. 
 

14. Demand to date for Aykley Heads has been strong, particularly with the 
recent focus on the northern oart of the site, as a location for new and 
expanding businesses.  Salvus House is approaching full occupancy and 
Waterstons will be moving into Northumbria House towards the end of the 
year.  There is clearly proven demand for the location as can be seen by the 
fact there is very little floorspace remaining on the site. 
 

15. As part of the work, research into current office requirements for the North 
East was explored.  Size requirements range from 6,000 sq ft to 60,000 sq ft. 
with the average being around 21,000 sq ft.  Many of these are footloose 
and therefore could be attracted to Aykley Heads given the unique setting of 
a city centre.  Other key factors were access to customers and talent, cost of 
location, quality of buildings and central location.  If just one of these 
prospective tenants could be attracted to Aykley Heads per annum, then this 
would give the site a sound base on which to create a successful office park. 
 

16. The final report completed in March 2018 recommended phase 1 northern 
zone could be developed ahead of the area currently occupied by County 
Hall.  It therefore should be considered for marketing and delivery 
immediately to stimulate interest and demand in the site.  The area of the 
northern zone in council ownership (plots C and D) would provide between 
circa 65,000 sq ft to 134,000 sq ft of office accommodation.  Plot E, also in 
the northern zone, is in the ownership of Durham Constabulary and 
discussions are underway with them regarding the future of plot E. 
 

17. Following the January 2018 Cabinet decision and in order to move the 
development of the site forward, specialist planning consultants and 
architects were appointed in spring 2018 to prepare and submit a hybrid 
planning application, with full planning on plots C & D and outline planning 
for the remainder of phase 1 and 2.  Phase 2 includes the current visitor car 
park which is in the greenbelt and will need to be dealt with sensitively 
through the planning process.  This will provide certainty and confidence to 
the market irrespective of the procurement approach to deliver the site.  It is 
anticipated that a hybrid planning application will be prepared ready for 
submission in quarter 4 of 2018/2019. 
 

18. As part of the commission the architects will be responsible for designing 
plots C and D in phase 1 to RIBA Stage 3.  As outlined at paragraph 15, 
recent office requirements have been estimated at 21,000 sq ft within the 
region.  It is therefore proposed that plot C is speculatively developed within 
a floorspace of approximately 21,000 sq ft.  The building design will be 
flexible to accommodate multiple tenancies or expansion requirements.  This 
will maximise potential demand and minimise the council’s financial risk and 

Page 11



exposure.  However if a live enquiry was received, the architects and internal 
team would work with the organisation to design a bespoke building to their 
specific needs. 
 

19. At this stage, the priority will be plot C.  It is not proposed to develop plot D 
until such time demand is demonstrated or a user requirement has been 
established. 
 

Development and Delivery Options 
 

20. Part of the options appraisal work undertaken explored the delivery options 
for phase 1 and 2, which were: 
 

 Land Disposal (as a whole or part(s)) to a developer/investor – 
Although there would be an immediate capital receipt, the council would 
lose control. 

 Direct development by the council – Would provide confidence to the 
market so long as speed and efficiency are maintained.  Public sector 
procurement process would need to be followed. 

 Formation of a new company – Ability to make decisions on 
developments quickly, however would have tax implications (Corporation 
Tax, VAT, SDLT). 

 Joint Venture – Would still have a degree of control and the risk and 
return would be shared, however passive investors may be adverse to 
long term joint liability.  Not felt necessary for phase 1. 

  
21. Further details of the advantages and disadvantage of the options is 

attached as Appendix 3.  Examples of how other councils have delivered 
similar projects is attached in Appendix 4. 
 

22. The options were then scored against an agreed criteria (see Appendix 5).  
The overall conclusion of the exercise states that for phase 1, direct 
development by the council scores well in qualitative terms and is financially 
viable. 
 

23. Direct development by the council for phase 2 will depend on demand and 
uptake within phase 1 and changes within the broader office market.  
Consideration has been given to the fact that some form of joint venture / 
partnership arrangement may be required or may be desirable to share 
expertise, risk and costs to deliver development of future phases of the 
masterplan.  This will be informed by market demand, investment trends and 
the position of the council at that point in time. 
 

24. It is therefore recommended that phase 1 is directly developed by the 
council.  This will include speculatively building an office development on plot 
C and having outline designs and expertise available for other plots ready to 
respond to market interest.  Beyond the northern zone, i.e. when the site is 
ready to move into development on phase 2, it may be appropriate to bring a 
partner into the mix, dependent upon circumstances at that point in time. 

Page 12



Resources and Expertise 
 

25. Ensuring the right expertise is available to drive the development forward will 
be critical to the success of the overall development, with the early years 
being paramount to this.  As there is a need to compete effectively in the 
open market, the right level of experience and additional resources will be 
required.  There is therefore a requirement to finance ongoing revenue 
activities initially over a three year period. 
 

26. Taking into account the various options to manage the development going 
forward, it is clear that expertise in a range of disciplines will be required.  
This will include contract management, liaising with agents and overseeing 
negotiations.  Professional Services will be procured as most appropriate, 
without any direct ongoing implications on the Councils baseline budget.  
This will be undertaken in conjunction with Business Durham and will ensure 
such a key development opportunity is appropriately resourced. 
 

27. In addition, commercial property advice and relevant marketing input will be 
essential to the overall success of the scheme.  Whilst not all resources will 
be needed on day one, it is anticipated that these resources will be key in 
the early stages to establishing confidence in the market of the ability of the 
project to deliver its stated objectives.  This is estimated to cost in the order 
of £585,000 for the first three years, as follows: 

 
Professional Services £75,000 
Commercial Property Agent £50,000 
Marketing £50,000 
Contingencies £20,000 
Sub-total £195,000 
 
3 year total £585,000 

 
28. It is recommended that an earmarked reserve is created to fund this cost for 

the initial 3 year period.  Any costs in 2018/19 could be covered from general 
contingencies with any additional requirement being created as an 
earmarked reserve as part of the 2018/19 accounts closure process.  This 
does not include any site maintenance or estate management, however we 
would expect this would be nominal in the early years, due to guarantees 
and warranties. 
 

Branding and Marketing 
 

29. In order for the development to compete at a wider national and international 
level to attract employers and leading businesses, there is a need to brand 
the site and undertake relevant marketing activity.  To take this forward 
branding consultants have been appointed.  The work has been split into 
three phases, with the key deliverables: 

 
 
 

Page 13



Phase 1 – Who are we (August 2018 – October 2018) 
 
a) Create a brand identity (including name, logo and due diligence) for the 

business park at Aykley Heads.  Trademark the company name and logo. 
 

b) Create a consistent visual identity design system including straplines, 
images, fonts etc. 
 

c) Provide files and templates in all required formats, sizes and colours to 
allow the brand identity to be used.  Provide brand guidelines. 

 
Phase 2 – Here we are (October 2018 – December 2018) 
 
a) Create, set up and maintain a website, this will include design eg wire 

framing, sourcing domain names, hosting, etc. 
 

b) Prepare an online marketing brochure and digital marketing, including 
Search Engine Optimisation. 

 
 Phase 3 – Marketing and Public Relations (January 2019 – ongoing) 
 

This element will be key to attracting tenants and will involve formulating an 
effective marketing strategy.  This will involve engaging a commercial property 
agent who will be responsible for promoting the site, establishing leads and 
negotiating deals on behalf of the council.  The expertise of Business Durham 
will also be utilized. As part of the marketing strategy the following will be 
undertaken: 
 
a) Circulate the marketing brochure as widely as possible around the 

market place, as well as to interested parties and/or specific occupier 
mailing. 
 

b) Undertake a mailshot directly targeting occupiers within the North East 
office market. Part of this process would be to highlight potential 
occupiers who may be looking to expand.  Depending on how successful 
the target mailing campaign is, further market e-marketing techniques 
can be undertaken. 
 

c) Erect a marketing board at all entrances of the site, the hoardings should 
include marketing information including CGI images and agent contact 
details. 
 

d) Devise a programme of advertising on property websites, this should 
publicise the availability of the site at regional and national levels.  Web 
based enquiries are a main source of enquiries. 
 

e) Increase the awareness and coverage of the site through the use of 
social media which is increasingly being used to increase interest and 
web traffic activity. 
 

Page 14



f) Although a considerable amount of press comment has already been 
achieved, it would be advisable to obtain further press coverage in the 
local press, the specialist property press and other relevant publications. 

 
30. Phase 1 and 2 of the branding exercise will be funded through the current 

SES revenue budget, phase 3 will be funded through the budget identified at 
para 27. 
 

Procurement 
 

31. To deliver plot C in the northern zone, a delivery provider will need to be 
engaged to undertake the construction.  There will also be other ancillary 
services that are needed. 
 

32. A range of delivery routes have been examined in order to identify a 
contractor who can deliver a cost effective and good quality product in the 

most appropriate way and within a reasonable timescale.  These options are: 
 
a. Contract with Council Combined Services (Direct Services and 

Technical Services) 
 

In consultation with Council internal services, the award of works will be 
agreed to the most appropriate delivery route.  To ensure that delivery is 
undertaken in line with cost, quality and timing requirements.  

It is essential that we have confidence that the appointed contractor can 
deliver the scheme with maximum efficiency. 

b. NEPO Building Construction Framework 
 

The NEPO Building Construction Framework commenced on 1 April 
2018.  Projects let under the Framework Agreement can be of a 
construct only or a design and construct nature with regards to 
development, refurbishment or remodelling of existing properties owned 
and / or used by the framework users, new build projects or a 
combination of all these aspects inclusive of any external work 
associated with these projects, including demolition. 
 

  

Page 15



The framework is broken into 6 Lots and these are outlined below: 

Lot 1 
Northumber
land, Tyne 

& Wear and 
Durham up 

to 
£2,000,000 

Lot 2 Tees 
Valley up to 
£2,000,000 

Lot 3 
Northumber
land, Tyne 

& Wear and 
Durham 

£2,000,000 
- 

£5,000,000 

Lot 4 Tees 
Valley 

£2,000,000 - 
£5,000,000 

Lot 5 North 
East 

£5,000,000
+ 

Lot 6  
Housing 

Projects up 
to 

£2,500,000 

Brims Britcon Brims Britcon Esh 
Construction 

Able 
Construction 

Britcon F. Parkinson Britcon Engie/Keepmoat Interserve Northern Bear 

Hall 
Construction 

Hall 
Construction 

Northern 
Bear 

Robertson 
Construction 

Kier 
Construction 

Pringle 

Robertson 
Construction 

Robertson 
Construction 

Robertson 
Construction 

Surgo Sir Robert 
McAlpine 

Surgo 

Surgo Surgo Surgo Tolent Wates 
Construction 

T Manners 

T Manners T Manners Tolent Walter 
Thompson 

Wilmott 
Dixon 

Tolent 

Tolent  Tolent Walter 
Thompson 

William Birch   

The framework was established following an OJEU compliant process 
and is now operational for local authorities to access.  The NEPO 
Building Construction Framework (version 1) has been successfully 
utilised by the Council in the past 24 months in relation to NETPark plot 
2, Wharton Park and Thornley Waste Transfer Station.  The Framework 
would require a further competition process (within the relevant Lot).  It 
should be noted that there is a 1% rebate attached to the use of this 
Framework to be paid by the successful contractor to NEPO. 
 
The council can also insert clauses within the procurement and contract 
documentation relating to use of local supply chains, promoting the use 
of regionally based sub-contracting and supplier services where 
possible.  Via issue of a management information report the council can 
specify expectations relating to utilisation of local labour, local 
companies, SME’s, apprenticeships and graduates etc. 

c. SCAPE National Major Works Framework 
 

Scape System Build Ltd is a local authority controlled company wholly 
owned by Derby City, Derbyshire County, Gateshead, Nottingham City, 
Nottinghamshire County and Warwickshire County Councils in equal 
shares.  Scape was formed under section 95 of the 2003 Local 
Government Act and incorporated 21 December 2005, and began trading 
1 April 2006.  Scape acts as a Contracting Authority and Central 
Purchasing Body as defined in the EU Procurement Directives. 

There are a series of contracts which have been put in place by SCAPE. 
The contract which is the subject of this note is the National Major Works 
framework for works above £4million and is a single supplier 
arrangement with the contractor being Willmott Dixon.  Use of the 

Page 16



Framework will allow direct engagement with Wilmott Dixon to discuss 
and agree a cost envelope for the project.   
 
The Scape National Major Works Framework is a viable option and has 
been utilised in a previous procurement exercise, the NETPark Discovery 
building. The SCAPE solution allows a quick access solution however the 
major issue with utilising the SCAPE arrangement is one of best value as 
this is a single supplier arrangement and would therefore not be subject 
to a competitive process.  However, it should be noted that individual 
projects are costed by a combination of core costs, which were subject to 
market testing when the framework was procured, and by open book 
competitive tendering of the remainder of the project through a supply 
chain. 
 

d. New Procurement Process 
 
 Any new procurement exercise conducted by the council would be 

covered under the new Public Contracts Regulations which came into 
effect from 26 February 2015.  The following four main EU procurement 
procedures are available for the Council to access under the new 
regulations: 

a) Open procedure 
b) Restricted Procedure 
c) Competitive procedure with negotiation 
d) Competitive Dialogue 

Proceeding with a new procurement process would ensure contractors are 
matched very closely to our specific requirements but does entail a much 
longer and more costly lead in time. 

 
33. After further exploration, it is felt that undertaking a new procurement 

exercise will be time consuming and unnecessary for Phase 1.  The Scape 
route would result in speed and early cost certainty, however the overall 
costs could potentially be higher and there is no competitive process.  
Following the NEPO route will not be as quick as Scape due to the 
competition required, however the Council will have more capacity to tailor 
the requirements of the commission.  It also aligns well with council 
objectives to promote local/regional economy and skills 
 

34. Internal services will be engaged throughout the process to provide advice 
and guidance on the most cost effective and timely routes for delivery. 
 

Additional land holding 
 

35. Consideration needs to be given to the Police land (plot E).  The simplest 
way option would be to acquire the land.  The option to purchase would be 
dependent upon the purchase price and the impact upon the business case.  
Purchase of the land could be by way of an upfront payment or a deferred 

Page 17



consideration, dependent upon delivery approach.  Another alternative would 
be to have a promotion agreement/joint venture structure with the Police. 
 

36. Currently negotiations with the Police are ongoing.  Given the council’s 
objectives to maintain control and drive quality, confidence in the market is 
such that it is proposed the council develop plots C & D and potentially plot E 
subject to the result of Police negotiations. The option to purchase the Police 
land will be determined by the purchase price of the land. 

 
Highways Infrastructure 
 
37. Durham City currently suffers from peak hour traffic congestion principally 

dominated by employment and educational journeys.  However Durham also 
remains the most accessible location, well served by rail, bus and park and 
ride and is the obvious choice when considering employment growth. 
 

38. It is therefore imperative that growth planned for the Aykley Heads site can 
be achieved without significantly exacerbating the current congestion issues.  
In order to achieve this it is suggested that the amount of parking made 
available is balanced between the needs of the City with that of potential 
employers and that this is kept under review as the development is built out. 
 

39. The initial development of phase 1 of the site, the northern zone, will be 
delivered with similar levels of parking to that which is already available, thus 
having no impact on the highway network.  It will however be important that 
suitable management regimes are introduced to prevent people being 
attracted onto the site to park.  This will need to be a material consideration 
as part of the planning submission. 
 

40. Currently car trips to the wider Aykley Heads site are restricted by the 
amount of parking which is available.  There are approximately 900 existing 
spaces within the site that will be made available once County Hall has 
relocated.  Considering parking requirements for phase 2 of the development 
will therefore be essential. 

 
41. It must also be recognised that travel patterns continue to change and it 

cannot be assumed that the future occupiers if the site will have similar travel 
patterns to the County Council with staff generally entering and leaving the 
site within a relatively short window at the start and end of every day.  It is 
likely that future occupiers may well have differing demands than the current 
travel patterns generated by the County Council. 
 

42. Initial estimates also suggest that a less restrained approach to providing 
parking would see sufficient parking available to assist development until 
2030 before any negative impact arise on the network.  In this timeframe it is 
also expected that highway infrastructure proposals to reduce congestion in 
the city will be forthcoming, specifically the northern and western relief roads. 
 

43. It is therefore suggested that whilst parking provision of around 900 spaces 
for a user such as the County Council would be a sensible cap, as occupiers 

Page 18



come forward this could be considered depending on the times of day that 
traffic is generated and any resultant congestion.  Such a review would also 
reflect any infrastructure changes within the city. 
 

44. It is also the case that the development of the site must be considered 
alongside smarter choices programmes in managing the demand for car 
travel and promoting more sustainable travel. 
 

Recommended Way Forward 
 
45. This report sets out proposals to bring forward the Aykley Heads site in a 

way that should be understandable to the market and ensure delivery for all 
involved.  Relevant resources are being sought in terms of capital and 
revenue budgets and appropriate expertise and capacity within relevant and 
appropriate frameworks to meet the requirements of potential business 
tenants.  This will ensure the following benefits are realised: 
 

 The creation of up to 6,000 jobs; 

 Additional £400m Gross Value Added; 

 Increased asset value for the County Council as the lead landowner and 
developer; 

 Additional forecast revenue to the council over a 40 year timeframe  

 Additional business rates income of £1.5 million - £1.7 million per annum 
on completion of the whole site. 

 
46. The council will retain the freehold interest in phase 1 (plots C & D).  It is 

proposed to commission construction to build plot C speculatively.  The site 
will be marketed in conjunction with Business Durham and a commercial 
property agent who will be responsible for identifying potential tenants.  Plot 
D will be delivered as soon as there is confidence that there is market 
demand or that an end user commits to a tenancy.   
 

47. The benefits of the Council delivering phase 1 of the development include: 
 

 The establishment of a market presence for the Aykley Heads site at the 
earliest opportunity. 

 Financial structures that are simple and allow the council to assess its 
appetite for delivery of phase 2 of the site based on experience of a 
smaller quantum of floorspace and less risk exposure. 

 The council retains control over the quality of what is built. 
 

48. Elements that have been considered include: 
 

 Market need; 

 Financial modelling including the borrowing required to fund the 
development; 

 Procurement and legal advice on the best way forward; and 

 The level of internal expertise to deliver the scheme and marketing. 
 

Page 19



49. The Economic Development and Housing Service will lead the development 
as a key regeneration project supported by expertise from across the 
council.  These internal arrangements will be supported by commissioning 
external expertise to deliver the scheme in relation to commercial agency 
advice and marketing. 
 

50. Delivery arrangements will be kept under review on a phase by phase basis 
to manage the council’s exposure to risk and in response to market trends.  
Delivery of phase 2 which is the current County Hall site, will be subject to a 
further report.   

 
Indicative Timescales and Next Steps 

 
51. The indicative timescales are as follows: 

 

Milestone Completed 

Appoint planning consultants May 2018 

Appoint branding consultants August 2018 

Brand identity created October 2018 

Website and digital marketing 
created 

December 2018 

Begin marketing the site January 2019 

Design Plots C & D  
to RIBA Stage 3 

January 2019 

Hybrid Planning consent April 2019 

Greenbelt release decision for 
phase 2 

(Secretary of State) 

July 2019 

Finalise design and detailed costs 
to RIBA Stage 4 for Plot C 

July 2019 

Contractor appointed September 2019 

Construction begins (Plot C) January 2020 

Practical completion (Plot C) November 2021 

 
Recommendations and reasons 

 
52. It is recommended that Cabinet: 

 
a) Approve the commencement of the development of the Aykley Heads 

site. 
 

b) Approve that plots C & D will be directly delivered by the council using 
the most appropriate delivery method with delegated authority to the 
Director of Regeneration and Local Services in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder to deliver the development and occupational 
arrangements. 
 

c) Approve the capital requirement for Plot C, detailed in the 
accompanying report.  The financing of Plot D be approved via 

Page 20



delegated authority to the Director of Regeneration and Local Services 
and Corporate Director Resources in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holders for Economic Regeneration and Finance subject to a 
satisfactory business case and proven demand of concept on Plot C. 
 

d) Approve that plot E can be acquired from the Police subject to the 
purchase price negotiated satisfying a self-financing business case for 
the site. Delegated authority to be given to the Director of 
Regeneration and Local Services and Corporate Director Resources in 
consultation with the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economic 
Regeneration and the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance. 
 

e) Approve the revenue expenditure of £585k to cover relevant advisory 
costs over the next three years with 2018/19 costs met from general 
contingencies with an earmarked reserve set up during the 2018/19 
accounts closure process to meet any residual costs in future years 
 

f) Note the proposals and process relating to branding and marketing. 
 
Background papers 
Cabinet Reports – July 2015 & January 2018 
 

 

Contact:   Sarah Robson Tel: 03000 267332  

  

Page 21



 

APPENDIX 1:  Implications 
 

Finance –  

The full financial implications are considered in the accompanying Part B report. 
The capital request at this stage is on a self financing basis.  One off revenue costs 
of £0.585 million are sought for a three year period.  During 2018/19 costs will be 
covered from revenue contingency with an earmarked reserve set up during the 
2018/19 accounts closure process for any residual sum. 
 
Staffing – 
None. 
 
Equality and Diversity – 
None. 
 
Accommodation – 
None. 
 
Crime and Disorder – 
None. 
 
Human Rights – 
None. 
 
Consultation – 
None. 
 
Procurement – 
Procurement of a suitable contractor will be required to progress this scheme. 
 
Disability Discrimination Act – 
None. 
 
Legal Implications – 
Section 2 of the Local Authorities (Land) Act 1963 and the general power of 
competence under the Localism Act 2011 provide the council with the power to 
carry out the development itself or join with others to do so.  Subsequent disposals 
on a freehold or leasehold basis would be authorized by Section 123 of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 

  

Page 22



APPENDIX 2: Site Plan with Plots 
 

 
 

 

Page 23



 

APPENDIX 3: Advantages and Disadvantages 

 

Route Advantages Disadvantages 

Council Development  The establishment of a market 
presence 

 Providing confidence to the market 

 Controlling the timescales and 
quality of buildings 

 Value capture for Council 

 Buildings could be disposed of post 
development or retained for 
investment purposes 

 Could follow an established 
procurement framework 

 Decision making could be slow 

 Using the OJEU procurement 
process 

 Perception of Council 
determining its own planning 
submission leading to increased 
challenge 
 

Disposal to a Limited Liability 
Partnership (LLP) 

 Members have limited liability 

 It is transparent for tax purposes: 
members are taxed on their share 
of profits 

 The rules on SDLT and property 
investment partnerships are 
complex 

 Over bureaucratic to establish 

 Land ownership is predominantly 
with Council therefore LLP is 
unnecessary  
 

Disposal to a Limited Company  Well established entity and 
understood by investors and 
lenders 

 Limited Liability shareholders are 
able to ring fence any losses and 
liabilities  

 Need to file documents at 
Companies House, along with 
legal obligations ie directors 
duties 

 May be double taxation charge – 
Corporate tax on any profits and 
a charge to tax on the distribution 

P
age 24



of money via dividends or 
salary/bonus 

 Directors could have a potential 
conflict of interest 

 Does not meet the Councils 
objectives of maintaining control 
 

Non Council direct development –  
 
Disposal to a developer/investor 

 Immediate capital receipt  

 Little project governance/revenue 
saving 

 Potential for earlier delivery 

 No or little control over delivery 

 Lack of control of end use 

 Piece meal delivery 

 Potential for land banding and 
change of use in the future 
 

Non Council direct development –  
 
Establish a new management 
company of the Council 

 Ability to make decisions on 
developments/disposals quickly 
effectivity  

 Lack of political constraints 

 Market perception/brand image 

 If required in the future the 
company could partner with a 
private sector developer 
 

 Tax liabilities (Corporation Tax, 
VAT, SDLT) 

 If the Council were to provide 
funding, state aid issues would 
need to be considered. 

 Speed of procurement would be 
equal to that of the Council 

 No additional financial benefit to 
Council 
 

Non Council direct development –  
 
Disposal to a Joint Venture 

 Ability to maintain a degree of 
control 

 Sharing of risk and return 

 Leverage of capacity and capability 
regarding skills 

 Passive Investors may be 
adverse to long term joint liability 

 Companies House registration 
requirements – Limited partners 
and a General partner 

 Rules on Collective Investment 
Schemes under the Financial 
Services and Market Act 2000 P

age 25



APPENDIX 4: Examples of other Councils 

 

Name Purpose, description & 
timescales 

Governance/Partners Notes/Costs 

Newcastle Science Central 

 

http://www.newcastlesciencecentral.com/ 

 

 

Newcastle Science 
Central is a new urban 
quarter in the centre of 
Newcastle.  It aims to 
attract leading edge 
scientific and technology 
organisations to a mixed 
new community 
encompassing a variety 
of R&D, education, 
business and residential 
uses. 

 

Spanning 24 acres of 
mixed use prime city 
centre development land, 
it is the largest 
development of its kind 
in the UK 

 
The Core owned by 
Newcastle City Council, 
and managed by 
Creative Space 
Management created 
approximately 2,750 sqm 
of serviced office space 

Science Central is a 24-
acre development 
delivered by Newcastle 
Science City, a 
partnership between 
Newcastle City Council 
and Newcastle 
University.  
 
Several companies exist 
including - Newcastle 
Science Co Ltd Company 
limited by guarantee 
without share capital. 
Members of the company 
are NCC and Newcastle 
University.  50/50 
decision-making and 
ownership 
 
Newcastle Science 
Central LLP.  Members of 
the LLP are NCC and 
Newcastle University with 
equal share of decision-
making (but greater share 
of returns to NCC to 

The Core is an 
£11.2m building 
which has been 
funded through the 
European Union 
Regional 
Development Fund 
2007-2013 (ERDF), 
Regional Growth 
Fund and Newcastle 
City Council. 
 
Newcastle City 
Council has led on 
the development. 
 

P
age 26

http://www.newcastlesciencecentral.com/
http://www.newcastlesciencecity.com/
http://www.newcastlesciencecity.com/


for high growth 
technology and science-
based businesses, with 
additional event space 
for business networking 
and activities. 

 
The first phase of 
development was 
completed in Spring 
2015. This included the 
Core, two new public 
squares and the interim 
landscaping of the site. 

 

reflect greater input in 
terms of land) 
 
Newcastle Science 
Central Developments 
LLP 
 
Newcastle Science 
Central Management LLP 
(CRN OC415029) 

 

South Shields 365 

 

http://www.southshields365progress.com/ 

 

In January 2013 the 
£100m masterplan 
launched with 3 phases 
of delivery: 

 

 The word, a new 
Central Library and 
Digital Media Centre 

 A new central 
consolidated travel 
interchange 

 Improvements to the 
retail and leisure offer 

 

Rather than establish 

a stand alone joint venture 
company, the Council 
chose a 

straightforward 
development/ contractual 
agreement with the 
preferred partner to 
deliver a mix of 
commercial and 
residential regeneration 
across the sites. 

 

Muse Developments were 
appointed by South 
Tyneside Council in 

The transport 
interchange received 
£9.4m from the Local 
Growth Deal through 
the North East Local 
Enterprise 
Partnership. 

P
age 27

http://www.southshields365progress.com/


August 2013 as the 
delivery partner 

 

St Pauls Place, Sheffield 

 

https://stpaulsplace.co.uk/ 

 

 

 

St Paul’s Place is a high-
quality mixed-use 
scheme which features 
office developments, 
hotel, apartment block, 
car park, restaurants and 
cafes 

 

 

Joint development 
between CTP and U+I 

 

The construction of 3 St 
Paul’s Place went ahead 
following a landmark 
agreement between CTP 
and U+I, the specialist 
regeneration developer 
and investor, with 
Sheffield City Council and 
the Department for 
Communities and Local 
Government and built by 
Bowmer & Kirkland  

 

 

Sheffield City Region 

Sheffield is one of 
only three cities with 
ring fenced Tax 
Increment Finance 
(TIF) powers to 
create an investment 
pot to be spent on the 
City Centre.  Their 
first use of TIF was to 
enable CTP to 
develop 3 St Paul’s 
Place, completing the 
Heart of the City 
office development. 

 

3 St Paul’s Place is 
the first speculative 
office building in 
Sheffield to be 
developed since the 
recession. There is 
currently over 40,000 
sq ft of Grade A office 
space to rent, with 
office sizes 
dependent on 
occupiers’ needs. 

P
age 28

https://stpaulsplace.co.uk/


Funding was also 
provided by Sheffield 
City Region JESSICA 
Fund and ERDF 

 

5 St Pauls Square, Liverpool 

 

http://5stpaulssquare.com/ 

 

 

St Paul's Square is the 
gateway to Liverpool's 
new Central Business 
District, a prime business 
quarter centred on Old 
Hall Street and Pall Mall. 
The mixed-use 
development includes 3 
office blocks (372,000 sq 
ft), retail space, 
cafes/restaurants, new 
homes and a multi-storey 
car park. The 
development overlooks a 
stunning landscaped 
public square, which, in 
itself, has become a new 
inner-city destination. 

Timescales 2005 - 2011 

 

The scheme was 
developed by English 
Cities Fund (ECF) a joint 
venture between Legal & 
General, the HCA and 
Muse Developments. 

 

The overall cost was 

£150m 

Liverpool Pall Mall 

 

http://regeneratingliverpool.com/project/pall-
mall-exchange/ 

Liverpool City Council 
acquired a 1.2 hectare 
site from the HCA in 
2016 and is now using it 

A joint venture partnership 
between CTP, Kier 
Property and Liverpool 
City Council, has been 

In total it is estimated 
a scheme for the 
entire 4.2 hectare 
site, which lies within P

age 29

http://5stpaulssquare.com/
http://regeneratingliverpool.com/project/pall-mall-exchange/
http://regeneratingliverpool.com/project/pall-mall-exchange/


 

 

to expand the City’s 
commercial office district 
and transform the 
gateway to Liverpool’s 
central business district 

The masterplan 
comprises 400,000 sq ft 
Grade A+ office space 
for the city, as well as 
associated leisure, retail 
and landscaped public 
realm. 

This site would connect 
to St Paul’s Square, 
which underwent a £120 
million development in 
2011. 

formally appointed to 
deliver the Pall Mall 
scheme.  

 

the city centre’s 
Enterprise Zone, 
would be worth £200 
million and create 
1,800 jobs. 

 

 
 
 

P
age 30

http://regeneratingliverpool.com/project/pall-mall-exchange/
http://regeneratingliverpool.com/project/pall-mall-exchange/


 
APPENDIX 5: Outcomes from the Options Appraisal and Deliverability Work 
 
Following the Qualitative and Quantitative Options Appraisal undertaken, the following 
overall scores applied to agreed criteria were as follows: 
 

Criteria Measure Weight1 

1. Allow the Council sufficient control 
Scored 5 

2. Bring in key / missing capability / skills / 

capacity 

Scored 4 

3. Provides an appropriate risk for the Council 
Scored 3 

4. Generates an acceptable level of return 
Scored 2 

5. Provide access to funds 
Scored 1 

6. Is acceptable to the market (deliverable) 
Pass / Fail N/A 

 
As a result of the option appraisal work undertaken, the Council wants to retain a 
sufficient level of control to achieve its objectives, albeit acknowledging this may vary 
over the course of the project.  The overall conclusion of the report states that a 
structure relying on some form of self-development scores well in qualitative terms 
and, makes financial sense and may be the only option for the initial phase of works. 
 
There are a multitude of structures all capable of meeting the Council’s qualitative 
requirements and being financially and commercially viable.  However, the work went 
on to suggest that at this time it is unlikely that implementing any of these options in 
isolation is likely to best serve the Council in terms of: 
 

 Providing the likely “best consideration” for the site were conditions to improve as 
interest grows with a consequential impact on values etc, and 

 Giving the Council the flexibility to respond to these changing circumstances make 
future decisions based upon risk, return, timescales for delivery etc. 

 
As a result, they have suggested a structure which can be adapted over time to take 
account of the changing circumstances both in market terms and practically (for 
example to reflect how the Police may wish to participate).  This structure is set out in 
the following diagram and discussed in the subsequent paragraphs: 

                                                           

1 5 being the most important / highest priority and 1 being the lowest – please note, this was not a 1-5 

scoring – criteria could be equally important but these were the results of the exercise. 

Page 31



 

Figure 1: Potential Delivery Structure 

We anticipate three phases in line with the Council’s Cabinet report - Phase 1 will be 
the Northern Zone on land largely owned (or potentially easily acquired from the 
Police) and unfettered by access, or due to the scale of development, the costs of 
additional utilities reinforcement.   
 
We consider that the Council should develop this phase as it is more likely to be 
comfortable accepting the risk and so it is likely to form the best value at this stage.  It 
would do this with external support as necessary from a Commercial Agent and 
potentially other technical delivery resource. 
 

Phase 2 development will be concentrated on the existing County Hall site and 
adjacent car parks.  The delivery strategy of this Phase will be dependent on the 
success of Phase 1 and whether the Council wishes to continue as developer or if any 
of the other delivery routes are more attractive (some of which such as traditional land 
sales or JVs may be considered unviable at the commencement of Phase 1). 
 
Should this Phase come forward, the mass of development will put sufficient strain on 
the highways and utilities provision that these would both need work.  In line with the 
advice set out in the commercial investment strategy (see Part B of this report), we 
would recommend that these “enabling” works together with the demolition of County 
Hall be undertaken by and paid for by the Council to give further certain to the 
developer market. 

 

 

Surplus / Dividend

Joint
Governance 

Arrangements

Occupiers

Lease

DCC Police?

Funders 
(Public/ 
Private)

Service 
Providers / 
Contractors

“Land”, £ and 

Lease / 
Security £

Works and 
Services £

PSP

£    £

Potentially Staff

Commercial 
/ Managing 

Agent

Services   £

Management (Only)

Developers

Freehold

(Mix to be 
Agreed)

Page 32



  
 

PROJECT RISK REGISTER 

 
Risks to successfully delivering Phase 1 - Strategic Employment Site, Aykley Heads project                                                    July 2018 

              

    GREEN AREA DENOTES APPETITE TO RISK   

IM
P

A
C

T
 O

N
 

P
R

O
G

R
A

M
M

E
  

 

CRITICAL  1.1, 1.2, 3.2    

MAJOR  4.1, 6.2    

MODERATE  3.1, 6.1, 6.3 5.1,   

MINOR  2.1 2.2, 4.2, 5.2   

INSIGNIFICANT      

  

REMOTE  
(< 11%) 

UNLIKELY  
(11 – 30%) 

POSSIBLE 
(31 – 60%) 

PROBABLE  
(61 – 80%) 

HIGHLY 
PROBABLE 

(> 80%) 

    LIKELIHOOD OF RISK OCCURRING 

 
 

P
age 33



 

Ref Risk Causes of Risk Potential Impact Existing controls 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t Conclusion 

Risk 
Owner 

  
  
  
  

  
  
 P

ro
je

c
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

 

 
 
 

1.1 

Failure to adhere 
to clear project 
management 
protocols 

Uncoordinated 
approach & poor 
programme aligned 
with decision 
making milestones. 

Aborted effort, 
inefficient decision 
making. Confused 
lines of 
accountability. 
 
Project creep. 

Project 
governance well 
established. 
  
Reporting 
milestones and 
project outputs 
agreed with CMT 
and Cabinet 
 

 

U
n
lik

e
ly

 

C
ri
ti
c
a
l 

Controls in place are 
satisfactory to Project 
Group & Sub Groups. 

FF 

1.2 Failure to 
coordinate the 
correct internal 
project team. 
 

Officers not 
available due to 
time constraints/ 
workloads / 
priorities.    

Project creep / 
uniformed decision 
making. 

Officers identified 
and meetings 
have been well 
established.  
 
Design Team to 
evaluate 
shortlisted options 
has been 
established.  

U
n
lik

e
ly

 

C
ri
ti
c
a
l 
 

Controls in place are 
satisfactory to Steering 
Group. 

FF 

P
age 34



 

Ref Risk Causes of Risk Potential Impact Existing controls 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t Conclusion 

Risk 
Owner 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 M

a
tt

e
rs

 

2.1 County Durham 
Plan is refused. 

Deletion of visitor 
car park greenbelt 
unacceptable to 
Planning 
inspectorate.  
 
 

Does not meet the 
requirements of a 
strategic business 
location.  
 
Reduced number of 
jobs in City.  
 
Reduced capital 
return on investment 

Approach to 
delivering the site 
is not dependant 
on the County 
Durham Plan and 
the planning 
approach will 
preceed the 
publication of the 
plan. 

U
n
lik

e
ly

 

M
in

o
r 

Risk has occurred and 
mitigation taken place  

MA 

2.2 Timing to secure 
alternative 
accommodation 
for HQ Office & 
Records/Archives 
to release site 

Delays to planning 
consents.   
 

Significant impact on 
timing of delivery 
areas within the SES.  

Regular liaison 
meetings with 
work stream leads 
& Steering Group 
to clarify/issues.  P

o
s
s
ib

le
  

M
in

o
r 

Review and refresh 
monthly  

SR/PC 
 

C
o
m

m
s
 &

 

S
ta

k
e
h
o
ld

e
r 

E
n
g
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 3.1 Failure to interact 

with 
Development 
Industry 

Lack of 
communication/repo
rt to development 
industry on current 
project/programme 

Failure to understand 
wide ranging 
approaches to 
development that 
could be taken in 
delivering the site 

Workshop to be 
organised, 
alongside regular 
informal catch up 
sessions U

n
lik

e
ly

 

M
o
d
e
ra

te
 

Regular dialogue is in place PC/FF 

P
age 35



 

Ref Risk Causes of Risk Potential Impact Existing controls 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t Conclusion 

Risk 
Owner 

3.2 Lack of 
consultation & 
public 
engagement 
during options 
analysis & 
business case 
preparation. 

Lack of 
communication / 
reporting. 

Project could receive 
adverse criticisms 

Communication 
strategy circulated 
and reviewed on a 
monthly basis.  

U
n
lik

e
ly

 

C
ri
ti
c
a
l 

Mitigation in place FF 

T
e
n
a
n
c
ie

s
 

4.1 Tenants not 
secured for 
Offices 

A tenant cannot be 
secured for the 
Office Block – could 
be due to a 
economic shock or 
high level of rent 
values. 

The financial impact 
would depend upon 
the time period that 
the office block is 
not tenanted.   

The financial 
model assume 
worse to best 
case scenarios in 
relation to tenants 
and voids U

n
lik

e
ly

 

M
a
jo

r 

There is already significant 
interest in this facility. The 
Council has already 
identified a low level of 
supply for office facilities in 
Durham in developing the 
strategy to utilise Aykley 
Heads as a strategic 
employment site.  

REAL - 
Assets 

P
age 36



 

Ref Risk Causes of Risk Potential Impact Existing controls 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t Conclusion 

Risk 
Owner 

4.2 Tenants cease to 
trade 

Bankruptcy of 
tenant 

Short term or 
possibly long term 
loss of income. The 
level of loss will be 
dependent upon the 
size of facility and the 
length of the void 
period 

The Council are 
committed to 
ensure that 
tenants have a 
strong covenant 
and are national 
organisations. 
This is required to 
reduce any risk in 
relation to 
financial standing 
whilst also 
seeking to ensure 
the development 
is successful 

P
o
s
s
ib

le
 

M
in

o
r 

Over the first 10 – 15 years 
of the development is is 
expected that the risk in 
this regard will be small. 
The Council will always 
seek to ensure that high 
quality tenants are secured 
but that if a tenant is lost 
another high quality tenant 
is secured. The Council will 
need to ensure that the 
financial standing of 
tenants is monitored. 

 

P
age 37



 

Ref Risk Causes of Risk Potential Impact Existing controls 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t Conclusion 

Risk 
Owner 

F
in

a
n
c
ia

l 

5.1 Construction cost 
is higher than 
forecast 

Initial estimate was 
not accurate or 
market conditions 
change 

Council income will 
need to cover the 
costs or the Council 
will suffer the deficit 

It is expected that 
the tender prices 
will be known in 
before that the 
Council will not be 
contractually 
committed to the 
scheme.  
After contract 
approval the full 
financial risk will 
rest with the 
developer i.e. any 
cost over runs will 
be the 
responsibility of 
the developer.  

P
o
s
s
ib

le
 

M
o
d
e
ra

te
 

If the tender prices are 
significantly in advance of 
forecasts the Council will 
need to reconsider it’s 
position. It would be 
disappointing however if 
this was the case as the 
Council has utilised cost 
consultants to determine 
the likely construction cost. 

 

5.2 Forecast Rental 
Levels are not 
achieved 

The rent levels are 
deemed to be too 
high, there is too 
much supply or 
there is an 
economic shock (eg 
implications of 
Brexit) 

The financial impact 
would depend upon 
what level of rent is 
secured compared to 
forecasts.  

Extensive 
research has been 
done by the 
Council in relation 
to forecast rents. It 
is deemed that the 
forecasts are 
prudent with the 
hope being that 
higher rentals can 
be secured that 
forecast. 

P
o
s
s
ib

le
 

M
in

o
r In relation to un let units the 

forecast rents are based 
upon market rent levels 

 

P
age 38



 

Ref Risk Causes of Risk Potential Impact Existing controls 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t Conclusion 

Risk 
Owner 

F
a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 

6.1 The council does 
not manage the 
facility effectively 

Resource is not 
dedicated to 
managing the facility 

Delays are 
encountered in re 
letting units and there 
is not a strategic 
approach to 
managing the facility 

Private sector 
partners will be 
procured to 
manage the 
shared 
areas/public 
realm. The 
Council will be 
responsible 
however for 
securing tenants 
at the end of lease 
periods across 
phase 1 and will 
always have a 
keen interest in 
the success of the 
site.  

U
n
lik

e
ly

 

M
o
d
e
ra

te
 

As the Council’s 
commercial approach 
expands, it is likely that 
specialised dedicated 
resource will be required. 
Dependent upon the type 
of commercial opportunity 
this resource could be in 
Assets, Business Durham, 
legal, finance or possibly 
other areas of the Council. 

 

P
age 39



 

Ref Risk Causes of Risk Potential Impact Existing controls 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t Conclusion 

Risk 
Owner 

6.2 Facilities cannot 
be relet at the 
end of lease 
periods 

High rent levels, 
market conditions, 
other voids in 
surrounding facilities 
etc 

If units could not be 
relet then the impact 
upon council income 
levels would be 
significant. 

This is very 
encouraging in 
terms of reducing 
risk in relation to 
future income at 
the end of tenancy 
periods. Working 
with partners the 
council will seek to 
ensure that the 
facility is 
maintained to the 
highest standard 
and that high 
quality tenants are 
secured.  

U
n
lik

e
ly

 

M
a
jo

r 

It will be essential that high 
quality tenants are secured 
especially in relation to the 
initial units as these will 
generate the required 
interest. 

 

P
age 40



 

Ref Risk Causes of Risk Potential Impact Existing controls 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t Conclusion 

Risk 
Owner 

6.3 The  value of the 
asset reduces 
due to poor 
maintenance 

The Council and 
other tenants does 
not control the 
maintenance of  the 
facility 

The public realm and 
buildings deteriorate 
which impacts upon 
the council ability to 
let units and 
devalues the asset 

The lease 
arrangement will 
be full repairing 
leases. Any 
outstanding repair 
works will be 
tracked through 
dilapidation 
clauses in the 
lease 
arrangements to 
ensure repairs are 
actioned. 

 
In terms of the 
public realm and 
shared use areas 
the council will 
charge a service 
charge across the 
facility and 
procure a market 
expert to manage 
these elements of 
the facility utilising 
the service charge 
to maintain shared 
areas/  

U
n
lik

e
ly

  

M
o
d
e
ra

te
 The arrangements in place 

should ensure that the 
building is maintained at a 
high standard including any 
areas of shared use and 
public realm 

 

 

P
age 41



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

Cabinet 
 
12 September 2018 
 
Annual Reports 2017/18 - Health and 
Wellbeing Board and Local Safeguarding 
Adults Board  

 

 
 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Jane Robinson, Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services 

Margaret Whellans, Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services 
Lorraine O’Donnell, Corporate Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships 
Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health County Durham 
Councillor Lucy Hovvels, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Adult and 
Health Services and Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board 

Councillor Olwyn Gunn, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children and 
Young People’s Services 

Councillor Joy Allen, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Transformation 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1 The purpose of this report is to present Cabinet with the following Annual 

Reports for information: 
 

(a) Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2017/18 (Appendix 2) 
 
(b) Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report (Appendix 3) 

 
Background 

 
2 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 required all upper tier local authorities to 

establish Health and Wellbeing Boards.  The County Durham Health and 
Wellbeing Board (HWB) was formally established as a committee of Durham 
County Council in April 2013.   

 
3 This is the fifth Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report, which outlines the 

achievements of the Board during its fifth year of operation.  It also includes 
details of locality health and wellbeing projects, which support the priorities of 
the Health and Wellbeing Board, as well as details of the future work for the 
Health and Wellbeing Board moving forward. 

 
4 The Care Act 2014 placed Safeguarding Adult Boards (SABs) upon a statutory 

footing with a requirement to produce and publicise an annual report. The 
supplementary Care & Support Statutory Guidance informs that the LSAB 

Page 43

Agenda Item 5



2 

 

Annual Report should have prominence on each core member’s website and 
be made available to other agencies. 

 
5 This is the third LSAB Annual Report, which provides information about 

achievements and challenges during the year 2017-18. It also includes 
perspectives of the key partners, key data and analysis on safeguarding activity, 
details of consultation activities and future actions for the Safeguarding Adults 
Board for the period 2018-21. 

 
Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2017/18 
 
Achievements 

 
6 The HWB Annual Report outlines a number of achievements, including key 

performance indicators which demonstrate improvements in the health of the 
population; developments in key programmes of work which have progressed 
the health agenda in the county; and, examples of initiatives which have taken 
place to achieve the strategic objectives in the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy. 

 

 An Integration Board has continued to lead on the plans for Health and 
Social Care Integration to meet the government’s target of achieving 
full integration by 2020, including: 
o Jointly commissioned local services, for example: Carers’ 

Services and the post diagnosis Autism Service. 
o ‘Teams Around Patients’ (TAPs) are operational across Durham, 

Dales, Easington and Sedgefield (DDES) and North Durham 
(ND) Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) areas. They are 
working in partnership to reduce avoidable admissions, 
permanent admissions to Care Homes, reduce delayed transfers 
of care and improve the health and wellbeing of older people 
and those with long term conditions.  

 

 The ‘Wellbeing for Life’ service has continued to deliver projects which 
are improving the health and wellbeing of the local population. They 
have adopted a multi-pronged approach to achieving their goals, 
focusing on one-to-one interaction, group sessions, increasing 
community capacity and training. For example, Health Trainers work 
with people one to one, over 8 sessions, to set personal goals which 
may include eating healthier, being more active or stopping smoking. 

 

 The actions within the County Durham Oral Health Strategy are 
making good progress, with nurseries in the top 30% most deprived 
communities to implement tooth brushing schemes.  

 

 The HWB received and approved the County Durham Joint 
Commissioning Plan 2017-2018 for Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities (SEND). The plan sets out Durham’s joint commissioning 
priorities for 2017-2018 across education, health and social care and 
details how each of these priorities will be taken forward. The HWB 
agreed to adopt the principles set out in the SEND ‘Promise’, which is 

Page 44



3 

 

a charter for young people with SEND presented by the eXtreme 
group (Investing in Children group made up of young people with 
special educational needs and disabilities). 

 

 The Healthy Weight Alliance have continued their work to halt the rise 
of obesity across the county by 2022. They have developed a strategic 
direction for this with 4 themes - leading by example, increasing play, 
give every child the best start in life and engaging the whole system. 
Linked to this is the work underway to deliver the Sugar Smart 
campaign across the county, which encourages local organisations to 
take varied actions to help their communities reduce their sugar 
consumption as part of their daily business.   

 

 The Dementia Action Alliance has continued to deliver a variety of 
projects across the county with the aim of reducing the impact of 
dementia. This work, linked to the Dementia Advisor Service, the 
Alzheimer’s Society and the Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) is being 
delivered under the Dementia Friendly Communities umbrella. 

 

 The HWB received a report on the Cancer Health Equity Audit 2017 
and agreed to develop a strategic action plan to address the identified 
inequalities in cancer incidence and mortality. Health equity audit (HEA) 
is an important tool when considering how to reduce health inequalities 
and inequities in the provision of appropriate services. It identifies how 
fairly services or other resources are distributed relative to the health 
needs of different groups and areas. 

 

 Durham has been chosen by the Local Government Association (LGA) 
as one of the prevention at scale pilot sites, looking at improving the 
scale and pace of mental health prevention and early intervention 
initiatives. 

 

 As part of the HWB statutory duties, the Board has agreed the 
recommendation of the County Durham Pharmaceutical Needs 
Assessment 2018-21, which has looked at the current provision of 
pharmacy services across County Durham. 

 
 Community Based Projects 
 

7 A number of local community based projects across County Durham support 
the priorities of the Health and Wellbeing Board, which aim to improve the 
health and wellbeing of people in their local communities.  Details of the 
projects, including those delivered by the Area Action Partnerships, are 
included in the Annual Report. Examples include: 

 

 Public Health and Durham County Council Education Service have 
rolled out a resilience programme for 75 schools in County Durham. 
Across the county we now deliver a flexible and responsive service 
24/7, 365 days a year, for children and young people experiencing a 
mental health crisis. 

Page 45



4 

 

 

 The Macmillan Joining the Dots Programme, working with Durham 
Community Action and the Wellbeing for Life service, has been 
delivering the ‘Coproduction Volunteers’ project for cancer sufferers 
and survivors. They have successfully recruited ten coproduction 
volunteers to the project. The volunteers have attended ‘Joining the 
Dots’ engagement events, analysed the issues and begun to develop 
solutions. 

 

 Each AAP has received £25,000 to support community led initiatives 
which are designed to reduce social isolation. For example – Great 
Aycliffe and Middridge AAP have established a ‘Buddies Befriending’ 
service which helps people to become more socially active. 

 
 Challenges  
 

8 The Health and Wellbeing Board vision is to ‘improve the health and wellbeing 
of the people of County Durham and reduce health inequalities’. As life 
expectancy continues to increase in County Durham, it is important to 
determine whether these additional years are being spent in good health or 
prolonged poor health and dependency. Healthy life expectancy at birth in 
County Durham is lower than the England average and there is substantial 
variation within the county.  

 
9 One of the greatest challenges facing the health service and providers of adult 

social care is how to respond to an increasingly older population and its 
changing needs. For example, falls in the over 65’s age group has significant 
impact upon people’s quality of life and the costs to health and social care 
services increases substantially following a person suffering a fall, and 
incidences of falls in County Durham are above the national average. 

 
10 A high proportion of Health and Social Care budgets are spent on treating ill 

health, yet 80% of heart disease, stroke and type 2 diabetes incidences, and 
50% of cancers could be avoided. This can be done by, for example, improving 
the numbers of women screened for cervical cancer to identify issues at an 
early stage, and provide an opportunity to improve the chances of successful 
treatment. 

 
11 An integrated whole system approach will facilitate a move away from episodic 

ill health and care towards a greater emphasis on early intervention, prevention 
and promoting independence. For example, the focus on ‘children having the 
best start in life’ will ensure that when a child is born they have the greatest 
possible opportunity to live a healthy life. This will be done by introducing 
interventions which reduce the numbers of mothers smoking whilst pregnant, 
improving breastfeeding rates and reducing the levels of excess weight in 
children of all ages by encouraging a more active lifestyle. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



5 

 

Future work of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

12 There are a number of initiatives that the Health and Wellbeing Board will 
continue to take forward during the coming year to support this approach, 
including the following: 

 

 Produce a new Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy from 2019. This 
will include a review of the priorities for the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, based on the evidence in the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment, to ensure a focus on improving the health and wellbeing 
of people in County Durham and reducing health inequalities. 

 

 Successfully enhance the quality of health and social care services by 
delivering the improvements being planned by the County Durham 
Integrated Care Board. This will include improving care quality, 
addressing the changes to demographics across the county, shifting 
towards prevention to ensure budgets are utilised to best effect, and 
managing the system to ensure the needs of the population are met 
where the population use services across a wider footprint than County 
Durham. 

 

 Continue the work to on the Oral Health Strategy to improve oral health 
of both children and adults across the county. 

 
13 Further details of the Health and Wellbeing Board’s future work are included in 

the Annual Report. 
 
 Local Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2017/18 
 
 Achievements 

 
14 The LSAB Annual Report evidences the progress of the LSAB during the 

financial year as outlined in the Care and Support Statutory guidance, including 
a number of notable key achievements.  
 

 In October 2017, the LSAB in partnership with the Safe Durham Partnership 
(SDP) hosted a successful event with focus upon financial abuse and 
related issues. The event raised awareness across wider stakeholders, 
providers, as well as adults and carers in receipt of services. It has 
contributed to a strengthened working relationship with wider partnerships, 
and services.  
 

 The LSAB raised awareness of safeguarding adults and related issues 
through the Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) safeguarding week.  
Over 860 staff (including partner agencies) attended events during that 
week, with a clear message shared that ‘Safeguarding is Everyone’s 
Responsibility’.  

 

 20,359 members of the wider workforce received some form of safeguarding 
training supportive of the board priorities of prevention and early 

Page 47



6 

 

intervention. It demonstrates a continued commitment to update staff and 
volunteers’ skills and knowledge across the wider workforce. 

 

 The LSAB undertook a Training Needs Survey across all partners of the 
board, and wider organisations for a second year. It has helped the LSAB 
identify the support needed for wider agencies in the promotion of person 
centred safeguarding and training. 

 

 The LSAB continues to raise the profile of safeguarding adults across the 
wider communities, and of how to report concerns. Durham County Council 
website page views for safeguarding adults reached 34,420 in 2017-18, with 
22,551 unique page views of the SAB website. Visits to the LSAB website 
included reporting a concern. 

 

 Effective safeguarding placing the person at centre means working towards 
achieving their desired outcomes. In 97 per cent of cases, the desired 
outcomes expressed by adults involved in safeguarding were fully or 
partially achieved. 

 

 Consultation with adults and social care staff led to improvements in the 
ways we gather the views of adults and carers who have accessed 
safeguarding services. As a result, an information pack has been 
developed, to share information about safeguarding and other services with 
adults who have experienced abuse or neglect. 

 

 The LSAB commissioned the Local Government Association (LGA) to 
undertake a peer review in March 2018.  The peer review was a positive 
experience, it illustrated a number of key and varied strengths of the LSAB 
including positive partnership working and engagement. The peer team 
concluded, “from what was read, heard and seen that the LSAB is in a 
strong position with positive working relationships and professional and 
respectful challenge when needed. Since the Care Act in 2014 there have 
been really positive changes in the way the LSAB works and there is a clear 
sense that everyone is there to make a difference”. 

 
 Challenges 
 

15 Working within a climate of financial restraint will remain a continual challenge 
for all partners. 

 
16 A continued challenge for the LSAB is the exploration and strengthening of 

performance reporting across all agency data. This year, the LSAB revisited its 
performance reporting, identifying a number of areas to take forward, including 
developing further enhanced narrative and analysis of data to inform challenge 
and impact.  

 
17 The LSAB needs to continue its exploration and strengthen the evaluation and 

impact of training provision across all partners. 
 

  
 

Page 48



7 

 

 Future work of the Local Safeguarding Adults Board 
 

18 Collectively, the LSAB will continue its journey of working innovatively and with 
creativity in support of its vision, and working with the wider thematic 
partnerships. This includes working in smarter ways across partnerships and 
reducing duplication of effort.  

 
19 The LSAB agreed to revise its priorities for the period 2018 to 2021, and to 

adopt a streamlined approach by reducing the priorities from eight to four. This 
plan forms the basis of the activities of the LSAB working groups, with each 
group agreeing a set of objectives to take forward to meet board priorities. 

 
LSAB Strategic priorities and planned outputs: 

 Prevention and Early Intervention 
o Provide information and advice in accessible ways for 

communities 
o Website development  

 User/Carer Voice and Awareness Raising 
o Consultation and engagement across wider and diverse 

communities 
o Increased involvement with Healthwatch 

 Performance, Quality and Governance 
o Cycle of audits agreed 
o Performance data that fits with the priorities 

 Safeguarding Adult Reviews Learning and Training 
o Learning and development events 
o Improved training evaluation 

 
20 A key piece of work over the next year is a full review of the locally agreed 

policy and procedures to coincide with a relaunch of the LSAB website. 
 

21 A range of Safeguarding Adult Review workshops will continue to be made 
available to LSAB members and other professionals more broadly. 

 
 Next Steps 

 
22 Cabinet is requested to note the following key dates for the Health and 

Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2017/18, and Local Safeguarding Adults Board 
Annual Reports 2017/18: 

 

 Partner governance arrangements receive Annual Reports 2017/18 for 
information – September – November 2018 

 Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
receives HWB Annual Report 2017/18 for information (via email) – 13th 
September 2018 

 Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee receives 
HWB Annual Report 2017/18 and LSAB Annual Reports 2017/18 for 
information – 1st October 2018 

 
 

Page 49



8 

 

Recommendations and Reasons 
 
23 Cabinet is recommended to:  

 

(a) Note the achievements of the Health and Wellbeing Board during 2017/18 
and receive the Health and Wellbeing Annual Report 2017/18 for 
information. 
 

(b) Note the progress made by the Local Safeguarding Adults Board during 
2017/18 and receive the Local Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 
2017/18 for information. 

 
(c) Note the future work of the Health and Wellbeing Board and Safeguarding 

Adults Board. 
 

 
Background Papers 
 
 

      

Contact: Gordon Elliott  Tel: 03000   263605

Page 50



9 

 

 

 
Finance – Ongoing pressure on public services will challenge all agencies to 
consider how best to respond to the safeguarding, health, social care and wellbeing 
agendas.   
 
Staffing – The sustaining of adult safeguarding activities requires continued priority 
to staffing to ensure adequate resource is maintained. The continued contribution to 
staffing from partner agencies supports the sustainability of dedicated safeguarding 
adults posts/ functions. 
 
Risk – The Safeguarding Adults Board puts considerable effort into training and 
awareness raising to ensure that abuse and neglect is recognised and reported. 
Screening of all reported concerns takes place and directed appropriately to ensure 
the most appropriate response.  
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – Adult safeguarding is 
intrinsically linked and this is covered in the SAB policies and procedures with 
equalities impact assessments undertaken where appropriate. 
The key equality and diversity protected characteristic groups are considered as part 
of the process to identify the groups/organisations to be invited to the Partnership 
engagement events. 
 
Accommodation - No direct implications. 
 
Crime and Disorder – The Integrated Needs Assessment (INA) provides 
information relating to crime and disorder, and this is covered in the SAB policies and 
procedures. There are close working relationships with the Safe Durham 
Partnership. 
 
Human Rights - Human rights is fundamental to the work of the SAB and its related 
partners in the context of safeguarding and adult protection. 
 
Consultation – Consultation on the priorities of the Health and Wellbeing Board is 
undertaken on an annual basis through the Partnership Event and other engagement 
activities. 
LSAB consultation report is available for all partner agencies.  
 
Procurement – The Health and Social Care Act 2012 outlines that commissioners 
should take regard of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and Joint Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) when exercising their functions in relation to the 
commissioning of health and social care services. 
The adoption of safeguarding principles in the procurement of health and social care 
services is essential. 
 
Disability Issues – The needs of disabled people are reflected in the Integrated 
Needs Assessment and Joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy. 
Safeguarding Adults procedures apply to ‘adults at risk’, who are adults with needs 
for care and support, whether or not the local authority is meeting those needs. 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Page 51



10 

 

 
Legal Implications - The Health and Social Care Act 2012 places clear duties on 
local authorities and Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) to prepare a JSNA and 
JHWS. The local authority must publish the JHWS. The Health and Wellbeing Board 
lead the development of the JSNA and JHWS.  
Statutory requirement to publicise SAB Annual Reports and publication of an Annual 
Report from 1st April 2015 in line with the Care Act 2014 and any Safeguarding Adult 
Reviews in that period, lessons learnt and any actions incomplete.  

 
 

Page 52



 
 

Improving the health and 
wellbeing of people in County 
Durham and reducing health 

inequalities 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board 
Annual Report  

2017/18 

 
www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk 

 

 

Page 53

http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/


Foreword from Chair and Vice Chair 

The County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report demonstrates how 
we have worked collectively to achieve the challenges we set ourselves each year.  
Our Plan describes how we have performed against what we set out to achieve in 
the previous year and how we plan to move forward.   

Our vision is to ‘improve the health and wellbeing of the people of County 
Durham and reduce health inequalities’ and we are on a journey to achieve this.    

This plan will help the people of County Durham to understand how we have 
performed, where our priorities lie and the challenges we need to overcome in 
2018/19.  

Mental Health is a key focus for the Board and we are reviewing our strategy to 
make sure that we are doing all we can to promote mental wellbeing for everyone. 
The national agenda for Health and Social Care Integration means we are doing 
significant work to change the way we deliver health and care services to provide a 
more joined up offer to adults and children in our communities.  

We take this opportunity to thank those volunteers, carers, professionals and our 
communities who work tirelessly to make our shared vision a reality. 

 

 

 

 

 

Councillor Lucy Hovvels MBE 

Chair of the Health & Wellbeing Board 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Adult & Health 
Services 

Dr Stewart Findlay 

Vice Chair of the Health & Wellbeing Board 
Chief Clinical Officer, Durham Dales, Easington & 
Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group  
(DDES CCG) 

 

 

 

 

Page 54



Who are the Health and Wellbeing Board? 

The Health and Wellbeing Board includes the following partners: 

 Durham County Council 

 North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group 

 Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

 Healthwatch County Durham  

 County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 

 Tees, Esk and Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust 

 Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust 

 North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust 

 City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust 

 County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service 

 Office of the Durham Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner 

The Health and Wellbeing Board, under the banner of ‘Altogether Healthier’, is one 
of the 5 thematic partnerships that make up the County Durham Partnership, whose 
role it is to provide for an ‘Altogether Better’ County Durham; supported by our 14 
Area Action Partnerships. 

 

Page 55



What do we do? 

The Health and Wellbeing Board ensures all partner organisations are delivering on 
the vision to ‘Improve the health and wellbeing of the people of County Durham 
and reduce health inequalities’. The formal Board meetings are open to the public. 

 

The Health and Wellbeing Board has a legal responsibility 
to develop a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA), to 
provide the evidence base for everything we do, and a 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS), that 
demonstrates how we fulfil our duty to encourage 
integrated working between commissioners of health 
services, public health and social services, for advancing 
the health and wellbeing of the people of County Durham. 

The JSNA provides an overview of the current and future 
health and wellbeing needs of the people of County Durham.  The health and social 
care evidence base is included in an Integrated Needs Assessment (INA) as a ‘one 
stop shop’ for all strategic assessments. The evidence in the JSNA is used to inform 
the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

We developed the County Durham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-19 to 
ensure health and social care agencies work together and agree the services that 
should be prioritised to ensure all partners are delivering against the vision.  

The Health and Wellbeing Board is also responsible for the production of a 
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) every three years, with the latest iteration 
published in April 2018. A PNA considers whether there are sufficient 
pharmaceutical services (such as community pharmacies and dispensing GP 
practices) to support the health needs of the population. We look at where 
pharmacies are located, their opening hours and how easy they are for people to 
access.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 56

http://www.durham.gov.uk/JSNA
http://www.durham.gov.uk/jhws


 
 

 

Page 57



 
 

Achievements of the Health and Wellbeing Board 

This section details key programmes of work for the Health and Wellbeing Board and 
developments that have taken place in 2017/18 to achieve the strategic objectives in 
the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  

Health and Social Care Integration 

County Durham has a strong track record of integrated health and social care 
working based on effective partnerships.  For example, the development of: 

 Intermediate Care Plus (a short term health & social care service to support 
adults cared for out of hospital to assist rehabilitation)    

 The 0-19 pathway (including school nursing) 

 Mental Health and Learning Disability Services 

 Community Equipment  

 Carers Services 

 Social Prescribing  

 Post diagnosis Autism Service 

We are taking the opportunity to build upon this to define how we want health and 
social care services to be shaped and delivered across the County to further improve 
outcomes for local people. Some examples of recent progress include: 

 Teams Around Patients (TAP) are now operational across County Durham. 
TAPs are designed to promote prevention and independence and deliver care 
in the community in line with local need.  

 An Accountable Care Partnership has been established to manage integrated 
NHS commissioning relating to learning disabilities and mental health. 

 A new integrated model has been developed for NHS Community Services to 
be managed alongside social care services.  

To underpin and further develop the integration of services across the health and 
social care system in County Durham, the post of Director of Integration was 
established in January 2017 for a two-year period. This role has been instrumental in 
developing a Memorandum of Understanding and implementing common lines of 
practice for Teams Around Patients across both CCG areas (Durham Dales, 
Easington and Sedgefield, and North Durham).  

The Integrated Care Partnership 
(ICP) is a collaborative 
arrangement between the NHS and 
Durham County Council, which has 
been set up to deliver joined up 
care, ensuring that delivery is 

efficient, of high quality and meets the needs of the population. The work of the ICP 
will be taken forward by an integrated leadership team and governance 
arrangements with the Health and Wellbeing Board are in place through the County 
Durham Integrated Care Board.   

Page 58



Better Care Fund 

The Better Care Fund brings together NHS and adult social care 
funding to support integration of health and social care services. In 
2017/18 we needed to fulfil new policy requirements to develop 
spending plans over a two year period rather than a single year, 
and comply with changes to the national conditions which local 
areas need to meet to access the funding.  

County Durham’s Better Care Fund 2017/19 Plan consists of seven programmes 
which focus on initiatives to enable integration of community based services. 

1. Intermediate Care Plus – provides a range of integrated services to promote 
recovery from illness, prevent unnecessary admission to hospital or permanent 
admission to residential or nursing care home, facilitate timely and safe discharge 
and support from hospital and maximising opportunities for independent living. 

2. Transforming Care – the Accountable Care Network established a framework 
for collaboration between partner organisations with regards to integrated care 
across County Durham including services, workforce training, re-designing of care 
pathways and improvement in service delivery.  

3. Equipment and Adaptations for Independence – the joint funding of the home 
equipment loans service following service redesign to improve access to equipment 
and adaptations and make greater use of advancing technologies. 

4. Supporting Independent Living – including mental health promotion, 
prevention and recovery services which focus on the wider determinants of health 
such as accommodation and employment.  

5. Supporting Carers – recognising the contribution that carers make to the health 
and social care system and economy, we are committed to improving carer support 
in order to enable them to maintain their caring role and their own health and 
wellbeing.  

6. Social Inclusion –we have worked to increase community capacity and 
resilience, working with the Voluntary and Community Sector in order to transform 
preventative and access to universal services, facilities and resources which 
promote wellbeing and help to avoid the development of needs for health and/or 
social care services.  

7. Care Home Support – we are committed to high quality care home provision 
which includes dementia liaison services. Our endeavours focus on the 
competency and capability of homes to provide high quality care which ensures 
person centred care, dignity and that safeguarding adults standards are met and 
help avoid unnecessary admissions into hospital.  

 

 

Page 59



Prevention 

The County Durham Partnership has adopted a focus on prevention and 
investigating how the work of partner organisations is contributing to improving the 
wellbeing of the population.  

Work is underway to identify and support best practice, maximise funding 
opportunities and reduce demand on statutory services, through work with Area 
Action Partnerships, support to access funding streams and enhancing the work of 
community navigator/peer mentor roles and services.  

Durham has been successful in its bid to become one of 15 pilot 
areas for the national Prevention at Scale offer which involves 
the Local Government Association providing 20 days of support 
and advice to deliver at scale a preventative approach that will 
significantly change health outcomes for local people.  

The Health and Wellbeing Board championed mental health as the key cross cutting 
theme for the project and this was agreed by the County Durham Partnership 
(including the Health and Wellbeing Board) as a significant priority area to progress. 
We  have identified Suicide Prevention as the focus for this work, with particular 
strands addressing workforce development and reducing stigma.  This work will set 
the future direction for these services. 

Review of Mental Health and Preventative Services 

A strategic review of community wellbeing, mental health, public mental health, and 
preventative services was undertaken, involving extensive engagement with service 
users, carers, providers and other stakeholders. 

This review has highlighted some areas of good practice across the partnership as 
well as across the life course including: 

 Resilience nurses within schools as part of Durham County Council’s 0-19 
service  

 Wellbeing for Life support service 

 Dementia friendly communities  

 Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust going smoke free 

 Director of Public Health Annual Report focusing on Work and Health including 
mental health and wellbeing  

 Capacity building for mental health first aid  

 Area Action Partnerships across County Durham many of which focus on 
mental health and wellbeing 

 Men’s Sheds networks (supporting men to pursue practical interests) 

 Suicide early alert system 

The review led to the development of: 

 A new life-course preventative mental health and wellbeing approach  

 A revised governance structure for the County Durham Mental Health 
Partnership Board (MHPB) 

Page 60



 Refreshed partnership action plans related to crisis care concordat; adult 
services; children and young people, suicide prevention and dementia 

Wellbeing for Life 

The Health and Wellbeing Board has continued to support the Wellbeing for Life 
Service which provides one-to-one and group support to achieve the changes people 
want to make in areas like: 

 Eating healthier 

 Being more active 

 Stop smoking 

 Alcohol and drug awareness 

 Accessing services in the local community 

The service has been remodelled and reprocured, based on a comprehensive 
independent evaluation that was undertaken by Durham University. The evaluation 
demonstrated the success of the service in improving the wellbeing of local people, 
whilst allowing us to streamline the new contract to benefit more people in County 
Durham, and contributes to meeting the Board’s vision. 

Wider Determinants of Health  

Joint working between the Health and Wellbeing Board and County Durham Housing 
Forum developed a set of five shared priorities based on Kings Fund guidance: 

1) Addressing poverty including welfare reform and 
fuel poverty  

2) Early years including identification of neglect and 
injury prevention 

3) Older people with issues such as dementia and 
age friendly community initiatives, reducing social 
isolation and falls reduction 

4) Vulnerable groups such as those with learning disabilities, a mental illness, and 
those exposed to domestic abuse 

5) Workforce development such as Making Every Contact Count. 

A number of projects have been delivered in partnership, focussed on supporting 
older people, reducing social isolation and improving mental health.  

Housing staff have been trained in ‘Making Every Contact Count’ which equips them 
to have conversations with the people they come into contact with, which might 
trigger them to make changes to their lifestyle to improve their health and wellbeing. 

A series of Routes out of Poverty training events allowed NHS, Children’s Services, 
Adult Care and Housing staff to jointly work on solutions to case studies.  

Cold related ill health work including the Warm and Healthy Homes Programme 
which targets residents with health conditions, have been recognised nationally as 
good practice.  

Page 61



Work and You – Director of Public Health 
(DPH) Annual Report 

The last DPH Annual Report focussed on ‘Work and 
You’. People are continuing to stay in work longer and 
will need good well paid employment to maintain a 
sense of self-worth and contribute to the local economy. 
The report sets out how policy makers, employers, 
clinicians and employees themselves can work together 
to improve their health and employment outcomes, 
particularly for workers aged 40-70 years. 

The report suggests small changes that businesses can 
make to work with their local communities and look after 
the wellbeing of their employees.  

Organisations of all sizes are being supported and encouraged to work towards the 
Better Health and Work Award which helps them to access free workplace training 
including understanding stress and basic mental health, and supports workplaces to 
deliver health activities that address key public health improvement priorities.  

Support for Carers 

The Health and Wellbeing Board recognises the vital part that carers play in the 
health and social care system and the importance of providing them with support. 
More carers are registering with carers services than in previous years.  This is due 
to awareness raising work with professionals and schools to identify carers who 
might not recognise themselves as having a caring role.  

Specific work has been undertaken to identify and help 
people who have a caring responsibility for someone with 
a learning disability or mental health issue, with booklets 
produced and training delivered to carers and staff.  

Carers who report as unable to work due to their caring 
role are usually those with the heaviest caring roles. Services have been working 
with large employers to provide online training to help them understand the 
pressures faced by carers in employment.  

Young Carers are supported to reduce the impact of their caring role on their mental 
health and wellbeing, educational attainment and social development. 

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 

In line with the statutory responsibilities of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, the recommendations of the Pharmaceutical 
Needs Assessment were agreed which concluded that there 
are no current gaps in service delivery. As a key HWB partner, 
Healthwatch collected feedback from the public about how 

they access pharmaceutical services and their overall views of the services they 
receive.  

Page 62



The Board has implemented an action plan, which reflects our ambition to develop 
locally commissioned services to further support targets in the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment. These services will focus on the growing older population, 
incorporating pharmacy services into Teams Around Patients, the further expansion 
of pharmacy based public health services and promotion of self-care.

Page 63



 
 

What are our priorities? 

County Durham’s agreed health and wellbeing priorities for 2017-18 were: 

 

Children and young 
people make healthy 
choices and have the 

best start in life

Priority 1

Reduce health 
inequalities and early 

deaths

Priority 2

Improve the quality of 
life, independence and 
care and support for 

people with long term 
conditions

Priority 3

Improve the mental and 
physical wellbeing of the 

population

Priority 4

Protect vulnerable 
people from harm

Priority 5

Support people to die in 
the place of their choice 

with the care and 
support that they need

Priority 6

Page 64



 
 

Priority 1  

  

           

 

Health Needs Assessment of 

Young People Who Offend 

The Health and Wellbeing Board 
supported and commended the 
approach undertaken on the 
Health Needs Assessment (HNA) 
of young people who offend in 
County Durham and the resulting 
new model for health provision, 
which sets out the strategic 
direction to improve health and 
wellbeing outcomes for these 
young people.  

This involves recruitment of a 
specialist children’s nurse, speech 
and language therapist, mental 
health care support workers and 
drug and alcohol staff to support 
the work of the County Durham 
Youth Offending Service. 

 

Children and Young People’s 
Mental Health 

The Health and Wellbeing Board 
agreed plans to increase the  
number of initiatives focused on 
promoting resilience and 
emotional wellbeing in schools. 
Partnership work to roll out a 
resilience programme for 75 
schools in County Durham is well 
advanced. Across the county we 
now deliver a flexible and 
responsive service 24/7, 365 days 
a year, for children and young 
people experiencing a mental 
health crisis. 

 
 

Supporting Children and Young People 
with SEND 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board listened to 
representatives of the eXtreme Group made 
up of young people with special educational 
needs and disabilities and signed up to the 
SEND Promise which pledges the Board will: 

 Listen to the needs of the individual 

 Support children and young people to 
access the best possible health care 
and provide information on the best 
place to meet their needs 

 Fully involve and prepare children and 
young people during transition from 
children to adults services 

The Board has approved a SEND Joint 
Commissioning Plan which sets out 
arrangements for education, health and care 
services. 

 
 

Oral Health 

The actions within the County Durham Oral Health 
Strategy are making good progress.  Partnership 
work has been underway with nurseries in the top 
30% most deprived communities to implement tooth 
brushing schemes.  There is ongoing work with the 
Sugar Smart pledge to reduce the availability of 
sugary snacks in community venues and the better 
promotion of water as the drink of choice.  The 
Health and Wellbeing Board have also agreed to the 
next stage of testing the feasibility of expanding the 
community water fluoridation scheme for County 
Durham.   

 

Children and young 
people make healthy 
choices and have the 
best start in life

Page 65



 
 

Priority 2 

 

     

              
  

   

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

Cancer Health Equity Audit 

The Health and Wellbeing Board agreed 
to sign up to the development of a 
strategic action plan to address the 
identified inequalities in cancer incidence 
and mortality outlined in the Health 
Equality Audit. Key findings included: 

 Cancer incidence and mortality is 
higher in more deprived areas 

 Female lung cancer has been 
increasing over time 

 Increasing inequality for males and 
females at different levels across 
the county 

In addition, partner agencies have agreed 
to consider the findings when planning for 
cancer services. 

Gypsy Roma and Traveller (GRT) 

Health Project 

The Health and Wellbeing Board 
supported an independent 
evaluation of the GRT Health Team 
which is now a model of national 
good practice. The GRT 
community has the worst health 
outcomes and lowest life 
expectancy of any community in 
County Durham and a number of 
actions were put in place with the 
aim of improving this. The work has 
resulted in: 

 Improved trust and access 
to appropriate health care 

 Health issues being 
discussed more openly in 
our GRT communities 

 A more seamless service 
between health services and 
teams in housing, education 
and the voluntary sector 

 
Tobacco 

The Health and Wellbeing Board agreed a 
wider ambition to reduce smoking 
prevalence amongst adults aged 18 and 
over in County Durham to 5% by 2030. 

Work to achieve this ambition is delivered 
through the Tobacco Control Alliance of 
local partners. Smoking prevalence is on the 
decline with stop smoking services 
achieving targeted numbers of quitters last 
year.  

County Durham is the lead commissioner of 
the regional tobacco programme ‘Fresh’, a 
model which aims to change the broad 
social norms around the use of tobacco. 

Reduce health 
inequalities and 
early deaths

Page 66



 
 

Priority 3 

 

 

 

                              

 

 

 

 

Teams Around Patients  

The Health and Wellbeing Board 
supported the creation of 14 Teams 
Around Patients (TAP) established 
across County Durham, involving 69 
GP Practices. The teams prioritise the 
top 2% of the most frail and vulnerable 
older people and those with long-term 
conditions who are at risk of hospital 
admissions. The teams agree 
proactive multi-disciplinary responses, 
so ensuring that health and social care 
“discharge capacity” (workforce, beds, 
equipment, funding) meets daily 
demand. 
 

Dementia Friendly Communities  

The Health and Wellbeing Board agreed the Dementia Strategy which includes the rollout 
of dementia friendly communities which has continued at a pace. Dementia friendly work 
has been developed and implemented in Beamish museum, which is seen by many 
museums as an example of good practice. Work with Dalton Park and Durham City Centre 
has commenced to make  sure their shops, food outlets and cinemas are dementia friendly. 
Three Housing Associations have linked in with four of the Area Action Partnerships to put 
in place a two year Coordinator post to support local areas to implement Dementia Friendly 
Communities. 

The Board initiated work with the Alzheimer’s Society and the Council’s Spatial Policy and 
Assets Teams to consider the effectiveness of emerging planning policies. Planning 
policies are being strengthened to ensure that the needs of people living with dementia are 
considered through the decisions about planning applications, helping to ensure that our 
neighbourhoods are for life, and extend the active participation of older people with 
dementia in their local communities. 

Adult Autism Self Assessment 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board agreed the 
adult Autism self assessment and next steps 
including further improvements to address 
waiting times for assessment, redesign the 
pathway and ensure a smooth transition from 
children to adults services.  
 
The assessment also identified a number of 
areas where good progress had been made, 
including reasonable adjustments to council 
services, autism awareness training, carers 
assessments and availability of advocates.  
 
 

Improve the quality 
of life, independence 
and care and support 
for people with long 
term conditions

Page 67



 
 

Priority 4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Improve the mental 
and physical 
wellbeing of the 
population

Active Durham 

The Health and Wellbeing Board is supportive 
of the work of the Active Durham Partnership to 
spread consistent and positive messages about 
the benefits of physical activity, opportunities 
and resources and cascading skills to their 
workforce on a sector basis. 

Evidence is being studied to better understand 
the barriers and needs for older people, women 
and girls and those living in particular areas of 
the county. Work is taking place with schools 
including the development of the Active 30 
online resource hub and campaign to help 
schools enable all of their children to be active 
for 30 minutes every day.  

Social Isolation Projects 

Each AAP has received £25,000 
allocated through the improved Better 
Care Fund to support community led 
initiatives that meet local needs. The 
aim is to focus on prevention and to 
improve outcomes for older people who 
are socially isolated by encouraging 
participation in activities and projects 
that provide opportunities for people to 
contribute positively to their local 
communities. 

 

Working Towards a Healthy Weight in County 

Durham 

Building upon the DPH Annual Report 2015: Obesity - 
An issue too big to ignore … or too big to mention? the 
Healthy Weight Alliance (HWA), a sub group of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board, has produced a strategic 
plan for a system wide response to halt the rise in 
obesity by 2022. The focus is on four key areas: 

 leading by example; 

 give every child the best start in life; 

 increasing play; and  

 engaging the whole system 

Page 68



 
 

Priority 5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Foetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder Group 

(FASD)  

The Health and Wellbeing Board, in 
conjunction with the Safe Durham 
Partnership and Local Safeguarding 
Children Board, agreed to support the work 
of the Foetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder 
Group which was set up to tackle the impact 
of foetal exposure to alcohol before birth 
with a focus on prevention and early 
intervention. The group has campaigned to 
promote the message that there is no safe 
level of drinking in pregnancy by integrating 
with the Better Births initiative and training 
relevant staff to raise awareness of FASD.  

 

Health Protection Assurance 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board 
received assurance that measures 
are in place to protect the health of 
the County Durham population. This 
includes planning for and 
responding to emergencies that 
present a risk to public health, 
making representations about 
licensing applications and plans for 
screening and immunisation.  
 
Healthwatch undertook consultation 
with the public on screening 
programmes to inform this review.  
 
Health protection in County Durham 
is strong, particularly in cancer 
screening, new born screening 
rates and emergency planning.  

Thematic Review of County Durham 
and Darlington Child Death Overview 
Panel 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board 
received the review of child deaths in the 
county and considered the findings in 
terms of learning points, particularly in 
relation to improving standards within 
maternity services.  
 
The Board supported the review findings 
and used its influence to promote the 
issues with Sustainability & 
Transformation leads in order to feed 
into the review of local maternity 
services.  
 

Protect vulnerable 
people from harm

Page 69



 
 

Priority 6 

 

     

 

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Support people to 
die in the place of 
their choice with 
the care and 
support they need

Improving Palliative and End of Life Care 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board agreed the Improving Palliative and End of Life 
Care: Strategic Commissioning Plan, which has been refreshed.  Actions that are 
being progressed include a single point of access, specialist pharmacy support, a 
24/7 medical model and a model of hospice delivery for the whole county.  
 
A specialist out of hours palliative care advice line has been set up for patients, 
carers and professionals.  This is a telephone service manned by staff with 
specialist knowledge and skills, which aims to ensure a seamless provision of 
advice is given on evenings and weekends.  
 
Area Action Partnerships and local hospices are working together to develop 
specialist bereavement and counselling services for children, young people and 
families experiencing grief and bereavement.  
 

 

Macmillan Joining the Dots County Durham 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board supported the new social model which was 
developed through the Joining the Dots Project to make sure that all people affected 
by cancer have the opportunity to receive the best support for their needs. This could 
be from financial concerns and planning for the future to help with housework and 
taking care of pets.  
 
Interviews were carried out with people in County Durham affected by cancer to 
determine support needs and service provision and a group of volunteers have been 
recruited to progress plans for operation.  
 
The new model will mean that support is tailored to individual needs, support is 
available on evenings and weekends and key workers will be based in the local 
community.  
 

Page 70



 
 

 

 

Page 71



 
 

 

 

Future work of the Health and Wellbeing Board 

The Health and Wellbeing Board’s work programme for 2018-19 will build on the 
progress made to date, and will include the following: 

Health and Wellbeing Board Strategic Priorities 

The HWB Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy will be reviewed to 
establish the priorities for the Health and Wellbeing Board beyond 
2019, based on the evidence in the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment and the Integrated Needs Assessment, to ensure a 
continued focus on addressing the county’s key challenges, 
improving the health and wellbeing of people in County Durham and 
reducing health inequalities. 

Health and Social Care Integration 

The NHS England 2018/19 planning guidance was clear in articulating 
the expectation that Integrated Care Systems would need to develop 
further to enhance the quality of health and social care. 

To successfully deliver improvements a number of challenges are faced both locally 
and nationally, these include: 

1. Care Quality – This is impacted by the difficulty in recruiting and retaining staff 
across a number of areas. Innovative approaches are being explored to encourage 
nurses to work in County Durham and recruit and retain GPs within Primary Care. 

2. Demographics - In recent years, we have experienced 
major demographic changes across County Durham, such 
as the increase in proportion of older people. The increased 
demand on services requires organisations to focus on 
managing demand and prevention.  

3. Finances – We need to find new ways to deliver care for the local population to 
ensure budgets are utilised to best effect and further shift towards prioritising 
prevention will be needed. 

4. The System – County Durham will see changes to planning footprints and 
engagement processes and we need to continue to plan at scale for how the needs 
of our county’s population are met for health services. 

An extensive piece of work was undertaken to identify what we need to do to take 
forward a clear and robust Health and Social Care Plan for County Durham, 
including: 

 Formalise existing alliances and partnerships and develop a clear strategy that 
will enable County Durham to feed into the wider Health and Care agenda 
across the North East & Cumbria from a position of strength. 

 

Page 72



 

 
 
 

 Progress work which has already begun to clearly articulate the ambition for 
children and young people in terms of integration.  

 

 Develop a local solution for integrated commissioning whilst ensuring that we 
use collective commissioning capacity to increase efficiency.  

 

 Implement a more formalised governance structure for the integration agenda. 
 

 Implement the new model for NHS Community Services in October 2018. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board will continue to monitor joint health and social care 
planning and commissioning through the Better Care Fund, to alleviate pressures 
faced by the adult social care sector and NHS. Criteria for funding allocated to AAPs 
for projects to address social isolation has been finalised and progress will be 
monitored. 

Prevention at Scale  

In order to progress Prevention as a vital direction for public services we will apply 
the skills and knowledge gained from national co-operation and work closely with the 
Local Government Association to make progress towards tackling stigma 
surrounding suicide and mental health, and scaling up mental wellbeing across the 
workforce.   

A model is being developed, setting out clearly the strategic direction for this work, 
which will be taken forward by the Partnership and evaluated by the LGA in 
November 2018. We will continue to build on this progress and apply learning from 
the project to other key areas identified in the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

Mental Health  

Following wider stakeholder consultation the Health and Wellbeing Board will agree 
a refreshed plan to improve the mental health of people in County Durham. The plan 
will cover the five priority themes: 

 Children and young people 

 Adults 

 Suicide and self harm 

 Dementia  

 Crisis care 

It will also consider five cross-cutting themes: 

 Workforce 

 Engagement and communications 

 Evidence led 

 Good governance 

 Think Family 

A robust performance framework will ensure that the Health and Wellbeing Board 
and partners can capture and monitor progress over the long and short term.  

Page 73



 

 

Children Looked After and Care Leavers 

The Health and Wellbeing Board will engage with the Care Leavers Strategic Group 
to explore the number of female care leavers who are pregnant or mothers and 
support will be offered through the vulnerable parent pathway. Work is underway to 
develop a better understanding of the placement and/or risk factors through case 
review and focus groups, to enable benchmarking and to develop an action plan.  

This work will form part of the Health Needs Assessment for Looked After Children 
and Care Leavers. 

Alcohol Evidence Review 

A Minimum Unit Price for Alcohol will be 
implemented in Scotland from May 2018. The British 
Government has indicated its intention to develop an 
alcohol strategy and will ask Public Health England 
to look at the evidence base again.  

The Health and Wellbeing Board received a 
presentation on the Public Health England Alcohol 
Review in July 2017 and will continue to monitor 
further communications from government and impact 

of the legislation in Scotland and consider its commitment to the alcohol agenda in 
conjunction with the Safe Durham Partnership.  

Co-ordinated Health and Wellbeing Campaigns 

We will develop a co-ordinated multi-agency approach to marketing campaigns for 
the agreed Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy priorities and facilitate a mechanism 
by which communication specialists from partner agencies are able to come together 
to achieve this. The key areas of focus for the forthcoming year will be mental health, 
breastfeeding, tobacco, alcohol and staying well during the winter. 

         

Pharmaceutical Needs 

The HWB will continue to manage the provision of pharmacy services across County 
Durham and monitor the action plan which was developed from the Pharmaceutical 
Needs Assessment in March 2018. The action plan identified scope to further 
develop locally commissioned services to support the growing older population, 
incorporate pharmacy services into TAPs and promote self-care.  

 

Page 74



19 
 

Health and Wellbeing Board Partners  

 

      

 www.durham.gov.uk    www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk 

 

     

 www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk    www.chsft.nhs.uk 

                                                        

www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk                www.ddfire.gov.uk 

    

 www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk  www.cddft.nhs.uk 

 

    

  www.nth.nhs.uk    www.tewv.nhs.uk 

          

     

 

   www.durham-pcc.gov.uk         www.hdft.nhs.uk    

 

       For information or queries about any of the Health and Wellbeing 

Board’s work you can email us at HWB@durham.gov.uk 

Page 75

http://www.durham.gov.uk/
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/
http://chsft.nhs.uk/
http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.ddfire.gov.uk/
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/
https://www.cddft.nhs.uk/
http://www.nth.nhs.uk/
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/site/
http://www.durham-pcc.gov.uk/Home.aspx
https://www.hdft.nhs.uk/
mailto:HWB@durham.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

  

Safeguarding Adults 

Annual Report 2017/18 

P
age 77

Heidi.Gibson
Typewritten text
APPENDIX 3



 

2 
 

 

 

 

 

  

Message from the Chair 3 

Introduction 5 

A Local Picture 6 

Our Work 7 

Messages from Service Users, Carers and Advocates 9 

SAB Working Arrangements 10 

National and Local Updates 13 

Board Assurance 2017-2018 14 

What we have Achieved in 2017-2018 15 

At a Glance 2017- 2018 18  

Safeguarding Adult Reviews 21 

Looking Ahead and Summary 23 

Partner Statements 24 

P
age 78



 

3 
 

 

 

 

As Independent Chair of the Durham Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB), I 

am pleased to present the annual report for 2017-2018, and in recognising 

the contribution of partners and wider partnership working that has taken 

place over the last year. 

 

In 2018-2019, Lesley Jeavons, Director of Integrated Care will take up the 

role of Safeguarding Adults Board Chair, and we extend a warm welcome 

to her as the work of the board continues. 

 

As with each year in my role as Chair, I hope that this report provides a 

picture of the work undertaken as a board and the progress made since 

our last report in 2016-2017. The Durham Safeguarding Adults Board 

continues to operate with openness and transparency, demonstrated by its 

commitment to commission a peer review in the last year. 

 

Challenges remain for all partners of the SAB working within a climate of 

continual financial restraint. Yet I am pleased to report that the 

commitment of partners remains strong, working together throughout the 

year with reflection upon our direction, identifying new and innovative 

ways of working and service delivery with a key focus upon prevention. 

Heightening awareness and building community resilience to keep people safe is key for the SAB, and to 

continue to empower individuals and communities alike in being able protect themselves.   

  

Jane Geraghty 

SAB Independent Chair 

P
age 79



 

4 
 

This is no more evident than in the success of our 

annual event last year, which focussed upon financial 

abuse and related issues. The event in conjunction with 

the Safe Durham Partnership promoted a clear 

message of how working collectively can support the 

prevention agenda. I would like to express my thanks 

to everyone involved, and to the local, regional and 

national organisations who helped to make the event 

such a success. I would also like to extend those thanks 

to the service providers, the voluntary sector and the 

adults and carers in receipt of services who attended 

the event and for their valued input. 

 

Consultation activities led by Lay Members over the last 

year has helped to build good working relationships 

with both adults and carers. This will continue to inform 

the work of the board, ensuring that we hear the ‘voice’ 

of adults and carers in everything we do.  
 

A continued challenge for the SAB is the exploration of performance data.  This year, the 

SAB revisited its performance reporting, identifying a number of areas to take forward, 

including developing further enhanced analysis of the data.  This was echoed in findings 

from the peer review, to know the SAB is on the right track and moving in the right direction is 

reassuring.  
 

I would like to close by thanking all partners of the SAB, lay members and the Adult & Health 

Services Portfolio Holder for their active support and positive contributions to the work of the 

board, and for their continued commitment.  
 

Jane Geraghty 

Independent Chair (up to March ’18)  

Financial abuse event 31st October 2017 Opened 

by Assistant Chief Constable Dave Orford – 
Durham Constabulary 

P
age 80



 

5 
 

 

 

 

The Durham Safeguarding Adults Board in line with the Care Act 2014 has a statutory duty to publish an 

Annual Report including the achievements of the SAB and its members against its strategic priorities. 

The annual report will be publicised on each core member’s website and will be available to other agencies. 

The Care and Support statutory guidance tells us that our annual reports should consider what the SAB has 

done locally and to draw conclusions from the following areas: 

 evidence of community awareness of adult abuse and neglect and how to respond 

 analysis of safeguarding data to better understand the reasons that lie behind local data returns and use 

the information to improve the strategic plan and operational arrangements 

 what adults who have experienced the process say and the extent to which the outcomes they wanted 

(their wishes) have been realised 

 what front line practitioners say about outcomes for adults and about their ability to work in a 

personalised way with those adults 

 better reporting of abuse and neglect 

 evidence of success of strategies to prevent abuse or neglect 

 feedback from local Healthwatch, adults who use care and support services and carers, community 

groups, advocates, service providers and other partners 

 how successful adult safeguarding is at linking with other parts of the system, for example children’s 

safeguarding, domestic violence, community safety 

 the impact of training carried out in this area and analysis of future need; and 

 how well agencies are co-operating and collaborating 

It is the intention of this annual report to outline what the SAB has done in Durham to meet the above. 

Drawing upon a range of data and information from agencies to illustrate the effectiveness of safeguarding 

arrangements in Durham. 

 

P
age 81



 

6 
 

  

In 2017, there were approximately 524,400 people of all ages living in 

Durham covering 862 square miles. 

There are 316,700 adults aged between 18 – 64 years in Durham.  

There are 12,400 adults aged over 85 years in 

Durham.  

There are 1,912 adults over the age of 85 years 

living in a care home. 

In 2017, there were approximately 9,943 adults 

with a learning disability, and 6,492 adults with 

dementia living in Durham. 

Data sources:  www.pansi.org.uk www.poppi.org.uk 

P
age 82

http://www.pansi.org.uk/
http://www.poppi.org.uk/


 

7 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Since moving to a statutory footing, the SAB has a key role to assure itself that our partners and our local 

safeguarding arrangements are working harmoniously to protect adults in our area.  We do this through our 

Board activity.  The SAB continues to be supportive of the County Durham Sustainable Community Strategy 

for an Altogether Better Durham.  
 

The SAB has a key focus to safeguard an adult’s right to live in safety, free 

from abuse and neglect.  Our vision encompasses working together to 

prevent the risk of abuse or neglect, and if it does occur to respond swiftly to 

achieve the best outcome possible for those adults.  
 

Hearing the voice of adults who may be experiencing abuse and what they 

would like to happen to keep them safe is at the heart of safeguarding adults 

in Durham, it is a key priority for 2017 – 2020. 
 

We consulted with adults who told us we could 

improve our surveys, we completed this work in 

2017-2018. Social Care Staff told us how we could 

support them to gather the views of adults and 

carers who had accessed safeguarding services. 

As a result, we have developed an information 

pack to share information about safeguarding 

and other services with adults who have experienced abuse or neglect. 

  

 You 
said 

We 
did 

P
age 83



 

8 
 

 

The external peer review recognised a key message from the SAB is that 

everyone sees there is a person at the centre. 

 

The SAB meets twice yearly for development, these sessions help the SAB to 

reflect on what is doing well and where it needs to make improvements.   

In October 2017, the SAB recognised it needed to 

explore the impact of training, in December 2017 we 

started work to revise our training evaluations.  

In January 2018, the SAB agreed improving upon our performance measures in 

developing meaningful multi-agency quantitative and qualitative data. The 

external peer review supports this area of development with a key message that 

the SAB is on the right path. 

What some board members said at development 

sessions: 

Strengths… 

 

 

 

Areas we could improve… 

 

 

Good governance and 

partnership working 
Strong commitment to 

hear adult/carer voice 

Hearing the voice of the 

wider workforce 

P
age 84



 

9 
 

 

 

 

Over the last year, the SAB has continued its commitment to ensure we hear the ‘voice’ of adults and carers 

who access safeguarding services. 

Last year we shared our plans for increasing engagement opportunities through our 

user/carer forum led by a Lay Member. In 2017-2018 we held a ‘Seek Your Views’ 

event, and completed a consultation activity with adults and carers on how we could 

improve upon our survey activities.  
 

We asked adults and their 

support workers who attended 

the Seek Your Views event to tell 

us about their understanding of abuse, and what they felt 

might tell them that abuse was taking place.  
 

Throughout the year, we have continued to engage with a diverse group of adults and carers in 

helping us to improve. Healthwatch Durham are supporting the board in gaining views of adults and 

carers who have experienced safeguarding services. The board will receive an evaluation of their work  

in 2018-2019.  

The Board commissioned an external peer review 

to gain a view of how well it is doing. 

The team were impressed by the website and the 

publications produced with the input of users and 

carers and recognised that the board has pro-

active links with providers, advocates and 

practitioners.  

 You 
said 

We 
did 

Using my 

money and 

not letting 

me use it 

Bullying 
Name  

Calling 

The public sector is 

most fortunate to have 

dedicated staff of his 

calibre supporting 

vulnerable adults. 

Source: Family 

member/Appropriate 

representative 

P
age 85



 

10 
 

  

 

 

As a statutory strategic partnership, with a key focus upon prevention of abuse of neglect the SAB oversees 

and leads safeguarding of adults for Durham. The SAB achieves its strategic role through collaborative working 

with SAB partners, mindful of the voice of adults and carers in all that it undertakes. 

As part of its annual activity to strengthen 

arrangements, the SAB revisits its 

governance arrangements. In 2017-2018, 

the SAB issued its revised governance 

structure and agreed to streamline for 

2018-2019. 

Over the last year, the SAB has also 

completed a range of activity in meeting 

its statutory requirements, which include: 

 Completed revision to the Terms of 

Reference of its working groups, 

outlining the role of partners and the 

accountability and escalation 

arrangements, and identified further 

work in its development session of 

January 2018. 

 Continued to monitor compliance 

and attendance of partners, with two reports to board. 

 Completed 20 consultations with SAB partners for specific actions or documents, including Training 

Needs Analysis, work plans, vice-chairing arrangements. 

P
age 86



 

11 
 

 Completed two consultations with adults, carers and providers to improve surveys. 

 Contributed to the revision of the Safeguarding Framework. A document outlining linkage to the wider 

thematic partnerships including the Safe Durham Partnership, the Health & Wellbeing Board and Children 

and Families Partnership. 

 Revised its self-assessment tool for completion in 2018-2019.  

 Issued the first GP self-audit in January 2018. 

 Continued to challenge partners of the SAB and document responses and corrective actions through 

the SAB risk and challenge log. 

 Commissioned an external peer review in March 2018. 

SAB membership  
The Care Act 2014 specifies that each SAB should have three core members, the local authority, clinical 

commissioning groups (CCGs) and the police. The SAB is made up of a wider membership, individual partner 

statements are outlined at the end this report.  

In 2017-2018, the SAB appointed a third lay member to the SAB. Lay members act as critical friends to the 

board. 

 

The Independent Chair continued to meet with partners throughout 2017 – 2018 to support the collaborative 

working of the SAB.  
 

 

 

 Well attended SAB 

 Positive partnership working & engagement 

 Lay Member(s) contribute and take an 

active role in the Board 

Source; 

Peer Review Team March 2018 

 

Chair engagement with partners 

13  
Meetings P

age 87



 

12 
 

Our overarching vision is ‘to support adults at risk of harm to prevent abuse happening, and when it does 

occur, to act swiftly to achieve good outcomes’. This is only achievable by effective partnership working and 

an interface through County Durham Partnership (CDP) to a broader vision of an “Altogether Better Durham”. 

Best illustrated by a real shift to working towards wider preventative initiatives and building community 

resilience through a ‘Good to Great’ programme, and linking 

with the 14 Area Action Partnerships (AAPs). 

The Safe Durham Partnership (SDP) tackles crime, disorder, 

substance misuse, anti-social behaviour and other behaviour 

adversely affecting the environment and seeks to reduce re-

offending.  The SAB strengthened its links with the SDP, through 

related abuse agendas such as modern slavery, and raising 

awareness of the links to financial abuse such as cyber-crime.  

The Health & Wellbeing Board (HWB) promoting integrated 

working between commissioners of health services, public 

health and social care services, for the purposes of improving 

the health and wellbeing of the people in the area.  SAB is 

committed to taking forward any actions of the Joint Health 

and Wellbeing Strategy to support its objectives.  The 

Environment Partnership – improves, transforms and sustains 

the environment to support the economy and the wellbeing of local communities.  The Economic Partnership 

works to make County Durham an area where people want to live, work, invest and visit; whilst enabling 

residents and businesses to achieve their full economic potential.  The Children and Families Partnership (CFP) 

is working towards ensuring effective services are delivered in the most efficient way to improve the lives of 

children, young people and families in County Durham.  SAB continues to share issues of note.  

The SAB works closely with its colleagues within the Local Safeguarding 

Children Board, creating a familial approach to safeguarding in Durham.  This 

is strengthened by working together where cross-cutting themes exist, such as 

modern slavery. 
 

 “    
” 

Area Action 

Partnerships 

pick up 

prevention 

agenda and 

are engaged 

and supported 

by the Board 

Source; 

Peer Review Team 

March 2018 

 

P
age 88



 

13 
 

 

 

 

As part of the SABs continual improvement activity, it regularly receives any national and local updates relating 

to research, consultation and legislative changes. Below are just some of the examples that have informed the 

SAB in 2017-2018. 

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) - The Law Commission undertook a consultation of the Mental 

Capacity Act 2005 and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS), publishing its findings in March 2017 along 

with a proposed draft bill. The proposals relate to DoLS for adults who cannot make decisions about how their 

care or treatment is provided or how they are kept safe. Currently DoLS applies to Care Homes and Hospitals, 

the new proposals include supported living, shared housing and private housing. The new proposals are 

supportive of adults living in more than one place, and receiving or moving between more than one place for 

care and treatment. There is also a proposal that the new Liberty Protection Safeguards include those 16 years 

and over. The SAB continues to monitor the draft bill progress. 

Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) – Since 2010, there have been a number of key developments to promote 

a personalised approach to safeguarding adults, this is known as Making Safeguarding Personal. The Local 

Government Association and the Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS) jointly published a number of 

resource toolkits. These resources aim to support the SAB partners, commissioners and 

providers to embed and promote an outcome based focus in safeguarding practice. 

The tools also highlight the importance of prevention and this is in keeping with the SAB 

plans.  

 

National Institute for Health & Care Excellence (NICE) –  In January 2018 the SAB received  

an update in respect of NICE guidelines relating to ‘People's experience in adult social 

care services: improving the experience of care for people using adult social care 

services’, these guidelines were published in February 2018 and link to safeguarding 

policy.  

   

    

P
age 89



 

14 
 

 

 

 

Following a board development session in March 2017, the board refreshed its one page plan, streamlining its 

priorities and separating statutory responsibilities for 2017-2018. Throughout the year, the board continued to 

strengthen its assurance mechanisms. Some examples of partner assurance outlined below. 

 Durham County Council – Safeguarding and Access Service - Changes to the requirements to report the 

death of a person subject to a Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) authorisation to the Coroner (April 

2017)  

 Durham County Council – Channel Panel Update Presentation (April 2017) 

 Her Majesty’s Prison & Probation Service – Partner Assurance Report (October 2017) 

 North East Ambulance Service – Partner Assurance via Annual Report (January 2018) 

In addition, the board received a Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements Update in July 2017. Key 

messages about lessons learnt and managing risk delivered, and following the learning from a Local 

Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) instigated Child Serious Case Review. The board previously supported 

learning from this case by raising the profile of the adult board through learning lessons events coordinated by the 

LSCB. 

Following a Confidential Inquiry into premature deaths of people with learning disabilities (CIPOLD), the Healthcare 

Quality Improvement Partnership (HQIP) on behalf of NHS England commissioned a programme of work known as 

the LeDeR programme. The board received its latest update focussing upon 

ensuring links to the SAB for assurance of local reviews. It included identifying 

learning and meeting any gaps to embed learning within the wider workforce with 

a number of actions to take forward. The board will receive progress updates twice 

a year. 

The board also received a number of audit reports throughout 2017-2018 and other 

reports to offer assurance including the multi-agency response to modern slavery, 

its prevention and collaborative working.  

SAB Strengths… 

Assurance through 

multi-agency 

audits and other 

measures… 

P
age 90



 

15 
 

 
 
 
 
 

The Board set eight priorities for 2017-2018, the below intends to set out an illustration of just some of the key 

achievements of the SAB against those priorities, and the impact of that work. 

External Peer Review – the board agreed to undertake an external peer review in its 

performance framework to gain a measure of the board progress. Impact: “The peer 

team concluded from what was read, heard and seen that the SAB is in a strong 

position with positive working relationships and professional and respectful challenge 

when needed. Since the Care Act in 2014 there have been really positive changes in 

the way the SAB works and there is a clear sense that everyone is there to make a 

difference”. (Source: Peer Team Summary feedback) 

SAB Annual Event – a joint event with the Safe Durham Partnership to raise awareness 

of financial abuse and related issues. Impact: This event raised awareness across 

wider stakeholders, providers, adults and carers in receipt of services. It has 

contributed to a strengthened working relationship with wider partnerships, and 

service. It is supporting the prevention agenda in the promotion of community 

resilience. 

Modern Slavery Briefings – Introduced in October 2017 to raise awareness of modern 

slavery and sexual exploitation, and the signs and indicators. Impact: These specialist 

sessions delivered jointly with the police have enabled the wider workforce to update 

their knowledge of modern slavery and sexual exploitation. It has helped to support 

partner agency staff such as Nurses and Social Workers and wider organisations such 

as housing providers in understanding how to make appropriate reports. 

 P
age 91



 

16 
 

Training Needs Survey – a training survey shared with all partners of the board, and 

wider organisations for a second year. It included impact measures on 

understanding person centred outcomes in safeguarding. Impact: There was an 

increased 25 per cent response rate on the previous year with 514 submitted 

surveys. It has helped the SAB identify the support needed for wider agencies in 

the promotion of person centred safeguarding. 

Safeguarding Week 2017- Following an invite from the LSCB, the SAB raised 

awareness of safeguarding adults and related issues through the LSCB 

safeguarding week.  Impact: With over 860 staff from partner agencies attending 

events during that week there was a clear message shared that ‘Safeguarding is 

Everyone’s Responsibility’. 

Awareness Raising Events – The SAB and partners raised awareness at a variety of 

forums throughout the year, including Holocaust Memorial Day, Fulfilling Lives (led 

by Learning Disabilities People’s Parliament) and World Social Work Day, 

International Nurses Day. Impact: With attendance of over 300 professionals, 

volunteers and service users and carers, the safeguarding adults profile is raised 

and in particular, how to report a concern. 

Website Updates – Updated throughout the year and posted to the SAB website 

included SAB training information, Annual reports and easy read version, website 

survey and SAB newsletters. Impact: A total of 34,420 page views, and 22,551 

unique page views of the SAB website, this includes reporting a concern. 

Training Programmes – A wide variety of training is accessible to staff and 

volunteers across the wider workforce, it includes face to face training, 

workbooks and e-learning packages. Impact: 20,359 of the wider workforce 

received some form of safeguarding training over the last year, supporting 

prevention and early intervention, and continual update of staff/volunteer skills 

and knowledge. 
  

P
age 92



 

17 
 

  

Mr Y is a man who lived alone with some support 

from family members and agency support from 

home carers. Adult Social Care received some 

concerns relating to the company providing 

home care to Mr Y. As a result, a multi-agency 

response to gather information about the 

concerns took place. Mr Y was unable to give his 

views or the outcomes he would like to achieve 

from safeguarding support. A family member 

acted as his representative to support him.  

Through conversations with Mr Y’s family and his 

representative, safeguarding plans to support Mr 

Y and keep him safe from further risk were put in 

place. Concerns about a staff member from the 

company providing his care resulted in that 

person being removed from their working role. This 

has prevented further risk to Mr Y and others. Mr Y 

continues to live independently with the support 

of his family and home care. 

 

Mrs C is a vulnerable adult who has 

dementia. Care workers pop in to her home twice 

a week to help her shower. Mrs C’s grandson 

moved in with her recently. Her grandson often has 

friends over, to play computer games, sometimes 

they stay for a long time. Mrs C’s care worker 

noticed she was becoming withdrawn and spent a 

lot of time in her bedroom and was worried about 

her. Mrs C has always enjoyed watching television. 

Mrs C’s care worker telephoned Social Care 

Direct.  A social worker contacted Mrs C.  

Mrs C told the social worker that she wanted her 

grandson to continue living with her, and that she 

liked the company. Mrs C received support to 

speak her grandson about not having friends over 

quite so much. Mrs C’s grandson explained that he 

was worried about leaving his grandmother home 

alone. Other family members agreed to help by 

visiting so when Mrs C’s grandson wanted to be 

with friends, she would not be alone. Mrs C is much 

happier and is enjoying time with her family. 

 

Everyone sees 

there is a person 

at the centre 

P
age 93



 

18 
 

 

 

 

 
  

 
 

 
Adults supported by family, friends or advocates during Safeguarding 

Enquiries made under Safeguarding should 

always consider the mental capacity of 

adults. The Care Act tells us that when any 

such enquiries are undertaken, advocacy 

support should be offered to adults when 

needed. An adult’s ability to contribute to 

decisions about their protection should 

always be recorded.  

Desired 
Expressed by service users were fully or partially 
achieved following safeguarding involvement 

97% 

P
age 94



 

19 
 

Full end of year data and analysis to be included after 13th May 
 

Safeguarding adults should aim to prevent further risk to adults.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Since 2011-2012 a concerted effort has been made to ensure repeat instances of abuse are maintained at 

the lowest possible levels. This is an indicator of the effectiveness of safeguarding interventions, of person 

centred practice and of achieving good outcomes. For 2017-2018, repeat instances accounted for 5.6 per 

cent of invoked referrals. The SAB receives audit information annually of all repeat instances. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Percentage of enquiries 

which are repeats 

 
13.25% 
2011-12 
 

5.38% 
2013-14 
 

8.6% 
2012-13 
 

6.13% 
2014-15 
 

4.5% 
2015-16 
  

6.18% 
2016-17 
 

TREND 

 

5.6% 
2017-18 
 

For 80.7 per cent of safeguarding enquiries receiving a multi-

agency response action was taken and the risk was either 

reduced or removed, this is in keeping with the national 

average of 2016-2017 of 87 per cent. 

 

3020
3178

784 728

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

Adult Safeguarding Activity 2016-18

Section 42 Enquiries Adult Protection/Multi-Agency Response
2016-17 2017-18 P

age 95



 

20 
 

Last year we said we would carry out work in a number of areas, to support the 

board to continue to make progress. These included: 

Improving upon our performance reporting to ensure it is fully reflective of 

multi-agency working and incorporates prevention and early intervention. 

During the year, the SAB has worked towards making improvements to its 

performance reporting. A number of actions identified at the board 

development session in January 2018 are being taken forward including linking 

with performance leads across 

the partners. The Peer Review also identified this an area of 

development for the board. 

We said we would improve upon gaining the ‘voice’ of 

user/carers to inform our work and identify improvements. The 

peer team highlighted this was an area of strength for the board, 

and noted that resources and publications are developed with 

users and carers.  

We said we 

would identify the prevalence and need of adults who may 

be victims of sexual exploitation or trafficking. This was to 

support the development of appropriate pathways to support 

adults at risk of sexual exploitation or trafficking. This work is 

near to completion with an ‘At a Glance’ Toolkit developed in 

conjunction with Darlington Safeguarding Adults Board. 

 

 

 

 

 

User and Carer Sub-

Group is making 

progress and has 

come a long way. 

Good cross-agency 

working on trafficking 

and modern slavery. 

P
age 96



 

21 
 

 

 

 

The SAB must within its annual report provide details of any Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs) undertaken, the 

lessons learned and actions to be taken as a result of a SAR. This means the SAB must identify whether or not 

cases where someone has died or suffered significant harm would require a Safeguarding Adult Review. The 

main purpose of reviews is to learn lessons that will help to prevent any risks happening again for adults at risk. 

During this year, 2 referrals reviewed by a SAR Panel determined that the criteria was met for one case to 

instigate a SAR, and for another case whilst the criteria was not met, it was agreed there may be valuable 

learning from the case. Both cases are ongoing, the learning and any actions taken will be publicised within 

2018-2019 annual report.  

The SAB agreed to explore a wide range of learning opportunities as part of its continual improvement, 

including the development of a thematic tool drawing upon learning from: 

     

 Adult Protection Cases) and Reflective Analysis 

 Case file audits 

 Organisational Learning – (for example learning from NHS Serious Incidents) 

 Near Miss processes  

 Provider self-audits and emerging themes 

 Safeguarding Adult Reviews 

 Domestic Homicide Reviews 

 Mental Health Homicide Reviews 

 Child Serious Case Reviews, (Safeguarding Practice Reviews - Consultation Working together to Safeguard 

Children, December 2017) 

 Confidential Inquiries  
 P

age 97



 

22 
 

In 2017-2018 the SAB identified a learning need for board members and wider practitioners in relation to 

Safeguarding Adult Reviews and in particular the differing methodologies available, the SAB is holding SAR 

workshop events in May 2018 to meet this need. 

 

The SAB noted raising the profile of SARs and how to refer cases should continue, and the recent peer review 

highlighted a suggestion for the SAB to explore the low numbers of SARs. It is reassuring to note that our areas 

of development correlate to that of the peer review findings. 

 

The Care and Support statutory guidance informs that SABS should be mindful of parallel 

review processes. SABs should consider the exploration of joint reviews to prevent 

duplication. In our 2016-2017 report we noted a key recommendation from a Mental Health 

Homicide Review relating to communication between agencies in situations of specific risk 

for adults in receipt in services. The recommendation suggested the LSAB explore how it 

could achieve a more robust approach to cross-agency communications.  

 

The SAB held workshops with a group of pilot 

participants outlining the learning from the 

review and the reasons for an intended 

pilot. Consultation on the development of 

resources to support the pilot participants 

took place. Resources and guidance packs 

shared with participants.  

 

With the support of NHS England a pilot is 

underway with selected agencies, including 

a provider and two GP practices as well as 

Social Care. The pilot is using a well-adopted 

framework for improving communication. In 

July 2018, the SAB will hear the pilot findings 

including analysis of its impact.  

P
age 98



 

23 
 

 

 

 

Collectively the SAB wishes to continue its journey with innovation and creativity in support of its vision. This 

includes working in smarter ways across partnerships and reducing duplication of effort. 

The SAB held its development sessions in October 2017 and January 2018. These sessions provide the SAB with 

an opportunity to reflect upon its progress and review its ‘plan on a page’ and related priorities.  

 

The SAB agreed to revise its priorities for the period 2018 to 2021, and to adopt a streamlined approach by 

reducing the priorities from eight to four. 

 

A key emphasis for the SAB moving forward into 2018 is performance monitoring, with a view to bringing 

strengthened narrative and analysis of data across all the statutory SAB agencies. The recent peer review 

team gave added validity to this area of development. Improving upon performance reporting will offer the 

SAB further assurance of the effectiveness of its arrangements through completion of development session 

actions and related learning from the recent peer review. 

 

Other areas identified include strengthened engagement with Healthwatch, including the exploration of 

research opportunities to inform the work of the SAB and identification of future priorities.  

 
 

 

 

 

 “     
” 

Partners see 

the Board as 

inclusive 

 

“     
” 

Real desire 

to make a 

difference 

 

“     
” 

The Board is 

on the right 

path 
 

“                   
” 

Very good session, two key themes worked 

well, probably the best session we’ve had, 

more interactive, and maybe a feeling of 

a more mature group. 

 “          
” 

SAB should have more 

days like this and strive 

for excellence. 

Sources: Peer Review 

team March 2018 
Source: Board member 

October 2017 

P
age 99



 

24 
 

 

 

 

Durham County Council  

Adult Care 

Durham County Council continues to fulfil its responsibility under the Care Act 2014 to protect adults with 

care and support needs from abuse and neglect. There have been a number of initiatives and 

improvements to the service in order to achieve these goals. The local authority are the lead agency for 

safeguarding and the Adult Protection Lead Officer team are responsible for coordinating the safeguarding 

response at an operational level. The team of seven lead officers was increased to eight, to address an 

increase in adult protection referrals and to ensure that the quality of safeguarding was maintained. Regular 

meetings were arranged with the chair of the Safeguarding Adults Board to promote and maintain links 

between the operational and the strategic aspects of safeguarding. 

A procurement process has commenced to replace the current ageing adult care IT system to bring the 

local authority up to date with modern IT facilities. This will ensure safeguarding records are better managed 

and overall issues are more easily identified, such as multiple victims and emerging issues relating to care 

provision. 

A Training Bulletin has been introduced to be disseminated quarterly in order to promote continuous learning 

amongst local authority staff and inform them of latest practice issues regarding topics such as Mental 

Capacity Act and advocacy.  

A new advocacy provider, Rethink, now provides all advocacy services to the local authority, replacing the 

previous advocacy service providers and providing a more consistent approach to advocacy to fulfil Care 

Act, Mental Capacity Act or Mental Health Act requirements. 

P
age 100



 

25 
 

 

The Safeguarding Team has been working closely with other local authority departments, such as trading 

standards, environmental health and housing to ensure there is a more comprehensive and integrated 

response to safeguarding issues. This joint working has been improved by the introduction of new referral 

forms, leaflets and training. 

The local authority celebrated World Social Work Day on Tuesday 20 March. Social workers from Adult and 

from Children’s Services came together in County Hall for the event, which created the opportunity to 

recognise the variety of crucially important tasks they perform in helping some of our most vulnerable 

residents. 

 

Housing Solutions 

Housing Solutions provide a strategic and operational role in the delivery of key local housing services 

including: 

 Homelessness or  risk of homelessness and Homeless Prevention 

 Advice on the range of accommodation options available through Durham Key Options, Private Rent, 

Housing Associations, Supported accommodation, Emergency hostels and Refuges and Gypsy, Roma 

and Traveller sites; 

 Family Intervention Project, Integrated Offender Management Project, HOPE Project, Project Beta, 

Remain Safe Project, Welfare Reform Project 

 Disrepair, Empty Properties and Regeneration 

 Private Landlord Accreditation Scheme 

 Loans and Grants 

 Energy issues 

 Home Improvement Agency 

 Rights and responsibilities as a tenant or an owner occupier 

 P
age 101



 

26 
 

Some key achievements this year include: 

 Development of Near-Miss procedure 

 Development of Safeguarding champions- dedicated safeguarding rep in all service areas raising 

awareness and knowledge. 

 Annual staff  safeguarding self- assessment audits  

 Mandatory  mental capacity act training and MSP briefings 

 Development of Modern Slavery procedure 

 Implementation of MSP through Personal Housing Plans and initial  needs assessments 

 Development of Rough Sleeper strategy ( Multi-agency)-including sweeps of Durham City engaging  

and empowering  vulnerable rough sleepers 

 Project Beta- dedicated keyworkers supporting offenders from prison to accommodation 

 MAPPA- dedicated officers in attendance and engagement in housing support 

 County Durham Housing Providers Safeguarding Partnership- Housing solutions facilitate key speakers 

and training to wider partners 

 Potential of a Rough Sleeper outreach worker 

 

An area of good practice is the development of a questionnaire with the help of vulnerable adults (Rough 

Sleepers) to share their experiences and collate views. We provided advice and support to those choosing 

to sleep rough identifying the need for a dedicated outreach worker. Our challenges for 2018-2019 include: 

 Clients with a Dual Diagnosis 

 Appropriate suitable temporary accommodation 

 Housing clients with complex needs 

 

Clinical Commissioning Groups      

CCGs are statutorily responsible for ensuring that the organisations from which they commission services 

provide a safe system that safeguards adults at risk of or experiencing abuse or neglect. North Durham (ND) 

and Durham, Dales, Easington and Sedgefield (DDES) CCGs are committed to the safeguarding agenda 

and work closely with provider organisations to ensure that robust systems and processes are in place.  

P
age 102



 

27 
 

 

The CCGs support the work of the SAB in working towards achieving its strategic plan by active contribution 

and participation. It has further supported the SAB by means of contributions for staffing resources for the 

period 201/2018.  

 

Over the last year the CCGs have worked with the local authority safeguarding staff in relation to the 

executive strategy process, Section 42 enquiries and adult protection investigations.  

 

The CCGs continue to work with primary care colleagues to raise awareness through primary care practice 

development sessions which have been held throughout 2017/2018. Topics included;  

 Consent/Capacity/Confidentiality 

 Prevent/Stay Safe  

 Coroner’s update 

 Domestic Abuse Support Services 

 Sexual Assault Referral Centre 

 Modern Day Slavery/Human Trafficking 

 Adult Reviews and Lessons Learned 

In addition the CCG safeguarding team have received training around Safeguarding Adults process and 

research methodologies and processes.  

The CCG Safeguarding team continue to monitor commissioned providers compliance in relation to the 

Prevent agenda. 

The Designated Nurse acts via a Memorandum of Understanding as a conduit between the North East 

Ambulance Service and the Local Safeguarding Adults Board. 

A challenge for 2018/19 is to continue ensure the requirements of the “competencies for health staff” 

guidance is fully implemented across the health sector following publication. 

 

 P
age 103



 

28 
 

Durham Constabulary          
      

Durham Constabulary is a Service that continues to deliver excellent Policing to the 

Communities of Durham and Darlington. The Force has been praised for the way it inspires 

confidence in Victims and communities by protecting neighbourhoods, tackling criminals and 

solving problems. 

Durham Constabulary have a designated Detective Superintendent heading the Safeguarding department. 

There has been growth in the last 12 months and the Department now has two dedicated Detective Chief 

Inspectors allowing for additional cover to both manage active investigations and also the Strategic 

direction of the Organisation. 

Staff from Durham Constabulary understand that Safeguarding is ‘Everybody’s business’ and to support this 

all members of staff receive regular structured and ad-hoc inputs as part of continuous development to 

ensure we deliver an excellent service to the Public. 

Detectives that have a dedicated role in the Safeguarding Department are ‘Omni-competent’ in all types of 

investigations requiring specialist knowledge. 

Durham Constabulary has been praised in the way that it ‘Problem Solves’ issues and there is a true 

understanding with staff around the need to work with partners with prevention being a key focus. 

In conjunction with PCVC Office we continue to carry out Victim surveys to understand ways to improve our 

response to victims. 

 Our victim-focussed investigations continue to gain praise. We listen to victims, identify their vulnerabilities 

early and supported them through the process. 

 Good practice and highlighted by HMIC as excellent, is the victim and ASB 7 day ring-backs we conduct 

with service users, enabling us to identify good practice or areas for improvement and implement 

change at an early stage. 

P
age 104



 

29 
 

 Our response to vulnerable adult missing from homes that ensures we identify early vulnerability and 

identify support agencies to reduce likelihood of going missing in the future (Herbert Protocol / ERASE) 

 Our management of Modern Day Slavery / Human Trafficking investigations has received praise 

following a recent Audit from the lead Force 

 

Our challenges for 2018 – 2019 include, managing increasing demands in times of austerity and the ever 

changing face of Policing, especially around the Digital enabler element. 

 

Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Trust      

Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust provides a range of community and in patient specialist 

Mental Health and Learning Disability services across a large geographical area.  

 

Our vision is to be a recognised centre of excellence with high quality staff providing high quality services 

that exceed expectations. Providing excellent services working with the individual users of our services and 

their carers to promote recovery and wellbeing.  

The Trust attends and is an active participant in the work of the Safeguarding Adults Board and associated 

sub groups. 

Trust safeguarding activity is monitored internally by the Safeguarding and Public Protection Sub group of the 

Quality Assurance Committee which reports to the Trust Board. 

The Trust is also monitored by the Clinical Commissioning Groups via the Clinical Quality Review Group 

meetings in relation to safeguarding.  

At the end of 2017/18 compliance rates of Trust staff meeting the mandatory training requirements for 

Safeguarding Adults Level 1 training was 93% and Level 2 training compliance was 93%. 

P
age 105



 

30 
 

The safeguarding Level 1 mandatory training programme has been revised and now incorporates 

safeguarding adults and safeguarding children training.  Also Level 2 refresher training programme has been 

developed. 

Mental Capacity Act Training is mandatory for Trust staff.  To further improve adherence to the legislation and 

monitor compliance, the use of Mental Capacity Champions across the Trust who have been trained at a 

higher level on MCA/DoLS, and they will attend regular MCA forums.  

Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) questionnaires are offered to all patients willing to feedback their 

experience of safeguarding adult procedures.   The results from 2017/18 MSP survey work demonstrated that 

patients felt informed and involved, and that safeguarding support and outcomes were appropriate. 

The Trust Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference Advisors have produced a Domestic Abuse training 

programme which is available for Trust staff through the education and training portfolio 

The Trust supports campaigns and events throughout the year and actively promotes safeguarding adults 

alongside the Local Authority 

It is expected that NHS England will publish the SGA intercollegiate guidelines in early summer it is unknown 

what impact this will have on the current Trust resources.  

Further embed Specialist safeguarding supervision into the Trusts clinical supervision compliance monitoring 

system. 

Further embed ‘Think Family’ into all aspects of safeguarding work including training, support and advice 

and when working with vulnerable adults. 

Participate alongside partner agencies in implementing national initiatives to identify and report and 

manage Modern Day Slavery cases 

 

 

P
age 106



 

31 
 

 

County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service 
 

As a fire and rescue service (FRS) we have a statutory responsibility to proactively reduce risk in the 

community and provide an emergency response service.  To ensure we are effective in making people safer, 

we use a range of information to identify residents who may be vulnerable or at greater risk and target our 

resources to support them.  We also work with businesses, providing support, advice and enforcement if 

necessary to ensure they comply with their duty under the Fire Safety Order.  This work can result in our crews 

interacting with people who have social care and safeguarding needs and helps to deliver against our vision 

to have the ‘‘safest people, safest places” wherever people live, work or visit within County Durham and 

Darlington. 

SAB Priority – Care Act/Legislation Compliance, Awareness, Prevention and Partner Engagement  

Delivering against our duty under safeguarding is included in the Service’s community safety strategy and 

this has been supported by a review of our policy and procedure to ensure they comply with the Care Act 

2014, the locally agreed policy and procedures and that they take cognisance of the Mental Capacity Act 

2005.  A key achievement this year has been to refresh and upgrade safeguarding training to all our staff.  

Our staff have completed training in ‘making every contact count’ and Level 1 ‘alerter’ training to ensure 

they can identify and refer those that may need help and support; this is predominantly delivered through 

our targeted Safe and Wellbeing visits.  Our central community safety team have been trained to Level 2 

‘managing the alerter’ to ensure appropriate action is taken when a safeguarding report is received from 

our staff; they have also attended Mental Capacity training sessions organised by the SAB business unit. 

SAB Priority – Learning Lessons and Improvement 

Due to increased knowledge and awareness, the FRS have referred a case to a Safeguarding Adults Review 

(SAR) panel, which has been taken forward under a learning lessons review, we have also supported 

information gathering for other referred cases. 

 

 

P
age 107



 

32 
 

 

SAB Priority – Partner Engagement 

During the delivery of our visits to businesses, to undertake fire safety audits, we identified two potential cases 

of modern slavery at separate premises.  The Fire Service referred to the Police, and it resulted in follow up 

joint inspection visits, which led to appropriate action being taken in both cases. 

We would like to build on our current practises by: 

 Introduce a quality assurance process to confirm staff understanding of safeguarding and referral 

procedures; 

 Organising further training with the Police and DCC to increase knowledge and practices in relation to 

modern slavery and human trafficking; 

 Raise awareness of safeguarding within our communities through interaction at fire station open days.  

  

P
age 108



 

33 
 

 

 

 

 

P
age 109



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Cabinet 
 

12 September 2018 
 

Forecast of Revenue and Capital 
Outturn 2018/19 – Period to 30 June 
2018 
 

 

 
 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources 

Councillor Alan Napier, Portfolio Holder for Finance 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 

1 To provide Cabinet with information on the:  
 
(a) forecast revenue and capital outturn for 2018/19; 

 
(b) forecast for the council tax and business rates collection fund position 

at 31 March 2019; 
 

(c) use of earmarked, cash limit and general reserves. 
 

2 To seek approval of the budget adjustments and proposed sums outside of 
the cash limit. 
 

Background 

3 In accordance with the council’s constitution, Council agreed the Medium 
Term Financial Plan, which incorporates the revenue and capital budgets for 
2018/19, on 21 February 2018. 

4 The constitution also states that the Chief Finance Officer must report to 
Cabinet on the overall council budget monitoring position on a quarterly basis. 

5 This is the first quarter’s report which provides the initial indication of the 
revenue and capital outturn for 2018/19, based upon expenditure and income 
up to 30 June 2018. 

Revenue Outturn Forecast – Based on Position to 30 June 2018 

6 The table overleaf compares the forecast of outturn with the revised budget.  
Further detail is provided in Appendices 2 and 3. 

7 The following adjustments have been made to the original budget agreed by 
Council on 21 February 2018: 

(a) agreed budget transfers between service groupings; 

(b) additions to budget for items outside the cash limit (for Cabinet 
consideration and recommended approval); 

Page 111

Agenda Item 6



(c) planned use of or contribution to earmarked reserves (please refer to 
Appendix 4). 

 
Forecast of Revenue Outturn 2018/19 

 

 
 

  

Original 

Budget 

2018/19

Budget - 

incorporating 

adjustments

Service 

Groupings 

Forecast of 

Outturn

Forecasted 

Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Adult and Health Services 130,822 126,513 123,417 -3,096

Children and Young People's Services 106,563 124,308 123,879 -429

Regeneration and Local Services 126,987 135,306 134,735 -571

Resources 15,635 15,766 15,270 -496

Transformation and Partnerships 11,944 12,233 12,163 -70

Cash Limit Position 391,951 414,126 409,464 -4,662

Contingencies 3,737 2,369 2,369 0

Corporate Costs 3,844 3,837 3,837 0

NET COST OF SERVICES 399,532 420,332 415,670 -4,662

Capital charges -56,650 -56,650 -56,650 0

Interest and Investment income -1,900 -1,900 -2,777 -877

Interest payable and similar charges 43,113 43,704 42,204 -1,500

Levies 16,193 16,204 16,204 0

Net Expenditure 400,288 421,690 414,651 -7,039

Funded By:

Council tax -209,712 -209,712 -209,712 0

Use of earmarked reserves -4,711 -25,776 -25,776 0

Estimated net surplus on Collection Fund -7,506 -7,506 -7,506 0

Business Rates -51,889 -51,889 -51,889 0

Top up grant -70,350 -70,350 -70,350 0

Revenue Support Grant -41,860 -41,860 -41,860 0

New Homes Bonus -6,504 -6,504 -6,504 0

Section 31 Grant -7,723 -7,723 -7,981 -258

Forecast contribution to/from(-) Cash Limit Reserve -33 -370 4,292 4,662

Forecast contribution to/from (-) General Reserves 0 0 2,635 2,635

 

TOTAL 0 0 0 0

Page 112



8 The table on the previous page identifies a forecast cash limit underspend of 
£4.662 million and a forecast net underspend/ overachievement of core 
government grant on all other budgets of £2.635 million, totalling £7.297 
million. This represents 1.7% of the net expenditure budget of £421.690 
million. 

9 Approval is being sought for the following sums to be funded from, or 
transferred to general contingencies. These sums are deemed to be outside 
of service grouping cash limits.  

Service Grouping Proposal Amount 
£ million 

Children and Young 
People’s Services (CYPS) 

Social Worker Retention 0.283 

CYPS Social Work Case Backlog 0.500 

CYPS Security and NNDR Costs Aycliffe Site 0.098 

CYPS 
Premises related costs for former 

schools 
0.021 

Resources Microsoft Licences -0.224 

Total  0.678 

 
10 After adjusting the budgets as detailed above, the forecast outturn for cash 

limit reserves and the general reserve are summarised in the table below. 

 

 

11 The forecasted cash limit and general reserves position is a prudent one 
given the forecasted levels of savings the council needs to make of £35.3 
million over the period 2019/20 to 2022/23 with the delivery of further savings 
becoming ever more challenging to achieve. 

12 The reasons for the major variances against the revised budgets are detailed 
below by each service grouping.   

Planned 

contribution to 

(-) or use of 

reserve

Contribution 

to (-) or use of 

reserve

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million

Service Grouping Cash Limit

Adult and Health Services -8.238 0.000 0.137 -3.096 -11.197

Children and Young People's Services -1.248 0.000 -0.515 -0.429 -2.192

Regeneration and Local Services -6.155 0.033 0.518 -0.571 -6.175

Resources -2.231 0.000 0.009 -0.496 -2.718

Transformation and Partnerships -0.415 0.000 0.188 -0.070 -0.297

Total Cash Limit Reserve -18.287 0.033 0.337 -4.662 -22.579

General Reserve -24.500 0.000 0.000 -2.635 -27.135

Type of Reserve

Opening 

Balance 

as at 1 

April 

2018

Budgeted 

use at 1 

April 2018

Movement during 2018/19

2018/19 

Forecast 

of Outturn 

Page 113



Adult and Health Services (AHS) 
 

13 The 2018/19 projected outturn for AHS at 30 June 2018 is a cash limit 
underspend of £3.096 million, representing circa 2.4% of the total budget for 
AHS.  

14 The projected outturn takes into account adjustments for sums outside the 
cash limit including redundancy costs which are met from the corporate 
reserve, capital accounting entries and use of / contributions to earmarked 
reserves. 

15 The outturn is a managed position, reflecting the proactive management of 
activity by Heads of Service across AHS to remain within the cash limit and to 
prepare for 2019/20 MTFP savings requirements.  The outturn position is 
accounted for as follows: 

(a) early achievement of a number of future years’ MTFP savings from 
management and support service proposals across the Adult Care and 
related areas, together with the careful management and control of 
vacant posts and supplies and services budgets across the service, 
particularly in County Durham Care and Support Services, has created a 
net underspend for the year of £1.565 million. 

 
(b) net spend on adult care packages is £1.531 million under budget.  This 

area of spend is being closely monitored to assess the impact of 
demographic and procedural/ operational changes, where significant 
MTFP savings have been taken over recent years.  

 
(c) net expenditure on Public Health related activity is in line with grant 

allocations. 
 
16 In arriving at the forecast outturn position, £0.453 million relating to 

contributions to and from reserves and cash limits have been excluded from 
the outturn. The major items being a contribution to the social care reserve 
(£0.805 million), use of the council’s MTFP Redundancy Reserve (£1.076 
million), and use of the Public Health Reserve (£0.352 million). 

17 Taking the projected outturn position into account, including the transfer to/ 
from reserves in year, and the transfer of £0.137 million to REAL the 
estimated cash limit reserve to be carried forward for AHS is forecast to be 
£11.197 million.  

 
Children and Young People’s Services (CYPS) 
 
18 The 2018/19 projected outturn for CYPS is a cash limit underspend of £0.429 

million, representing circa 0.4% of the total budget for CYPS. This takes into 
account adjustments for sums outside the cash limit, such as redundancy 
costs, which are met from the strategic reserve, year end capital entries and 
contributions to and from earmarked reserves. 

Page 114



19 The outturn position is accounted for as follows: 

(a) The Education Service is forecast to be £1.260 million under budget in 
2018/19. This underspend primarily relates to accessing of alternative 
financing for the previously base budget funded nursery sustainability 
function. Supplementary government assistance has been successfully 
accessed providing additional support to the cost of home to school 
transport together which combined with early achievement of MTFP 
savings within operational support are also contributing to the forecast 
outturn underspend position. 

 
(b) Children’s Services is forecast to be £0.830 million over budget for the 

year. This is primarily related to costs associated with Children’s 
placements, both those who have a legal status of looked after and those 
young people in permanent placements that are financially supported by 
the council, details as follows: 

 
20 Young people requiring to be looked after is a volatile and high cost area of 

activity within CYPS and current external demographic demands are creating 
a strain on the service in terms of financial resource allocation. It was 
anticipated that LAC numbers and costs would have stabilised by 2018/19 
and that the budget augmented by £3.9 million of base growth and £0.5 
million of demographic growth would meet demand in 2018/19. The current 
forecast indicates an in year overspend on placement costs of £0.549 million 
primarily driven by the requirement for expensive single residential 
placements to meet the care needs of particular young people and greater 
financial burden from the increased requirement to provide and promote 
Staying Put arrangements for Care Leavers. 
 

21 Special Guardianship costs, adoption allowances and interagency adoption 
fees are indicating a net overspend of circa £0.104 million which is the net 
effect of increased activity of successfully placing young people in permanent 
adoptive placements outside of the county (£0.250 million) mitigated by 
savings associated with the ongoing review and implementation of a more 
focused Special guardianship and Adoption allowance policies (£0.146 
million). 
 

22 Staffing costs are creating a pressure on the service in 2018/19 (circa £0.765 
million) driven by non-recurrent costs associated with staff protection following 
a restructure, mitigated  by vacancy savings associated with special education 
needs. Prior to 2018/19 the service had made a commitment to use agency 
staff only in areas where staff vacancies existed. Unfortunately due to service 
pressure and demands, unbudgeted agency staff costs in excess of savings 
accrued through vacancies are forecast to be circa £0.531million. Increased 
cost of DCC employed staff at the in-house provided residential homes has 
also led to significant levels of overtime being payable (circa £0.288 million) 
as a result of sickness and other absences. 
 

23 Income is forecast to over achieve by £0.229 million primarily as a result of 
the service accessing additional non recurrent income (£0.615 million) in 
2018/19. This one off funding is mitigating under achievement of budgeted 
income in relation to external contributions towards the cost of external LAC 
placements and the forecast non achievement of interagency income from the 
sale of DCC adoptive placement to other Local Authorities. 
 

Page 115



24 External transportation (taxi and volunteer drivers) costs are currently forecast 
to overspend by £0.385 million as a result of court direction on the frequency 
of supervised contact for Looked after children, combined with the continuing 
high numbers of children currently looked after. 
 

25 The Service has been successful in delivering services while reducing the 
associated cost on supplies and services and leaving care costs which,  
combined with savings associated with premises, has enabled the service to 
forecast underspends in these areas of £0.742 million. 

 
26 Taking the outturn position into account, the cash limit reserve to be carried 

forward for Children and Young People’s Services is £2.192 million at 31 
March 2019. 

 
Regeneration and Local Services (REAL) 
 
27 The updated forecast revenue outturn for 2018/19 is a cash limit underspend 

of £0.571 million, based on the position to 30 June 2018, after taking account 
of the forecast use of reserves and items outside the cash limit.   

28 The forecast underspend reflects the proactive management of activity by 
Heads of Service across Regeneration and Local Services to remain within 
the cash limit.  The main reasons accounting for the outturn position are as 
follows: 

(c) Direct Services is forecast to be £0.320 million overspent. This is mainly 
due to reducing power generation income of £0.200 million at the Joint 
Stocks landfill site, and unachieved Fleet MTFP savings of £0.216 million 
that were dependent on the review of Red Book terms and conditions.  
There are also unachieved Clean & Green MTFP savings of £73,000, 
essential depot repairs of £47,000, and costs of £49,000 relating to 
closed admin buildings that have not yet been disposed. These 
overspends are partially offset by additional garden waste income of 
£0.259 million, that will help towards 2019/20 MTFP savings; 
 

(d) Culture & Sport is forecast to underspend by £0.293 million.  There has 
been additional income of £0.530 million relating to a change in the VAT 
treatment of Leisure income, but this has been partially offset by a 
£0.240 million compensation to the third party contractor that operates 
Peterlee Leisure Centre.  The compensation is due to an income shortfall 
connected with refurbishment works at the facility; 

 
(e) Technical Services is forecast to be £44,000 underspent.  There is a 

break even position in Highways Services, which takes into account an 
overspend of £1.298 million due to additional policy led expenditure on 
highways maintenance, mainly in relation to Category 1 and 2 defects 
and footway maintenance.  This overspend is offset by additional 
surpluses generated within Highways Services Trading Accounts of 
£1.296 million. Design Services and PPM have a net underspend of 
£81,000 due to employee savings partially offset by reduced income. 
Strategic Highways has a net overspend of £32,000 with employee 
savings of £0.223 million largely offset by increased spend on Agency 
costs relating to condition surveys; 

 

Page 116



(f) Business Support is forecast to be £0.100 million underspent due to 
savings on vacant posts and reductions in hours; 

 
(g) Transport is forecast to breakeven, but within this, there are 

underspends on bus and rail contracts (£0.121 million) that are offset by 
loss of car parking income (£0.120 million) relating to the closure of the 
Sands car park from January 2019 due to the construction of the new 
HQ; 

 
(h) Planning and Assets is £0.122 million underspent, mainly resulting from 

additional planning fee income of £0.350 million that is offset by; £50,000 
on an Archaeology collection relocation from Bowes Museum, £55,000 
relating to corporate property health checks, and £0.120 million relating 
to under achieved income on investment properties. 

 
(i) Economic Development and Housing is forecast to be underspent by 

£0.257 million.  Within this overall position, Business Durham is 
underspent by £0.132 million due to a net increase in rental income, 
while Economic Development is overspent by £43,000 on the 
employment & skills contract. Housing Solutions is underspent by £0.175 
million due to savings in the GRT sites budgets and additional income in 
Housing Initiatives; 

 
(j) Environment, Health and Consumer Protection is forecast to underspend 

by £59,000.  This is mainly due to a number of vacant posts resulting in 
an underspend of £0.144 million, that is offset by £93,000 under 
achieved licensing income. 

 
29 In arriving at the forecast outturn position, £3.078 million relating to 

contributions from reserves and cash limits has been excluded from the 
outturn. The major items being: 

(a) £1.800 million use of reserves relating to Economic Development; 

(b) £0.580 million use of reserves in respect of Clean & Green, and 
Neighbourhood Protection 

(c) £0.400 million use of reserves relating to Planning; 

(d) £0.250 million use of reserves relating to Transport; 

30 Taking the projected outturn position into account, the forecasted cash limit 
reserve to be carried forward for Regeneration and Local Services is £6.175 
million. 

 
 
Resources  

31 The 2018/19 forecast revenue outturn for Resources is a cash limit 
underspend of £0.496 million.  This takes into account adjustments for sums 
outside the cash limit such as redundancy costs which are met from corporate 
reserves and use of/ contributions to earmarked reserves. 

32 The Heads of Service across Resources continue to proactively manage 
activity to remain within the cash limit.  The projected underbudget position is 
the net effect of the following items: 

Page 117



(a) Corporate Finance and Commercial Services is forecast to be 
underbudget by £6,000, primarily due to a managed underspend on 
employee costs in Financial Systems (£49,000) and a managed 
overspend on employee costs in Procurement (£12,000) and Strategic 
Finance (£32,000). 
 

(b) Finance and Transactional Services is forecast to be overbudget by 
£69,000, primarily due to a managed overspend on employee costs in 
HR Operations & Data (£71,000) and Financial Management (£32,000) 
which has been offset in part by an underspend in employee costs in 
Revenues & Benefits (£34,000). 
 

(c) Digital and Customer Services is forecasting to be underbudget by 
£0.123 million, consisting of an underspend on supplies and services 
(£0.152 million) in ICT Services and (£57,000) in Customer Services 
and on employee related expenditure (£73,000) in ICT Services. This 
has been offset by and a net reduction in income (£43,000) in ICT 
Services and (£16,000) in Customer Services. In addition there is a 
forecast overbudget on central expenses (£81,000) in ICT Services, 
mainly due to a £60,000 revenue contribution to the Digital Workforce 
capital project. There are also a number of other minor variances in this 
service area. 
 

(d) Internal Audit, Risk and Corporate Fraud is forecast to be overbudget 
by £28,000, comprising of a managed overspend of £26,000 on 
employee related expenditure and a minor £2,000 overbudget on 
supplies and services. 

 
(e) Legal and Democratic Services is forecast to be underbudget by 

£0.475 million, which includes a £0.112 million managed underspend 
on employees and £0.172 million on supplies and services. In addition 
there is a net over recovery of income amounting to £0.153 million. 
There are also a number of other minor variances in this service area.  

 
(f) People and Talent Management is forecast to be overbudget by 

£12,000 due to a managed overspend on employee costs. 
 

(g) Service Management is forecasting a minor £1,000 underbudget 
position, which is a minor variance against employees. 

 
33 The forecast cash limit outturn shows the position after some £11,000 of net 

contributions to reserves and cash limits have been applied to finance the 
following items: 

(a) £0.224 million to contingencies in respect of the projected underspend in 
respect of Microsoft Licences. 

(b) £26,690 from the Corporate MTFP Reserve to fund the cost of early 
retirements/voluntary redundancies; 

(c) £11,521 from the ICT Reserve to support ICT developments and 
additional costs of software licences; 

(d) £8,512 from the CRM System Implementation Reserve to support the 
implementation of the new system; 

Page 118



(e) £8,749 from the Cash Limit Reserve to fund Digital Durham; 

(f) £4,934 from the Microsoft Office 365 Reserve to support the roll out of 
the new software; 

(g) £0.121 million from the Benefit Take Up Reserve (iBCF) to meet the 
costs from the ongoing impact of welfare reforms.  

(h) £30,421 from the Welfare Reform New Burdens Grant Reserve to meet 
the costs from the ongoing impact of welfare reforms.   

34 Taking the outturn position into account, including items outside the cash limit 
and transfers to and from earmarked reserves, the cash limit reserve to be 
carried forward for Resources is forecast to be £2.718 million. 

 
 
Transformation and Partnerships (T&P) 

35 The forecast revenue outturn for 2018/19 is a cash limit underspend £70,000 
for the year after taking account of the forecast use of reserves and items 
outside the cash limit. 
 

36 The forecast underspend is a managed position, reflecting the proactive 
management of activity by Heads of Service across T&P to remain within the 
cash limit.  
 

37 In arriving at the forecast cash limit outturn position a net £0.150 million 
relating to contributions to and from reserves and cash limits have been 
excluded from the outturn. The major elements include: 

 
(a) £0.188 million contribution from the T&P cash limit reserve to offset the 

effect of the MTFP savings that won’t be achieved in the current 
financial year due to the part year effect of the implementation of the 
restructure across the T&P service grouping. From 2019/20 onwards 
the MTFP  savings identified will be achieved in full;  

 
(b) £0.139 million contribution to reserves in respect of the transfer of the 

Youth Work Support Grant funding which is available to the Area Action 
Partnerships to support services for young people; 

 
(c) £33,614 from reserves in respect of early retirement / voluntary 

redundancy costs associated with MTFP savings; 
 

(d) £22,784 from reserves in respect of employees costs associated with 
the  Syrian Resettlement Programme; 

 
(e) £43,904 from reserves in respect of employee costs associated with 

the Transformation Challenge Award grant which supports the work 
with community groups and other local organisations to transform the 
way local services are provided. 

 
38 Taking the projected outturn position into account, including items proposed to 

be treated as outside the cash limit, the total cash limit reserve forecasted to 
be carried forward for T&P at 31 March 2019 is £0.297 million. 

 
 

Page 119



Corporate Costs / Contingencies 
 
39 The forecast revenue outturn for 2018/19 for Resources – Centrally 

Administered Costs is expected to maintain spending within its cash limit. A 
number of MTFP savings totalling £0.150 million were applied to the above 
budgets in 2018/19. 

 
Central Budgets  
 
Interest Payable and Similar Charges - Capital Financing 

40 Against a budget of £43.7 million, there is a projected underspend of £2.8 
million arising from MRP savings. Of this a sum of £1.3 million has been 
earmarked for additional support towards the capital programme, leaving a 
saving of £1.5 million.   

 
Interest and Investment Income 
 
41 The forecast at this stage is an achievement of income of £2.777 million, 

which is £0.877 million higher than the £1.900 million budgeted returns on 
loan investments and council commercial activities. 

 
Council Earmarked Reserves Forecast 
 
42 Earmarked reserves are funds set aside for specific, known or predicted 

future expenditure. Appendix 4 details the council and school earmarked 
reserves showing the opening balance at 1 April 2018, the forecast movement 
on reserves during the year and the forecast closing balance as at 31 March 
2019.   

43 A summary of the latest forecast of council reserves (excluding school 
reserves) is shown below. The summary highlights that the total earmarked 
and cash limit reserves are forecast to reduce by £7.333 million in 2018/19, 
from £201.284 million to £193.951 million. The movement in earmarked 
reserves is explained in the service grouping commentaries.  This utilisation is 
to be expected as these funds are applied to the expenditure for which they 
were earmarked. 

 

 

 

Earmarked Cash Limit TOTAL

£ million £ million £ million

Opening Earmarked Balances as at 1 April 2018 -182.997 -18.287 -201.284

Adjusted for increase (-) / use of Earmarked Reserves 11.625 -4.292 7.333

Forecasted Earmarked Reserve Balances as at 31 

March 2019
-171.372 -22.579 -193.951

Page 120



Dedicated Schools Grant and Schools  
 

44 The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) allocation for 2018/19 is £383.289 million. 
A sum of £90.084 million is deducted from this figure and paid directly to 
academies by the Education Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) and likewise a sum 
of £4.366 million is deducted and paid directly by the ESFA to High Needs 
providers. The balance of £288.839 million is the sum paid to the council and 
includes both the delegated schools budget and the centrally retained DSG 
budget. 
  

45 Maintained schools budgets and carry forward accumulated surpluses and 
deficits from one year to the next. At the end of 2017/18 the net balances 
carried forward by schools totalled £18.415 million: 

 

 31 March 2018 
 £ million 

Maintained Schools -18.063 

Communities of Learning -0.384 

Loans to Schools 0.032 

Total -18.415 

 
46 The Communities of Learning balance is unspent amounts allocated to 

clusters of schools to support collaborative provision for Special Educational 
Needs. This balance has been moved to the Local Authority balances during 
quarter 1. 

 
47 Loans to Schools are the remaining loans made to schools under the old loan 

scheme, which ended in 2013. Schools are now able to obtain loans from a 
new scheme, financed by the council. 

 
48 For maintained schools, the balances carried forward form part of the 

available resources available to school to fund future year’s activity. The 
retained balances supplement the budget share determined by the current 
formal, Pupil Premium and other income. 
 

49 All schools have delegated budgets and carry forward under or over spends 
to the following financial year as either a surplus or deficit.  At 31 March 2018, 
20 schools had a deficit balance, where their spending had exceeded their 
accumulated balances, totalling £5.634 million: 
 

  
Schools with deficits at 

31 March 2018 

  No. £ million 

Nursery 1 0.010 

Alternative provision - - 

Primary 13 0.330 

Secondary 5 5.220 

Special 1 0.074 

Total 20 5.634 

 

Page 121



50 With the exception of three schools where the section 151 officer has granted 
permission to set a deficit budget, all school are forecast to clear their deficit 
in 2018/19 and carry forward a surplus at 31 March 2019. 
 

51 Since the start of the financial year four schools have converted to academies 
and balances held in respect of schools that converted in 2017/18 have been 
paid over to the academy trusts.   Excluding the balances for these former 
maintained schools, the total maintained school balances brought forward to 
2018/19 are £17.126 million. 
 

52 Schools were notified of their budget shares at the end of February and set 
their budgets for the year during March and April.  The table below 
summarises schools’ original budget plans for 2018/19. 

 

School budget 
plans (£ million) 

Surplus 
/ Deficit 

at 31 
March 
2018 

Budget 
share 

Pupil 
Premium 

Other 
Income 

Total 
Resources 
Available 

Total 
Budgeted 

Gross 
Expenditure 

Surplus 
/ Deficit 

at 31 
March 
2019 

Nursery -0.700 -1.059 -0.032 -3.687 -5.479 4.930 -0.548 

Alternative 
provision 

- -4.459 -0.081 -0.017 -4.557 4.557 - 

Primary -15.766 -147.276 -14.106 -27.694 -204.842 193.634 -11.208 

Secondary 1.702 -55.478 -3.552 -11.077 -68.406 72.670 4.264 

Special -2.361 -22.081 -0.754 -2.535 -27.732 26.575 -1.157 

TOTAL -17.126 -230.353 -18.525 -45.011 -311.016 302.366 -8.650 

 
53 A negative balance in the surplus/ deficit columns represents a surplus. 
 
54 Alternative provision refers to The Woodlands, which is a pupil-referral unit for 

pupils permanently excluded from mainstream schools and also makes 
provision for pupils who are at risk of permanent exclusion. 

 
55 The budget share consists of formula funding for mainstream nursery, primary 

and secondary schools, plus pupil-led funding for special schools and funding 
for places in Enhanced Mainstream Provision in mainstream primary and 
secondary schools. 

 
56 Pupil Premium is an estimate; actuals are determined by the Department for 

Education and are not confirmed until later in the year. 
 
57 Other income includes: 

 

  £ million 

Grant income -34.542 

Contributions 0.220  

Sales 6.490  

Lettings 0.966  

Income from local 
authority 

-1.135  

Other -1.658  

Total Other Income -45.011  

 

Page 122



58 Grant income includes funding for Universal Infant Free School Meals and PE 
& Sport.  Sales income is mainly from school meals and out-of-hours care 
(e.g. breakfast clubs).  Income from the local authority is mainly funding for 
early years and special educational needs. 

 
59 After accounting for the identified funding and budgeted activity at the end of 

quarter 1, the forecast balances at 31 March 2019 are for an overall net 
surplus balance of £9.306 million to be carried forward to 2019/20 as 
summarised in the tables below. 

 

Forecasts of school balances at 31 March 2019  (£ million) 

 

Surplus 
balance of 

at least 
2.5% of 
funding 

Surplus 
balance 
below 

2.5% of 
funding 

Deficit 
balance 

Total 

Nursery -0.545 - - -0.545 

Alternative Provision - - - - 

Primary -11.249 -0.290 - -11.539 

Secondary -1.085 -1.083 6.192 4.024 

Special -1.093 -0.154 - -1.246 

Total -13.971 -1.528 6.192 -9.306 

 
60 The numbers of schools in each category are shown below: 
 

Forecasts of school balances at 31 March 2019 (no of schools) 

  

Surplus 
balance of 

at least 
2.5% of 
funding 

Surplus 
balance 
below 

2.5% of 
funding 

Deficit 
balance 

Total 

Nursery 10 1 - 11 

Alternative Provision - 1 - 1 

Primary 147 47 - 194 

Secondary 5 7 4 16 

Special 5 4 - 9 

TOTAL 167 60 4 231 

 
61 The significance of balances above or below 2.5% of funding is that the 

council views a balance of at least 2.5% as being appropriate in terms of the 
ability of schools to cope with unforeseen expenditure during the year.  

 
62 The School Funding Team continues to work with schools to support and 

provide advice about budget issues, and will be reviewing budgets in the 
autumn in preparation for budget-setting in spring 2019.  Where there are 
concerns about a school’s financial viability this is shared with the Education 
Service so that a joined-up approach to resolving these issues can be 
adopted. 
 

Page 123



Dedicated Schools Grant Centrally Retained block 
 

63 The quarter 1 financial forecasts for the DSG budget show an overspend of 
£5.981 million against a budget of £51.122 million to year end, which 
represents a 11.7% over spend. 
 

DSG Block Budget 
 

£ million 

Forecast 
 

£ million 

Over / (Under) 
Spend 

£ million 

Schools 0.617 1.067 0.450 

High Needs 16.931 22.060 5.129 

Early Years 30.746 31.148 0.402 

Central Schools 
Services 

2.828 2.828 - 

TOTAL 51.122 57.103 5.981 

 
64 The forecast overspend position mainly relates by High Needs Block, which is 

forecast to overspend by £5.129 million. The pressure on the High Needs 
block is driven by increasing demand to meet the requirement of young 
people with special education needs and disabilities. This is a demand driven 
volatile area of activity for which the authority has a statutory duty to provide.  
 

65 There is an ongoing review into this area of service delivery reviewing how the 
needs of these young people are met and routes to secure additional funding 
are being explored. If these pressures remain, the council will need to seek 
agreement from the Schools Forum to top slice the DSG Schools Block and 
transfer funding to High Needs from 2019/20 onwards.  

 
66 The table below shows the DSG earmarked reserve position as at 1 April 

2018 and the projected position as at 31 March 2019 taking into account the 
projections in this report and a transfer of £0.384 million from the schools 
reserves to the High Needs Block in respect of Communities of Learning 
funding: 

 

DSG Reserves 

High 
Needs 
Block 

£ million 

Early 
Years 
Block 

£ million 

Schools 
Block 

 
£ million 

Total DSG 
 
 

£ million 

Balance as at 1 April 
2017 

6.070 2.361 2.728 11.159 

Use (-) / Contribution + in 
2017/18 

-4.652 -0.286 -1.488 -6.426 

Balance as at 31 March 
2018 

1.418 2.075 1.240 4.734 

Planned Use (-) / 
Contribution + in 2018/19 

-4.745 -0.402 -0.450 -5.597 

Project balance as at 31 
March 2019 

-3.327 1.673 0.790 -0.863 

 
67 The forecast overspend position on the High Needs Block will result in a 

deficit over and above available reserves £3.327 million. 
 

Page 124



Capital 

Background 

68 On 11 July 2018 Cabinet received a report which provided details of the final 
outturn position of the 2017/18 capital programme. This included details of 
budgets of £32.944 million that were reprofiled from 2017/18 to 2018/19 and 
adding these to the new 2018/19 capital allocations of £9.339 million 
approved by full council on 21 February 2018 and the existing 2018/19 budget 
of £94.770 million gives the original budget of £137.053 million for 2018/19 
that is shown in the table below. 

69 The council’s Member Officer Working Group (MOWG) that closely monitors 
the capital programme has since considered further revisions to the capital 
programme, taking into account additional resources received by the authority 
and further requests for reprofiling as Service Management Teams continue 
to monitor and review their capital schemes. 

Current Position 

70 The following table summarises the latest capital budget for approval 
alongside the original budget. The table also shows the forecast outturn for 
each service and the actual capital spend as at 30 June 2018. 

Service Grouping Original 
Budget 

2018/19 as 
at May 
MOWG 

£ million 

Amendments 
recommended 

by MOWG 
 
 

£ million 

Revised 
Budget 
2018/19 

Q1 
 

£ million 

Projected 
Outturn 
2018/19 

 
 

£ million 

Actual 
Spend to 
30 June 

2018 
 

£ million 

Adult and Health 
Services 

0.232 0.000 0.232 0.232 0.000 

Children and 
Young People's 

Services 
33.144 2.225 35.369 35.369 3.736 

Regeneration and 
Local Services 

91.605 2.021 93.626 93.626 14.137 

Resources 6.988 1.709 8.697 8.697 1.846 

Transformation 
and Partnerships 

5.084 0.455 5.539 5.539 0.423 

TOTAL 137.053 6.410 143.463 143.463 20.142 

 

71 Since the original 2018/19 budget was agreed the MOWG has considered a 
number of variations to the capital programme which are a result of additions 
and reductions in resources received by the council. The variations of note 
are as follows: 

72 Additions and Reductions 
 

(a) CYPS - the service has been successful in making three bids to the 
Department for Education to fund improvements costing £0.270 million 
at the Aycliffe Secure Unit, for a new staff digital security and pager 
system, the installation of new acoustic panels and for replacement 
gates. A further increase of £5,000 comes from a transfer from 
Members’ budgets.  

Page 125



(b) REAL – the service has received notice of additional funding as 
follows:  

(i) Technical Services - The service has received extra highways 
maintenance capital grant of £1.342 million from the Department 
for Transport. A reduction of £52,000 has been made to 
Environment Agency funded drainage schemes, where funding 
will only agreed by the agency in exceptional circumstances. 

(ii) Culture and Sport – an increase of £12,000 is requested, the 
majority covering a revenue contribution to the Leisure 
Management System scheme budget. 

(iii)  Economic Development and Housing - notification of 
increased resources of £1.069 million have received from various 
funders. Historic England have allocated an initial £0.187 million, 
with more to follow, to promote heritage-led growth in the Bishop 
Auckland Heritage Action Zone; the Ministry of Communities, 
Housing and Local Government has offered a grant allocation that 
is £0.817 million more than expected for Disabled Facilities 
Grants; section 106 funding of £80,000 for a Home Housing 
scheme at Esh Winning; and the Solid Wall Insulation Innovation 
Energy Efficiency programme budget has been reduced by 
£15,000 that covers revenue elements. In addition, some £45,000 
has been transferred from T&P to finance various Member-led 
initiatives. 

(iv) Transport and Contracted Services – some £63,000 has been 
allocated for the Land of Oak and Iron project in the Derwent 
Valley from the Heritage Lottery Fund via Groundworks. A further 
£12,000 has been received from a section 106 contribution for a 
public right of way in Chilton. 

 
(c) Resources – Approval is sought to increase the budget for the 

replacement HR/ Payroll system by £60,000, funded by a contribution 
from revenue 

(d) T&P - budgets increases are required for the Member’s Neighbourhood 
budget, with £0.277 million from the Members Neighbourhoods 
Revenue Reserve and the AAP budget, with £72,000 from the AAP 
Revenue Reserve. Reductions totalling £47,000 are required as a 
result of transfers to other services. 

 

73 Reprofiling - Budget managers continue to challenge and review the 
programming and phasing of works, which has resulted in the re-profiling of 
the following budgets in line with anticipated activity in 2018/19: 

 
(a) CYPS – School Related – it is proposed that £1.950 million of budget 

is brought forward from 2019/20 to fund thirty five school schemes in 
2018/19. 

(b) REAL – some £0.470 million of the addition need to be reprofiled to 
future years for the Bishop Auckland Heritage Action Zone (£0.151 
million) and Disabled Facilities Grants (£0.317 million) 

Page 126



(c) Resources -  a thorough review of the Digital Durham budgets has 
been undertaken, as a result of which it has been identified that net 
budgets of £1.649 million should be brought forward into 2018/19. 

(d) T&P – some £0.153 million of the Members Neighbourhood Fund 
budget has been brought forward from 2019/20 to 2018/19, where it 
has been allocated to Members’ budget. 

 
Capital Financing 
 
74 The following table summarises the recommended financing of the revised 

Capital Programme: 

Financed By: 

Original 
Budget 
2018/19 

Amendments 
recommended by 

MOWG 

Revised 
Budget 
2018/19 

£ million £ million £ million 

Grants and Contributions 52.857 2.556 55.413 

Revenue and Reserves 45.186 0.419 45.606 

Capital Receipts 22.439 0.000 22.439 

Borrowing 16.572 3.436 20.008 

TOTAL 137.054 6.411 143.465 

 
 

Council Tax and Business Rates Collection Funds 

Council Tax 

75 Council Tax is charged for all residential dwellings in bandings agreed by the 
Valuation Office Agency, which is part of Her Majesty’s Revenues and 
Customs (HMRC).  Exemptions, reliefs and discounts are awarded dependent 
upon the state of the property, its use and occupiers’ personal circumstances.  
 

76 The collection rate at 30 June 2018 was slightly below the profiled target of 
29.05%, and 0.24 percentage points below the same position in 2017/18.  

 
77 The in-year collection rates in quarter one for the last three years, including 

the current year, are shown below: 
 

Billing Year Position at 30 June 
Each Year % 

2018/19 28.79 

2017/18 29.03 

2016/17 29.01 

 

Page 127



78 The current overall collection rate for 2017/18 council tax liabilities is now 
97.61% (compared to 96.83% at 31 March 2018), and for 2016/17 the rate is 
now 98.42% (compared to 96.69% at 31 March 2017).  The council continues 
to recover council tax from earlier years, and currently the collection rate for 
all years excluding the current year is 99.56% which is line with our medium 
term financial plan forecasts.  
 

79 The income shown in the Council Tax Collection Fund is the amount 
collectable from Council Tax payers in the long run, rather than the actual 
cash collected in the year the charges are raised.  Likely bad debts are 
accounted for by maintaining a bad debt provision.  The amount estimated to 
be collectable is estimated each year by reference to the actual council tax 
base for all domestic properties in the county (schedule of all properties, 
discounts and reliefs) with an allowance for non-collection.  
 

80 Due to changes in the number of properties (including new build and 
demolitions), eligibility of discounts and reliefs during the year, the actual 
amount collectable increases or decreases from the estimate on a dynamic 
day to day basis.  In addition, adjustments for previous billing years take place 
during each accounting year.  All of these adjustments mean that the actual 
amounts collected will always differ from the estimate.   
 

81 Such differences at the end of each accounting year, after taking into account 
the calculated change required in the ‘bad debt’ provision, determines 
whether a surplus or deficit has arisen, which is then shared proportionately 
between the council and its major preceptors, being Durham Police Crime and 
Victim’s Commissioner and County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue 
Authority. 

 
82 At 30 June 2018, the estimated outturn for the Council Tax Collection Fund is 

a surplus of £0.257 million as shown in the table below, which takes into 
account the undeclared surplus as at 31 March 2018. Durham County 
Council’s share of this forecasted surplus is £0.216 million, which could be 
available to support the 2019/20 budget. The forecasts will need updating in 
October/ November to inform the declaration of a Collection Fund surplus for 
final budget planning 2019/20. 

Page 128



 £ million 

Net Bills issued during Accounting Year 2018/19 319.377 

  

LCTRS and previous years CTB adjustments -55.599 

  
Calculated change in provision for bad debts required and 
write offs -3.239 

Net income receivable (a) 260.539 

  
Precepts and Demands  
Durham County Council  209.712 

Parish and Town Councils 12.544 

Durham Police Crime and Victim’s Commissioner 25.087 

County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority 13.915 

Total Precepts and Demands (b) 261.258 

  

Net Surplus / (-) Deficit for year (a) – (b) -0.719 

Undeclared Surplus Brought Forward from 2017/18 0.976 

Estimated Year end surplus 0.257 

 
83 At 15 January in each year, the estimated surplus/ deficit on the Collection 

Fund Council Tax Account is notified to the two major preceptors for inclusion 
in the budget setting process for the following year as an additional income or 
expenditure item.   
 

84 At 15 January 2019 an estimated year end position on the Council Tax 
Collection Fund for 2018/19 will be declared and taken into account in the 
budget setting process for 2019/20.  Any difference between this and the 
actual surplus at 31 March 2019 will be carried forward to 15 January 2020 
and will be taken into account in estimating the surplus/ deficit for 2019/20, 
which will need to be taken into account for 2020/21 budget setting. 
 

85 Over the last five years, the Council Tax provision for bad debts has been 
increasing steadily.  This managed approach has been necessary to minimise 
the risk of the Council Tax Collection Fund moving into deficit whilst securing 
the robustness of the levels of provision held.  The position has now been 
reached where maintaining the provision at a prudent level does not prevent 
the declaration of a surplus. 
 

Business Rates 

86 2013/14 was the first year of the new Business Rates Retention Scheme 
whereby the council has a vested budget interest and stake in the level of 
business rate yield, as income generated from Business Rates is now shared 
between Central Government (50%), Durham County Council (49%) and 
County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority (1%). Therefore, it 
is not only the accuracy and timeliness of bills levied and collected that is 
monitored and audited, but the level of income anticipated for the year is 
important and new monitoring procedures have been devised for this purpose. 
 

87 In 2017/18, following consultation, the Government implemented the first 
revaluation of Business Rates since April 2010.  
 

Page 129



88 The revaluation of the rateable values of all Business Properties was 
undertaken by the Valuation Office Agency and, along with national changes 
to Multipliers, Relief Thresholds and Transitional Arrangements, came into 
effect from April 2017. The overall effect of the revaluation on the Collection 
Fund saw a decrease of an estimated £9.3m in rates yield/ liability when 
compared to 2016/17. The revaluation should be cost neutral to Durham 
County Council and County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue 
Authority, therefore compensation arrangements are to be made through 
adjustments to Section 31 grants and Top Ups for their shares of losses of 
income. 
  

89 Bills raised, exemptions and reliefs awarded are examined together with local 
knowledge of anticipated changes in reliefs such as Mandatory Charitable 
Relief and Discretionary Rate Relief on a monthly basis to enable a 
comparison with the January 2018 estimate of 2018/19 Business Rates 
income that was used for budget setting purposes.  At 30 June 2018, the 
estimated outturn for the Collection Fund Business Rates is a surplus of 
£1.518 million, after taking into account the undeclared surplus as at 31 
March 2018, as calculated in the following table. 

 

  
£ 

million 

Net rate yield for 2018/19 including previous year adjustments 115.776 

    

Estimate of changes due to appeals lodged and future appeals -4.980 

    
Estimated losses in Collection – Provision for Bad Debts and 
Write-offs 

-1.181 

Net income receivable (a) 109.615 

  
Agreed allocated shares   

Central Government (50%) 52.840 

Durham County Council (49%) 51.784 

County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority (1%) 1.057 

Cost of Collection Allowance and Renewable Energy (paid to 
Durham County Council) 

0.692 

Total fixed payments (b) 106.373 
  

Net surplus for year (a) – (b) 3.242 

Undeclared Surplus brought forward from 2017/18 -1.724 

Estimated year end Surplus 1.518 

 
90 The in-year estimated surplus of £3.242 million and the total undeclared 

deficit brought forward from 2017/18, leaves an estimated surplus of £1.518 
million at 31 March 2019.  The surplus/ deficit at 31 March in any year are 
shared proportionately between Durham County Council, Central Government 
and County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue, Durham County 
Council’s share being 49%.  Durham County Council’s share of the estimated 
year end surplus will therefore be £0.744 million. 

Page 130



 
91 The payment profile on collection performance is changing due to more 

businesses opting to spread their payments over 12 months rather than ten.  
The major business rates payers have all opted to take up this opportunity to 
re-profile their cash flow.  However, robust collection procedures have 
enabled the setting of a challenging collection rate target of 33.70% at 30 
June 2018, which has been exceeded. 

 
92 The in-year collection rates in quarter one for the last three years, including 

the current year, are shown below:   
 

Billing year Position at 30 June 
Each Year % 

2018/19 34.42 

2017/18 33.67 

2016/17 33.55 

 
93 In year performance to 30 June 2018 shows a collection rate of 34.42%, 

which is marginally above the target by 0.72%.  The current overall collection 
rate for 2017/18 business rate liabilities is now 98.97% (compared to 98.42% 
at 31 March 2018) and for 2016/17 business rate liabilities is now 99.46% 
(compared to 97.78% at 31 March 2017).  The council continues to recover 
business rates from earlier years and currently, the collection rate for all years 
excluding the current year is 99.36% which is line with our medium term 
financial plan forecasts.   

 
Section 31 Grant - Small Business Rate Relief 

94 Small business ratepayers with properties with rateable values under £15,000 
benefit from relief on their rates payable. The Government has awarded local 
authorities a Section 31 grant to cover their share of the shortfall in business 
rates that these small business ratepayers would have paid had the relief 
scheme not been in place. 

 
95 Small business ratepayers with properties with rateable values up to £12,000 

are now being granted full relief, and properties with rateable values between 
£12,000 and £15,000 have a tapered relief applied to them ranging from 
100% down to 0%.  
 

96 The Government has agreed to pay Section 31 grant for any additional small 
business rate relief in respect of business rates bills and adjustments thereof 
relating to the period commencing 1 April 2013.  Any adjustments that relate 
to bills for years prior to this will be dealt with as part of the normal rate 
retention shares.  At 30 June 2018, the gross small business relief awarded 
against 2018/19 business rates bills and adjustments to 2017/18, 2016/17, 
2015/16, 2014/15 and 2013/14 bills is £14.444 million, and the council will 
receive £4.799 million in Section 31 grant, including the capping adjustment 
and threshold change adjustments, in this regard. 

 

Page 131



Other Section 31 Grants 
 
97 In the Autumn Statements since 2013, 2014 and 2015, additional business 

rate reliefs were announced for each following financial year for which Section 
31 grants would be payable. These included reliefs for properties empty from 
new, reoccupation of long-term empty properties and an additional relief for 
small shops.  Durham County Council will be recompensed for any retained 
rates foregone because of reliefs given.   
 

98 In the Autumn Statement 2016 and the Spring Budget 2017, following 
consultation on the 2017/18 NNDR revaluation, further additional business 
rate relief schemes have been announced which Section 31 grants would be 
payable from April 2017. These further relief schemes include Rural Rate 
Relief and Local Newspaper Reliefs in the Autumn Statement, followed by 
Supporting Small Business, Local Discretionary Relief Scheme and Pub 
Relief in the Spring Budget. Funding for these schemes will be provided 
through Section 31 grants. 
 

99 When assessing estimated outturn income from business rates, due regard 
must also be given on the effect that changes in estimated reliefs will have on 
the Section 31 grants.  At 30 June 2018, the increase in Durham County 
Council’s Section 31 grants (including small business rate relief) was £76,851.  

 
 
Recommendations and Reasons 

100 It is recommended that Cabinet: 

(a) note the council’s overall financial position for 2018/19; 

(b) agree the proposed ‘sums outside the cash limit’ for approval; 

(c) agree the revenue and capital budget adjustments; 

(d) note the forecast use of earmarked reserves; 

(e) note the forecast end of year position for the cash limit and general 
reserves; 

(f) note the position on the capital programme and the Collection Funds in 
respect of Council Tax and Business Rates. 

Background Papers 

 County Council – 21 February 2018 – Medium Term Financial Plan 
2018/19 to 2021/22 and Revenue and Capital Budget 2018/19. 
 

 Cabinet – 11 July 2018 - 2017/18 Final Outturn for the General Fund 
and Collection Fund. 

 
 

Contact:  Jeff Garfoot                        Tel: 03000 261946 
                      Paul Darby                         Tel:    03000 261930 

  

Page 132



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Finance -  

The report details the 2018/19 forecast of outturn position for Revenue and Capital 
and details the forecast movement on Reserves. 

 
Staffing -  

None 

 
Risk -  

The figures contained within this report have been extracted from the General 
Ledger, and have been scrutinised and supplemented with information supplied by 
the Service Management Teams and budget holders.  The projected outturn has 
been produced taking into consideration spend to date, trend data and market 
intelligence, and includes an element of prudence.  This, together with the 
information supplied by Service Management Teams and budget holders, helps to 
mitigate the risks associated with achievement of the forecast outturn position. 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty - 

None 

 
Accommodation -  

None 

 
Crime and Disorder -  

None 

 
Human Rights -  

None 

 
Consultation -  

None 

 
Procurement -  

None 

 
Disability Issues -  

None 

 
Legal Implications -  

The consideration of regular budgetary control reports is a key component of the 
council’s Corporate and Financial Governance arrangements. This report shows the 
forecast spend against budgets agreed by Council in February 2018 in relation to the 
2018/19 financial year. The forecasts contained within this report have been 
prepared in accordance with standard accounting policies and procedures. 

Page 133



 

 

Appendix 2:  Revenue Summary 2018/19 

 

 
  

Original 

Budget 

2018/19

Revised 

Budget

Proposed 

Budget 

Revisions

Cash Limit 

Reserve

Contribution to 

/ Use of 

Earmarked 

Reserves

Budget - 

incorporating 

adjustments

Service 

Groupings 

Forecast of 

Outturn

Forecasted 

Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Adult and Health Services 130,822 130,822 -4,933 0 624 126,513 123,417 -3,096

Children and Young People's Services 106,563 106,563 408 -515 17,852 124,308 123,879 -429

Regeneration and Local Services 126,987 126,987 5,241 655 2,423 135,306 134,735 -571

Resources 15,635 15,635 -82 9 204 15,766 15,270 -496

Transformation and Partnerships 11,944 11,944 139 188 -38 12,233 12,163 -70

Cash Limit Position 391,951 391,951 773 337 21,065 414,126 409,464 -4,662

Contingencies 3,737 3,737 -1,368 0 2,369 2,369 0

Corporate Costs 3,844 3,844 -7 0 0 3,837 3,837 0

NET COST OF SERVICES 399,532 399,532 -602 337 21,065 420,332 415,670 -4,662

Capital charges -56,650 -56,650 -56,650 -56,650 0

Interest and Investment income -1,900 -1,900 -1,900 -2,777 -877

Interest payable and similar charges 43,113 43,113 591 43,704 42,204 -1,500

Levies 16,193 16,193 11 16,204 16,204 0

Net Expenditure 400,288 400,288 0 337 21,065 421,690 414,651 -7,039

Funded By:

Council tax -209,712 -209,712 -209,712 -209,712 0

Use of earmarked reserves -4,711 -4,711 -21,065 -25,776 -25,776 0

Estimated net surplus on Collection Fund -7,506 -7,506 -7,506 -7,506 0

Business Rates -51,889 -51,889 -51,889 -51,889 0

Top up grant -70,350 -70,350 -70,350 -70,350 0

Revenue Support Grant -41,860 -41,860 -41,860 -41,860 0

New Homes Bonus -6,504 -6,504 -6,504 -6,504 0

Section 31 Grant -7,723 -7,723 -7,723 -7,981 -258

Forecast contribution to/from(-) Cash Limit Reserve -33 -33 -337 -370 4,292 4,662

Forecast contribution to/from (-) General Reserves 0 0 0 2,635 2,635

 

TOTAL 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 134



 

Appendix 3:  Revenue Summary by Expenditure/ Income for the period ended 31 March 2019 

 

 
 

Revised 

Budget

Proposed 

Budget 

Revisions 

Agreed 

Budget

Corporate 

Costs

Sums 

Outside 

the Cash 

Limit

Cash Limit 

Reserve

Contribution to / 

Use of 

Earmarked 

Reserves

Revised 

Service 

Outturn

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Employees 527,961 528,594 -7,312 521,282 522,563 394 -287 -347 -4,038 518,285 -2,997 0

Premises 52,661 52,813 -333 52,480 52,537 0 -59 -110 -51 52,317 -163 0

Transport 41,598 41,597 -656 40,941 41,399 0 0 0 0 41,399 458 0

Supplies & Services 123,605 123,450 -1,331 122,119 123,596 1,431 -332 -395 -2,401 121,899 -220 0

Agency & Contracted 358,455 358,565 -649 357,916 363,479 2,061 0 0 -2,835 362,705 4,789 0

Transfer Payments 190,384 190,369 9,984 200,353 217,578 0 0 0 -17,879 199,699 -654 0

Central Costs 86,605 86,662 1,730 88,392 84,471 115 0 0 7,348 91,934 3,542 0

DRF 710 710 345 1,055 775 0 0 0 0 775 -280 0

Other 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 515 -515 1 1 0

Capital Charges 56,650 56,650 0 56,650 56,650 0 0 0 0 56,650 0 0

GROSS EXPENDITURE 1,438,629 1,439,410 1,778 1,441,188 1,463,049 4,001 -678 -337 -20,371 1,445,664 4,476 0

Income

Government Grants 613,249 613,492 2,895 616,387 617,939 14 0 0 287 618,240 -1,853 0

Other Grants and Contributions 74,746 74,807 -114 74,693 75,038 0 0 0 125 75,163 -470 0

Sales 10,439 10,455 -785 9,670 9,409 150 0 0 2 9,561 109 0

Fees and Charges 114,762 112,356 -4,517 107,839 105,826 0 0 0 1,103 106,929 910 0

Rents 8,183 8,358 236 8,594 8,711 0 0 0 0 8,711 -117 0

Recharges To Other Services 212,616 215,259 6,922 222,181 230,602 0 0 0 -823 229,779 -7,598 0

Other 8,859 8,888 -2,947 5,941 6,060 0 0 0 0 6,060 -119 0

Total Income 1,042,854 1,043,615 1,690 1,045,305 1,053,585 164 0 0 694 1,054,443 -9,138 0

NET EXPENDITURE 395,775 395,795 88 395,883 409,464 3,837 -678 -337 -21,065 391,221 -4,662 0

Forecasted 

Variance 

(including 

Corporate 

Costs)

                         

Original 

Budget 

2018/19

Service 

Groupings 

Forecast of 

Outturn

Forecasted 

Variance - 

Corporate 

Costs

P
age 135



 

 

Appendix 4:  Earmarked Reserves Position as at 30 June 2018 

 

 

EARMARKED RESERVES AND CASH LIMIT RESERVES SERVICE 

GROUPING

2017/18 

CLOSING 

BALANCE

USE OF 

RESERVES 

CONTRIBUTION 

TO RESERVES 

TRANSFERS 

BETWEEN 

RESERVES

TOTAL 

MOVEMENT ON 

RESERVES

2018/19 

CLOSING 

BALANCE AS 

AT 30 JUN 2018

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

1 T&P AAP/Members Reserve T&P -1,850 0 -139 0 -139 -1,989

2 T&P Grant Reserve T&P -1,224 44 0 0 44 -1,180

3 T&P Operational Reserve T&P -1,573 23 0 0 23 -1,550

4 T&P Transformation Reserve T&P -2,147 684 0 0 684 -1,463

5 Social Care Reserve AHS -21,235 227 0 0 227 -21,008

6 Public Health Reserve AHS -2,943 934 0 0 934 -2,009

7 Children's Services Reserve CYPS -1,875 845 0 0 845 -1,030

8 Education Reserve CYPS -14,285 2,344 0 515 2,859 -11,426

9 Env. Health and Consumer Protection Reserve REAL -735 0 0 0 0 -735

10 Neighbourhoods AAP Reserve REAL -71 6 0 0 6 -65

11 Direct Services Reserve REAL -2,905 276 0 0 276 -2,629

12 Culture and Sport Reserve REAL -3,680 115 -250 0 -135 -3,815

13 Technical Services Reserve REAL -2,798 250 0 0 250 -2,548

14 Business Growth Fund Reserve REAL -743 148 0 0 148 -595

15 Economic Development Reserve REAL -1,501 641 0 0 641 -860

16 Planning Reserve REAL -1,573 135 0 0 135 -1,438

17 North Pennines AONB Partnership Reserve REAL -1,302 0 0 0 0 -1,302

18 Employability and Training Reserve REAL -57 55 0 0 55 -2

19 REAL Match Fund Progamme Reserve REAL -1,653 141 0 0 141 -1,512

20 Housing Regeneration Reserve REAL -1,086 110 0 0 110 -976

21 Housing Solutions Reserve REAL -1,680 573 0 0 573 -1,107

22 Restructure Reserve REAL -114 0 0 0 0 -114

23 Transport Reserve REAL -1,065 240 0 0 240 -825

24 Funding and Programmes Management Reserve REAL -480 23 0 0 23 -457

25 Customer Services Reserve Resources -346 9 0 0 9 -337

26 Resources Corporate Reserve Resources -890 0 0 0 0 -890

27 Resources DWP Grant Reserve Resources -2,233 30 0 0 30 -2,203

28 Resources System Development Reserve Resources -412 0 0 0 0 -412

29 Resources Housing Benefit Subsidy Reserve Resources -820 0 0 0 0 -820

30 Resources Revenue and Benefits Reserve Resources -980 121 0 0 121 -859

31 Resources Legal Reserves Resources -354 0 0 0 0 -354

32 Resources Elections Reserve Resources -709 0 0 0 0 -709

33 Resources ICT Reserves Resources -1,326 17 0 0 17 -1,309

34 Resources Registrars Trading Reserve Resources -200 0 0 0 0 -200

35 Resources Human Resources Reserve Resources -426 0 0 0 0 -426

36 Equal Pay Reserve Corporate Fin -19,509 0 0 0 0 -19,509

37 Insurance Reserve Corporate Fin -11,485 0 0 0 0 -11,485

38 Performance Reward Grant Reserve Corporate Fin -38 0 0 0 0 -38

39 MTFP Redundancy and Early Retirement Reserve Corporate Fin -7,507 2,230 0 0 2,230 -5,277

40 Office Accommodation Project Support Reserve Corporate Fin -77 0 0 0 0 -77

41 Budget Support Reserve Corporate Fin -30,000 340 0 0 340 -29,660

42 Office Accommodation Capital Reserve Corporate Fin -31,731 144 0 0 144 -31,587

43 Inspire Programme Reserve Corporate Fin -1,379 794 0 0 794 -585

44 Commercialisation Support Reserve Corporate Fin -4,000 0 0 0 0 -4,000

Total Earmarked Reserves -182,997 11,499 -389 515 11,625 -171,372

Cash Limit Reserves

45 Adult and Health Services -8,238 0 -3,096 137 -2,959 -11,197

46 Children and Young People's Services -1,248 0 -429 -515 -944 -2,192

47 Regeneration and Local Services -6,155 688 -571 -137 -20 -6,175

48 Resources -2,231 9 -496 0 -487 -2,718

49 Transformation and Partnerships -415 188 -70 0 118 -297

Total Cash Limit Reserves -18,287 885 -4,662 -515 -4,292 -22,579

Total Council Reserves -201,284 12,384 -5,051 0 7,333 -193,951

Schools' Balances

Sch 1 Schools' Revenue Balance CYPS -18,415 8,171 0 384 8,555 -9,860

Sch 2 DSG Reserve CYPS -4,734 5,981 0 -384 5,597 863

Total Schools and DSG Reserve -23,149 14,152 0 0 14,152 -8,997

Page 136



V0.1 

 

 

Cabinet 
 

12 September 2018 
 

Update on the delivery of the  
Medium Term Financial Plan 8 
 

 

 
 

Report of Corporate Management Team 
 

Lorraine O’Donnell, Director Transformation and Partnerships 
 

Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Council and all Cabinet 
collectively 

 
 

Purpose of the Report 

1 This report provides an update on the progress made at the end of June 2018 
on the delivery of the 2018/19  Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP8). 

Background 

2 Cabinet has received regular updates on the progress made by the Council in 
delivering the financial targets within the MTFP since 2011/12.   

3 The latest MTFP8 was agreed by Council in February 2018 and set a savings 
target of just under £15 milion.  This brings the overall savings target for the 
period from 2011/12 to 2020/21 of around £251 million. 

Progress to date 

4 The delivery of the MTFP is being managed with a very robust programme 
management approach being adopted to ensure we take into account: 

 Our duties under the Equality Act 

 Appropriate consultation 

 The HR implications of the change including consultation with 
employees and trade unions 

 Communication of the change and the consultation results 

 Sound risk management. 

5 Through this robust approach we continue to take in managing the 
programme to deliver the savings required, the plans for 2018/19 are being 
successfully delivered.  As a result, by the end of June 2018, 74% of the 
savings target for MTFP8 had already been met with almost £11 million of 

Page 137

Agenda Item 7



V0.1 

savings having been achieved. With all of the savings delivered to the end of 
June 2018, since 2011 we have now made over £220 million of savings 
including Public Health. 

6 Members have been advised of the careful planning and monitoring of the 

savings that is carried out, on occasions plans need to change which could 

delay when savings are made, but through the ongoing management of the 

process we are able to smooth out delivery of savings using cash limits, 

ensuring we haven’t missed our overall savings targets. 

 

Consultation  

7 There was a public consultation on changes to the Sensory Services Team 
relating to MTFP8 during this last quarter.   

HR implications 

8 In the first quarter of 2018/19 we accepted 41 ER/VR applications and made 1 
employee compulsory redundant as a result of the MTFP proposals.  As per 
our usual approach of delivering our savings early some of this activity relates 
to proposals that will help deliver the savings for MTFP8.   

9 Since 2011 a total of 1,555 ER/VR applications have been accepted, 704 
vacant posts deleted and 587 compulsory redundancies made. 

10 The Council continues to support employees affected by the MTFP savings 
plans and the total number of staff who have been redeployed is 442 since 
the process started. 

Equality Impact Assessments  

11 Equality impact assessments (EIA) form a key part of the ongoing MTFP 
process. A number of initial screenings for new savings and updated EIAs for 
ongoing savings were provided to Cabinet ahead of the budget setting 
decision in February 2018.  They are updated during the year to take account 
of consultation responses and additional evidence; the updates also include 
information on any mitigating actions. 

12 The impact assessments and action plans are considered during decision 
making processes, for example, updated EIAs are provided where Cabinet 
receive a report ahead of consultation and where a further report is received 
with any final recommendations. 

 

Conclusions 

13 We are continuing to assume the Government’s austerity programme will 
continue for several more years, however the Council remains in a strong 
position to meet the ongoing financial challenges and through the robust 

Page 138



V0.1 

management process supporting the MTFP ensures we remain ahead of the 
savings target requirements.  

14 For MTFP8 the council has already delivered almost £11 million of the 
savings required (74%) and in total we have delivered over £220 million in 
savings since 2011. 

Recommendations 

15 Members are recommended to note the contents of this report and the 
progress made in delivering MTFP7. 

 

Contact:        Andy Palmer, Head of Transformation & Partnerships  

                      Tel: 03000 268551             

 

Page 139



V0.1 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Finance – The delivery of the MTFP involves cumulative saving of approximately 
£251million over the period from 2011 to 2021 of which over £220million has been 
delivered to date.   

Staffing – Where the proposals affect staff, full consultation is undertaken and the 
trade unions consulted.  Wherever possible, staff reductions are done through 
voluntary means.  In addition, there has been a proactive management of vacancies 
to lessen the impact on staff and the Council has a redeployment process which 
continues to find alternative employment for a number of staff 

Risk – The delivery of the MTFP is highlighted as one of the Council’s strategic risks 
and is monitored through the corporate risk management process.  In addition, risks 
for individual proposals are being monitored through the work undertaken to deliver 
the proposal. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – An Equality Impact 
Assessment (EIA) was undertaken for the original 4 year MTFP plan and additional 
screening was undertaken for proposals which have been identified for subsequent 
MTFPs, together with any other changes made to the original plan.  In addition, for 
each proposal an EIA is undertaken as part of the decision-making before the 
proposal is implemented.   

 Accommodation - As proposals are planned the impact on accommodation is 
ascertained, with staff being consulted on any moves as part of the process.  The 
loss of over 2,500 posts from the Authority will mean a requirement for less 
accommodation and the Office Accommodation Team has built this into the Office 
Accommodation Strategy. 

Crime and Disorder – N/A 

Human Rights – N/A 

Consultation – A full consultation with a range of stakeholders was undertaken on 
the MTFP prior to its agreement and again in 2013 and 2018.  In addition, where 
appropriate for individual proposals, internal and external consultation plans are 
developed so that consultation informs the decision making process. 

Procurement – A number of the proposals involve the changing of existing contracts 
and this work is being taken forward through the Council’s agreed procurement 
processes. 

Disability Issues – Any disability impacts are being picked up through the Equality 
Impact Assessments undertaken. 

Legal Implications – The legal implications of any decisions required are being 
considered as part of the delivery of the proposals. 

Page 140



Cabinet 
 

12 September 2018 
 

Quarter One 2018/19 
Performance Management Report  
 

 

 
 

Report of Corporate Management Team 
Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and Partnerships 
Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Council 

 

Purpose of the Report 

 

1 To present progress towards achieving the key outcomes of the council’s 

corporate performance framework by Altogether priority theme for the first 

quarter of the 2018/19 financial year.   

Summary 

2 The employment rate in the county has remained in excess of 71% for the fifth 

successive quarter and Durham outperforms the region against this key indicator. 

However, we remain lower than the national average and our gross disposable 

income per head is low with the average for County Durham being only 78% of 

the national figure. The unemployment rate stands at 5.4% and is improving but 

is one full percentage point higher than the national average. Youth 

unemployment is significantly higher at 15% for the period although 

proportionately more 16-17 year olds are in apprenticeships compared to 

regional and national figures. Registered businesses continue to rise in the 

county and the council has secured funding for and is engaged in a number of 

innovative programmes to make County Durham a good place to do business. 

Some of these programmes are funded by the European Union and we watch the 

Brexit situation closely to determine how this will impact on County Durham and 

the North East.  

 

3 New indicators to capture how we are performing against our new duties 

introduced through the Homelessness Reduction Act show that we continue to 

help people threatened with homelessness to stay in their own home or move to 

alternative accommodation. Our intervention work on bringing empty properties 

back into use and the number of affordable homes delivered both exceed 

performance for last year. Consultation on the County Durham Plan preferred 

options is now complete. A large volume of responses was received and these 

are now being processed for inclusion in the pre-submission draft of the plan 

later in the year.   

 

Page 141

Agenda Item 8



4 The condition of our principal roads is similar to national averages. We continue 

to secure high levels of incentive funding from the Department for Transport 

because Durham received the maximum efficiency rating by the Department for 

Transport. Maintenance backlogs on our transport structures such as bridges 

have grown as we improve the accuracy of stock condition survey data. 

 

5 Visitors to County Durham increased in 2017 with 400,000 more visitors than 

2016. There were an extra 524 jobs supported by the visitor economy than the 

previous year, and visitor expenditure was almost 5% higher. 

 

6 We continue to progress service improvements in children’s services following 

the last major Ofsted inspection in 2016. Senior management focus remains on 

reducing caseloads for our social workers and improving quality and consistency 

of their work. A joint thematic area inspection of children living with domestic 

abuse was carried out in July as a check on progress ahead of the next major 

inspection, and we are expecting an outcome letter by the end of August, which 

will identify strengths and areas for improvement. There is a performance 

challenge around the number of our young people who are being educated in 

schools that are inadequate or require improvement. Figures are stable for the 

number of children in need, children on a child protection plan and looked after 

children. However, the volume of single assessments has increased by 14%, 

which is affecting the proportion that we have processed within 45 days. Work is 

ongoing on rolling out a pilot to correct this issue. Too many social workers have 

caseloads in excess of best practice guidelines with the majority (54.5%) carrying 

a caseload of more than 20. The emotional health and wellbeing of our looked 

after children is low compared to regional, national and most similar authorities 

comparators.  

 

7 Health continues to be a challenging area for the county. Smoking remains one 

of the biggest causes of death and illness in the UK. It increases the risk of 

developing more than 50 serious health conditions, some of which are fatal or 

can cause irreversible long-term damage to health. Smoking prevalence has 

decreased in County Durham in the last year and is now not significantly different 

to regional and national figures. Commissioned smoking cessation services 

perform well and have exceeded contracted targets. However, mothers smoking 

during pregnancy remains a challenge with the Durham Dales, Easington and 

Sedgefield clinical commissioning group area having the highest rate (21.9%) in 

the North East and third highest nationally. A recent health equity audit shows 

that smoking prevalence is linked to areas of higher deprivation. Breastfeeding 

has long-term benefits for babies, lasting right into adulthood and also benefits 

the mother. Breastfeeding prevalence amongst new mothers is significantly lower 

in County Durham than the rest of the North East and nationally.  Older people 

admitted to residential and nursing care on a permanent basis has increased in 

Page 142



the last year and we are not achieving our Better Care Fund target.  

 

8 Once again, there has been an increase in recorded crime. Public perception of 

how the police and council are dealing with concerns about anti-social behaviour 

and crime has also deteriorated. Our new provider for drug and alcohol treatment 

is starting to show small improvements. People killed or seriously injured in road 

traffic accidents in the county has fallen by nearly 30% comparing the current 

quarter with the same period last year and no fatalities were recorded in the last 

quarter.  

 

9 Environmental cleanliness levels remain good although fly tipping does cause a 

problem and the number of recorded incidents has increased again this quarter. 

The council continues to use its enforcement powers and will actively investigate 

all reported fly tips.  

 

10 Corporate indicators show that sickness absence has worsened. Our published 

gender pay gap is the third lowest of the 12 North East councils.  

 

Performance Reporting Arrangements for 2018/19 

 

11 Our performance management framework provides us with a valuable insight into 

the extent to which we are achieving our objectives and how effectively the 

council and its partners are meeting the needs of our residents. It enables us to 

regularly assess, report on and scrutinise performance to support the continuous 

improvement of our services. 

 

12 It brings together key planning, monitoring and evaluation processes through an 

integrated suite of documents, including the Sustainable Community Strategy, 

Council Plan, Service Plans and the Medium Term Financial Plan, and 

demonstrates the contribution made at various levels of the organisation to our 

priority themes. 

 

13 We have structured our performance reporting arrangements around a set of key 

performance questions aligned to the six priority themes of the Altogether 

framework, i.e.: 

 Altogether Wealthier 

 Altogether Better for Children and Young People 

 Altogether Healthier 

 Altogether Safer 

 Altogether Greener 

 Altogether Better Council 

 

Page 143



14 In addition, more detailed performance monitoring is carried out across service 

groupings and any additional performance issues that arise are included in this 

report on an exception basis. 

  

Overview of performance  

 

15 Our corporate performance management framework consists of 131 indicators. 

 

16 31 indicators, although we are reporting the most recent data, do not have 

comparator data meaning it is not possible to calculate a direction of travel. This 

is mainly due to changes at a national level, for example, the creation of a new 

indicator, or a change in the definition of an existing indicator.   

 

17 Key performance messages from data released this quarter along with visual 

summaries and data messages are included in each priority theme. A 

comprehensive table of all performance data is attached as Appendix 2.  

 

Key Performance Messages from Data Released this Quarter 

Altogether Wealthier  

 

18 The priority theme of Altogether Wealthier is structured around the following five 

key questions: 

 Do residents have good job prospects? 

 Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing? 

 Is County Durham a good place to do business? 

 Is it easy to travel around the county? 

 How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy? 

 

19 23 indicators support this priority theme. Since the last report, there have been 

eight changes to the indicator set, six new and two deletions, as set out in 

Appendix 3.  

 

20 We have structured the remainder of this section around the five key questions 

and this is where further detail in relation to these indicators can be found. 

Page 144



ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

1. Do residents have good job prospects?  

Employment 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Apprenticeships 

 

 Durham England NE 

16-17 year olds in an 
apprenticeship (Mar 2018) 9.6% 5.9% 8.1% 

 

 

 

 

 

949 apprenticeships through Durham County Council 

schemes sustained for 15 months or more (Jun 2018), which 
equates to 88.4% of all apprenticeship starts through these 

schemes.  

Gap between County Durham and both  
regional and national performance is widening 

71.2% (231,400) 

working age  
population in 
employment  

(2017/18) 
 

In line with previous 
year (71.5%)  

DCC apprenticeship schemes have 
made good progress over the five years 

Youth  
unemployment 

(18-24 year olds) has 
improved since last year 

 
16.1% (2016/17) 

 

 
 

15.0% (2017/18) 
 

Higher than England and 
Wales average 12.2% 

(2017/18) 
 
 

 
Per capita household 

disposable income (£)  

P
age 145



Do residents have good job prospects? 

 

21 Of the five indicators that support this area, the percentage of working age 

population in employment has declined slightly on last year and is below the 

national average. Per capita household disposable income has reduced since 

last year and is below national and regional averages. The number of gross 

potential jobs created or safeguarded as a result of Business Durham activity 

has deteriorated compared to last year.  

 

22 The employment rate continues to stand at a high level at 71.2%, remaining 

higher than regional levels but below national levels. It is estimated that 231,400 

of the county’s 16 to 64 year olds are in employment, with 81% of 25 to 49 year 

olds in employment. Unemployment in County Durham has shown a slight 

decline in the latest period. The latest data shows that 5.4% (13,200) of the 

working age population were unemployed in the year April 2017 to March 2018 

compared to 6.4% (15,900) in the period January to December 2017.  Analysis 

over the longer term shows the unemployment rate is declining and tracking 

regional trends (5.6%) but remains higher than the England and Wales average 

of 4.4%. Youth unemployment currently stands at 15% for the period April 2017 

to March 2018, showing a decrease on the last reporting period (19.2%) and in 

comparison to last year (16.1%). 

 

23 However, whilst the employment rate is improving, the disposable income per 

person in County Durham is 6% lower than the regional figure and over 21% 

lower than the national average indicating that the Durham economy is more 

reliant on low-income jobs.  

 

24 The final outturn figure for DCC apprenticeships for those sustaining for 15 

months or more stands at 88.4%. Of the 1,073 apprenticeship starts, 949 

sustained their apprenticeship for 15 months or more.

Page 146



ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

2. Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing?     

3. Is County Durham a good place to do business?  

Decent and Affordable Housing Good place to do business 

 56 

empty properties brought back into use as a result of LA 

intervention (Apr-Jun 2018). Better than target (37) and last 

year (45). 

 
 
 
 

  
£10.5M funding secured for infrastructure works at Jade 
Business Park secured from NELEP and site investigation 
has commenced.  
 

 381 net new homes completed (Apr-Jun 2018). 

 473 
affordable homes delivered (2017/18),  

47% increase on last year (322). 

 

 
3,138 households accessing Housing Solutions Services (Jun 2018). 

 
447 

properties improved, adapted or brought back into use (Apr-

Jun 2018). 

 
202 households helped to stay in their home (Apr-Jun 2018). 

 

Expression of interest submitted for the 
business growth fund capital grants 
programme was successful and the full 
ERDF application submitted. 

 

 
117 

households helped to move to alternative accommodation 

(Apr-Jun 2018). 

£1.25 million secured from the GovTech 
Programme via Department for  
Business, Energy and Industrial  
Strategy. 

P
age 147

https://www.google.co.uk/imgres?imgurl=https://png.pngtree.com/element_origin_min_pic/16/07/25/145795af1fad088.jpg&imgrefurl=https://pngtree.com/freepng/housing-flat-icon-symbol_647672.html&docid=GxtjK0WzjwCzgM&tbnid=gSWUR9a4tx51xM:&vet=10ahUKEwjl5emEiefcAhULB8AKHVjgAIUQMwiDAigqMCo..i&w=250&h=250&bih=576&biw=1366&q=house symbol&ved=0ahUKEwjl5emEiefcAhULB8AKHVjgAIUQMwiDAigqMCo&iact=mrc&uact=8
https://www.google.co.uk/imgres?imgurl=https://png.pngtree.com/element_origin_min_pic/16/07/25/145795af1fad088.jpg&imgrefurl=https://pngtree.com/freepng/housing-flat-icon-symbol_647672.html&docid=GxtjK0WzjwCzgM&tbnid=gSWUR9a4tx51xM:&vet=10ahUKEwjl5emEiefcAhULB8AKHVjgAIUQMwiDAigqMCo..i&w=250&h=250&bih=576&biw=1366&q=house symbol&ved=0ahUKEwjl5emEiefcAhULB8AKHVjgAIUQMwiDAigqMCo&iact=mrc&uact=8
https://www.google.co.uk/imgres?imgurl=https://png.pngtree.com/element_origin_min_pic/16/07/25/145795af1fad088.jpg&imgrefurl=https://pngtree.com/freepng/housing-flat-icon-symbol_647672.html&docid=GxtjK0WzjwCzgM&tbnid=gSWUR9a4tx51xM:&vet=10ahUKEwjl5emEiefcAhULB8AKHVjgAIUQMwiDAigqMCo..i&w=250&h=250&bih=576&biw=1366&q=house symbol&ved=0ahUKEwjl5emEiefcAhULB8AKHVjgAIUQMwiDAigqMCo&iact=mrc&uact=8
https://www.google.co.uk/imgres?imgurl=https://png.pngtree.com/element_origin_min_pic/16/07/25/145795af1fad088.jpg&imgrefurl=https://pngtree.com/freepng/housing-flat-icon-symbol_647672.html&docid=GxtjK0WzjwCzgM&tbnid=gSWUR9a4tx51xM:&vet=10ahUKEwjl5emEiefcAhULB8AKHVjgAIUQMwiDAigqMCo..i&w=250&h=250&bih=576&biw=1366&q=house symbol&ved=0ahUKEwjl5emEiefcAhULB8AKHVjgAIUQMwiDAigqMCo&iact=mrc&uact=8
http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwj2292vnercAhUNhxoKHXa4Aq0QjRx6BAgBEAU&url=http://www.stickpng.com/img/miscellaneous/english-pounds/piles-of-one-pound-coins&psig=AOvVaw3KPzwRUd6P2OIBuuT2szwt&ust=1534256524466440


Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing? 

 
25 Of the seven indicators that support this area, four are new this quarter so 

comparator data is not available. One indicator has deteriorated, the number of 

net homes completed has deteriorated in comparison to last year.  

 

26 The preferred options consultation for the County Durham Plan was agreed by 

Cabinet on 13 June, and consultation is now complete (from 22 June to 3 

August). All representations made will be processed and considered with a view 

to producing a pre-submission draft of the Plan in autumn/winter 2018.  

 

27 High performance against the number of empty properties brought back into use 

continues with a quarter one outturn of 56 (12% higher than average 17/18 

quarterly figures).  Affordable housing delivery in 2017/18 has shown a positive 

outturn of 473 units, the highest level of delivery in recent years; and is a 

combination of shared ownership, affordable rented and units delivered through 

section 106 agreements with developers. This is a 47% increase on the 322 

delivered in 2016/17 and demonstrates the results of greater collaboration with 

registered providers and Homes England.  

 

28 Quarter one has seen a below average number of households accessing the 

Housing Solutions Service; the average number for 2017/18 was 4,495 per 

quarter. This is due to the online Enhanced Housing Options Wizard no longer 

being available for clients to complete as the new Code of Guidance for the 

Homeless Reduction Act (HRA) states that local authorities should not use 

wizards as part of the advice and triage process, Previously, the wizard acted as 

an online information tool for those accessing the service via the web and was 

designed to help those who required very little assistance in resolving their 

query.  However, in some instances, clients with more complex queries did not 

get the right support. Also, work completed prior to the introduction of the HRA 

found that the majority of people assessing the wizard also contacted the service 

directly, therefore, it could be argued that the wizard figures should not have 

counted towards the overall access figures to the service. As such, back data 

will be revised to show the true trend going forward.  Also, to ensure all those 

who require assistance from Housing Solutions are aware of the services we 

offer, we have improved the information on the website and are currently 

carrying out a range of awareness sessions, as well as developing the duty to 

refer. Work is ongoing with the Marketing & Communications Team to develop 

publicity material and messages continue to be published through social media. 

Under the new ways of working (HRA), 202 households have been helped to 

stay in their home and 117 have been helped to move to alternative 

accommodation and we will continue to monitor the position closely. 

 

Page 148



Is County Durham a good place to do business? 

 

29 Of the two indicators that support this area, the Gross Value Added (GVA) per 

capita in County Durham although improved in comparison to last year, is below 

national and regional averages.   

 

30 There have been a number of developments during the quarter which contribute 

to our objective to make County Durham a top location for business. 

 

31 £10.5 million secured from the North East Local Enterprise Partnership for 

infrastructure works at Jade Business Park and site investigations have 

commenced. £1.25 million has also been secured from the GovTech Fund 

Competition programme ran by the Department of Business, Energy and 

Industrial Strategy. This money will be used to identify and work with cutting 

edge technology businesses to find innovative solutions to operational service 

and policy delivery changes. An expression of interest was submitted to the 

European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) for the council’s business growth 

fund capital grants programme. This was approved and worked up into a full 

ERDF application for £6,092,447 which was submitted in July. This was matched 

by £9.1 million investment from the private sector (SMEs) which brought the total 

project cost to £15,192,447. 

 

32 Business Durham staff continue to engage with businesses regarding a range of 

opportunities, which could lead to potential research and innovation 

collaborations. There are a number of potential inward investment projects in the 

pipeline with reasonably strong enquiries currently for Forrest Park, Jade 

Business Park and Drum Industrial Estate. The Finance Durham Fund has 

helped another two businesses to secure investment, bringing the total of 

investments to date to seven. There are a further three potential pipeline 

investments identified for completion in quarter two, and a further five companies 

in the early stage of discussions. 

 

 Is it easy to travel around the county? 

 

33 Of the six indicators that support this area, the percentage of B and C roads and 

unclassified roads where maintenance is recommended has increased slightly, 

unclassified roads are also performing below national averages. The bridge 

stock condition on stock principal and non-principal roads in 2017 has 

deteriorated in comparison to the 2016 data.  

 

34 The Annual Local Authority Road Maintenance (ALARM) Survey 2018 estimates 

the backlog for carriageways and footways across England and Wales has fallen 

by almost 23% to £9.3 billion.  If adequate funding and resources were in place it 

Page 149



would take 14 years to get local roads back into a reasonable steady state, 

slightly worse than the 12 years reported in ALARM Survey 2017.   

 
35 The council, like most highways authorities, has a significant maintenance 

backlog.  As at March 2017, £187.6 million was needed to bring DCC highway 

assets up to a good condition with no backlog or defects. This is broadly in line 

with other councils and is a reduction against the maintenance backlog at March 

2016 (£191.7 million). Carriageways and footways account for the largest 

proportion of the backlog, both of which have seen a decrease over the last 

year. 

Page 150



ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

4. Is it easy to travel around the county?       

5. How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy?  

Ease of travel around the County Visitors to the County 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bridge Stock Condition 2016 2017  

 

Principal roads 83.8% 80%  

Non-principal roads 83.7% 81%  

An update on Transport Asset Management Plan 2017 has been to CMT. 

 

 

 

£187.6m needed to bring DCC highway assets up to a good 

condition, having no backlog or defects (March 2017). 

 

In line with other councils and is a reduction against the 

maintenance backlog in March 2016 (£191.7 million).  

Structures are in ‘good to fair’ condition. Backlog has 
grown over the past year due to updated and more 
accurate condition surveys, particularly for bridges. 

Road maintenance remained relatively static over the 
last year. A, B and C roads are in line with national 
average, whereas unclassified roads are below. 

17.8 17.9
18.1

18.7
19.3

19.7

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Visitors to County Durham (million) 

10,643

10,899
10,803

10,961

11,158

11,682

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Jobs supported by the visitor economy

Visitor economy indicators show strong growth 

P
age 151

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiS5s_8i-fcAhVHWxoKHcJwBH8QjRx6BAgBEAU&url=http://www.thenorthernecho.co.uk/news/16344589.deerness-bridge-repairs-are-nearing-completion/&psig=AOvVaw3kMXDIgsHZo9lX6KF3Axqu&ust=1534148819250144


36 The condition of A, B and C principal roads has improved in recent years and 

are close to the national average. This reflects budget prioritisation to maintain 

roads with the highest usage. The condition of unclassified roads is below 

national average. However, there has been an improvement over the past year 

and an ongoing programme of resurfacing works is in place. A high proportion of 

footways require resurfacing but there has been an improvement over the past 3 

years and an ongoing programme of resurfacing works is in place. Following the 

severe winter of 2017/18, which led to an increase in potholes, we invested a 

further £700,000 in resurfacing of unclassified roads. Poor performance on some 

of our contracts where contractors have not progressed work on time has also 

impacted on our targets. This has now been resolved and we should see an 

improvement in the second quarter of the year. A significant number of street 

lighting columns have reached the end of their service life. There is an ongoing 

column replacement programme in place. Structures such as bridges are 

generally in ‘good’ to ‘fair’ condition although the backlog has grown over the 

past year due to updated and more accurate condition surveys. 

 

37 We achieved the maximum Band 3 efficiency rating under the Department for 

Transport (DfT’s) Incentive Fund, one of only two Highway Authorities to achieve 

this maximum efficiency rating out of 119 participating Highway Authorities in 

England in 2016 and have maintained the maximum Band 3 efficiency rating in 

2017.  This rating will help maximise funding from the DfT’s Incentive Fund going 

forward.   

 

38 We have also led the development and implementation of the North East 

Highways Alliance, a forum for collaborative working for all 12 North East 

councils, which was established in 2013. The Alliance has delivered a number of 

initiatives that are helping all councils to maximise efficiencies in highways 

through sharing resources and knowledge and collaborative procurement.  This 

partnership working together with ongoing collaborative working of our in-house 

highways services team has led to the Council being one of the first in the UK to 

be awarded British Standard BS11000 - Collaborative Business Relationships.  

This will assist in maximising funding from the DfT. 

 

How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local 

economy? 

 

39 Latest data on all three indicators that support this area have improved. 

 

40 Annual tourism data released this period are positive. The number of visitors as 

well as employment in tourism and the total contribution to the County Durham 

economy increased in 2017. During 2017, 19.71 million people visited Durham, 

Page 152



which is up by 2.4% on 2016. Overall visitor expenditure was £867 million, an 

increase of 4.9% on 2016. The number of people employed in tourism increased 

by 4.7% to 11,682 (FTEs).  

 

41 The following projects are planned for the next 2 years: 

 Reviewing Durham Town Hall and developing a new operating model to 

improve the visitor experience. It is hoped phase one of the visitor attraction 

will be ready by September 2018. 

 Reviewing Bishop Auckland Town Hall to develop an improved cultural offer. 

Awaiting a decision regarding additional funding for the project. 

 In July, Cabinet agreed to stage a special 10th anniversary Lumiere festival in 

2019 and a further event in 2021.  

 

42 In quarter one, the DLI welcomed 8,586 visitors, including people engaged with 

the DLI Collection via Palace Green exhibition, medal viewings, outreach events 

and sessions, as well as visitors and researchers at Sevenhills and visitors to 

‘When the Bugle Calls’ touring exhibition. There were also 1,963 pupils involved 

in educational outreach and 346 from community groups.  

 

43 There has been a drop in visitor numbers as a result of works around the Palace 

Green site where access to the library has been limited. This trend will continue 

into the next quarter as works continue throughout July. The annual university 

congregation ceremonies held on Palace Green and in the cathedral during 

June and July will also affect access issues in the first and second quarters.  

 
44 Visitor numbers at Killhope have remained static when compared to last year. 

Figures were expected to be higher during April (-33% on April 17), however, the 

Museum did not open in time for the Easter weekend due to adverse weather 

conditions impacting site access and resulting in the loss of five days’ trading. A 

new events programme has been developed to attract visitors throughout the 

year. 

 
45 A number of festivals and events were held in quarter one. The Bishop Auckland 

Food Festival (21-22 April) was hugely successful and the first working with our 

programming partner, Channel Events. A very positive relationship was formed 

and the event once again proved popular with visitors to the county. Across the 

2 days, 27,000 attended the event experiencing the best of the County’s food 

producers, chef demonstrations, masterclasses and more. A full evaluation will 

be available in quarter two. The cycling Tour Series was held in Durham on 22 

May. The final evaluation is being compiled by the event producer and should be 

available in the coming months. Both the Durham City Run and the Durham 

Brass festival were held in July 2018. The Brass Festival included five free 

Page 153



community Big Brass Bash events which took place across the county involving 

70 schools. 

 
46 The council is now planning for the Durham Book Festival, which will be held in 

October 2018. The full programme has recently been announced at the launch 

event held in August. Planning for Lumiere 2019 will also start in the coming 

months. 

 

Altogether Better for Children and Young People  

 

47 The priority theme of Altogether Better for Children and Young People is 

structured around the following four key questions: 

 Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services 

appropriately supported? 

 Are children, young people and families in receipt of early help services 

appropriately supported? 

 Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work services 

appropriately supported and safeguarded? 

 Are we being a good corporate parent for looked after children? 

 

 

48 Since the Ofsted inspection in spring 2016, children and young people’s services 

have made good progress in many areas but more remains to be done. There 

are emerging strengths in the council’s approach to early help, our support for 

children in care and political and senior management oversight of our practice. 

Leadership focus is on accelerating improvements in the quality and consistency 

of our casework, continuing to reduce caseloads by ensuring fully staffed and 

skilled social work teams, and driving Durham’s new culture and associated 

behaviours across the whole children and young people’s workforce within the 

council and partner services. 

 

49 From January 2018, a new universal inspection framework was introduced by 

Ofsted. The ILACS (Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services) focuses 

on the council’s functions regarding the help, care and protection of children and 

young people. A 12-month plan to improve the quality of social work practice in 

Durham has been developed as the service prepare for inspection under the 

ILACS framework. 

 
50 In July 2018, the council and its partners received a joint targeted area 

inspection (JTAI). The JTAI examined how well agencies are working together to 

help and protect children. The theme of the JTAI was a “deep-dive” focus on 

children’s experiences of living with domestic abuse and how they are helped 

and supported by all agencies. The inspection team also looked more generally 

Page 154

http://durhambookfestival.com/programme/


at decision making at the point of referral and assessment; the quality of our 

children in need and child protection plans and the support we provide in the 

context of multi-agency working. The inspection outcome letter to all the service 

leaders in the area will outline findings about the effectiveness of partnership 

working and of the work of individual agencies.  

 

51 42 indicators support this priority theme. Since the last report, there have been 

three changes to the indicator set, two have been deleted and replaced with new 

indicators and one has been deleted as set out in Appendix 3. 

 

52 We have structured the remainder of this section around the four key questions 

and this is where further detail in relation to these indicators can be found. 

 

Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal 

services appropriately supported? 

 

53 Nine of the 18 indicators that support this area relate to the academic year so 

provisional data will be available and reported at quarter two, with the final data 

available and reported at quarter three. 

 

54 Pupils claiming free school meals; and five year olds free from dental decay are 

below national and regional averages and the following indicators are all below 

national average, average attainment 8 score, average attainment 8 score gap, 

under 18 conception rate, alcohol specific hospital admissions for under 18s and 

children obese or overnight (4-5 years).  

 
55 There has been a slight decrease in the proportion of children and young people 

in County Durham claiming Free School Meals (FSM) – our local indicator of 

child poverty. In January 2018, 19.4% of pupils were eligible for and claiming 

FSM in County Durham. This is 12,772 pupils. This is slight a decrease from 

20.2% (12,959 pupils) in January 2017. Work is currently ongoing through the 

County Durham Child Poverty Group to determine the possible impact of the roll-

out of Universal Credit on FSM eligibility in the county. 

 
56 Good progress continues with the timeliness of Education Health and Care 

Plans (EHCPs) for children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 

(SEND). All former special educational needs statements have been transferred 

to EHCPs. In the first 6 months of 2018, 94% of EHCPs were issued within the 

20 week timescale; an increase from 79% in 2017 and higher than in England 

(65%) and North East (79%). 

Page 155



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

1. Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?      

2. Are children, young people and families in receipt of early help services appropriately supported?  

School judged good/outstanding 

 

Primary Secondary Special PRU 

91% 

[196] 

61% 

[19] 

50% 

[5] 

100% 

[1] 

12 secondary schools are inadequate or 

require improvement. Seven are LA 

maintained and five are academies. 

Nationally, 76% of secondary schools are 

good or outstanding. 
 

Education, Health & Care Plans for Children with SEND 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Significant improvement has been made to the proportion of 

new EHCPs issue within the 20 week timescale. Our 

performance compares favourably with others.  

Pupils claiming free school meals 

 

 

 

 

2017 2018 

12,959 of 64,116 pupils were known 

to be eligible for and claiming FSM. 

12,772 of 65,804 pupils were known 

to be eligible for and claiming FSM. 

10,751 of the 12,959 pupils took their 

free meal on census day, this is a 

83.0% take up. 

10,180 of the 12,772 pupils took their 

free meal on census day, this is a 

79.7% take up. 

 

 

Universal Services  

 Reduction under 18s alcohol related hospital admissions, 
more prevalent in females. 

 Reduction under 18s hospital admissions for self-harm, lower 
than regional/national averages. 

 Teenage pregnancies (under 16 and under 18) has fallen. 
Pregnancies for under 18s is below regional levels. 

 % of 5 year olds free from dental decay, improved but 
significantly worse than England and North East. 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board agreed to next stage testing of 
feasibility of expanding community water fluoridation 
scheme for County Durham. 

  

The County Durham Oral Health Strategy action plan is 
progressing, with nurseries in top 30% of deprived 
communities to implement tooth brushing schemes. 

 

P
age 156



57 The inspection ratings of County Durham’s secondary schools remains a cause 

for concern. No further inspection reports have been published since last 

quarter, so 12 secondary schools remain rated as either ‘Requires Improvement’ 

or ‘Inadequate’; this equates to 39%. Nationally, this is 20%. 

 

58 Latest published data identifies 75% of secondary school pupils in County 

Durham are in good or outstanding schools following their latest inspection, 

compared to 82% in England and 67% in the North East.  

 

59 Secondary schools are now judged on the new progress 8 accountability 

measure in addition to the Ofsted inspection framework. Schools with a progress 

8 score that is average or below average are being invariably classed as 

‘Requires Improvement’ or ‘Inadequate’ in their inspection outcome. Durham’s 

performance in relation to progress 8 in 2017 is therefore impacting upon recent 

inspection outcomes. The council is co-ordinating joint projects to address key 

issues and sharing best practice regionally. 

  

60 Year 6 pupils recently received their Key Stage 2 results. Nationally, 64% of 

pupils met the expected standard in reading, writing and mathematics in 2018. 

The figures were 61% nationally and 65% in County Durham in 2017. Collation 

and analysis of Durham’s 2018 results is ongoing and will feature in the report 

for quarter two.  

 

61 Data for the April to June 2018 period indicates that 5.1% of 16 and 17 year olds 

in County Durham were not in education, employment or training (NEET). This is 

an average of 408 young people over the three month period. This is slightly 

higher than the equivalent three month period last year (4.8%) and is also higher 

than the national (2.9%) and North East (4.6%) averages for the equivalent time 

period. However, the percentage of 16 to 18 year olds whose status is 'Not 

Known' was 1.6% (169 young people) at 30 June 2018. This is lower than that 

nationally (3.1%) and regionally (2.1%) for the equivalent time period. 

 
62 Admission episodes for alcohol specific conditions for under 18s (rate per 

100,000) is 56.2 (169 admissions) which has reduced from the previous 

reporting period and is below the North East average. It does however remain 

above the national average, but the gap has closed. Young females are more 

likely than males to be admitted to hospital for alcohol-specific conditions (rate of 

63.4 compared to 49.3). 

 
63 The rate of young people aged 10-24 admitted to hospital as a result of self-

harm (per 100,000) is 400.8 which has reduced from 2015/16 and is below both 

national and regional averages. This equates to 377 admissions in 2016/17, 

compared to a peak of 523 in 2011/12. 

Page 157



 
64 Both under 18 and under 16 conceptions continue to decrease, following a 

sustained downward trend in teenage conceptions. Latest data (Apr 16-Mar 17) 

show that the number of under 18 conceptions has reduced from 499 in 1998 

(when recording began) to 168 conceptions. The rate (21.3) remains higher than 

the national average (18.5) but lower than the regional average (24.8). For 2016, 

the under 16 conception rate is 5.4, which is higher than both national (3.0) and 

North East (4.9) averages. The Teenage Pregnancy Steering Group is currently 

undertaking a self-review against the Public Health England (PHE) teenage 

pregnancy prevention framework to identify what is working well, recognise any 

gaps and maximise the assets of all services to strengthen the prevention 

pathway for all young people. The findings of the self-assessment will help 

develop the new Teenage Pregnancy action plan moving forward. 

 

65 The proportion of five year old children free from dental decay is 74.2% 

(2016/17), which is significantly worse than both England (76.7%) and North 

East (76.1%) averages. County Durham is ranked 9th out of the 12 regional local 

authorities (with 12 being the poorest ranking). 

 

66 The County Durham Oral Health Strategy 2016-19 sets the ambition to reduce 

oral health inequalities using the most up to date evidence based interventions. 

The action plan underpinning the strategy is making good progress, with 

nurseries in the top 30% most deprived communities to implement tooth 

brushing schemes. The Health and Wellbeing Board have also agreed to the 

next stage of testing the feasibility of expanding the community water fluoridation 

scheme for County Durham. 

 

Are children, young people and families in receipt of early help 

services appropriately supported? 

 

67 Of the two indicators that support this area, one has failed to meet the agreed 

target, the percentage of successful interventions via the Stronger Families 

Programme is lower than target, although performance has improved since last 

reported.  

 

68 As at 2 July 2018, there were 2,350 children supported by the council’s One 

Point Service, offering a variety of free advice and support and a range of 

activities for children, young people and families alongside partner agencies. 

 

69 Consistently good performance in relation to County Durham’s Family Centres 

continues with 91% of under 4s in the top 30% most deprived areas in the 

county registered with a Family Centre (13,433 children). Almost nine in 10 

Page 158



under 2s in these areas receive sustained contact i.e. four contacts or more in a 

12 month period (7,363 children). 

 

70 Following the successful delivery of the Troubled Families programme (known 

as Stronger Families) within County Durham, the Ministry for Housing, 

Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) awarded Durham ‘Earned 

Autonomy’ (EA), one of 14 local authorities nationally. This results in all 

claimable Troubled Families grant being paid to the council without the need for 

Payment by Results (PbR) returns. The One Point service has been redesigned 

based on the key principles of the Troubled Families programme including; 

 a whole family approach; 

 a key worker co-ordinating support for the family; 

 an assertive and persistent approach; 

 development of a single multi-agency, outcome-focussed family plan;  

 practical ‘hands on’ support. 
 

71 An update on performance will be reported at quarter 2. 

 

Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work 

services appropriately supported and safeguarded? 

 

72 Of the nine indicators that support this area; single assessments completed 

within 45 working days has deteriorated since last year and is below national 

and regional averages. Strategy meetings initiated which led to child protection 

conference within 15 working days missed target and was below national and 

regional averages.  

 

73 As at 2 July 2018, there were 3,478 children’s cases open with statutory social 

work teams. This includes 471 children on a child protection plan and 807 

looked after children. 

 

74 Consistently good performance continues in relation to the percentage of 

statutory social care referrals received by the First Contact or Emergency Duty 

Teams which are processed within the one working day timescale. Between 

April and June 2018, 88% of statutory referrals (1,120 of 1,271) were processed 

in timescale. Almost 9,000 enquiries were received by First Contact and the 

Emergency Duty Team in the three month period. Not all enquiries require a 

statutory referral and may, for example, require the team to refer to early help 

services or offer advice and guidance. 

 
75 Re-referrals into statutory social care services within 12 months have increased 

slightly to 17.9% (Apr-Jun 2018), however remain below latest levels in England 

(21.9%), the North East (20.1%) and statistical neighbours (20.7%) for 2016/17. 

Page 159



This suggests the services we put in place from the first referral are helping to 

keep children safe from risk or significant harm. Due to the slight increase, we 

will continue to closely monitor our re-referral rate.  

 

76 There are several areas that remain a continued focus for improvement  in 

children’s social care: 

a. Social work caseload pressures; 

b. Timeliness of assessment; 

c. Timeliness of initial child protection conferences. 

 

Page 160



The CYPS casefile audit programme 
was suspended in Q1 while the 
restructure was progressing 
 
Look out for a revised “Collaborative 
Evaluations” review tool being 
introduced in Q2 

ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

3. Are children, young people and families in receipt of social services appropriately supported and safeguarded? 

 
 

 

 

Social Work Practice 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

         Small 
improvement in the % 
of social workers 
managing under 20 
cases. 

        …but still the 
majority of social 
workers have 
caseloads in excess 
of best practice 
guidelines. 

17.9%

17%

The level of CiN referrals 
occurring within 12 months of 
a previous referral has not 
changed. 

85.5% 88.1%

Target 75% 

Statutory referrals processed 
within one working day continue 
to perform to target. 

          The % single  
            assessments 
completed within 45 
working days has 
deteriorated to 75.7%, 
lower than national 
and regional. 

P
age 161



77 Almost half of social work staff (45%) are carrying a caseload of less than 20. An 

additional 26% have a caseload of between 20-24 cases. There are 9% (14 

social workers) who have a caseload of 30 or over. The service’s aim remains to 

have all social workers carrying a caseload of less than 20. This will also impact 

upon other areas of social care performance. 

 

78 Between April and June 2018, 75.7% of statutory single assessments were 

completed within 45 working days (892 of 1,179). This is lower than the 83% 

outturn in England and North East in 2016/17. On average, the 1,179 

assessments in quarter one were completed within 41 days. This means that 

some children, young people and their families are waiting too long for the 

outcomes of our assessments. 

 

79 The recent restructure and subsequent movement of some cases has impacted 

upon timeliness, in addition to demand pressures in some teams. A pilot to 

complete the least complex assessments within 25 days was undertaken within 

several Families First Teams during the quarter, which has recently been rolled 

out to all Families First Teams. It is envisaged that this rollout and completion of 

the restructure will lead to improvements in performance.  

 

80 Data for the first quarter of 2018/19 shows that 72.5% of strategy meetings 

initiated led to an initial child protection conference (ICPC) being held within the 

15 working day timescale (137 of 189 ICPCs). This is below target (75%) and 

latest 2016/17 comparator averages (national 77%, regional 86% and statistical 

neighbours 83%). The main issues for ICPCs going out of timescale were delays 

in requesting meetings were set up, invites being sent and incomplete reports. 

This continues to be monitored closely by senior managers in Children’s Social 

Care and the Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) Service and agreed 

escalation procedures are in place. 

 

Are we being a good corporate parent to Looked After Children (LAC)? 

 

81 Children adopted from care has missed target and is performing below national 

and regional averages. LAC have the required number of health assessments 

and the emotional and behaviour health of LAC is below national and regional 

averages and care leavers aged 19-21 in suitable accommodation is below the 

regional average.  

 

82 As at 30 June 2018, there were 807 looked after children (LAC). The number of 

LAC has now stabilised at around 800 at any one time following a significant 

increase from around 600 in 2015/16. The rate per 10,000 population is 80.5; 

this is lower than the average of our regional neighbours (92), our statistical 

neighbours (87.5) but higher than in England as a whole (62). 

Page 162



 

83 Sustained improvements are evidenced in the proportion of our LAC who have 

received dental checks and health assessments following close work with health 

colleagues in 2017/18. 

 

84 Eight in 10 of our LAC are in foster care, an achievement considering the 

increases in LAC and offering children stability in a family environment. 

 

Page 163



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

4. Are we being a good parent to Looked After Children (LAC)? 

Number of LAC 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The number of LAC has been stable for six quarters. There is evidence of 

a seasonal increase which will be included in Q2 report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Percentage of children leaving care through adoption  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Emotional health and wellbeing: LAC and care leavers 

 

 

 

 

 

Our LAC rate is lower 
than regional and most 
similar authorities 
averages based on 
latest available data 
but higher than the 
national average. 

Derived from the 
Strengths and 
Difficulties 
Questionnaire. A 
score of 0-13 is 
considered 
normal. A score of 
14-16 is 
considered a 
borderline cause 
for concern.  

 

11.5%

14% 14%

16.6%

Durham England North East Statistical
Nearest

Neighbours

(10 children) 

P
age 164



85 A positive story continues for our care leavers in relation to their employment, 

education and training and living accommodation. A higher percentage of care 

leavers in County Durham are in employment, education and training or living in 

suitable accommodation than in England in 2016/17. 

 

86 Areas for improvement identified for the looked after service include: 

 Number of adoptions 

 Emotional and mental wellbeing of LAC and care leavers. 

 

87 Provisional data identifies that 80 children left care between April and June 

2018; of these, 10 children were adopted from care. This equates to 11.5%. This 

is fewer children than the same period of 2017 when 13 children were adopted. 

 

88 The Department for Education confirmed funding for the set-up of a new 

Regional Adoption Agency (RAA), Coast to Coast, in March this year. Coast to 

Coast partner organisations are Cumbria County Council, Durham County 

Council and Together for Children (Sunderland City Council). The new RAA is 

being supported by a Voluntary Adoption Agency alliance which includes After 

Adoption, ARC Adoption North East, Barnardo’s, Caritas Care Adoption and 

DFW Adoption. 

 

89 A series of workshops were organised for July and August. These are high level 

design workshops and will set the vision / objectives and scope of the Coast to 

Coast RAA Service. Further updates on the development of the RAA will be 

provided in future reports. 

 

90 A refreshed marketing and recruitment campaign has been designed and 

implemented and an increase in expressions of interest to adopt has been 

observed which it is hoped will be replicated in the numbers of children 

progressing to adoption for the rest of the reporting year. 

 

91 Provisional data for 2017/18 shows that 252 completed Strengths & Difficulties 

Questionnaires (SDQs) were received for Looked After Children (those aged 5 

and over who have been in care continuously for 12 months or more). The 

average ‘difficulties score’ for these looked after children was 15.5, which is a 

positive decrease from 16.0 in 2016/17 [A higher score indicates greater levels 

of emotional and behavioural difficulties]. It does however remain above latest 

benchmarking data for 2016/17 (national 14.1, North East 14.7, and statistical 

neighbours 14.0). 

 

92 A Looked After Children and Care Leavers Health Needs Assessment is due to 

be published shortly, including recommendations, which contains a focus on the 

emotional and mental wellbeing of LAC and Care Leavers.  

Page 165



Altogether Healthier  

93 The priority theme of Altogether Healthier is structured around the following two 

key questions: 

 Are our services improving the health of our residents? 

 Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and 

independent lives? 

 

94 21 indicators support this priority theme.  

 

95 We have structured the remainder of this section around the two key questions 

and this is where further detail in relation to these indicators can be found. 

 

Are our services improving the health of our residents? 

 

96 Of the 13 indicators that support this area, percentage of mothers smoking at 

time of delivery has deteriorated since last year, missed target and is performing 

below national and regional averages. Male life expectancy at birth has 

deteriorated since last year and is below national average, male healthy life 

expectancy has also deteriorated since last year and is below national and 

regional averages. Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks; female life 

expectancy; female healthy life expectancy; excess weight in adults and the 

suicide rate are all performing below national and regional averages.  

  

97 Between April 2017 and March 2018, 2,497 County Durham residents stopped 

smoking with support from the Stop Smoking Service (SSS). This has exceeded 

the SSS 2017/18 contract target of 2,401 smoking quitters. 

 

98 Estimated smoking prevalence (persons aged 18 and over) is 14.3% for 2017 

which has decreased from 2016 (17.9%) and for the first time, is not significantly 

different to both national (14.9%) and North East (16.2%) averages. 

 

99 For 2017/18, 17.2% of mothers (844 out of 4,908) were smoking at time of 

delivery (SATOD) which is a decrease in performance from 2016/17 (16.7%).  

Challenging SATOD targets have been set for County Durham which reflect the 

government’s Tobacco Control Plan to significantly reduce smoking rates for the 

population of England by 2022, paving the way for a smoke-free generation, 

which specifically aims to lower the smoking in pregnancy rate. The 2017/18 

target of 15.9% has, however, not been achieved. Performance is worse than 

both national (10.8%) and regional (16.3%) rates. 

 

100 Durham, Dales, Easington and Sedgefield (DDES) Clinical Commissioning 

Group (CCG) has the highest rate (21.9%) in the North East and is the third 

Page 166



highest of all CCGs in England. The reducing smoking in pregnancy incentive 

scheme currently being implemented in DDES aims to address this issue. Early 

data are showing good retention in the Stop Smoking Service (SSS) amongst 

these women. However, the challenges of reducing smoking in pregnancy is 

evident, as 61% of those recruited to the scheme live with a smoker. The full 

evaluation of the incentive scheme will be available late summer 2018. 

 

101 Overall, between April 2017 and March 2018, 227 pregnant women set a quit 

date with the SSS of whom 148 women quit (self-reported). This equates to 65% 

quitting, which is an increase from 2016/17 (55%). 

 

102 A Health Equity Audit (HEA) of County Durham NHS Stop Smoking Service 

2018 has been carried out to assess whether the County Durham NHS SSS is 

having an impact on health inequalities and also to provide a comparison with a 

previous HEA conducted in 2014. The findings and recommendations of the 

2018 HEA, together with areas for further investigation, have been presented to 

the SSS and the Tobacco Control Alliance. A summary of key findings are as 

follows: 

 Smoking prevalence has been decreasing over time for England, the North 

East and County Durham; 

 County Durham is significantly worse than England for most indicators 

related to smoking, as set out in the Local Tobacco Control Profiles; 

 Levels of smoking in pregnancy remain high; 

 The number of babies born to mothers who smoke is higher in the more 

deprived areas; 

 There is a higher rate of pregnant women who smoke referred to the SSS, 

accessing the service and quitting, from the more deprived areas; 

 There is a higher rate of people setting a quit date and quitting smoking who 

live in the more deprived areas of County Durham; 

 The County Durham SSS has been successful in reducing the equity gap, 

seeing a consistent increase in the relative index of inequality for access and 

quit rates. This indicates that the service is contributing to a reduction in 

health inequalities; 

 GP, pharmacy and specialist settings have higher rates of access and 

quitters in the more deprived areas. Services are continuing to perform well 

in terms of reducing inequalities. 

 

103 Between April and June 2018, the percentage of mother’s breastfeeding at 6-8 

weeks is 29.2% (359 out of 1,230 mothers), which is an increase from the same 

period in 2017 but below latest data for both national and regional averages. 

 

Page 167

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobacco-control


104 A breastfeeding call to action paper has been presented to Public Health Senior 

Management Team to support the active promotion of breastfeeding across the 

county, which includes a multi-agency communication plan and a review and 

relaunch of the breastfeeding friendly business scheme in June 2018. In 

conjunction with national breastfeeding week (20-26 June 2018) a new website 

www.durham.gov.uk/beststartinlife has been launched, with key information to 

help parents and families make an informed choice about breastfeeding. Parents 

can also access information to help them prepare for and stay healthy in 

pregnancy, along with advice and guidance on becoming a parent and baby’s 

first year. 

 

Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy 

and independent lives? 

 

105 Of the eight indicators that support this area, older people at home 91 days after 

discharge from hospital into reablement/rehab; service users receiving an 

assessment or review in last 12 months; delayed transfer of care beds have all 

deteriorated since last year. Adults (65+) permanently admitted to residential or 

nursing care has missed target and deteriorated since last year. Carer 

satisfaction with support and services, and service users who report they have 

enough choice are below regional average and user satisfaction with care and 

support has deteriorated since last year and is below national and regional 

averages.  

 

106 Through quarter one of 2018/19 there were 217 adults aged 65+ admitted on a 

permanent basis to residential or nursing care. This equates to a rate of 199.5 

per 100,000 population. This is an increase of 8.5 per 100,000 from the 191.0 

(203 admissions) recorded over the same period in 2017/18. This is a Better 

Care Fund (BCF) indicator with an annual target of 726.2 admissions per 

100,000 population. The quarter one target of 154.9 per 100,000 has not been 

achieved. 

Page 168

http://www.durham.gov.uk/beststartinlife


ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER 

1. Are our services improving the health of our residents? 

Smoking Quitters  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Smoking Prevalence 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Statistically significantly higher than England 

 Not statistically significantly higher than England 

  
 

Mothers Smoking at Time of Delivery  

 worse than same period last 

year (16.7%); 

 worse than England (10.8%) 

and North East (16.3%); 

 DDES CCG has the highest 

rate (21.9%) in the North 

East and third highest 

nationally;  

 

Solution 4 Health Stop Smoking Service (SSS) 

227 pregnant women set a quit date with the SSS in 17/18; 

148 65% women managed to quit (self-reported), compared to 55% 
in 2016/17; 

 

 

Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2,497 people quit smoking with support 

between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018, 
exceeding the target of 2,401.   

Quit with Bella is a stop smoking app: the world’s 
first artificial intelligence powered stop smoking 
coach, using knowledge from hundreds of experts 
to provide a personal, friendly and expert service.  
https://www.smokefreelifecountydurham.co.uk/Quit.
aspx 

17.2% 16.3%

10.8%

Co Durham North East National

Mothers smoking at time of delivery
Q1 2017/18

28.2% (Apr-Jun-17) 

29.2% (Apr-Jun-18) 
 
  

Although performance 
has increased slightly, 
levels are still low and 
it is still an issue.  

 .  

Website www.durham.gov.uk/beststartinlife launched with 
key information to help parents and families make an 
informed choice about breastfeeding.  

P
age 169

https://www.smokefreelifecountydurham.co.uk/Quit.aspx
https://www.smokefreelifecountydurham.co.uk/Quit.aspx
http://www.durham.gov.uk/beststartinlife


  

107 Despite the rise in permanent admissions and the missed BCF target through 

quarter one, the number of bed days commissioned is on track to reduce in 

2018/19 for the fourth year in a row. There were 223,683 bed days 

commissioned through quarter one, with a forecast of 894,732 across 2018/19, a 

0.5% decrease from the 899,637 recorded through 2017/18.  

 

108 All residential / nursing admissions continue to be scrutinised by team managers 

at an admissions panel to ensure consistency.  

 

109 From January to March 2018, there were 638 discharges from hospital in 

reablement / rehabilitation services. Of those, 548 remained at home 91 days 

after their discharge (85.9%). This is a reduction in performance from the same 

period in 2017 when 88.5% remained at home. 

 

110 This is a BCF indicator with an annual target of 85.9% which has been achieved 

through quarter one. 

 

111 In quarter one of 2018/19, 97.7% of individuals (304 of 311) achieved their 

desired outcomes from the adult safeguarding process. This is the best quarterly 

performance recorded since the indicator began to be tracked in 2016/17. 

 

112 Throughout May 2018, there were an average of 4.9 delayed transfers of care 

per day per 100,000 population. This is an increase from 3.2 in May 2017. 

Despite this increase, Durham continues to perform extremely well in delayed 

transfers of care. The 4.9 average is better than the national average of 9.3 and 

the North East average of 8.2 over the same period. Durham was the 20th best 

performing local authority in England for delayed transfers of care in May 2018.  

Page 170



ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER 

2. Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and independent lives? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  85.9% (548) of people were still at 

home 91 days after discharge from 

hospital into reablement/ 

rehabilitation services (Jan-Mar 

2018). 

Target met, but performance lower 

than same period last year (88.5%). 

 86.9% of people received an 

assessment/ review within the 

last 12 months (Jun 2017 to Jun 

2018) this is slightly down on the 

12 months prior (87.2%). 

 97.7% of individuals achieved 

their desired outcomes from the 

adult safeguarding process, 

better than same period last year 

(95.7%). 

 

 Daily delayed transfers of care beds per 100,000 

population  

 
3.2 

(May 

2017) 
 

Better than averages for England (9.3) 

and the North East (8.2). DCC is 

ranked 20th in England. 4.9 
(May 

2018) 

 

 

 
Number of bed days commissioned   

 
899,637 

2017/18 

(actual) 

The number of bed days commissioned is 

still on track to reduce for the fourth year 

in a row, although there has been a slight 

increase at quarter one (223,683) when 

compared to last year (218,918). 
894,732 

2018/19 

(estimate) 

 

 Adults aged 65+ per 100,000 population admitted 

to care on a permanent basis (Apr-Jun) 

 191.0 (Apr- Jun 2017) 
 Target 154.9 

199.5 (Apr-Jun 2018) 

 

 

P
age 171



Altogether Safer  

 

113 The priority theme of Altogether Safer is structured around the following five key 

questions: 

 How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder? 

 How effective are we at tackling anti-social behaviour? 

 How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol? 

 How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic abuse, 

child exploitation and radicalisation? 

 How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and waterways? 

 

114 20 indicators support this priority theme.  

 

115 We have structured the remainder of this section around the five key questions 

and this is where further detail in relation to these indicators can be found. 

 

How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder? 

 

116 Of the five indicators that support this area, overall crime rate and rate of thefts 

per 1,000 population have deteriorated since last year. First time entrants to the 

youth justice system (10-17 years) and proven re-offending by young people in a 

12 month period are below the national average.  

 

117 The latest published youth reoffending rate for County Durham is 41.6%. This 

equates to 1,131 offenders who were cautioned, convicted or released from 

custody between October 2015 and September 2016 and 471 who committed a 

re-offence in the one year follow-up period. 

 

118 The youth reoffending rate in County Durham is slightly lower than in England 

(41.9%) and the North East (45.7%). This is the first time Durham’s youth 

reoffending rate has been below the national average and reflects a consistent 

focus on this by the youth offending service. 

 
119 Sustained reductions continue in the number of first time entrants to the Youth 

Justice System in County Durham. Latest published data shows a rate of 294 

FTEs per 100,000 10-17 year olds in 2017, a reduction from 391 in 2016. 

Additionally, latest local data from County Durham Youth Offending Services 

Case Management System shows that in the first three months of 2018/19 (Apr-

Jun) there were 36 FTEs compared to 37 in the same period in 2017/18. 

Page 172



ALTOGETHER SAFER 

1.   How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder?  
2. How effective are we at tackling anti-social behaviour?  

Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour (Apr-Jun 2018) 

 

 

 
8% reduction in police 
reported anti-social 
behaviour incidents, since 
same period last year. 

 
8.8% increase in council 
reported anti-social behaviour 
incidents since same period 
last year. 

 
Recorded crime has 
increased by 8% compared 
to the same period in 
2017/18. 

 

 

294 first time entrants to the 
Youth Justice System, a 
decrease from last year and 
significantly lower than the 
North East. 

 
Recorded offences of theft 
have increased by 2.9% 
compared to the same 
period in 2017/18. 
 

 

The increase in crime 
(including theft) is partially 
due to changes in recording 
practices but there are also 
real crime increases. The 
reduction in officer numbers 
has also impacted. 

 53% (Jan-Dec 2017) 
People’s perceptions of 
police and council dealing 
with concerns of ASB and 
crime, lower than same 
period last year. 

 

41.6% proven re-offending 
rate by young people (within 
12 months), higher than 
England but lower than North 
East. 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
For more crime statistics, visit: 
http://ukcrimestats.com/Police_For
ce/Durham_Constabulary  

P
age 173

http://ukcrimestats.com/Police_Force/Durham_Constabulary
http://ukcrimestats.com/Police_Force/Durham_Constabulary


 

How effective are we at tackling anti-social behaviour? 

 

120 Of the three indicators that support this area, the following two indicators have 

deteriorated and/or failed to meet their agreed target. Dealing with concerns of 

anti-social behaviour and crime issues by the local council and police and 

number of council reported incidents of anti-social behaviour.   

 

121 There have been 6,853 anti-social behaviour incidents reported to the council 

and police in quarter one; 3,031 of which were council reported incidents. This is 

higher than the 2,785 incidents in the same period last year, an increase of 

8.8%, but a reduction on the incidents reported at quarter four (3,809).  

 

122 Perceptions of the police and council dealing with concerns of anti-social 

behaviour and crime has decreased slightly to 53%, taking into account 

confidence intervals this represents the first quarter that this survey response 

has fallen since a high point in September 2015. Officers from the police, council 

and Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner’s Office are holding meetings to 

determine what actions can be taken to improve the public’s perception of how 

the police and council work in partnership to tackle community safety issues.  

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 174



ALTOGETHER SAFER 

3. How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol?   

4. How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic abuse, child sexual exploitation and radicalisation?  

Successful completions for alcohol and drugs  
(Dec 2016-Nov 2017, with reps up to May 2018) 

Successful completions England Target 

 Alcohol 33.6% (396)  38.6%  38.4% 

 Opiates 6%   (90)  6.6%  7.8% 

 Non-opiates 30.6% (235)  36.6%  44.2% 

 

 

 

 

 

Alcohol related anti-social behaviour and violent crime 
(Apr-Jun)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

% of alcohol related… 2017 2018  

violent crime 24.4% 25.2%  

ASB incidents 17.7% 18.5%  

Child Sexual Exploitation 

 

 

 

 

 

Domestic Violence (Key stats for County Durham)  

 

Percentage of both alcohol and anti-social behaviour related 

crime have increased compared to the same period last year.  

Alcohol Seizures 
194 recorded by Police (Apr-Jun 2018) 
Reduction of almost 48% since last year.   
78% (152) of seizures were from under 18s.   

169 child sexual exploitation referrals (Apr 2017-Mar 2018). Slightly higher 

than the 167 reported in the same period last year.   

P
age 175

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjWyI64uOjcAhVtxYUKHaNvAwMQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://spotcolorart.com/products/no-drinking-sign-white-91606&psig=AOvVaw1RdOEIWtIBYMENpUfrJTcN&ust=1534195112503256


How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol? 

 

123 Of the eight indicators that support this area, successful completion of alcohol 

treatments and drug treatments (non-opiates) are below national averages; ASB 

incidents and violent crime that is alcohol related have deteriorated since last 

year; successful completion of drug treatments (opiates) has declined since last 

year and is below national average.  

 

124 There have been some improvement in successful completion rates of those in 

drug and alcohol treatment for alcohol and non-opiate drug misuse. Successful 

completions for opiate users continue to be in line with national averages. 

Across all indicators, Durham is now out-performing the region but remains 

below targets.  

 

125 There has been a reduction in alcohol seizures. There has been a reduction in 

resources and increases in workloads at the police. The change over from 

Lifeline to CGL to Disc as the new service provider caused some minor 

disruption. There is also a new process where if a vulnerable child form is 

submitted, DISC pick it up directly from the police force system, there is now no 

requirement for an officer to submit another referral form. 

 

126 A national policy change from Home Office means that only PCSOs now have 

the power to search for alcohol and not police constables.  

 

How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including 

domestic abuse, child sexual exploitation and radicalisation? 

 

127 Of the two indicators that support this area, one has showed maintained 

performance since last reported (resilience to terrorism) and the other does not 

have a direction of travel. Further performance indicators to give a more rounded 

picture of vulnerability will be introduced next quarter for corporate reporting.  

 

128 A joint targeted area inspection of the multi-agency response to domestic abuse 

in Durham was carried out in July by Ofsted, the Care Quality Commission, HMI 

Constabulary, Fire and Rescue Services and HMI Probation. This joint 

inspection included a ‘deep dive’ focus on the response to children living with 

domestic abuse.  

 

129 A draft inspection letter has been received. This is being checked for factual 

accuracy by all agencies involved in the inspection i.e. the council, police, 

National Probation Service, Durham and Tees Valley Community Rehabilitation 

Company and all health providers in Durham.  

 

Page 176



130 Next steps in this process are that once the final inspection letter has been 

published on 24 August, the director of children and young people’s services is 

required to prepare a written statement of proposed action, responding to 

findings outlined in the final report by 3 December.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 177



ALTOGETHER SAFER 

5.  How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and waterways?  

Road Safety 

 

Killed or Seriously Injured  (Jan-Mar) Road Safety Training - Schools 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Road Safety Team has continued to provide a 

comprehensive programme of activities in schools to support 

the implementation of the Slow to 20 Project including child 

pedestrian training and Bikeability cycle training. 

 

 
 

Road Safety Training - Driving 

 

Excelerate Young Driver Scheme has been relaunched 

and the SAGE (Safer Driving with Age) training for older 

drivers continues. 

 

 

 

 
The number of people killed or seriously  

injured in road traffic collisions has falled by nearly 30%. 

 


There was no fatalities in road traffic accidents  

(Jan-Mar 2018). 

 

 

41

29

3

44

0
Jan - Mar 2017 Jan - Mar 2018

Total KSI Children Fatalities

P
age 178

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwi21O7wt4PdAhVRalAKHUWUABYQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=http://www.clipartpanda.com/categories/car-clipart&psig=AOvVaw228xN-HeYkJ-Y4-PLCgHHZ&ust=1535122703638532


 

How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and 

waterways? 

 

131 Of the two indicators that support this area, one indicator has deteriorated, the 

number of children killed or seriously injured in road traffic accidents has 

increased from three to four over the last year.  

 

132 During the first quarter of 2018, there have been no fatalities compared to seven 

recorded in 2016 and four in 2017. The number of recorded serious and slight 

injuries have also decreased year on year, from 52 to 29 and 283 to 154 

respectively. There were 177 recorded collisions resulting in an injury compared 

to 343 recorded in 2016 and 339 in 2017.  

 

133 Further investigation is underway into the number of in-car passengers and 

drivers injured on our network to determine whether there are any common 

causation. The Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee has also agreed to carry out some review activity in this area as part 

of their work programme for the current year.  

 

134 The Road Safety Team has been busy delivering a comprehensive program of 

schools based activities to support the implementation of the 20s project. These 

include: Child pedestrian training; Bikeability cycle training; Safety Carousels 

Key Stage 2; Road Safety theatre, poetry and creative writing schemes and 

expansion of the Junior Road Safety Officer project. 

 

135 The Team has re-launched the Excelerate Young Driver Scheme and continue 

to manage older driver assessments through the SAGE project (Safer Driving 

with Age).  The Team have also supported Road Safety GB North East in the 

cascading of messages before and during the World Cup to deter drink and drug 

driving and to highlight the impact of the ‘morning after’. Child seat and restraint 

training has been delivered to council staff responsible for the carrying of 

children as part of their duties. This training informs staff of their legal 

responsibility for the safe carriage of children in vehicles using appropriate 

age/weight seats. 

 

  

Page 179



Altogether Greener  

 

136 The priority theme of Altogether Greener is structured around the following three 

key questions: 

 How clean and tidy is my local environment? 

 Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change? 

 How effective and sustainable is our collection and disposal of waste? 

 

137 Eight indicators support this priority theme, six were updated during quarter one. 

The remaining indicators, both of which relate to CO2 emissions, will be available 

and reported at quarter two.  

 

138 One indicator, percentage of household waste that is reused, recycled or 

composted, which although showed improved performance was below the 

national average. 

 

How clean and tidy is my local environment? 

 

139 All three indicators that support this area were updated during quarter one. All 

indicators relate to the LEQS Pro survey and report the percentage of relevant 

land and highways assessed as having deposits of litter, detritus or dog fouling 

that fall below an acceptable level. 

 

140 We carried out the first tranche of the LEQS Pro survey during the spring and 

results show that although performance in relation to dog fouling has improved 

in comparison to first tranche results of 2017/18, litter and detritus have 

deteriorated but this in only marginal (especially in relation to detritus), and is not 

a cause for concern.  

 

141 Throughout quarter one, a number of initiatives / projects were undertaken to 

enhance the local environment including: 

 The Big Spring Clean (19 February to 15 April). Residents, schools, 

community groups and businesses came together and carried out litter picks 

to make a difference to their local environment: 272 litter picks, involving 

4,131 people contributing 5,417 volunteer hours resulted in the collection of 

4,123 bags of litter. 

 Operation Spruce Up visited Gilesgate, Pelton, Tow Law and Shildon. 

Trimdon Grange, Annfield Plain, Cockfield and Consett will to follow later in 

2018. The award winning scheme works in partnership with local groups and 

activity can include road and pavement cleansing, removal of graffiti, litter 

clearance, replacing of shrub beds, repair of street furniture and 

environmental education.  

Page 180



 We are leading on the entries of Chester-le-Street and Durham City in the 

Northumbria in Bloom finals and are supporting town and parish council led 

entries into the competition. Durham is also a finalist in the “small cities” 

category of the Britain in Bloom awards. We are also promoting the RHS It’s 

your Neighbourhood campaign which provides an opportunity for community 

groups to get involved in Northumbria in Bloom and Britain in Bloom 

competitions.  

 

Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change? 

 

142 Neither of the two indicators that support this area have been updated during 

quarter one. Updates for both indicators will be provided at quarter two. 

 

143 The Business Energy Efficiency Project has continued to work with 29 small and 

medium sized enterprises (SMEs) through the European Structural and 

Investment Fund (ESIF) Low Carbon programme.  During quarter one, we gave 

grants to four SMEs for £27,659 for energy efficiency improvement, bringing the 

total to around 150 SME supported in County Durham. 

 
144 The council continues to make progress on a range of carbon saving projects 

across the council’s building portfolio, helping not only to reduce carbon 

emissions, but also saving money and improving the internal environment.  

Improvement has recently been made to help improve the efficiency and comfort 

levels of Peterlee Day Centre. 

 

How effective and sustainable is our collection and disposal of 

waste? 

 

145 All three indicators that support this area were updated during quarter one.   

 

146 The number of fly-tipping incidents has deteriorated since the same period last 

year. During quarter one, we recorded 2,158 fly-tipping incidents, a 16% 

increase compared to the same quarter last year. Household waste accounted 

for 62% of this increase, most of which occurred in April. Further investigation is 

to be undertaken to understand in greater detail the causes of this increase and 

identify action required in response.  

 
147 A number of actions / initiatives were carried out during quarter one, including: 

 22 cameras were deployed with four incidents captured on CCTV; 

 Three ‘stop and search’ operations were carried out, resulting in 14 duty of 

care warning letters; eight producers and one fixed penalty notice being 

issued; 

Page 181



 Further investigations were carried out on 466 fly-tipping incidents which led 

to nine interviews under caution and one prosecution; 

 Five fixed penalty notices were issued for fly-tipping offences.  

 
148 We continued with a number of waste projects during quarter one including: 

 Working in partnership to reduce the use of single use plastic. Early wins 

implemented include ceasing the use of plastic confetti within DCC 

pantomimes and specific recycling points for plastic bottles at sports events. 

A report will be presented to the Environment and Sustainable Communities 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee in November.  

 ‘Rethinking’ our approach to procurement and potential technological 

opportunities in relation to a leachate system at Coxhoe East landfill site.  

Consequently, this project has been delayed by 12 months. 

 Work has commenced to replace Stainton Grove HWRC with an improved 

facility providing a range of recycling facilities and an area of the site for small 

businesses to deposit trade waste. Completion is expected December 2018.  

 

 

 

Page 182



ALTOGETHER GREENER 

1. How clean and tidy is my local environment?     

2. Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change?  

3. How effective and sustainable is our collection and disposal of waste?  

Refuse and Recycling 2017/18  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fly-tipping (Jul 17-Jun 18) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Environmental Cleanliness 

4.33% litter, increase on later year (3.56%)  

12.32% detritus, slight increase on later year (12.12%)  

0.56% dog fouling, decrease on later year (0.96%)  

 

96.6% municipal waste diverted from landfill, above target  

 

40.1% household waste re-used, recycled or composted   
 

 DCC continues to work with partners  

to reduce single use plastics (SUP).  

 ‘Early wins’ include: ceasing the use  

of plastic confetti within DCC 

pantomimes and plastic bottle 

recycling provision at sports events.  

 Details from the SUP working group 

will be presented to Scrutiny in 

November. 

 

7,941 incidents recorded, 324 more than last quarter (+4.3%) 
Household waste accounts for 62% of this increase 
Actions taken during the quarter include: 
 22 cameras deployed with 4 incidents caught on CCTV 
 3 stop and search operations  
 14 duty of care warning letters, 8 producers issued 
 466 incidents were further investigated 
 9 PACE interview and 1 prosecution 
 5 FPNs issued for fly-tipping offences. 

Green Flags 

 12 of our parks and cemeteries have 

been awarded the prestigious Green 

Flag environmental award.  

 Blackhill and Consett Park also 

achieved a Green Heritage Award. 

 

Big Spring Clean 2018 

 272 litter picks 

 4,131 volunteers  

 5,417 volunteer hours 

 4,123 bags of litter 

collected 

 

Waste Permits      
Are now available  
electronically, emailed to 
customer with a QR code 
for scanning at HWRC. 

Climate Change 

Worked with 29 businesses 
during the quarter, awarded 
£27,659 in grants. 

P
age 183



Altogether Better Council  

 

149 The priority theme of Altogether Better Council is structured around the following 

three key questions: 

 How well do we look after our people? 

 Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for 

residents and customers? 

 How good are our services to customers and the public?  

 

150 17 indicators support this priority theme.  

 

151 We have structured the remainder of this section around the three key questions 

and this is where further detail in relation to these indicators can be found. 

 

How well do we look after our people? 

 

152 Following new reporting regulations, gender pay gap information has been 

released for the first time in this quarter1. As of 31 March 2017, the mean hourly 

rate of full-pay relevant female employees is 3.43% lower than male employees, 

and the median hourly rate of pay for female employees is 4.29% lower. Median 

comparator data shows that the council’s headline figure is positive when 

compared to regional and national levels. Durham has the fourth lowest median 

pay gap of the 12 North East councils and sits mid-range of the overall median 

for English councils.  

 

153 Overall, sickness absence has increased, rising from 10.32 days lost per full 

time equivalent (excluding schools) in the same period last year to 11.10 days in 

quarter one, 2018/19.  The council is committed to managing the attendance 

levels of its workforce and ensuring support is available to enable individuals to 

manage their health and wellbeing wherever possible. An alert system is in 

place to monitor sickness down to the sickness episode level. Positive progress 

has been made in relation to percentage of posts with no sickness, rising from 

54.77% in quarter one, 2017/18 to 57.73% in quarter one, 2018/19. Percentage 

of posts with five days or less sickness has slightly fallen to 78.57% in this 

quarter from 80.59% in the same period last year. Mental health has been 

prioritised in the employee health and wellbeing plan and a number of 

approaches are planned to improve employee health and wellbeing throughout 

2018/19. 

 

                                                 
1 Gender pay gap data must be published every year on both Durham County Council’s website 

(https://www.durham.gov.uk/genderpaygap) and through the government gender pay gap reporting 

website (https://gender-pay-gap.service.gov.uk/) within twelve month of the relevant snapshot date. 

Page 184

https://www.durham.gov.uk/genderpaygap
https://gender-pay-gap.service.gov.uk/


ALTOGETHER BETTER COUNCIL 

1. How well do we look after our people? 

Employee wellbeing (Jul 17–Jun 18, excl. schools) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
% of sickness absence 

(Apr–Jun 2018 excluding schools) 

Short Term (0 to 7.5 days) 14% 

Medium Term (7.5 to 20 days) 16% 

Long Term (more than 20 days) 70% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11.10 days / shifts lost to sickness absence (excl. schools) 

11.20 days - target 

11.08 days – performance from previous quarter 

54.77 57.73

80.59 78.57

Q1 , 2017/18 Q1,  2018/19

Percentage of posts with no absence

Percentage of posts with five days or less sickness

54.77 57.73

80.59 78.57

Q1 , 2017/18 Q1,  2018/19

Percentage of posts with no absence

Percentage of posts with five days or less sickness

 

1.72%

2.33%

2.75%

2.79%

3.14%

3.69%

5.05%

6.92%

7.68%

7.89%

22.36%

33.69%

Pregnancy Related

Genito-Urinary

Heart, Blood Pressure & Circulation

Chest & Respiratory

Neurological

Eye, Ear, Nose, Mouth & Dental

Infections (incl. cold & flu)

Other

Musculo-Skeletal - Back/Neck

Liver, Kidney, Stomach & Digestion

Musculo-Skeletal - Excluding…

Mental Health & Fatigue

% type sickness occurring (Apr - Jun 2018) 

4.2
Gender Pay Gap  
(March 2017)  
For more information, visit 
https://www.durham.gov.uk
/genderpaygap 

  
 

4.29 

3.43 

P
age 185

https://www.durham.gov.uk/genderpaygap
https://www.durham.gov.uk/genderpaygap


Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for 

residents and customers? 

 

154 Data for the first quarter of 2018/19 shows 28.79% of council tax collected in 

year. This is slightly lower than both projected quarterly target (29.05%) and 

performance of the same period last year (29.03%). The number of customers 

extending council tax payments over 11 or 12 months rather than 10 months 

continues to increase. In the current financial year an additional 8,251 customers 

have taken up this option. There are now 26,897 customers paying over 11 or 

12 months, a rise of over 44% in comparison to the same period last year. This 

impacts on collection and makes forecasting a challenge. Business rates 

collection during the first quarter of this year shows 34.42%, which is above both 

the quarterly target and the last year’s performance. 

 

How good are our services to customers and the public? 

 

155 In relation to customer contact, average time taken to answer a telephone call is 

longer, rising to 56 seconds from 45 seconds in the same period last year, due 

to increased demand. There has been a significant increase over the past year 

in customers using web forms and social media to contact us and a direct 

correlation with the reduction of contact via the email channel. We continue to 

promote web forms as the most efficient way of contact by transferring emails to 

web forms through the promotion of online forms and also by sending links to 

customers. The most frequently used web forms are for waste permits, garden 

waste and bulky waste, the main requests on social media have been around 

highways, clean and green, and refuse and recycling.  We will develop a set of 

more appropriate performance indicators for customer contact as part of the 

review of the performance management framework.  

 

156 The process rate of freedom of information and environmental information 

requests continued to be a performance challenge, with quarter one, 2018/19 

data showing 75% processed on time. The performance is under target and a 

deterioration from previous quarter (86%). Complex and higher volumes of 

FOI/EIR and General Data Protection Regulation preparation work had an 

adverse impact on the performance. Extra staff have been brought in to assist 

with the workload. 

 
 
 

Page 186



ALTOGETHER BETTER COUNCIL 

2. Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for residents and customers? 

3. How good are our services to customers and the public? 

 

  75% responses sent within 20 working day 

 
90% target  

 
86% performance on previous quarter   

Complex and high volumes of requests and GDPR preparation work had an 

adverse impact on the performance. Extra staff have been brought in to assist 

with workload.  

 

 

 28.8% council tax collected (target 29%). 

4.93% increase (£11,396,531) in net payments received 

compared to 2016/17). 

 

 

 

 34.4% business rates collected (target 33%). 

Impact of last year’s revaluation, which reflects changes 
in the property market, has now lessened and charges 
have settled. 

286 more small business rate relief awards compared to 
Apr-Jun 2017/18 increasing to 6,982 accounts. 

 

 

 

Customer Services (Jul 17-Jun 18) 
 

 56 seconds on average to answer a call (+11 seconds 

compared to last year) 

5% calls are abandoned (-1pp compared to last year) 

 8% think contacting us is difficult. 

 

Social 

Media 

Web Forms Email Telephone Face to 

Face 

3,836 107,801 50,622 971,918 150,252 

     

+105% +57% -24% +1% +1% 

 

Top 10 Web Form Requests  

 
718

1051

1167

1222

1262

1377

1557

2655

3009

6752

Complaints

Road or footpath

Bin - Not emptied

Flytipping

Customer Satisfaction Survey

Bin - New, replacement, repair

School transport: concessionary seat

Bulky waste, white goods collection

Waste permits

Garden waste - Join the scheme

Web Forms Top 10 Requests
April - June 2018

P
age 187



 

Risk Management 

157 Effective risk management is a vital component of the council’s agenda. The 
council’s risk management process sits alongside our change programme and is 
incorporated into all significant change and improvement projects. 
 

158 Appendix 4 summarises key risks in delivering the ambitions for each priority 
theme and how we are managing them. 
 

 

Recommendations and reasons 

 
159 That Cabinet considers and comments on the Council’s performance at quarter 

one. 

 

160 That Cabinet agrees to a change to the Council Plan outlined below: 

 
Altogether Greener 
 
(i) The Commissioning of a leachate treatment system at Coxhoe 

East landfill site has been delayed from December 2020 to 
September 2022. Only one compliant tender was returned and this 
was significantly above budget available. The service is currently 
reviewing the procurement approach. 

Altogether Better Council 
 
(ii) The review of the Digital Strategy is under further consideration as 

a result of the need for wider liaison and feedback with internal 
stakeholders and development of a consultation strategy. A 
countywide consultation will begin at the end of August for 6 
weeks. Following customer feedback the strategy will be updated. 
A new revised target date is December 2018.  

 

 Contact:  Jenny Haworth              Tel:  03000 268071      

 
 
 
  

Page 188



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
 
Finance 

Latest performance information is being used to inform corporate, service and financial 

planning. 

 

Staffing 

Performance against a number of relevant corporate health performance indicators has 

been included to monitor staffing issues. 

 

Risk  

Reporting of significant risks and their interaction with performance is integrated into the 

quarterly monitoring report. 

 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty  

Corporate health PIs are monitored as part of the performance monitoring process.  

 

Accommodation  

Not applicable. 

 

Crime and Disorder  

A number of performance indicators and key actions relating to crime and disorder are 

continually monitored in partnership with Durham Constabulary. 

 

Human Rights  

Not applicable. 

 

Consultation  

Not applicable. 

 

Procurement  

Not applicable. 

 

Disability Issues  

Employees with a disability are monitored as part of the performance monitoring 

process.  

 

Legal Implications  

Not applicable. 

 

Page 189



Appendix 2: Key Performance Indicators  

 

There are two types of performance indicators throughout this document: 

(a) Key target indicators – targets are set as improvements can be measured regularly and can be actively influenced by the council and its 
partners; and 

(b) Key tracker indicators – performance is tracked but no targets are set as they are long-term and/or can only be partially influenced by the 
council and its partners.   

A guide is available which provides full details of indicator definitions and data sources for the 2017/18 corporate indicator set. This is available to 

view either internally from the intranet or can be requested from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk 

KEY TO SYMBOLS 

  Direction of travel  Benchmarking  Performance against target 

GREEN 
 

Same or better than comparable period  Same or better than comparable group 
 

Meeting or exceeding target 

AMBER 
 Worse than comparable period 

(within 2% tolerance) 
 

Worse than comparable group  
(within 2% tolerance) 

 
Performance within 2% of target 

RED 
 Worse than comparable period  

(greater than 2%) 
 

Worse than comparable group  
(greater than 2%) 

 
Performance >2% behind target 

 
National Benchmarking 
We compare our performance to all English authorities. The number of authorities varies according to the performance indicator and functions of 
councils, for example educational attainment is compared to county and unitary councils however waste disposal is compared to district and unitary 
councils. 
 
North East Benchmarking 
The North East figure is the average performance from the authorities within the North East region, i.e. County Durham, Darlington, Gateshead, 
Hartlepool, Middlesbrough, Newcastle upon Tyne, North Tyneside, Northumberland, Redcar and Cleveland, Stockton-On-Tees, South Tyneside, 
Sunderland, The number of authorities also varies according to the performance indicator and functions of councils. 
 
More detail is available from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk 

 

P
age 190

mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk
mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk


Table 1: Key Target and Tracker Indicators 

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

1. Do residents have good job prospects? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered if 

different 

1 
RED 
40 

% of the working age population in 
employment 

71.2 2017/18 
Tracker 71.5 75.1 71.0  

 
N/a AMBER RED GREEN  

2 
RED 
188 

Per capita household disposable 
income (£) 

15,221 2016 
Tracker 15,496 19,447 16,197  

2015 
N/a AMBER RED RED  

3 
RED 
105 

Number of apprenticeships from 
Durham County Council schemes 
sustained at least 15 months 

949 
As at Jun 

2018 

Tracker 735    
 

N/a GREEN    

4 
RED 
92 

Number of gross potential jobs 
created or safeguarded as a result of 
Business Durham activity 

1,066 2017/18 
1,300 2,404    

 
RED RED    

5 
CYPS 

1 
% of 16 to 17 year olds in an 
apprenticeship 

9.6 
As at Mar 

2018 

Tracker 9.1 5.9 8.1  
 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

 

 

 

P
age 191



ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

2. Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered if 

different 

6 
RED 
30 

Number of empty properties brought 
back into use as a result of local 
authority intervention 

56 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

37 45    
 

GREEN GREEN    

7 
RED 
10b 

Number of net homes completed 381 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 422    
 

N/a RED    

8 
RED 
10ai 

Number of affordable homes 
delivered 

473 2017/18 
200 322    

 
GREEN GREEN    

9 new 
Number of households accessing 
the Housing Solutions Service 

3,138 
As at 

June 2018 

Tracker 
New 

indicator 
   

 

N/a N/a    

10 
new 

new 
Number of properties improved, 
adapted or brought back into use  

447 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 
New 

indicator 
   

 
N/a N/a    

11 
new 

new 
Number of households helped to 
stay in their home 

202 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 
New 

indicator 
   

 

N/a N/a    

12 
new 

new 
Number of households helped to 
move to alternative accommodation 

117 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 
New 

indicator 
   

 
N/a N/a    

 

 

P
age 192



ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

3. Is County Durham a good place to do business? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered if 

different 

13 
RED 
87 

Gross Value Added (GVA) per capita 
in County Durham (£) 

16,513 2016^ 
Tracker 16,362 27,060^ 19,542^  

 
N/a GREEN RED RED  

14 
RED 
89 

Number of registered businesses in 
County Durham 

17,120 2017 
Tracker 16,585    

 
N/a GREEN    

 

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

4. Is it easy to travel around the county? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered if 

different 

15 
NS  
6a 

% of A roads where maintenance is 
recommended (scanner survey) 

3 2017/18 
Tracker 3 3   

2016/17 
N/a GREEN GREEN   

16 
NS 
6b 

% of B and C roads where 
maintenance is recommended 
(scanner survey) 

4 2017/18 
Tracker 3 6   

2016/17 
N/a AMBER GREEN   

17 
NS 
6d 

% of unclassified roads where 
maintenance is recommended 
(scanner survey) 

21 2017/18 
Tracker 20 17   

2016/17 
N/a AMBER RED   

18 
NS 
7 

Highways maintenance backlog 
(£millions) 

187.6 2017 
Tracker 191.7    

 
N/a GREEN    

P
age 193



ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

4. Is it easy to travel around the county? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered if 

different 

19 
new 

new 
Bridge Stock Condition – Principal 
Roads 

80.0 2017 
Tracker 83.8    

 
N/a RED    

20 
new 

new 
Bridge Stock Condition – Non-
Principal Roads 

81.0 2017 
Tracker 83.7     

N/a RED    

 

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

5. How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered if 

different 

21 
RED 
100 

Number of visitors to County 
Durham (million) 

19.71 2017 
Tracker 19.3    

 
N/a GREEN    

22 
RED 
101 

Number of jobs supported by the 
visitor economy 

11,682 2017 
Tracker 11,158    

 
N/a GREEN    

23 
RED 
102 

Amount (£ million) generated by the 
visitor economy 

866.71 2017 
Tracker 806    

 
N/a GREEN    

 

 

P
age 194



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

1. Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered 

if 

different 

24 
CYPS 

24 

Average attainment 8 score  

(pupils at the end of KS4 in state funded 

mainstream and special schools and 

academies – replacing GCSE attainment) 

44.6* 

2016/17 

academic 

year 

Tracker 
New 

methodology 
46.4 44.6 45.3 

 
N/a N/a RED GREEN AMBER 

25 
CYPS 

27 

Average point score per A level entry 

of state-funded school students 
31.9* 

2016/17 

academic 

year 

Tracker 31.7 31.1 30.9 30.7 
 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

26 
CYPS

28 

% of pupils achieving the expected 

standard in Reading, Writing and 

Maths (KS2) 

64.6* 

2016/17 

academic 

year 

Tracker 59.0 64.4 65.0 62.0 
 

N/a GREEN GREEN AMBER GREEN 

27 
CYPS 

2 

% of 16 to 17 year olds who are not in 

education, employment or training 

(NEET) 

5.1 Apr-Jun 18 
Tracker 4.8 2.7 4.0  

 
N/a RED RED RED  

28 
CYPS 

25 

Gap between the average Attainment 

8 score of Durham disadvantaged 

pupils and the average Attainment 8 

score of non-disadvantaged pupils 

nationally (KS4) 

-13.1* 

2016/17 

academic 

year 

Tracker 
New 

methodology 
-12.8 -14.8  

 

N/a N/a AMBER GREEN  

29 
CYPS 

26 

% of children in the Early Years 

Foundation Stage achieving a Good 

Level of Development 

72* 

2016/17 

academic 

year 

64 69 70.7 70.7 68.6 
 

GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

30 
CYPS 

29 

Gap between the % of Durham 

disadvantaged pupils and the % of 

non-disadvantaged pupils nationally 

who achieve the expected standard in 

reading, writing and maths (KS2) 

-18* 

2016/17 

academic 

year 

Tracker -16 -20 -15 -23 

 

N/a GREEN GREEN RED GREEN 

           

P
age 195



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

1. Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered 

if 

different 

31 
CYPS 

30 

Ofsted % of primary pupils in good or 

better schools 
92 

As at  

30 Jun 

2018 

Tracker 91.6 90 91  As at 

31 Mar 

2018 N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

32 
CYPS 

31 

Ofsted % of secondary pupils in good 

or better schools 
61.3 

As at 

30 Jun 

2018 

Tracker 64.5 80 66  
 

N/a RED RED RED  

33 
CYPS 

32 

Exclusion from school of All Durham 

children - percentage of children with 

at least one fixed exclusion 

1.77* 

2016/17 

academic 

year 

Tracker 2.0 2.11 2.01  2015/16 

academic 

year N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

34 
CYPS 

38 

% of all school pupils eligible for and 

claiming Free School Meals (FSM) 
19.4 Jan 2018 

Tracker 20.2 14.7 19.9  
Jan 2017 

N/a GREEN RED AMBER  

35 
AHS 

1 

Under 18 conception rate per 1,000 

girls aged 15 to 17 
21.3^ 2016/17 

Tracker 25.9 18.5^ 24.8^  
 

N/a GREEN RED GREEN  

36 
AHS 

2 

% of five year old children free from 

dental decay 
74.2 2016/17 

Tracker 64.9 76.7 76.1  
 

N/a GREEN RED RED  

37 
AHS 

3 

Alcohol specific hospital admissions 

for under 18s (rate per 100,000) 
56.2 

2014/15-

2016/17 

Tracker 67.5 34.2 64.8  
 

N/a GREEN RED GREEN  

38 
AHS 

4 

Young people aged 10-24 admitted to 

hospital as a result of self-harm 
400.8 2016/17 

Tracker 420.8 404.6 425.3  
 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

           

P
age 196



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

1. Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered 

if 

different 

39 
AHS 

5 

% of children aged 4 to 5 years 

classified as overweight or obese 
24.1* 

2016/17 

academic 

year 

Tracker 24.3 22.6 24.5  
 

N/a GREEN RED GREEN  

40 
AHS 

6 

% of children aged 10 to 11 years 

classified as overweight or obese 
37.7* 

2016/17 

academic 

year 

Tracker 37.0 34.2 37.3  
 

N/a AMBER RED AMBER  

41 
CYPS 

33 

% of Education Health and Care 

Plans completed in the statutory 20 

week time period (excl. exceptions) 

94.2 
Jan–Jun 

2018 

90 65.3 64.9 78.8  
2017 

GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN  

*provisional data for the 2017/18 academic year will be available at quarter 2 and final data available quarter 3. 
^provisional data 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 197



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

2. Are children, young people and families in receipt of Early Help services appropriately supported? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered 

if 

different 

42 
CYPS 

22 

% of successful interventions (families 

turned around) via the Stronger 

Families Programme (Phase 2) 

[number] 

30.3 

[1,323] 

Sep 14- 

Mar 18 

50.4 

[2,197] 

23.3 

[1,015] 
23.1 27.0 23.9 

 

RED GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

43 
CYPS 

23 

% of children aged 0-2 years in the 

top 30% IMD registered with a Family 

Centre and having sustained contact 

89.8 
Jan–Dec 

2017 

80 88.1    

 

GREEN GREEN    

 

 

ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

3. Are children, young people and families in receipt of Social Work services appropriately supported and safeguarded? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered 

if 

different 

44 
CYPS 

14 

% of statutory referrals received by 

the First Contact Team or Emergency 

Duty Team processed within 1 

working day 
 

88.1 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 85.5    

 
N/a GREEN    

45 
CYPS 

15 

% of statutory children in need 

referrals occurring within 12 months of 

a previous referral 

 

17.9 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 17.0 21.9 20.1 20.7 

2016/17 

N/a RED GREEN GREEN GREEN 

P
age 198



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

3. Are children, young people and families in receipt of Social Work services appropriately supported and safeguarded? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered 

if 

different 

46 
CYPS 

16 

% of single assessments completed 

within 45 working days 
75.7 

Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 83.2 82.9 83.1 82.8 
2016/17 

N/a RED RED RED RED 

47 
CYPS 

17 

Rate of children subject to a child 

protection plan per 10,000 population 

aged under 18 [number of children] 

46.8 

[471] 

As at 

30 Jun 

2018 

Tracker 
48.6 

[486] 
43.3 60.5  As at 31 

Mar 2017 
N/a N/a N/a N/a  

48 
CYPS 

18a 

Rate of children in need per 10,000 

population aged under 18 (statutory 

L4 open cases) [number of children] 

346.8 

[3,478] 

As at 

30 Jun 

2018 

Tracker 
361.4 

[3,624] 
312 339 354 

2016/17 

N/a N/a N/a N/a N/a 

49 
CYPS

18c 

Rate of children at level 2 or 3 per 

10,000 population aged under 18 

(One Point L2/3 open cases) [No. of 

children] 

234.3 

[2,350] 

As at 

30 Jun 

2018 

Tracker 
237.5 

[2,382] 
   

 

N/a N/a    

50 
CYPS

19 

% of strategy meetings initiated which 

led to an initial child protection 

conference being held within 15 

working days 

72.5 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

75 42.6^ 77 86 83 

2016/17 

RED GREEN RED RED RED 

51 
CYPS

20 

% of Social Workers with fewer than 

20 cases 
45.5* 

As at 

30 Jun 

2018 

Tracker 43    
 

N/a GREEN    

52 

new 
new 

% of Case File Audits which are given 

a scaling score of 6 or above 

New 

PI**  
New PI 

Tracker 
new 

indicator 
   

 

N/a N/a    

*Please note that the social worker caseload data above is based upon 2,689 cases as Team Managers, Social Work Consultants, Social Workers on their Assessed and Supported Year 

Employment (ASYEs), and Student Social Workers are excluded and any cases they carry are also excluded.   ** Data will be reported from next quarter. 

^data last year was impacted by significant staffing issues in the Independent Reviewing Officer team, this has now been resolved.  

P
age 199



 

 

 

 

ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

4. Are we being a good corporate parent to Looked After Children? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered 

if 

different 

53 
CYPS 

3 

Rate of children looked after per 

10,000 population aged under 18 

[number of children] 

80.3 

[807] 

As at 

30 Jun 

2018 

Tracker 
78.7 

[789] 
62 92 87.5 As at  

31 Mar 

2017 N/a N/a N/a N/a N/a 

54 
CYPS 

4 

% of children adopted from care (as % 

of total children leaving care) [number 

of children] 

11.5 

[10] 

Apr–Jun 

2018 

15 
11.9 

[13] 
14 14 16.6 

2016/17 

RED GREEN RED RED RED 

55 
CYPS 

5 
% of LAC who are fostered 

80 

[646 

/807] 

As at 

30 Jun 

2018 

Tracker 
81.4 

[640/786] 
   

 

N/a RED    

56 
CYPS 

6 
% of external residential placements 

3.2 

[26 

/807] 

As at 

30 Jun 

2018 

Tracker 
3.2 

[25/789] 
   

 

N/a GREEN     

57 
CYPS

7 

% of children looked after 

continuously for 12 months or more 

who had a dental check 

93.7 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 82.5 83 83 83 
2016/17 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

58 
CYPS

8 

% of children looked after 

continuously for 12 months or more 

who have had the required number of 

health assessments 

89.9 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 86.4 89 91 91 

2016/17 

N/a GREEN AMBER AMBER AMBER 

P
age 200



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

4. Are we being a good corporate parent to Looked After Children? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered 

if 

different 

59 
CYPS

9 

Emotional and behavioural health of 

children looked after continuously for 

12 months or more 

15.5 2017/18 
Tracker 16.0 14.1 14.7 14.0 

 
N/a GREEN RED RED RED 

60 
CYPS

10 

Average Attainment 8 score of Looked 

After Children 
21.9* 

2016/17 

academic 

year 

Tracker N/a 19.3 20.1 18.3 

 
N/a 

Not 

comparable 
GREEN GREEN RED 

61 
CYPS

11 

% of LAC achieving the expected 

standard in Reading, Writing and 

Maths (atLAC) 

35.0* 

2016/17 

academic 

year 

Tracker 38 33 32  
 

N/a RED GREEN GREEN  

62 

new 
new 

% of care leavers aged 17-18 in 

education, employment or training 

(EET) 

85.3 

As at 

30 Jun 

2018 

Tracker N/a 62 66 64 

2016/17 
N/a 

New 

definition 
GREEN GREEN GREEN 

63 

new 
new 

% of care leavers aged 19-21 in 

education, employment or training 

(EET) 

55.3 

As at 

30 Jun 

2018 

Tracker N/a 50 50 50 

2016/17 
N/a 

New 

definition 
GREEN GREEN GREEN 

64 

new 
new 

% of care leavers aged 17-18 in 

suitable accommodation 
94.1 

As at 

30 Jun 

2018 

Tracker N/a 88 93 88 

2016/17 
N/a 

New 

definition 
GREEN GREEN GREEN 

65 

new 
new 

% of care leavers aged 19-21 in 

suitable accommodation 
87.6 

As at 

30 Jun 

2018 

Tracker N/a 84 90 90 

2016/17 
N/a 

New 

definition 
GREEN RED RED 

*provisional data for the 2017/18 academic year will be available at quarter 2 and final data available quarter 3. 

 

 

P
age 201



 

ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER 

1. Are our services improving the health of our residents? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered if 

different 

66 
AHS 

12 
% of mothers smoking at time of 
delivery 

17.2^ 2017/18 
15.9 16.7 10.8^ 16.3^  

 
RED RED RED RED  

67 
AHS 

13 

Four week smoking quitters per 
100,000 smoking population 
[number of quitters] 

3306.8 
[2,497] 

2017/18 

3,180 

[2,401] 

3076.1 

[2,903] 
   

 

GREEN GREEN    

68 AHS 7 Male life expectancy at birth (years) 78.0 2014/16 
Tracker 78.1 79.5 77.8  

 
N/a AMBER AMBER GREEN  

69 AHS 8 
Female life expectancy at birth 

(years) 
81.3 2014/16 

Tracker 81.2 83.1 81.5  
 

N/a GREEN RED AMBER  

70 AHS 9 
Female healthy life expectancy at 

birth (years) 
59 2014/16 

Tracker 57 63.9 60.6  
 

N/a GREEN RED AMBER  

71 
AHS 

10 

Male healthy life expectancy at birth 

(years) 
59.1 2014/16 

Tracker 59.7 63.3 59.7  
 

N/a AMBER RED AMBER  

72 
AHS 

14 

Excess weight in adults (Proportion 

of adults classified as  overweight or 

obese) 

67.5 2015/16 

Tracker New PI 61.3 66.3  

 

N/a N/a RED AMBER  

73 
AHS 

11 
12.6 2014-2016 Tracker 15.7 9.9 11.6   

P
age 202



ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER 

1. Are our services improving the health of our residents? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered if 

different 

Suicide rate (deaths from suicide 

and injury of undetermined intent) 

per 100,000 population 

N/a GREEN RED RED  

74 
AHS 

38 

Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6-8 

weeks from birth 
29.2 

Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 28.2 43.6 32.7  Oct-Dec 

2017 N/a GREEN RED RED  

75 
AHS 

40 

Estimated smoking prevalence of 

persons aged 18 and over 
14.3 2017 

Tracker 17.9 14.9 16.2  
 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

76 
AHS 

41 

Self-reported wellbeing - people with 

a low happiness score 
6.9 2016/17 

Tracker 11.5 8.5 8.7  
 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

77 NS 21 
Participation in Sport and Physical 

Activity: active 
63.1 

Nov 16–

Nov 17 

Tracker 59.5 61.8   
 

N/a GREEN GREEN   

78 NS 22 
Participation in Sport and Physical 

Activity: inactive 
25.3 

Nov 16– 

Nov 17 

Tracker 28.0 25.7   
 

N/a GREEN GREEN   

^provisional data 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 203



ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER 

2. Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and independent lives? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 
12 months 

earlier 
National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered if 

different 

79 
AHS 

18 

Adults aged 65+ per 100,000 
population admitted on a permanent 
basis in the year to residential or 
nursing care 

199.5 
Apr–Jun 

2018 

154.9 191.0    
 

RED RED    

80 
AHS 

20 

% of older people who were still at 
home 91 days after discharge from 
hospital into reablement/ 
rehabilitation services 

85.9 
Jan–Mar 

2018 

85.9 88.5 82.5 85.3  
2016/17 

GREEN RED 
Not 

comparable 

Not 

comparable 
 

81 
AHS 

16 

% of individuals who achieved their 

desired outcomes from the adult 

safeguarding process 

97.7 
Apr–Jun 

2018 

Tracker 95.6    
 

N/a GREEN    

82 
AHS 

17 

% of service users receiving an 

assessment or review within the last 

12 months 

86.9 
Jun 2017- 

Jun 2018 

Tracker 87.2    
 

N/a AMBER    

83 
AHS 

21 

Overall satisfaction of people who 

use services with their care and 

support 

63.6 2016/17 
Tracker 69.5 64.7 66.9  

 
N/a RED AMBER RED  

84 
AHS 

22 

Overall satisfaction of carers with the 

support and services they receive 

(Biennial survey) 

43.3 2016/17 
Tracker New PI 39.0 45.7  

 
N/a N/a GREEN RED  

85 
AHS 

19 

Daily Delayed transfers of care beds, 

all per hospital per 100,000 

population age 18+ 

4.9 
May 

2018 

Tracker 3.2 9.3 8.2  
 

N/a RED GREEN GREEN  

86 
AHS 

23 

% of adult social care service users 

who report they have enough choice 

over the care and support services 

they receive 

73.1 2016/17 

Tracker New PI 67.6 73.4  

 

N/a N/a GREEN AMBER  

 

 

P
age 204



ALTOGETHER SAFER 

1. How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered if 

different 

87 
CYP 
35 

First time entrants to the youth 
justice system aged 10 to 17 (per 
100,000 population of 10 to 17 year 
olds) 

294 
Jan-Dec 

2017 

Tracker 391 292 366 291 

 
N/a GREEN AMBER GREEN AMBER 

88 
AHS 
24 

Overall crime rate per 1,000 
population 

25.3 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 23.4    
 

N/a RED    

89 
AHS 
25 

Rate of theft offences per 1,000 
population 

7.1 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 6.9    
 

N/a RED    

90 
AHS 
26 

Proportion of all offenders (adults 
and young people) who re-offend in 
a 12 month period 

32.0 
Oct 2015- 
Sep 2016 

Tracker 32.9 29.5   
 

N/a GREEN 
Not 

comparable   

91 
CYP 
36 

Proven re-offending by young people 
(who offend) in a 12 month period 
(%) [number] 

41.6 
[1,131] 

Oct 2015 - 
Sep 2016 

Tracker - 41.9 45.7  
 

N/a  RED GREEN  

 

 

 

 

P
age 205



ALTOGETHER SAFER 

2. How effective are we at tackling Anti-social behaviour? 

Ref 
PI 

Ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered if 

different 

92 
AHS 
27 

Dealing with concerns of ASB and 
crime issues by the local council and 
police 

53 
Jan - Dec 

2017 

Tracker 61.3    
 

N/a RED    

93 
AHS 
28a 

Number of police reported incidents 
of anti-social behaviour 

3,822 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 4,154    
 

N/a GREEN    

94 
AHS 
28b 

Number of council reported incidents 
of anti-social behaviour  

3,031 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 2,785    
 

N/a RED    

 

ALTOGETHER SAFER 

3. How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered if 

different 

95 
AHS 
31 

% of successful completions of those 
in alcohol treatment   

33.6 

Dec 2016-
Nov 2017 

with reps to 
May 2018 

28.0 29.0 38.6 30.8  

 
GREEN GREEN RED GREEN  

96 
AHS 
32 

% of successful completions of those 
in drug treatment - opiates  

6.0 

Dec 2016 - 
Nov 2017 

with reps to 
May 2018 

6.0 6.2 6.6 5.2  

 
GREEN AMBER RED GREEN  

           

P
age 206



ALTOGETHER SAFER 

3. How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered if 

different 

97 
AHS 
33 

% of successful completions of those 
in drug treatment - non-opiates   

30.6 

Dec 2016 - 
Nov 2017 

with reps to 
May 2018 

26.4 28.7 36.7 27.4  

 
GREEN GREEN RED GREEN  

98 
AHS 
29 

% of anti-social behaviour incidents 
that are alcohol related   

18.5 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 17.7    
 

N/a RED    

99 
AHS 
34a 

% of secondary school pupils who 
drink alcohol (Most Weekends / 
Every weekend / Every Day) 

13.0 

2017 survey 
(snapshot 
Jan - Apr 

2017) 

Tracker 13.3    
 

N/a GREEN    

100 
AHS 
34b 

% of Secondary School pupils who 
have taken any illegal drugs, 
including cannabis or NPS (formerly 
known as legal highs) 

5.9 

2017 survey 
(snapshot 
Jan - Apr 

2017) 

Tracker New PI    
 

N/a N/a    

101 
AHS 
30 

% of violent crime that is alcohol 
related  

25.2 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 24.4    
 

N/a RED    

102 
AHS 
36 

Alcohol seizures 194 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 398    
 

N/a GREEN    

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 207



ALTOGETHER SAFER 

4. How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic abuse, child sexual exploitation and radicalisation? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered if 

different 

103 
AHS 
35 

Building resilience to terrorism (self-
assessment). Scored on level 1 (low) 
to 5 (high) 

3 2017/18 
Tracker 3    

 
N/a GREEN    

104 
CYPS

34 
Number of child sexual exploitation 
referrals 

169 
Jul 2017- 
Jun 2018 

Tracker 167    
 

N/a N/a    

 

ALTOGETHER SAFER 

5. How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and waterways? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered if 

different 

105 
RED 
44 

Number of people killed or seriously 
injured in road traffic accidents  

29 
Jan-Mar 

2018 

Tracker 41    
 

N/a GREEN    

  - Number of fatalities 0   4     

  - Number of seriously injured 29   37     

106 
RED 
45 

Number of children killed or seriously 
injured in road traffic accidents  

4 
Jan-Mar 

2018 

Tracker 3    
 

N/a RED    

  - Number of fatalities 0   0     

  - Number of seriously injured 4   3     

P
age 208



 

ALTOGETHER GREENER 

1. How clean and tidy is my local environment? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered if 

different 

107 NS14a 

% of relevant land and highways 
assessed (LEQSPRO survey) as 
having deposits of litter  that fall 
below an acceptable level  

4.33 
Apr-Jul 
2018 

Tracker 3.56    
 

N/a RED    

108 NS14b 

% of relevant land and highways 
assessed (LEQSPRO survey) as 
having deposits of detritus that fall 
below an acceptable level  

12.32 
Apr-Jul 
2018 

Tracker 12.12    

 
N/a AMBER    

109 NS14c 

% of relevant land and highways 
assessed as having deposits of dog 
fouling that fall below an acceptable 
level 

0.56 
Apr-Jul 
2018 

Tracker 0.96    

 
N/a GREEN    

 

ALTOGETHER GREENER 

2. Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered if 

different 

110 
RED 
46 

% reduction in CO₂ emissions in 
County Durham (by 40% by 2020 
and 55% by March 2031) 

49.9 2015 
Tracker 48    

 
N/a GREEN    

111 
RED 
48 

% change in CO₂ emissions from 
local authority operations 

-14 2016/17 
Tracker -6    

 
N/a GREEN    

P
age 209



 

ALTOGETHER GREENER 

3. How effective and sustainable is our collection and disposal of waste? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered if 

different 

112 NS10 
% of municipal waste diverted from 
landfill 

96.6 2017/18 
95 95.9    

 
GREEN GREEN    

112 NS19 
% of household waste that is re-
used, recycled or composted 

40.1 2017/18 
Tracker 34.7 43 35.3  

2015/16 
N/a GREEN RED GREEN  

114 NS15 Number of  fly-tipping incidents 7,941 
Jul 17- 
Jun 18 

Tracker 7,524    
 

N/a RED    

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 210



Altogether Better Council 

1. How well do we look after our people? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered if 

different 

115 
RES 
11 

% of performance appraisals 
completed in current post in rolling 
year period (excluding schools) 

83.21^ 2017/18 
92 87.89    

 
RED RED    

116 
RES 
12a 

Days / shifts lost to sickness 
absence (all services excluding 
schools) 

11.10 
Jul 2017– 
Jun 2018 

11.20 10.32    
 

RED GREEN    

117 
RES 

52 
% posts with no absence in rolling 
year (excluding schools) 

57.73 
Jul 2017– 

Jun 2018 

Tracker 54.77    
 

N/a GREEN    

118 
RES 

19a 
% of sickness absence which is 
short term 

13.95 
Apr–Jun 

2018 

Tracker 14.66    
 

N/a N/a     

119 
RES 
19b 

% of sickness absence which is 
medium term 

1 6.15 
Apr–Jun 

2018 

Tracker 15.04    
 

N/a N/a    

120 
RES 
19c 

% of sickness absence which is long 
term 

69.89 
Apr–Jun 

2018 

Tracker 70.3    
 

N/a N/a    

121 
RES 
53 

% of employees having five days or 
less sickness per 12 month rolling 
period 

78.57 
Jul 2017– 

Jun 2018 

Tracker 80.59    
 

N/a RED    

^data is unavailable due to the introduction of the new appraisal system 

P
age 211



Altogether Better Council 

2. Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for residents and customers? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered if 

different 

122 
RES 

2 
% of council tax collected in-year 28.79 

Apr–Jun 
2018 

29.05 29.03    
 

RED AMBER    

123 
RES 

3 
% of business rates collected in-year 34.42 

Apr–Jun 
2018 

33.70 33.67    
 

GREEN GREEN    

 

 

Altogether Better Council 

3. How good are our services to customers and the public? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered if 

different 

124 
ACE 

6 

% of Freedom of Information and 

Environmental Information 

Regulations requests responded to 

within 20 working days 

75 
Apr–Jun 

2018 

90 78    

 

RED RED    

125 
NS 

26 

Average time taken to answer a 

telephone call (seconds) 
56 

Jul 2017– 

Jun 2018 

Tracker 45    
 

N/a RED    

126 
NS 

20 
% of abandoned calls 5 

Jul 2017– 

Jun 2018 

Tracker 6    
 

N/a GREEN    

           

P
age 212



Altogether Better Council 

3. How good are our services to customers and the public? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered if 

different 

127 
NS 
43a 

Customer contacts: face to face 
150,252 

 
Jul 2017– 
Jun 2018 

Tracker 149,267    
 

N/a N/a    

128 
NS 
43b 

Customer contacts: telephone 971,918 
Jul 2017– 
Jun 2018 

Tracker 959,812    
 

N/a N/a    

129 
NS 
43c 

Customer contacts: web forms 107,801 
Jul 2017– 
Jun 2018 

Tracker 68,657 
    

N/a N/a 

130 
NS 
43d 

Customer contacts:  emails 50,622 
Jul 2017– 
Jun 2018 

Tracker 66,415 
    

N/a N/a 

131 
NS 
43e 

Customer contacts:  social media 3,836 
Jul 2017– 
Jun 2018 

Tracker 1,866    
 

N/a N/a    

2.  

 

 

P
age 213



Appendix 3: Changes to Performance Indicators 

 
Altogether wealthier 
 

Indicator Change 

18 to 24 year olds who are out of 

work and claiming either Universal 

Credit or Jobseekers Allowance 

(JSA) 

These indicators were deleted due to 

concerns about their reliability due to the 

roll-out of Universal Credit making them 

increasingly meaningless. This follows 

advice from the Office of National Statistics. 

The unemployment rate is used by regional 

and national media when reporting on the 

economy. The status of the ONS published 

claimant count figures will be kept under 

review as this dataset is developed.  

% of Jobseeker Allowance (JSA) 

claimants that have claimed for one 

year or more. 

Households accessing Housing 

Solutions Service 

New indicators introduced to capture our 

obligations under the Homelessness 

Reduction Act 2017 

 

Properties improved, adapted or 

brought back into use 

Households helped to stay in their 

home 

households helped to move to 

alternative accommodation 

Bridge Stock Condition – principal 

roads 
These indicators were reinstated as 

corporate indicators at the request of 

scrutiny members  
Bridge Stock Condition – non-

principal roads 

 

Altogether better for children and young people 

Indicator Change 

% of care leavers aged 19-21 in 

suitable accommodation 

This indicator has been deleted and 
replaced with the following two indicators: 

 % of care leavers aged 17-18 in suitable 
accommodation 

 % of care leavers aged 19-21 in suitable 
accommodation 

% of care leavers aged 19-21 in 

education, employment or training 

This indicator has been deleted and 
replaced with the following two indicators: 

 % of care leavers aged 17-18 in 
education, employment or training 

 % of care leavers aged 19-21 in 
education, employment or training 

Level 3 cases open to families first 

teams – rates her 10,000 population 

aged under 18 

This indicator has been deleted as Families 
First Team’s no longer carry level 3 cases 

Page 214



Appendix 4: Risk Management 

 
1. The strategic risks identified as potential barriers to successfully achieving our 

objectives are listed against each Altogether theme.  These risks have been 

identified using the following criteria: 

a) Net impact is critical, and the net likelihood is highly probable, probable or 

possible. 

b) Net impact is major, and the net likelihood is highly probable or probable. 

c) Net impact is moderate, and the net likelihood is highly probable. 

 

3. As at 31 May 2018, there were 23 risks on the corporate strategic risk register, the 

same number as at 31 December 2017. During this period, no risks were added and 

none were removed. The following matrix categorises the strategic risks according to 

their net risk evaluation as at 31 May 2018.  To highlight changes in each category 

during the last quarter, the number of risks as at 31 December 2017 is shown in 

brackets. 

Corporate Risk Heat Map 
 

Impact  

Critical 1  (1)  4  (4)  1  (1) 

Major  4  (4) 3  (3)   

Moderate     9  (10)  1  (0)  

Minor       

Insignificant       

 Likelihood Remote Unlikely Possible Probable 
Highly 

Probable 

 

Key risks  
 

4. At a corporate strategic level, key risks to the Council, with their respective net risk 

evaluations shown in brackets, are: 

a. If there was to be slippage in the delivery of the agreed MTFP savings projects, 

this will require further savings to be made from other areas, which may result in 

further service reductions and job losses (Critical / Possible); 

b. Ongoing Government funding cuts which now extend to at least 2019/20 will 

continue to have an increasing major impact on all Council services (Critical / 

Highly Probable); 

c. Failure to protect child from death or serious harm (where service failure is a 

factor or issue) (Critical / Possible); 

Page 215



d. A service failure of Adult Safeguarding leads to death or serious harm to a 
service user (Critical / Possible); 

e. Major Interruption to IT Service Delivery (Critical / Possible). 
 

5. The implementation of additional mitigation on a number of risks has enabled the 

Council to improve performance, decision-making and governance, and this is 

detailed in the relevant sections of the report. 

a. Altogether Wealthier: There are no key risks in delivering the objectives of this 

theme.  

b. Altogether Better for Children and Young People:  Failure to protect a child 

from death or serious harm (where service failure is a factor or issue). 

Management consider it possible that this risk could occur which, in addition to 

the severe impacts on children, will result in serious damage to the Council’s 

reputation and to relationships with its safeguarding partners. To mitigate the 

risk, actions are taken forward from Serious Case Reviews and reported to the 

Local Safeguarding Children Board. Lessons learned are fed into training for 

front line staff and regular staff supervision takes place. This risk is long term 

and procedures are reviewed regularly. 

c. Altogether Healthier: There are no key risks in delivering the objectives of this 

theme. 

d. Altogether Safer:  A service failure of Adult Safeguarding leads to death or 

serious harm to a service user.  Management consider it possible that this risk 

could occur which, in addition to the severe impacts on service users, will result 

in serious damage to the Council’s reputation and to relationships with its 

safeguarding partners. As the statutory body, the multi-agency Safeguarding 

Adults Board has a Business Plan in place for taking forward actions to 

safeguard vulnerable adults including a comprehensive training programme for 

staff and regular supervision takes place. This risk is long term and procedures 

are reviewed regularly. (Critical / Possible) 

e. Altogether Greener: There are no key risks in delivering the objectives of this 

theme. 

f. Altogether Better Council:   

i. If there was to be slippage in the delivery of the agreed Medium Term 

Financial Plan savings projects, this will require further savings to be 

made from other areas, which may result in further service reductions and 

job losses.  Management consider it possible that this risk could occur, 

which will result in a funding shortfall, damaged reputation and reduced 

levels of service delivery.  To mitigate the risk, a programme management 

Page 216



approach for key projects has been established and embedded across 

the Council. Monitoring by Corporate Management Team and Cabinet 

provides assurance over the implementation of the agreed MTFP savings 

projects. It should be recognised that this will be a significant risk for at 

least the next four years. (Critical / Possible) 

ii. Ongoing Government funding cuts which now extend to at least 2019/20 

will continue to have an increasing major impact on all Council services. 

Management consider it highly probable that this risk could occur, and to 

mitigate the risk, sound financial forecasting is in place based on thorough 

examination of the Government's red book plans. This will also be a 

significant risk for at least the next four years. (Critical / Highly Probable) 

iii. Major interruption to IT service delivery. Corporate Management Team 

has approved a project to provide improved ICT resilience for the 

Council’s main Data Centre. It is anticipated that the improvement works, 

which will significantly reduce the risks from electrical and mechanical 

failures, will be completed by March 2018. (Critical / Possible). 

Page 217



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Cabinet 
 
12 September 2018 
 
Transport Asset Management Plan - 
Annual Update 
 

 

 
 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Ian Thompson, Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local 
Services 

Councillor Brian Stephens, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for 
Neighbourhoods and Local Partnerships  

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1 To provide Cabinet with an annual update on the Transport Asset 

Management Plan (TAMP). 
 
Background 
 
2 The adopted highway network is the Council’s largest and highest value 

asset. Across the county it includes 3,792 kilometres of carriageway, 489 road 
bridges and 83,676 street columns.  It is used every day by nearly all County 
Durham residents and businesses together with many visitors.  The highway 
network is therefore fundamental to economic and social activity in County 
Durham. 
 

3 The asset is of course in a continual process of change.  Not only is the 
infrastructure ageing, bringing with it demands for maintenance and capital 
improvement, but the inventory also grows with new developments.  With 
finite resources, it is vital to ensure that investment is well directed to ensure a 
safe, serviceable and sustainable highway network.  This approach helps 
maximise the condition of the highway for the available budget. 

 

4 A TAMP is a key tool in delivering this.  It provides an opportunity to 
systematically understand the condition of the highway asset, and to establish 
policy and priorities regarding investment. It applies a whole life cost approach 
and considers the asset in the long term. 

 
5 The TAMP for Durham County Council has been developed to achieve the 

following best practice standards: 
 

 British Standard BS ISO 55001:2014 Asset Management.  The Council 
was the first Council in the UK to achieve this accreditation in 2015; and 

 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA) - Code 
of Practice on Transport Infrastructure Assets; and 

Page 219

Agenda Item 9



 Highways Maintenance Efficiency Programme (HMEP) - Highway 
Infrastructure Asset Management Guidance Document. 

 

6 Throughout the country there are more demands on highways than there are 
resources to maintain and improve them.  Indeed the Annual Local Authority 
Road Maintenance (ALARM) Survey 2018 estimates the backlog for England 
and Wales at £9.31 billion for carriageways and footways.  Having a TAMP 
does however put the Council in a good position for establishing a clear case 
for investment, particularly from the Department for Transport. 

 

Key Findings of the TAMP 
 

7 The TAMP is set out in full in Appendix 2 and 3.  It is divided into two separate 
sections; section one being the policy which set out the principles of TAMP 
and section two being an annual update report. 

 
Condition 
 
8 The condition of A, B and C principal roads have improved in recent years and 

are close to the national average.  This reflects that the Council has prioritised 
budgets at maintaining principal roads which have the highest usage. 
 

9 Structures are generally in ‘good to fair’ condition although the backlog has 
grown over the past year due to updated and more accurate condition 
surveys. 

 
10 The key issues are: 
 

 Unclassified roads: The condition is below the national average.  However, 
the condition is stable and there is an on-going programme of resurfacing 
works is in place; 

 Footways: A high proportion requires resurfacing.  However, there has 
been an improvement over the past 4 years and there is an on-going 
programme of resurfacing works is in place; and 

 Street lighting columns: A significant number of columns have reached the 
end of their service life.  There is an on-going column replacement 
programme in place. 

 
11 This data has been collected before the severe winter of 2017/18 which will 

have had a negative impact on carriageway and footway condition.  This 
impact will become clear once the cyclical condition data is collected later in 
2018. 

 
Maintenance Backlog 
 
12 The maintenance backlog is the value of maintenance required to bring the 

entire highway asset up to good condition.  Good condition represents where 
the maintenance backlog will be zero with no defects.  This is an ideal 
theoretical target which is not realistic in practice and therefore nearly every 
Highway Authority has a significant maintenance backlog. 

Page 220



 
13 The maintenance backlog as at 31 March 2017 is summarised as follows: 
 

Maintenance Backlog  
 

£Millions 
 

31 March 

 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

Carriageways 67.5 67.7 66.8 59.2 57.3 52.8 

Footways 48.1 48.4 47.0 47.7 47.5 44.8 

Street Lighting 24.8 25.6 23.3 23.5 22.1 19.2 

Structures 9.9 9.9 9.9 22.4 36.0 42.0 

Traffic Management 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.0 1.0 1.0 

Kerbing 18.1 18.2 20.2 18.4 18.5 18.5 

Drainage 5.4 5.4 5.8 5.6 5.6 5.6 

Road Markings 0.8 0.8 0.5 0.9 0.9 0.9 

Street Furniture 2.3 2.5 2.4 2.4 2.8 2.8 

Total 178.0 179.6 177.0 181.1 191.7 187.6 

 
14 As can be seen from the above, the maintenance backlog in relation to 

carriageways, footways and street lighting has reduced since 2012. 
 

15 The Council’s maintenance backlog is broadly in line with other Councils on 
average taking into account the size of the highway network. 

 
Investment Levels – Council and Department for Transport Funding 
 
16 Despite unprecedented reductions in government funding since 2010, the 

Council has protected and continued to prioritise investment in programmed 
capital maintenance. Indeed funding has steadily risen - the Council’s 
contribution to programmed capital maintenance in 2010/11 was £0.7 million, 
however, this has increased to £7.5 million in 2018/19. 

 
17 Following the severe winter of 2017/18 which has led to an increase in 

potholes the Council agreed to invest a further £0.7 million in resurfacing of 
unclassified roads. 

 
18 The DfT provides the majority of the funding for programmed capital 

maintenance.  In 2018/19 this is £11.9 million.  This funding is not ring-fenced 
but the Council has always allocated it fully to highway maintenance and 
every opportunity is taken to secure additional funding. 

 
19 The Council has achieved the maximum Band 3 efficiency rating under the 

DfT’s Incentive Fund which was introduced in 2016.  Durham was one of only 
two Highway Authorities to achieve this maximum efficiency rating out of 119 
participating Highway Authorities in England in 2016 and has maintained the 
maximum Band 3 efficiency rating in 2017.  This rating will help ensure the 
Council maximises funding from the DfT’s Incentive Fund going forward. 
 

20 The TAMP measures the current and projected condition of the highway asset 
for a given level of investment in programmed capital maintenance.  A range 

Page 221



of investment levels (condition or budget led) are provided to allow 
stakeholders to select the most appropriate investment level to meet their 
objectives. 

 
21 The key investment levels are summarised below: 
 

Investment Level – Programmed 
Capital Maintenance 

1 April 2016 Prices (£ millions) 

One Off 
Capital Cost 

Annual 
Average 

Capital Cost 

Annual Average 
Capital Cost (Once 

Backlog Cleared) 

Projected Budget N/A £17.8 N/A 

Steady State Condition N/A £21.6 N/A 

Eliminate highway maintenance 
backlog over 1 year then maintain at 
steady state condition 

£187.6 N/A £21.4 

Eliminate highway maintenance 
backlog over 30 years then maintain 
at steady state condition 

N/A £32.1 £21.4 

 
22 The Projected Budget is an indicative annualised figure of the expected 

budget and the actual budget may be greater or less depending upon DfT and 
Council funding.  The total budget for programmed capital maintenance in 
2016/17 was £19.3 million. 

 
23 The steady state condition investment level is where the budget is set to keep 

the current condition constant after allowing for annual average deterioration.  
The steady state condition investment level is calculated using nationally 
accredited lifecycle planning models which are based on current condition 
projected forward for average annual deterioration over a period of 30 years. 

 
24 In the short term the annual movements in the maintenance backlog are 

affected by inflation, annual variations in deterioration due to the severity of 
the weather, cycle for collecting condition data which is up to 6 years and the 
accuracy of the nationally accredited deterioration model when applied to 
County Durham.  Therefore, the annual movements in the maintenance 
backlog in paragraph 13 do not necessarily reconcile to the investment levels 
above. 
 

25 Current investment levels, including those over the last few years and those 
projected over the next few years are allowing the maintenance backlog to be 
broadly stable, and indeed condition improvements across several highway 
categories through a process of prioritisation.  This will however get more 
challenging in the longer term, as the asset ages further.  The financial 
climate at this time may be better or worse, but there will be a continued 
strong case for investment. 

 
Complementary Work to the TAMP 
 
26 The Council has led the development and implementation of the North East 

Highways Alliance which was formally established in September 2013.  This is 

Page 222



a forum for collaborative working for all 12 North East Councils.  The North 
East Highways Alliance has delivered a number of initiatives that are helping 
all Councils involved, including Durham, maximise efficiencies in highways 
through sharing resources, collaborative procurement and knowledge sharing. 

 
27 This partnership working together with on-going collaborative working of our 

in-house Highway Services team with our supply chain of competitively 
procured external sub-contractors has led to the Council being one of the first 
in the UK to be awarded British Standard BS11000 – Collaborative Business 
Relationships. This again will assist in maximising funding from the DfT. 

 
28 In addition to the TAMP, the Council has a Highway Maintenance Plan (HMP) 

which sets out the Council’s service levels for  inspections, reactive 
maintenance and routine maintenance in accordance with national codes of 
practice.  This includes the highway safety inspection regime which helps 
ensure that the adopted highway throughout the County is maintained in a 
safe condition as far as reasonably practicable. 

 
Summary 
 
29 Like most Highway Authorities, the Council has a highways maintenance 

backlog and faces considerable challenges to maintain the condition of the 
highway network.  However, the TAMP demonstrates that work is progressing 
well in helping to maximise the condition of the highway for the available 
budget. 

 
30 The Council has been steadily increasing its own investment and has also 

been proactive in attracting considerable funding from DfT.  This TAMP 
together with the top efficiency rating will ensure that it is well placed to 
maximise the much needed funding from the DfT going forward. 

 
Recommendations and Reasons 
 
31 It is recommended that Cabinet: 

 
i) Approves the annual update report; and 
ii) Notes the substantial investment in programmed capital maintenance and 

the ongoing work to maximise funding going forward. 
 
Background Papers 
 
 British Standard BS ISO 55001:2014 Asset Management 
 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA) - Code of 

Practice on Transport Infrastructure Assets 
 Highways Maintenance Efficiency Programme (HMEP) - Highway 

Infrastructure Asset Management Guidance Document 
 Transport Asset Management Plan – Annual Update, Cabinet Report dated 6 

April 2016 
 Transport Asset Management Plan – Annual Update, Cabinet Report dated 

20 June 2017 

Page 223



 
Appendices 
 
 Appendix 1: Implications 
 Appendix 2: Transport Asset Management Plan - Section 1 - Policy 
 Appendix 3: Transport Asset Management Plan - Section 2 - Annual Update 

Report 2017 
 
 
 
 
 

Contact:  John Reed                            Tel: 03000 267454  

 
 
  

Page 224



 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
 
Finance - 
The TAMP informs the capital bids for programmed capital maintenance.  The TAMP 
also provides the methodology for prioritising the programmed capital maintenance 
budget. 
 
Staffing - 
Highway maintenance is delivered by the Council’s in-house provider, Highway 
Services, who are supported by an extensive supply chain of competitively procured 
external sub-contractors. 
 
Risk - 
The investment level in programmed capital maintenance directly affects the 
condition of the highway asset, maintenance backlog, number of defects, number of 
public liability claims and public satisfaction. 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty - 
None. 
 
Accommodation - 
None. 
 
Crime and Disorder - 
Street lighting helps reduce the fear of crime. 
 
Human Rights - 
None. 
 
Consultation - 
None. 
 
Procurement - 
Highway maintenance is delivered by the Council’s in-house provider, Highway 
Services, who are supported by an extensive supply chain of competitively procured 
external sub-contractors. 
 
Disability Issues - 
Disability access is a key consideration for any highway scheme. 
 
Legal Implications - 
The Highways Act 1980 sets out the main duties of the Local Highway Authority in 
respect of highways maintenance.  In particular, Section 41 imposes a duty to 
maintain the adopted highway at public expense.  The Highways Act does not 
specify the level of maintenance although national Codes of Practice offer guidance 
in line with best practice. 
 

Page 225



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 
 

 
 

Transport Asset Management 
Plan  

(TAMP) 
 

Section 1 - Policy 
 

 
 

 

Date 19 July 2018 

Status Draft 

Prepared by John Reed, Head of Technical Services 

Approved by  

Page 227



 2 

 

Contents 

 

Foreword ........................................................................................................ 3 

1. Introduction ......................................................................................... 4 

2. British Standards BS ISO 55001 : Asset Management..................... 5 

3. Legal Responsibility and Duties ........................................................ 5 

3.1 Adopted Highway ................................................................................ 5 

3.2 Private Streets ..................................................................................... 5 

4. Objectives ............................................................................................ 5 

5. Condition Performance....................................................................... 6 

6. Investment Levels ............................................................................. 10 

7. Programmed Maintenance ............................................................... 10 

8. Lifecycle Assumptions ..................................................................... 12 

9. Feedback ............................................................................................ 13 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 228



 3 

Foreword  
 

By Councillor Brian Stephens, Portfolio Holder for Neighbourhoods and 
Local Partnerships. 
  

 

 
 
The highway network is the Council’s largest and most valuable tangible asset. 
It is used every day by nearly all County Durham residents and businesses 
together with many visitors. Therefore, the highway network is fundamental to 
all economic and social activity in County Durham.  
 
This Transport Asset Management Plan (TAMP) sets out the Council’s long 
term plan for managing the highway asset. The TAMP applies best practice 
asset management principles to ensure that the right maintenance treatment is 
selected at the right time to ensure a safe, serviceable and sustainable highway 
network. 
 
Our highways teams are committed to using this TAMP to manage our highway 
assets for the benefit of all users and I look forward to working closely with all 
stakeholders to take this plan forward. 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 229



 4 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The TAMP is  divided into two separate sections: 
 

 Section 1 - Policy (which sets out the principles of the TAMP); 
and 

 Section 2 - Annual Update Report. 
 
1.2 The Annual Update Report provides an update on the inventory, 

condition, maintenance backlog, public satisfaction, performance, 
valuation and options to achieve the specified investment levels. The 
Annual Update Report is scheduled to be produced in the summer 
each year. 

 
1.3 The TAMP measures the current and projected condition of the 

asset for a given level of investment in programmed capital 
maintenance.  It applies the ‘right maintenance treatment at the right 
time’ to minimise whole life costs subject to the available budget. 

 
1.4 The right treatment at the right time minimises whole life costs as it 

is less costly than letting the asset continue to deteriorate and 
undertaking a more extensive treatment at a later date. 

 
1.5 The TAMP aims to minimise whole life costs but this is not always 

possible as budget constraints may result in not all the right 
treatments being undertaken at the right time particularly where 
there is an existing maintenance backlog. In this case the budget is 
prioritised based on the following criteria: 

 
 Safety; 
 Return on investment; and 
 Network hierarchy. 

 
1.6 The main types of highway maintenance are as follows: 
 

Type of 
Maintenance
  

Funding Description 

Reactive Revenue Responding to inspections, complaints or 
emergencies 

Routine 
 

Revenue Regular consistent schedule, generally for 
patching, cleaning, grass cutting and 
landscape maintenance 

Programmed 
 

Capital Flexibly planned schemes primarily of 
resurfacing, reconditioning or reconstruction 

 
1.7 The Highway Maintenance Plan (HMP) sets out the Council’s 

inspection, condition survey, reactive maintenance and routine 
maintenance service levels and can be found at the following link: 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2378/Road-maintenance 

Page 230

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2378/Road-maintenance


 5 

  
1.8 This TAMP sets out the Council’s long term plan for managing the 

highway asset by applying programmed capital maintenance subject 
to available budgets to maintain the condition of the asset. The 
TAMP applies asset management principles to ensure that the right 
maintenance treatment is selected at the right time to ensure a safe, 
serviceable and sustainable highway network. 

 

2. British Standard BS ISO 55001: Asset Management (ISO 
55001) 

 
2.1 The Council has a comprehensive system of asset management in 

place and was the first Council in the UK to be awarded ISO 55001 
accreditation in December 2015. 

  
3. Legal Responsibility and Duties 

 
3.1 Adopted Highway 

 
3.1.1 The Highways Act 1980 sets out the main duties of the Local 

Highway Authority in respect of highways maintenance.  In 
particular, Section 41 imposes a duty to maintain the adopted 
highway at public expense. The Highways Act does not specify the 
level of maintenance although national Codes of Practice offer 
guidance in line with best practice.  

 

3.2 Private Streets 
 
3.2.1 Private streets are the responsibility of the land owner and they are 

responsible for very limited reactive maintenance. 
 
3.2.2 Private streets can be adopted by the Council but only if the street is 

made up by the land owners at their own cost to adoptable 
standards. 

 
3.2.3 If you would like to enquire about making up a private street please 

contact our Customer Services team whose contact details are 
provided at Section 9 of this document. 

 

4. Objectives  
 

4.1 The purpose of highway maintenance is to maintain the highway 
network for the safe and convenient movement of people and goods.  

 
4.2 The primary and secondary objectives are summarised as follows:  
 

Primary 
Objectives 

Secondary Objectives Performance Measure 

Safety Complying with statutory 
obligations 

Public liability claims 
repudiation rate 

Page 231



 6 

 Meeting user's needs for 
safety 

Completion of Highway 
Safety Inspections 

  Response to Category 1 and 
2 safety defects versus target 

Serviceability
           

Ensuring availability NHT Public Satisfaction 
Survey 

Achieving integrity Condition surveys 

Maintaining reliability NHT Public Satisfaction 
Survey 

Enhancing condition Programmed maintenance 

Sustainability
           
 
 
 

Minimising whole life costs Lifecycle plans 

Maximising value to the 
community 

Not quantifiable 

Minimising environmental 
impact 

Maintaining accreditation and 
compliance with ISO 14001 
Environmental Management 

 

4.3 The Annual Update report measures performance against the 
objectives above. 

 

5. Condition Performance 
 

5.1 The TAMP measures the current and projected condition of the 
asset for a given level of budgetary investment in programmed 
maintenance. The TAMP applies the right maintenance treatment at 
the right time to minimise whole life costs subject to the available 
budget. 

 
5.2 The right treatment at the right time minimises whole life costs as it 

is less costly than letting the asset continue to deteriorate and 
undertaking a more extensive treatment at a later date. Further if the 
asset is in poor condition then additional costs will be incurred in 
terms of reactive maintenance, routine maintenance and public 
liability claims. 

 
5.3 The diagram below shows the typical deterioration curve of a 

carriageway surface if no programmed maintenance is carried out 
compared to the right programmed maintenance treatment at the 
right time.  This intervention arrests the decline of the surface and 
extends the life and reduces the subsequent whole life cost. 

Page 232



 7 

 

 
5.4 The concept is illustrated further below for a 100m section of 

carriageway over 40 years: 
 

Right Treatment at 
Right Time 

Description 1 April 2016 Prices 

Total 
£ 

Net Present 
Value @ 

3.5% Real £ 
Reactive 
Maintenance – 
Potholing 

1% of area in year 7 
and 0.5 % in 
subsequent years @ 
£33.65 metre2 prior to 
resurfacing. Total 
potholed area is 8% 
over the 40 year period. 

2,477 1,268 

Routine maintenance-
Patching  

4% patching prior to 
surface dressing @ 
£25.57 metre2 

2,823 1,378 

Routine maintenance- 
surface dressing 

Surface dressing after 
10, 20 and 40 years @ 
£2.82 metre2 
 

7,783 3,798 

Programmed 
maintenance-
resurfacing 

Plane out and inlay at 
year 30 @ £15.68 metre2 
 

14,425 5,139 

Programmed 
maintenance-
reconstruction 

Not applicable N/A N/A 

Total - 27,508 11,583 

 
 

Notional Current 

Value of the Road 

5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 

Years 

Resurfacing 

Regular 

Maintenance 

No 

Maintenance 

Surface dressing 

STRUCTURAL MAINTENANCE 
DEPRECIATION CURVES 

Page 233



 8 

 

Reconstruction Description 1 April 2016 Prices 

Total 
£ 

Net Present 
Value @ 

3.5% Real £ 
Reactive Maintenance 
– Potholing 

Pot holing @ £33.65 
metre2 with increasing 
incremental area % 
over the 40 years.  
Total potholed area is 
20% over that 40 year 
period. 

6,192 2,440 

Routine 
maintenance-
Patching  

Not applicable N/A N/A 

Routine 
maintenance- 
surface dressing 

Not applicable N/A N/A 

Programmed 
maintenance-
resurfacing 

Not applicable  N/A N/A 

Programmed 
maintenance-
reconstruction 

Road is of new A road 
construction, 100 
metres long and 9.2 
metres width. 

 
Rate @ £139.81 per 
metre2  

128,625 32,487 

Total - 134,817 34,927 

 
5.5 The TAMP aims to minimise whole life costs but this is not always 

possible as budget constraints may result in not all the right 
treatments being undertaken at the right time particularly where 
there is an existing maintenance backlog. In this case the budget is 
prioritised based on the following criteria: 

 
 Safety; 
 Return on investment; and  
 Network hierarchy. 

 
5.6 The condition performance measures for each category of asset are 

summarised as follows: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 234



 9 

 

Asset Survey Frequency Performance 
Measure 

A – Roads Surface 
Condition 
Assessment for 
the National 
Network of 
Roads 
(SCANNER) 

100% surveyed 
in one direction 
only annually 

% where 
maintenance should 
be considered   
 
 

B – Roads 100% surveyed 
in one direction 
only annually 

C – Roads 100% surveyed 
in one direction 
only annually  

Unclassified 
Roads 

Coarse Visual 
Inspection (CVI) 

Minimum 25% 
annually 

% where 
maintenance should 
be considered 

Kerbing Not routinely 
surveyed 

N/A % where useful life 
has expired 

Drainage  Not routinely 
surveyed 

N/A % where useful life 
has expired 

Road Markings Not routinely 
surveyed 

N/A % where useful life 
has expired 

Footways  Footway 
Network Survey 
(FNS) 

Minimum 25% 
annually 

% functionally/ 
structurally impaired 

Structures Structures – 
General 
Inspections 

Every 2 years Bridge Condition 
Index – Principal 
roads 
 
Bridge Condition 
Index – Non-
Principal Roads  
 
 

Structures – 
Principal 
Inspections 

Every 6 years 

Structures – 
Special 
Inspections 

As required 

Underwater 
Inspections 

Every 2 years or 
following severe 
flood conditions 

Street Lighting Age analysis of 
inventory 

Annually % columns > 40 
years 

Age analysis of 
inventory 

Annually % lanterns > 20 
years 

Visual 
Inspection 

Annually % lit signs where 
useful life has 
expired 

Traffic 
Management 

Age analysis of 
inventory 

Annually % sites > 15 years 

Street Furniture Not routinely 
surveyed 

N/A % where useful life 
has expired 

 

Page 235



 10 

5.7 An example of an output from the SCANNER data is shown below 
detailing the carriageway condition: 

 

 
 

6. Investment Levels  
 
6.1 The TAMP measures the current and projected condition of the 

asset for a given level of investment in programmed maintenance. 
Investment levels can either be budget or condition led. We have 
determined the following investment levels: 

 

Investment Level Lead Factor 

Existing budget Budget led 

Projected budget Budget led 

Steady state condition Condition led 

Eliminate highway maintenance backlog over 1 year 
then maintain at steady state condition 

Condition led 

Eliminate highway maintenance backlog over 30 years 
then maintain at steady state condition 

Condition led 

 
6.2 Other service levels can be modelled as required such as increases 

or decreases to the existing budget.  
 

7. Programmed Capital Maintenance 
 
7.1 Programmed capital maintenance involves planned schemes of 

resurfacing, reconditioning or reconstruction. 
 

Page 236



 11 

7.2 A 3 year rolling programme of schemes is retained for planning 
purposes and to co-ordinate schemes with statutory undertakers. 

 
7.3 The annual programme is determined in December for the next 

financial year starting 1st April based on the 3 year rolling programme 
and the available budget. The annual programme includes a list of 
reserve schemes should any extra budget become available or to 
replace proposed schemes should they be cancelled or deferred for 
any reason. 

 
7.4 Examples of programmed capital maintenance schemes include: 
 

Highway Asset Treatment Type Description 

Carriageways 
and Footways 

Reconstruction Fully restores the condition of the 
highway that is showing serious 
signs of structural failure 

Partial 
Reconstruction 

To halt the deterioration of a 
carriageway that is showing signs of 
structural failure 

Resurfacing Halts the deterioration of highways 
that are starting to show the signs of 
structural failure before they get to 
the stage requiring reconstruction 

Surface 
Treatment 

Halts the deterioration of highways 
showing the signs of surface failure 
only 

Flag 
Replacement 

Replacement of flagged footway 
surfaces, usually with a bituminous 
surface, where the flags are showing 
signs of displacement 

Kerbing Replacement Where the asset is life expired 

Drainage Replacement Where the asset is life expired 

Road Markings Replacement Where the asset is life expired 

Structures Repainting, Re-
waterproofing 
and Resurfacing 

Restore the condition 

Replacement Where the asset is life expired 

Stabilisation Works to stabilise areas of 
embankments or cuttings that have 
been identified as potentially failing 
in order to prevent a full failure 
resulting in the need for large scale 
reactive works 

Street Lighting Replacement Where the asset is life expired 

Traffic 
Management 

Replacement Where the asset is life expired 

Street Furniture Replacement Where the asset is life expired 
 

Page 237



 12 

8. Lifecycle Assumptions 
 
8.1 Lifecycle assumptions are required to plan when programmed 

maintenance will take place subject to available budgets. 
 

Asset Useful Economic 
Life - Years 

Potential to Extend Useful 
Economic Life 

Carriageway   

Sub strata (below 
100mm) 

Infinite Maintain top 100mm 

Hot rolled asphalt 20 Potential to surface dress 
(maximum two treatments) 

Close graded 
Macadam 

15 Potential to surface dress 
(maximum two treatments) 

Surface dressing 10 Potential to surface dress 
(one treatment only) 

Micro-asphalt 10 None, replacement only 

High friction coatings 6 None, replacement only 

Kerbing                  40 None, replacement only 

Drainage   

Gullies 40 None, replacement only 

Ditches 40 Routine cleaning of ditch 

Pipework 40 None, replacement only 

Road markings   

Lines 7 None, replacement only 

Other items 7 None, replacement only 

Footway   

Bitumen 20 Footway Surface Treatment:- 
typically 15 years 

Flagged 30 Prevention of vehicle over 
run/change to bitumen based 
surface 

Concrete 40 Potential Footway Surface 
Treatment 

Block paved 20 Prevention of vehicle over 
run/change to bitumen based 
surface 

Structures   

Bridges - civils 120 None, replacement only 

Bridges - pointing 50  

Bridges - bearings 30  

Bridges - 
waterproofing 

20 

Bridges - paint 20  

Bridges - joints 20  

Retaining walls 40  

Culverts 40  

Subways                  40  

Other                  40  

Page 238



 13 

Street lighting 40  

Columns 40 Structural testing of columns 
to extend life where safe to 
do so 

Luminaires 20 None, replacement only 

Lit signs 40 None, replacement only 

Traffic 
Management 

  

Traffic lights 15 If physical asset is damaged 
replacement only.  If 
electronic, probable up-grade 
of controllers. 

Pedestrian crossings 15 

Street Furniture   

Safety fencing 25 None, replacement only 

Bollards 40 None, replacement only 

Salt/grit bins 20 None, replacement only 

Waste bins 20 None, replacement only 

Unlit signs 40 None, replacement only 

PROW/ bridleway 
signs 

40 None, replacement only 

Trees N/A N/A 

Land   

Urban Infinite N/A 

Rural Infinite N/A 

 

9. Feedback 
 
9.1 The Council welcomes feedback on any aspect of this TAMP. If you 

would like to provide feedback please provide via Customer Services 
using the following contact details: 

 
 Website: www.durham.gov.uk  
 Email:  help@durham.gov.uk 
 Telephone number: 03000 260000 

 

Page 239

mailto:help@durham.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

Appendix 3 
 

 
 

Transport Asset Management 
Plan  

(TAMP) 
 

Section 2 – 
Annual Update Report 2017 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Date 19 July 2018 

Status Draft 

Prepared by John Reed, Head of Technical Services 

Approved by  

Page 241



 2 

Contents 

1. Introduction ......................................................................................... 3 

2. Inventory .............................................................................................. 3 

3. Condition ............................................................................................. 5 

3.4 Department for Transport Statistics .................................................. 7 

3.5 Conclusions ......................................................................................... 7 

4. Maintenance Backlog.......................................................................... 7 

5. Public Satisfaction ............................................................................ 10 

6. Customer Feedback .......................................................................... 11 

7. Performance ...................................................................................... 12 

8. Valuation ............................................................................................ 13 

9. Budgets .............................................................................................. 15 

10. Investment Levels ............................................................................. 17 

11. Feedback ............................................................................................ 18 

Appendix 1 - Inventory Summary ............................................................... 19 

Appendix 2 - Projected Condition and Maintenance Backlog.................. 20 

Appendix 3 - Condition Benchmarking ...................................................... 22 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 242



 3 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The Transport Asset Management Plan (TAMP) is  divided into two 

sections: 
 

 Section 1 - Policy; and 
 Section 2 - Annual Update Report. 
 

1.2 This Annual Update Report provides an update to stakeholders on: 
 

 Inventory; 
 Condition; 
 Maintenance backlog; 
 Public satisfaction; 
 Performance; 
 Valuation; 
 Budgets; and  
 Investment levels. 

 
2. Inventory 
 
2.1 The inventory is a database containing details of the individual 

assets that make up the highway network.  
 
2.2 It is vital to know what assets exist and where so they can be 

inspected, surveyed and maintained to appropriate service levels. 
 

2.3 The inventory at 31 March 2017 is summarised in the table below: 
 

Asset Unit Adopted DCC 
Unadopted 

Private 
Unadopted 

Total RAG 
Rating 

Carriageway  

A Km 415 0 0 415 G 

B Km 406 0 0 406 G 

C Km 696 0 0 696 G 

Unclassified Km 2,279 18 117 2,414 G 

Sub-Total  3,796 18 117 3,931  

Kerbing Km 4,611 23 153 4,787 R 

Drainage 

Gullies Number 110,606 1,371 3,864 115,841 R 

Ditches Km 262 16 44 322 R 

Pipework Km 377 4 12 393 R 

Road markings 

Lines Km 2,253 8 23 2,284 R 

Other items Number 22,360 179 503 23,042 R 

Footway 

Bitumen Km 3,272 81 93 3,446 G 

Flagged Km 320 8 21 349 G 

Concrete Km 106 3 20 129 G 

Block paved Km 18 1 2 21 G 

Other Km 3 10 5 18 G 

Page 243



 4 

Sub-Total  3,719 103 141 3,963  

Structures 

Road 
bridges 

Number 
489 0 0 489 G 

Footbridges Number 51 453 0 504 G 

Retaining 
walls 

Number 251 13 0 264 A 

Culverts Number 64 0 0 64 G 

Subways Number 34 0 0 34 G 

Other Number 112 6 0 118 G 

Sub-total  1001 472 0 1,473  

Street lighting 

Columns/ 
Lanterns 

Number 83,676 0 0 83,676 G 

Lit Signs Number 5,737 0 0 5,737 G 

Sub-total  89,413 0 0 89,413  

Traffic Management 

Traffic lights Number 69 0 0 69 G 

Pedestrian 
crossings 

Number 73 0 0 73 G 

Sub-Total  142 0 0 142  

Street Furniture 

Safety 
fencing 

Km 
53 0 0 53 A 

Bollards Number 12,459 0 0 12,459 R 

Salt/grit bins Number 2,381 0 0 2,381 A 

Waste bins Number 7,076 0 0 7,076 R 

Unlit signs Number 63,214 808 2,277 66,299 R 

PROW/ 
bridleway 
signs 

Number 4,306 0 0 4,306 R 

Trees Number 5,000 0 0 5,000 R 

Land 

Urban M² 19,436,615 388,476 608,600 20,433,691 G 

Rural M² 11,415,741 226,202 354,375 11,996,318 G 

Sub-Total M² 30,852,356 614,678 962,975 32,430,009 - 

 
2.4 The RAG (Red, Amber, Green) Rating denotes the accuracy of the 

inventory where: 
 

Inventory RAG Rating Description 

R (Red) Low accuracy 

A (Amber) Moderate accuracy 

G (Green) High accuracy 

  
2.5 There are gaps in the inventory and condition data relating to some 

minor assets.  These gaps will continue to be addressed through 
further surveys as far as it is proportionate and economic to do so.  
 

Page 244



 5 

2.6 The inventory grows each year due to new developments. A 
summary showing the growth in the inventory is shown in Appendix 
1. 

 
2.7 The growth in the inventory puts pressure on maintenance budgets 

as they have to cover more assets each year. 
 
3. Condition  

 
3.1 Condition is summarised as follows in accordance with the policy:  
 

Asset Description 

                          Performance 

2014 2015 2016 2017 
Good 

Condition 
Target 

Fair 
Condition 

Target 

Carriageway     

A – Roads % where 
maintenance 
should be 
considered   

4.6% 4.9% 4.1% 2.6% 0.0% 4.0% 

B – Roads 8.0% 7.5% 5.3% 4.7% 0.0% 4.0% 

C – Roads 8.1% 5.0% 3.6% 3.7% 0.0% 4.0% 

Unclassified 
Roads 

% where 
maintenance 
should be 
considered   

22.0% 19.0% 20.0% 20.0% 0.0% 8.0% 

All Roads % where 
maintenance 
should be 
considered   

16.0% 13.6% 13.7% 13.5% 0.0% 6.4% 

Kerbing % where 
replacement 
should be 
considered 

10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 0.0% 5.0% 

Drainage % where 
replacement 
should be 
considered 

10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 0.0% 5.0% 

Road 
Markings 

% where 
replacement 
should be 
considered 

50.0% 55.0% 55.0% 55.0% 0.0% 10.0% 

Footways % 
structurally 
unsound 

27.1% 26.4% 24.1% 22.8% 0.0% 5.0% 

Structures Bridge 
Condition 
Index – 
Principal 
roads 

94.0 88.3 83.8 80.0 100.0 95.0 

Page 245



 6 

Bridge 
Condition 
Index – Non-
Principal 
Roads  

88.0 86.4 83.7 81.0 100.0 95.0 

Other (using 
form of 
Bridge 
Condition 
Index)  

66.0 66.0 66.0 66.0 100.0 85.0 

Street 
Lighting 

% columns > 
40 years 

17.5% 17.7% 14.9% 15.3% 0.0% 5.0% 

% lanterns > 
20 years 

50.2% 45.9% 25.8% 18.3% 0.0% 5.0% 

% lit signs 
where 
replacement 
should be 
considered 

19.3% 20.0% 17.9% 17.1% 0.0% 5.0% 

Traffic 
Management 

No. sites > 
15 years 

23 22 19 19 0 10 

Street 
Furniture 

 
  

 

Safety fencing % where 
replacement 
should be 
considered 

6.0% 6.0% 6.0% 6.0% 0.0% 5.0% 

Bollards % where 
replacement 
should be 
considered 

10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 0.0% 5.0% 

Salt/grit bins % where 
replacement 
should be 
considered 

8.0% 8.0% 8.0% 8.0% 0.0% 5.0% 

Unlit Signs     

Road signs % where 
replacement 
should be 
considered 

10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 0.0% 5.0% 

Street Name 
Plates 

% where 
replacement 
should be 
considered 

15.0% 15.0% 15.0% 15.0% 0.0% 5.0% 

PROW signs % where 
replacement 
should be 
considered 

3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 0.0% 5.0% 

 

Page 246



 7 

3.2 The good condition target represents where the maintenance 
backlog will be zero with no defects.  This is an ideal theoretical 
target which is not realistic in practice. 

 
3.3 The fair condition target represents a realistic target of acceptable 

condition subject to available funding. 
 
3.4 Department for Transport Statistics 
 
3.4.1 The condition of local roads is reported to and monitored nationally 

by the Department for Transport. The latest results published on 18 
January 2018 for 2016/17 can be found at the following link:  

 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/road-conditions-in-
england-2017 

 
3.4.2 The results allow comparisons to be made between local Authorities 

across England and are summarised in Appendix 3 – Condition 
Benchmarking. 
 

3.4.3 The key findings are that: 
 

 DCC A Roads are slightly better than the national average 
condition (Rank 47/150); 

 DCC B and C Roads are better than the national average (Rank 
26/148); and 

 DCC Unclassified Roads are worse than the national average 
(Rank 91/129). 

 
3.5 Conclusions 

 
3.5.1 The condition of the A, B, and C roads is good overall.  
 
3.5.2 The condition of unclassified roads remains constant, but the high 

percentage requiring treatment remains a key issue. 
 
3.5.3 The condition of footways is showing a gradual improvement but still 

remains a key issue.  
 

4. Maintenance Backlog  
 
4.1 The maintenance backlog is the value of programmed capital 

maintenance required to bring the highway asset up to good 
condition. 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 247

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/road-conditions-in-england-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/road-conditions-in-england-2017


 8 

4.2 The method of calculation is as follows: 
 

Asset Description 

Carriageway  The nationally accredited UK Pavement Management System 
(UKPMS) software system identifies the appropriate treatment 
for each 100m section of carriageway/footway. 
 
UKPMS selects A, B and C classified carriageway surveyed by 
SCANNER in a Red condition for treatment but also some 
sections in an Amber and Green condition where it is justified on 
asset management principles. 
 
Unclassified roads are surveyed by Coarse Visual Inspection 
(CVI) and processed in a similar manner to that of Scanner via 
the UKPMS system. 

Footway A Footway Network Survey (FNS) has been adopted whereby 
the condition of the surface is assessed into four conditions, 1 
being ‘as new’, and 4 being ‘structurally unsound’. This data can 
be put into UKPMS to identify the appropriate treatment and 
calculate required financial data. 

Kerbing The maintenance backlog is the % requiring replacement 
multiplied by the inventory and the unit rate. 

Drainage The maintenance backlog is the % requiring replacement 
multiplied by the inventory and the unit rate. 

Road Markings The maintenance backlog is the % requiring replacement 
multiplied by the inventory and the unit rate. 

Structures The backlog is calculated by completing a manual analysis of 
the Bridge Condition Indicator (BCI) and the routine inspection 
data, assessing each individual components needs and applying 
a unit rate to each.  The cost of any overdue inspections, the 
renewal of individual components in excess of their useful life 
and upgrading of any underperforming structures is included. 

Street Lighting Number of columns > 40 years 
Number of luminaries > 20 years 
Lit signs - maintenance backlog is the percentage requiring 
replacement multiplied by the inventory and the unit rate. 

Traffic Management Number of sites > 15 years 

Street Furniture  

Safety Fencing  

Bollards  

Salt/grit bins The maintenance backlog is the % requiring replacement  

Unlit signs multiplied by the inventory and the unit rate. 

Road signs  

Street Name 
Plates 

 

PROW signs  

 
 

Page 248



 9 

4.3 The maintenance backlog as at 31 March 2017 is summarised as 
follows: 

 

 Units 
Adopted Unadopted Total 

Amount £M Amount £M Amount £M 
Carriageways 

Strengthen Km 95.2 9.1 50.8 24.4 146.0 33.5 

Resurface Km 250.3 22.0 15.4 1.4 265.7 23.4 

Surface 
Improvement 

Km 
638.1 18.5 19.3 0.4 657.4 18.9 

Edge 
Improvement 

Km 
35.9 3.2 0.0 0.0 35.9 3.2 

Sub-Total  1,019.5 52.8 85.5 26.2 1,105.0 79.0 

Kerbing Km 460.5 18.5 20.7 0.7 481.2 19.2 

Drainage Number 11,046.0 5.6 524.0 0.2 11,570.0 5.8 

Road Markings Km 1,237.5 0.9 50.0 0.1 1,287.5 1.0 

Footways 

Reconstruction Km 323.4 17.4 11.3 2.5 334.7 19.9 

Overlay/Relay/ 
Flagging 

Km 
348.8 5.6 26.5 0.5 375.3 6.1 

Repair/Relay Km 535.0 19.0 26.5 0.5 561.5 19.5 

Surface 
improvement 

Km 
452.3 2.8 110.5 0.5 562.8 3.3 

Sub-Total  1,659.5 44.8 174.8 4.0 1,834.3 48.8 

Structures Number 969.0 42.0 479.0 9.7 1,448.0 51.7 

Street Lighting 

Column 
replacements 

Number 
10,310.0 12.7 0 0 10,310.0 12.7 

Luminaire 
replacements 

Number 
15,373.0 5.3 0 0 15,373.0 5.3 

Lit signs Number 934.0 1.2 0 0 934.0 1.2 

Sub-Total  26,617.0 19.2 0 0 26,617.0 19.2 

Traffic Management 

Replacements Number 19.0 1.0 0.0 0.0 19.0 1.0 

Street Furniture 

Safety fencing Km 4.2 
2.8 

0 
0.1 

4.2 
2.9 Seats, litter bins 

etc. 
Number 10,707.0 430.0 11,137.0 

Total - - 187.6 - 41.0 - 228.6 

 
4.4 The maintenance backlog for the adopted highway over the past 5 

years is summarised as follows: 
 

Maintenance Backlog   31 March £Millions  

 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

Carriageways    

Strengthen 19.9 19.6 16.0 13.0 9.1 

Resurface 36.9 36.4 31.6 27.5 22.0 

Page 249



 10 

Surface Improvement 7.9 7.8 8.8 13.0 18.5 

Edge Improvement 3.0 3.0 2.8 3.8 3.2 

Sub-Total 67.7 66.8 59.2 57.3 52.8 

Kerbing 18.2 20.2 18.4 18.5 18.5 

Drainage 5.4 5.8 5.6 5.6 5.6 

Road Markings 0.8 0.5 0.9 0.9 0.9 

Footways   

Reconstruction 25.6 24.9 25.9 21.7 17.4 

Overlay/Relay/Flagging 7.2 7.0 6.4 6.2 5.6 

Repair/Relay 11.5 11.1 11.8 17.0 19.0 

Surface improvement 4.1 4.0 3.6 2.6 2.8 

Sub-Total 48.4 47.0 47.7 47.5 44.8 

Structures 9.9 9.9 22.4 36.0 42.0 

Street Lighting    

Column replacements 11.7 11.0 14.7 12.5 12.7 

Luminaire replacements 12.1 10.9 7.5 8.3 5.3 

Lit sign replacements 1.8 1.4 1.3 1.3 1.2 

Sub-Total 25.6 23.3 23.5 22.1 19.2 

Traffic Management 1.1 1.1 1.0 1.0 1.0 

Street Furniture 2.5 2.4 2.4 2.8 2.8 

Total 179.6 177.0 181.1 191.7 187.6 

 
4.5 Maintenance backlog has decreased, mainly due to the investment 

made in Carriageways and Footways.  
 

4.6 Nearly every Local Highway Authority has a highway maintenance 
backlog apart from those that have received extra funding from the 
Government to undertake Highway Maintenance PFI Projects to 
clear their maintenance backlogs. 

 
4.7 The maintenance backlog should be considered in the context of the 

overall value of the highway asset.  
 

4.8 Durham County Council’s backlog is broadly in line with other 
Councils based on the Annual Local Authority Road Maintenance 
(ALARM) Survey 2018 which estimates the backlog for England at 
£9.31 billion for carriageways and footways. The ALARM Survey can 
be found at the following link: 

 
http://www.asphaltuk.org/alarm-survey-page/ 
 

5. Public Satisfaction  
 
5.1 The Council participates in the National Highways & Transportation 

(NHT) Public Satisfaction Survey which is undertaken by 
IPSOS/MORI.The details of the survey can be found at the following 
link:  

 

Page 250

http://www.asphaltuk.org/alarm-survey-page/


 11 

http://nhtsurvey.econtrack.com/ 
 

5.2 The results are summarised as follows: 
 

Key Benchmark Indicator 
(KBI) 

      % Public Satisfied (Year) 

2009 2010 2011 2012 2014 2016 

Overall 

KBI 01 - Overall (local) 

Durham County Council 57.9 55.9 54.6 58.4 57.0 58.0 

North East 58.7 57.8 55.5 57.9 57.5 57.0 

National Average 56.2 56.2 55.4 55.9 55.3 55.0 

KBI 02 - Overall (national) 

Durham County Council 57.8 55.8 54.4 58.3 57.0 58.0 

North East 58.6 57.7 55.4 57.8 57.4 57.0 

National Average 56.2 56.2 55.4 55.9 55.3 55.0 

Highway Maintenance 

KBI 23 - Condition of highways 

Durham County Council 45.1 37.5 33.8 37.7 38.2 45.0 

North East 46.6 40.3 32.6 38.4 37.5 41.0 

National Average 42.8 38.6 34.7 36.6 34.4 38.0 

KBI 24 - Highway maintenance 

Durham County Council 55.1 48.3 46.2 47.8 49.4 55.0 

North East 54.8 50.7 47.0 49.1 49.4 53.0 

National Average 52.1 50.2 49.3 49.0 49.4 53.0 

KBI 25 - Street lighting 

Durham County Council 72.8 70.6 70.6 72.9 69.7 65.0 

North East 72.9 72.6 70.8 71.1 70.3 68.0 

National Average 68.1 68.8 68.2 67.4 66.9 66.0 

KBI 26 - Highway enforcement/obstructions 

Durham County Council 51.9 47.9 49.3 49.8 47.7 50.0 

North East 52.2 51.0 50.3 51.0 48.5 50.0 

National Average 50.6 50.5 52.2 50.4 48.2 49.0 

 
5.3 The Council did not participate in 2008, 2013, 2015 or 2017. The 

Council agreed in 2012 to participate on a bi-annual basis. 
 

5.4 The results above show that there is low satisfaction with the 
condition of the highway nationally and across the North East. 
However, the results for 2016 for five of the six indicators for 2016 
compared to 2014 show a positive direction of travel. 

 
6. Customer Feedback 

 
6.1 The customer feedback in terms of service requests, complaints, 

compliments and suggestions received is summarised as follows: 
 

Customer Feedback 
Year Ending 31 March 2017 

Number Responded 
within Target % 

Page 251

http://nhtsurvey.econtrack.com/


 12 

Service Requests Category 1 Safety Defects 7,676 90% 

 Category 2.1 Safety Defects 22,503 95% 

 Category 2.2 Safety Defects 11,883 92% 

 Category 2.3 Safety Defects 10,796 80% 

 Structures 142 N/A 

 Street Lighting 12,540 83% 

 Winter Maintenance 1,068 100% 

 Flooding 701 100% 

 Gully Cleansing 100,655 91% 

 Traffic 1,232 100% 

 Network Management 422 N/A 

Complaints -  Number investigated 209 81% 

Service Review Fully upheld 34 

 Partially upheld 81 

 Not upheld 94 

Complaints - Number investigated 8 54% 

Independent Fully upheld 0 

Investigation Partially upheld 1 

 Not upheld 7 

Compliments and Compliments 69 N/A 

Suggestions Suggestions 27 N/A 

 
6.2 The above is also monitored through the Council’s quarterly 

performance reports which are available on our website at the 
following link: 
 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2427/Quarterly-reports 
   

6.3 Service requests are responded to in accordance with the service 
levels set out in our Highway Maintenance Plan and Winter 
Maintenance Plan. 

 
6.4 Complaints are considered in line with the Council’s Complaints 

Policy. 
 

6.5 The Council also participates in the National Highways and 
Transportation Public Satisfaction Survey as detailed in Section 5. 

 
6.6 Highway officers provide regular updates to Councillors and Area 

Action Partnerships who also provide feedback. All this customer 
feedback helps inform the Transport Asset Management Plan 
including investment levels and priorities. 

 
7. Performance 
 
7.1 The performance against the objectives set out in TAMP Section 1 - 

Policy is as follows: 
 
 

Page 252

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2427/Quarterly-reports


 13 

Primary Secondary Performance  Year Ending 31 March 

Objectives Objectives Measure 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

Safety Complying 
with 
statutory 
obligations 

Public liability 
claims 
repudiation 
rate 

96% 95% 94% 93% 92% 

Meeting 
user's 
needs for 

Completion of 
Highway 
Safety 
Inspections 

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

safety Response to 
Category 1 
and 2 safety 
defects  

Not 
available 

Cat1 75% 
Cat2 78% 

Cat1 95% 
Cat2 83% 

Cat1 92% 
Cat2 78%  

Cat1 92% 
Cat2 83% 

  (Target 95%)      

Serviceability
           

Ensuring 
availability 

Effective 
Streetworks 

<1% <1% < 1% <1% <1% 

  Licensing      
  system to      
  minimise      
  number of      
  unplanned 

utility overruns 
     

 Achieving 
integrity 

Condition 
surveys 

 See Table 3.1 
 

 Maintaining 
reliability 

NHT Public 
Satisfaction 
Survey 

 See Table 5.2 

  

 Enhancing 
condition 

Programmed 
maintenance 

 See Table 9.4 

Sustainability
           
 
 
 

Minimising 
whole life 
costs 

Lifecycle plans  See Appendix 2 

 
Maximising 
value to the 
community 

Not 
quantifiable 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 

Minimising 
environmen
-tal impact 

Maintaining 
accreditation 
and 
compliance 
with ISO 
14001 
Environmental 
Management 

Achieved Achieved Achieved Achieved Achieved 

 
8. Valuation 
 

8.1 The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom requires that the adopted highway is included in the 
Council’s Financial Statements as a fixed asset in the balance sheet. 
This is part of the Government’s Whole of Government Accounts 

Page 253



 14 

(WGA) initiative to align with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). 

 
8.2 The benefit of including the adopted highway as an asset in the 

financial statements is that it informs stakeholders of the true cost of 
holding and maintaining the asset which in turn supports good asset 
management.  

 
8.3 The asset is included within the financial statements at depreciated 

Replacement Cost (DRC). Depreciated replacement cost is a 
method of valuation that provides the current cost of replacing an 
asset with its modern equivalent asset (gross replacement cost), 
less deductions for all physical deterioration and impairment 
(accumulated depreciation).  
 

8.4 The difference between the gross and depreciated cost is the cost 
of restoring the asset from its present condition to ‘as new’.  

 
8.5 The condition of assets with a finite economic life will deteriorate 

each year due to the wearing out and using up of the asset. The 
deterioration of assets such as carriageways and footways may be 
accelerated where episodes of severe weather are greater than 
average.    
 

8.6 Annual depreciation is calculated by identifying all the capital 
treatments needed to maintain assets or key components over their 
life cycles and then spreading the total cost evenly over the number 
of years in the life cycle. Calculated in this way, annual depreciation 
not only represents the annual consumption of economic benefits 
embodied in the asset but also provides a measure of what on 
average needs to be spent year on year on programmed 
maintenance to maintain the assets in a steady state. 
 

8.7 The valuation as at 31 March 2017 is as follows: 
 

Asset – Adopted 
Highway 

£ Millions 

C
a

rr
ia

g
e
w

a
y
 

F
o

o
tw

a
y
 

S
tr

e
e

t 

L
ig

h
ti

n
g

 

S
tr

u
c

tu
re

s
 

T
ra

ff
ic

 

M
a

n
a

g
e
m

e
n

t 

S
tr

e
e

t 

F
u

rn
it

u
re

 

L
a
n

d
 

T
o

ta
l 

Gross Replacement Cost 

B/F 1 April 2016 3,917.7 480.6 146.2 383.8 2.3 41.4 2,690.8 7,662.8 

Additions  

- Adoptions 3.1 1.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 4.8 

- Programmed 
Maintenance  

10.2 2.6 2.6 1.9 0.3 0.6 0.0 18.2 

- Improvements 0.0 0.0 5.7 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.0 6.0 

Revaluation 
Adjustment 

-55.4 -6.8 -8.1 42.6 -0.6 -0.5 58.7 29.9 

Page 254



 15 

Disposals -1.1 -15.5 -0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 -0.2 -17.0 

C/F 31 March 2017 3,874.5 462.4 146.2 428.3 2.3 41.6 2,749.4 7,704.7 

Accumulated Depreciation 

B/F 1 April 2016 142.1 68.1 80.4 8.5 1.0 23.3 0.0 323.4 

Revaluation 
Adjustment 

-13.7 -18.5 -1.7 182.9 0.0 0.1 0.0 149.1 

Annual 
Depreciation 
Charge 

15.0 5.4 4.8 0.0 0.1 1.5 0.0 26.8 

Disposals -1.1 -15.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -16.6 

C/F 31 March 2017 142.3 39.5 83.5 191.4 1.1 24.9 0.0 482.7 

Depreciated Replacement Cost 

B/F 1 April 2016  3,775.6 412.5 65.1 357.2 1.1 18.1 2,690.8 7,320.4 

Additions 13.3 4.1 8.3 1.9 0.6 0.7 0.1 29.0 

Revaluation 
Adjustment 

-41.7 11.7 -5.7 -122.2 -0.4 -0.6 58.7 -100.2 

Annual 
Depreciation 
Charge 

-15.0 -5.4 -4.8 0.0 -0.1 -1.5 0.0 -26.8 

Disposals 0.0 0.0 -0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 -0.2 -0.4 

C/F 31 March 2017 3,732.2 422.9 62.7 236.9 1.2 16.7 2,749.4 7,222.0 

 
9. Budgets 
 
9.1 The budget for programmed capital maintenance is summarised as 

follows: 
 

Funding 
Stream 

   Year Ending 31 March £’000s 

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020* 

Department for Transport Funding 

Local 
Transport 
Plan 

11,212 10,679 10,132 9,780 11,886 10,896 10,567 9,564 9,564 

Detrunked 
Highway 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Incentive 
Fund 

0 0 0 0 0 666 1,016 2,008 1,992 

Section 31 847 0 1,836 1,007 0 0 0 0 0 

Severe 
Weather 

0 0 0 1,242 1,100 0 0 0 0 

Potholes 
Fund 

0 0 0 2,197 0 784 2,543 332 931 

Productivity 
Fund 

0 0 0 0 0 0 1,830 0 0 

Sub-Total 12,059 10,679 11,968 14,226 12,986 12,346 15,956 11,904 12,487 

Durham County Council Funding 

Highway 
Maintenance 

1,212 3,012 2,912 5,404 4,811 6,911 9,054 7,486 7,036 

Total 13,271 13,691 14,880 19,630 17,797 19,257 25,010 19,390 19,523 
*Projected 

 

Page 255



 16 

9.2 The above budget rebased for construction inflation (BCIS Civil 
Engineering 1990 Series) at 1 April 2016 prices is summarised as 
follows: 

 

   Year Ending 31 March £’000s 

 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Nominal  

Budget 13,271 13,691 14,880 19,630 17,797 19,257 25,010 19,390 19,523 

Inflation % 3.49% 5.08% 1.33% 1.25% -0.76% -0.75% 4.55% 3.05% *3.00% 

Index 236.14 248.13 251.44 254.59 252.66 250.76 262.18 270.17 278.29 

Real 1 April 2016 Prices  

Budget 14,093 13,836 14,840 19,335 17,664 19,257 23,922 17,997 17,592 
*BCIS Civil Engineering Forecast 

 
9.3 It can be seen that the above outturn spend is significantly less than 

the annual depreciation charge. 
 
9.4 The above budgets have purchased the following quantities of 

programmed capital maintenance: 
 

*Projected 
 
9.5 It can be seen that the quantity of programmed capital maintenance 

purchased is less than the steady state condition benchmark and 

Programmed 
Capital 
Maintenance 
– Quantities 

Unit Steady 
State 
Condition 
Benchmark 

 Year Ending 31 March 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019* 2020* 

Carriageways 
Km 
treated 

7.0% 
122 

3.2% 
156 

4.1% 
168 

4.4% 
165 

4.4% 
178 

4.7% 
205 

5.4% 
185 

4.9% 
185    

4.9% 

Kerbing 
Km 
treated 

2.5% 
4.8 

0.1% 
4.8 

0.1% 
4.8 

0.1% 
4.8 

0.1% 
4.8 

0.1% 
4.8 

0.1% 
4.8 

0.1% 
4.8 

0.1% 

Drainage 
(Gullies) 

Number 2.5% 
130 

0.12% 
130 

0.12% 
130 

0.12% 
130 

0.12% 
130 

0.12% 
200 

0.18% 
250 

0.23% 
250 

0.23% 

Road 
Markings 

Km 
treated 

14.3% 
286 

12.8% 
287 

12.8% 
285 

12.7% 
285 

12.7% 
285 

12.7% 
285 

12.7% 
287 

12.7% 
287 

12.7% 

Footways 
Km 
treated 

5.0% 
84 

2.2% 
88 

2.3% 
108 

2.8% 
95 

2.5% 
103 

2.7% 
122 

3.3% 
111 

2.8% 
113 

2.9% 

Structures 
No. of 
bridges 
treated 

5.0% 
66 

6.9% 
50 

5.2% 
26 

2.7% 
26 

2.7% 
46 

4.8% 
47 

4.9% 
47 

4.9% 
47 

4.9% 

Street lighting 

No. 
columns 
replaced 

2.5% 
836 

1.3% 
841 

1.3% 
802 

1.2% 
830 

1.3% 
2,213 
3.4% 

1,040 
1.7% 

1,375 
2.2% 

1,500 
2.4% 

No. 
luminaires  
replaced 

5.0% 
7,423 
8.9% 

8,137 
9.8% 

11,971 
14.4% 

12,302 
14.8% 

11,904 
14.3% 

12,006 
14.4% 

3,097 
3.7% 

7,355 
8.8% 

 No. lit 
signs 
replaced 

2.5% 
100 

1.8% 
100 

1.8% 
100 

1.8% 
105 

1.8% 
105 

1.8% 
105 

1.8% 
105 

1.8% 
106 

1.8% 

Traffic 
Management 

 6.7% 
2 

1.4% 
1 

0.7% 
2 

1.4% 
2 

1.4% 
2 

1.4% 
2 

1.4% 
2 

1.4% 
2 

1.4% 

Street 
Furniture 

Items 
replaced 

3.2% 
1,750 
1.8% 

1,750 
1.8% 

2,010 
2.1% 

1,680 
1.7% 

1,700 
1.7% 

1700* 
1.7% 

1700 
1.7% 

1700 
1.7% 

Page 256



 17 

this explains why the condition of the highway asset has deteriorated 
over the period. 

 

10. Investment Levels 
 
10.1 The TAMP measures the current and projected condition of the asset 

for a given level of investment in programmed capital maintenance.  
 
10.2 A range of investment levels (condition or budget led) are provided 

to allow stakeholders to select the most appropriate investment level 
to meet their objectives within available budgets. 

 
10.3 We have modelled the following investment levels as stated in the 

policy: 
 

Investment Level – 
Programmed Capital 
Maintenance 

1 April 2016 Prices (£ millions) 

One Off 
Capital Cost 

Annual 
Average 

Capital Cost 

Annual Average 
Capital Cost (Once 

Backlog Cleared) 

Projected Budget N/A £17.8 N/A 

Steady State Condition N/A £21.6 N/A 

Eliminate highway maintenance 
backlog over 1 year then maintain 
at steady state condition 

£187.6 N/A £21.4 

Eliminate highway maintenance 
backlog over 30 years then 
maintain at steady state condition 

N/A £32.1 £21.4 

 
10.4 It is assumed that budgets will be uplifted for inflation to maintain 

purchasing power at 1 April 2016 prices. 
  
10.5 The Projected Budget is an indicative annualised figure and the 

actual budgets may be greater or less depending upon Department 
for Transport and Council funding. 

 
10.6 The above does not take account of any growth in the inventory from 

new developments which will increase the above values. 
 

10.7 The projected condition and maintenance backlog for the Projected 
Budget service level is provided in Appendix 2. 

 
10.8 The investment levels are calculated using nationally accredited 

lifecycle planning models which are based on current condition 
projected forward for average annual deterioration over a period of 
30 years. In the short term the annual movements in the 
maintenance backlog are affected by: 

 
 Inflation; 
 Annual variations in deterioration due to the severity of the 

weather; 

Page 257



 18 

 Cycle for collecting condition data which is up to 6 years; and 
 The accuracy of the nationally accredited deterioration model 

when applied to County Durham. 
 

10.9 If investment is less than the steady state condition investment level 
then in the medium term: 

 
 The condition of the highway asset will deteriorate; 
 The maintenance backlog will increase; 
 The number of defects will increase and put pressure on the 

reactive and routine revenue maintenance budgets; 
 The number of public liability claims will increase and put 

pressure on the insurance budget; and 
 Public satisfaction will decrease. 

 
10.10 If investment is more than the steady state condition investment level 

then in the medium term: 
 

 The condition of the highway asset will improve; 
 The maintenance backlog will reduce; 
 The number of defects will reduce; 
 The number of public liability claims will reduce; and 
 Public satisfaction will improve. 

 
11. Feedback 
 
11.1 The Council welcomes feedback on any aspect of this TAMP. If you 

would like to provide feedback please provide via Customer Services 
using the following contact details: 

 
 Website: www.durham.gov.uk  
 Email:  help@durham.gov.uk 
 Telephone number: 03000 260000 

Page 258

mailto:help@durham.gov.uk


 19 

Appendix 1 - Inventory Summary 
 

Adopted Highway Unit 
 31 March 

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

Carriageways   

A Roads Km 412 412 412 416 416 416 416 416 415 415 415 

B Roads Km 408 406 406 407 407 407 407 406 406 406 406 

C Roads Km 696 695 699 698 698 697 697 697 697 697 696 

Unclassified Km 2,181 2,191 2,195 2,200 2,212 2,224 2,236 2,255 2,262 2,276 2,279 

Sub-Total Km 3,697 3,704 3,712 3,721 3,733 3,744 3,756 3,774 3,780 3,794 3,796 

Kerbing Km 4,431 4,441 4,449 4,462 4,478 4,493 4,539 4,573 4,588 4,605 4,611 

Drainage   

Gullies Number 104,280 104,547 104,741 105,034 105,428 105,805 107,488 108,340 110,054 110,462 110,606 

Ditches Km 262 262 262 262 262 262 262 262 262 262 262 

Pipework Km 355 355 356 358 359 360 365 368 376 377 377 

Road Markings    

Lines Km 2,229 2,227 2,232 2,237 2,241 2,240 2,243 2,242 2,242 2,250 2,253 

Other items Number 19,915 19,935 19,973 20,035 20,085 20,129 22,167 22,271 22,271 22,331 22,360 

Footways Km 3,393 3,405 3,487 3,543 3,600 3,656 3,783 3,837 3,828 3,886 3,719 

Structures Number 1,355 1,360 1,380 1,398 1,399 1,402 1,402 1,402 1,448 1,476 1,473 

Street Lighting Number 85,277 85,909 86,541 87,173 87,803 88,491 89,008 89,085 88,675 88,504 89,413 

Traffic Management Number 110 118 121 123 127 129 133 136 138 139 142 

Street Furniture     

Safety fencing Km 53 53 53 53 53 53 53 53 53 53 53 

Other Number 87,167 88,265 89,363 90,462 91,560 92,658 93,757 95,320 95,385 94,320 94,436 

Land M² 29,904,170 29,963,830 30,159,100 30,326,800 30,499,600 30,891,150 31,326,522 31,353,145 30,939,856 31,019,148 30,852,356 

P
age 259



 20 

Appendix 2 - Projected Condition and Maintenance Backlog 
 

Asset Description Condition – Projected Budget 

  
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 

A - Roads 
% where maintenance 
should be considered   

2.6 2.2 2.3 2.5 2.9 3.2 3.4 3.7 3.9 4.1 4.2 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 4.9 

B – Roads 4.7 4.3 4.4 4.7 5.1 5.5 5.8 6.1 6.3 6.5 6.6 6.6 6.6 6.6 6.6 6.6 

C – Roads 3.7 3.4 3.6 4.0 4.5 5.0 5.3 5.7 5.9 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.3 6.3 6.3 6.3 

Unclassified 
Roads 

% where maintenance 
should be considered   

20 17.9 16.8 16.5 16.5 16.9 17.5 18.2 19.0 19.8 20.6 21.5 22.3 23.2 24.1 24.9 

All Roads 
% where maintenance 
should be considered   

13.5 12.1 11.5 11.4 11.6 12.0 12.5 13.0 13.6 14.1 14.7 15.2 15.8 16.3 16.8 17.3 

Footways  
% functionally/ structurally 
impaired 

22.8 22.9 23.1 23.4 23.7 24.1 24.6 25.0 25.4 25.8 26.2 26.6 26.9 27.2 27.5 27.8 

Kerbing 
% where replacement 
should be considered 

10.0 10.4 10.7 11.1 11.4 11.7 12.1 12.4 12.8 13.1 13.4 13.8 14.1 14.4 14.8 15.1 

Drainage 
% where replacement 
should be considered 

10.0 10.8 11.5 12.3 13.0 13.7 14.5 15.2 15.9 16.6 17.3 18.0 18.6 19.3 20.0 20.7 

Road 
Markings 

% where replacement 
should be considered 

55.0 59.8 63.9 67.4 70.4 73.0 75.2 77.1 78.8 80.2 81.4 82.4 83.3 84.0 84.7 85.2 

Structures 

Bridge Condition Index – 
Principal roads 

80.0 80.4 79.0 80.1 81.1 80.9 80.2 80.3 79.8 79.1 78.6 77.7 77.7 77.5 77.0 76.6 

Bridge Condition Index – 
Non-Principal Roads  

81.0 81.3 80.8 81.1 81.3 81.0 80.4 81.0 80.7 80.1 79.6 79.8 79.4 78.0 77.5 77.0 

Street 
Lighting 

% columns > 40 years 15.3 21.3 19.7 18.1 16.4 14.8 13.1 11.6 10.2 8.9 8.2 7.5 6.9 6.2 5.6 5.0 

% lanterns > 20 years 18.3 22.5 19.0 15.3 11.3 7.0 11.1 14.9 18.6 22.1 25.4 28.5 31.5 34.3 37.0 39.6 

Lit signs 17.1 21.7 23.3 24.9 26.5 28.0 29.5 31.0 32.4 33.8 35.1 36.4 37.7 39.0 40.2 41.4 

Traffic 
Management 

% traffic signals > 15 years 19.0 23.1 26.6 30.3 34.2 38.2 42.2 46.1 49.8 53.4 56.8 59.9 62.7 65.3 67.7 69.8 

Street 
Furniture 

% where replacement 
should be considered 

8.0 9.9 11.7 13.4 15.0 16.6 18.1 19.5 20.9 22.2 23.4 24.6 25.8 26.9 27.9 28.9 

Maintenance 
Backlog (1 
April 2016 
prices) 

(£ millions) 187.6 191.0 188.5 188.9 190.3 192.0 196.4 201.3 205.8 210.1 215.0 219.7 224.3 228.5 232.6 236.7 

Projected 
Budget (1 
April 2016 
prices) 

(£ millions) N/A 17.8 17.8 17.8 17.8 17.8 17.8 17.8 17.8 17.8 17.8 17.8 17.8 17.8 17.8 17.8 

P
age 260



 21 

 

Appendix 2 - Projected Condition and Maintenance Backlog (Continued) 
 

Asset Description Condition – Projected Budget 

  
2033 2034 2035 2036 2037 2038 2039 2040 2041 2042 2043 2044 2045 2046 2047 

A - Roads 
% where maintenance should be 
considered   

5.0 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5 5.6 5.7 5.7 5.8 5.9 6.0 6.1 6.2 6.3 

B – Roads 6.5 6.4 6.3 6.3 6.2 6.1 6.0 5.9 5.8 5.7 5.6 5.5 5.4 5.3 5.3 

C – Roads 6.3 6.2 6.2 6.1 6.0 5.9 5.9 5.8 5.7 5.6 5.6 5.5 5.4 5.3 5.2 

Unclassified 
Roads 

% where maintenance should be 
considered   

25.7 26.5 27.3 28.0 28.7 29.3 29.9 30.5 31.1 31.6 32.1 32.5 33.0 33.4 33.8 

All Roads 
% where maintenance should be 
considered   

17.8 18.3 18.7 19.2 19.6 19.9 20.3 20.6 21.0 21.3 21.5 21.8 22.0 22.3 22.5 

Footways  % functionally/ structurally impaired 28.0 28.2 28.4 28.5 28.7 28.8 28.9 29.0 29.1 29.1 29.2 29.2 29.2 29.2 29.3 

Kerbing 
% where replacement should be 
considered 

15.4 15.7 16.1 16.4 16.7 17.0 17.3 17.6 18.0 18.3 18.6 18.9 19.2 19.5 19.8 

Drainage 
% where replacement should be 
considered 

21.3 22.0 22.6 23.2 23.9 24.5 25.1 25.7 26.3 26.9 27.5 28.1 28.7 29.2 29.8 

Road 
Markings 

% where replacement should be 
considered 

85.7 86.1 86.5 86.8 87.0 87.2 87.4 87.6 87.7 87.8 87.9 88.0 88.1 88.2 88.2 

Structures 

Bridge Condition Index – Principal 
roads 

75.8 75.0 74.9 75.7 74.1 73.8 71.9 72.6 74.2 73.1 72.1 71.4 71.7 70.3 68.7 

Bridge Condition Index – Non-Principal 
Roads  

75.9 75.5 75.7 75.4 73.7 73.3 71.5 70.1 71.5 70.1 69.5 69.0 69.4 68.2 66.6 

Street 
Lighting 

% columns > 40 years 4.4 3.9 3.4 2.9 2.5 2.1 1.7 1.7 1.8 1.8 1.9 1.9 2.0 2.1 2.2 

% lanterns > 20 years 42.0 44.3 46.5 48.6 50.6 52.5 54.2 55.9 57.6 59.1 60.5 61.9 63.2 64.5 65.7 

Lit signs 42.5 43.6 44.7 45.8 46.9 47.9 48.9 49.8 50.8 51.7 52.6 53.5 54.3 55.2 56.0 

Traffic 
Management 

% traffic signals > 15 years 71.7 73.4 74.9 76.2 77.3 78.3 79.2 79.9 80.6 81.1 81.6 82.0 82.4 82.7 82.9 

Street 
Furniture 

% where replacement should be 
considered 

29.9 30.8 31.7 32.6 33.4 34.2 34.9 35.7 36.3 37.0 37.6 38.2 38.8 39.4 39.9 

Maintenance 
Backlog (1 
April 2016 
prices) 

(£ millions) 240.3 243.8 247.6 251.2 253.9 256.9 258.9 262.1 266.0 268.3 270.8 273.1 275.9 277.7 279.4 

Projected 
Budget (1 
April 2016 
prices) 

(£ millions) 17.8 17.8 17.8 17.8 17.8 17.8 17.8 17.8 17.8 17.8 17.8 17.8 17.8 17.8 17.8 

P
age 261



 22 

Appendix 3 - Condition Benchmarking 
 

Measured Road Condition Weighted by Road Length 
 

 2014 2015 2016 2017 

Road Class 
Network 

Length 
(Km) 

Length 
where 

maintenance 
should be 

considered 
(Km) 

Percentage 
where 

maintenance 
should be 

considered 
% 

Network 
Length 

(Km) 

Length 
where 

maintenance 
should be 

considered 
(Km) 

Percentage 
where 

maintenance 
should be 

considered 
% 

Network 
Length 

(Km) 

Length 
where 

maintenance 
should be 

considered 
(Km) 

Percentage 
where 

maintenance 
should be 

considered 
% 

Network 
Length 

(Km) 

Length 
where 

maintenance 
should be 

considered 
(Km) 

Percentage 
where 

maintenance 
should be 

considered 
% 

A Roads 415.8 19.1 4.6 415.3 20.4 4.9 415.3 17.0 4.1 415.3 10.8 2.6 

B Roads 406.3 32.1 7.9 406.4 30.5 7.5 406.4 21.5 5.3 406.4 19.1 4.7 

C Roads 696.8 56.4 8.1 696.7 34.8 5.0 696.7 25.1 3.6 695.6 25.7 3.7 

U Roads 2,240.4 492.9 22.0 2,252.1 427.9 19.0 2,276.1 455.2 20.0 2,278.9 387.4 20.0 

All Roads 3,759.3 600.5 16.0 3,770.5 513.6 13.6 3,794.5 518.8 13.7 3,796.2 444.2 13.5 

  

P
age 262



 23 

Department for Transport Statistics 
 

Principal and non-principal classified roads where maintenance should be considered (RDC0120) 
 

 Principal (LA maintained 'A' roads) 

 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

National 

DCC % .. 5 6 6 5 5 4 3 

Average % 5.81 6.08 5.95 6.16 6.10 3.99 3.81 3.84 

Mode % 4.00 4.00 4.00 3.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 3.00 

Minimum % 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0 1 

Maximum % 17.00 18.00 21.00 32.00 24.00 13.00 10.00 11.00 

Number of Returns 150 132 146 143 149 147 149 150 

DCC Rank (Low to High) N/A 52 78 78 76 99 83 47 

North East 

DCC % .. 5 6 6 5 5 4 3 

Average % 2.55 3.73 4.00 3.33 3.33 3.75 2.92 2.17 

Mode % 3.00 4.00 3.00 2.00 2.00 2 3.00 2.00 

Minimum % 1.00 1.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2 1 1 

Maximum % 5.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 5.00 7 6 3 

Number of Returns 11 11 12 12 12 12 12 12 

DCC Rank (Low to High) N/A 9 11 12 9 9 10 9 

 
 Non-principal (LA maintained 'B' and 'C' roads) 

 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

National 

DCC % .. 9 10 9 8 6 4 3 

Average % 8.17 8.44 8.34 8.34 7.81 6.43 4.89 4.82 

Mode % 7.00 7.00 10.00 5.00 3.00 4 5.00 4.00 

Minimum % 2.00 1.00 2.00 2.00 1.00 1 1 1 

Maximum % 25.00 26.00 22.00 26.00 27.00 21 17.00 18.00 

Number of Returns 149 131 144 143 149 146 149 148 

DCC Rank (Low to High) N/A 73 95 83 86 70 51 26 

North East  

DCC % .. 9 10 9 8 6 4 3 

Average % 5.27 6.55 7.17 6.25 6.25 5.50 4.58 3.42 

Mode % 2.00 11.00 3.00 9.00 8.00 6 4.00 2.00 

Minimum % 2.00 2.00 3.00 2.00 2.00 1 1 1 

Maximum % 13.00 11.00 13.00 12.00 14.00 11 10 8 

Number of Returns 11 11 12 12 12 12 12 12 

DCC Rank (Low to High) N/A 8 9 8 8 7 7 7 

P
age 263



 24 

/

 

County Durham UA, 3

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

English Local Authorities

RDC0120 2016/17 English Local Authority Principal A Roads % Considered for
Maintenance

Average 3.84 

P
age 264



 25 

 

3

0

1

2

3

4

M
id

d
le

sb
ro

u
gh

 U
A

R
ed

ca
r 

an
d

 C
le

ve
la

n
d

 U
A

D
ar

lin
gt

o
n

 U
A

H
ar

tl
ep

o
o

l U
A

St
o

ck
to

n
-o

n
-T

e
es

 U
A

G
at

e
sh

e
ad

N
o

rt
h

 T
yn

es
id

e

Su
n

d
er

la
n

d

C
o

u
n

ty
 D

u
rh

am
 U

A

N
o

rt
h

u
m

b
e

rl
an

d
 U

A

N
e

w
ca

st
le

 u
p

o
n

 T
yn

e

So
u

th
 T

yn
es

id
e

RDC0120 2016/17 English Local Authority Principal A Roads % Considered for
Maintenance

Average 2.17 

P
age 265



 26 

 

County Durham UA, 3

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

English Local Authorities

RDC0120 2016/17 English Local Authority B & C Roads % Considered for
Maintenance

Average 4.82 

P
age 266



 27 

 
 

3

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

M
id

d
le

sb
ro

u
gh

 U
A

H
ar

tl
ep

o
o

l U
A

R
ed

ca
r 

an
d

 C
le

ve
la

n
d

 U
A

St
o

ck
to

n
-o

n
-T

e
es

 U
A

N
e

w
ca

st
le

 u
p

o
n

 T
yn

e

Su
n

d
er

la
n

d

C
o

u
n

ty
 D

u
rh

am
 U

A

G
at

e
sh

e
ad

N
o

rt
h

 T
yn

es
id

e

D
ar

lin
gt

o
n

 U
A

N
o

rt
h

u
m

b
e

rl
an

d
 U

A

So
u

th
 T

yn
es

id
e

RDC0120 2016/17 English Local Authority B & C Roads % Considered for
Maintenance

Average 3.42 

P
age 267



 28 

Department for Transport Statistics 
 

Percentage of unclassified roads where maintenance should be considered (RDC0130) 
 

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 
 

England 

 

DCC % 16 17 17 20 21 22 19 20 20 

Average % 13.99 14.05 14.74 15.49 15.81 17.71 16.46 16.13 15.59 

Mode % 9.00 6.00 11.00 12.00 7.00 8.00 10.00 12.00 12.00 

Minimum % 1.00 1.00 3.00 2.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 2.00 1 

Maximum % 56.00 42.00 43.00 41.00 45.00 74.00 70.00 75.00 60.00 

Number of Returns 122 123 115 113 112 130 128 129 129 

DCC Rank (Low to High) 81 85 74 86 86 96 87 92 91 
 

North East 

 

DCC % 16 17 17 20 21 22 19 20 20* 

Average % 9.67 8.64 8.33 9.91 9.91 11.18 11.42 13.50 13.83 

Mode % 9.00 8.00 6.00 7.00 7.00 10.00 10.00 12.00 12.00 

Minimum % 5.00 3.00 4.00 6.00 7.00 4.00 8.00 10 4 

Maximum % 16.00 17.00 17.00 20.00 21.00 22.00 19.00 20 20 

Number of Returns 12 11 12 11 11 11 12 12 12 

DCC Rank (Low to High) 12 11 12 11 11 11 12 12 12 

* Our return to the Department for Transport initially reported 17% but following a review to ensure accuracy and consistency with prior years was revised to 20% 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 268



 29 

 

County Durham UA, 20

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

English Local Authorities

RDC0130 2016/17 Unclassified Roads % Considered for
Maintenance

Average 15.59 

P
age 269



 30 

20

0

5

10

15

20

25

N
o

rt
h

 T
yn

es
id

e

M
id

d
le

sb
ro

u
gh

 U
A

N
o

rt
h

u
m

b
e

rl
an

d
 U

A

St
o

ck
to

n
-o

n
-T

e
es

 U
A

R
ed

ca
r 

an
d

 C
le

ve
la

n
d

 U
A

N
e

w
ca

st
le

 u
p

o
n

 T
yn

e

H
ar

tl
ep

o
o

l U
A

D
ar

lin
gt

o
n

 U
A

Su
n

d
er

la
n

d

So
u

th
 T

yn
es

id
e

G
at

e
sh

e
ad

C
o

u
n

ty
 D

u
rh

am
 U

A

RDC0130 2016/17 North East Local Authority
Unclassified Roads % Considered for Maintenance

Average 13.83 

P
age 270



 

Cabinet 

 
12 September 2018 
 
Update on North East Combined Authority 
 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Council 

Terry Collins, Chief Executive Officer 

Ian Thompson, Corporate Director Regeneration and Local 
Services 

Councillor Carl Marshall, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economic 

Regeneration 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1. To update Cabinet on proposals to amend the boundary and membership of 

NECA, to create a new North of Tyne Mayoral Combined Authority and to 
establish a new statutory Joint Transport Committee covering the two 
combined authorities. 

 
2. In addition to seek the endorsement of Cabinet to a decision taken under 

urgency provisions to agree to a Deed of Cooperation between the seven Local 
Authorities and NECA setting out the proposed joint working arrangements in 
relation to transport and the North East LEP. 

 
Background 
 
3. The North East Combined Authority (NECA) was established in April 2014 

covering the seven local authorities of Durham, Gateshead, Newcastle upon 
Tyne, North Tyneside, Northumberland, South Tyneside and Sunderland. 

 
4. In November 2017, the North of Tyne Authorities (Newcastle upon Tyne, North 

Tyneside and Northumberland) agreed to a “minded to” Devolution Deal with 

Government.  In order to implement this deal there is a requirement to establish 

a new Mayoral Combined Authority, which in itself requires the three councils to 

withdraw from the existing NECA. 

 

Revised arrangements 

 

5. In considering the revised governance arrangements, Government mandated 

that the two combined authorities maintain joint arrangements for transport.  

The statutory Order amending NECA and creating the new North of Tyne 

Mayoral Authority will therefore also establish a statutory Joint Transport 

Committee, with the intention of replicating the existing approach to transport 

governance across the NECA area. 

Page 271

Agenda Item 10



 

 

6. Once the Order takes effect the organisational structure will move from one 

Combined Authority and one LEP, to four entities (as set out below), which will 

need to work closely together to collectively deliver transport and the ambitions 

set out the North East Strategic Economic Plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Joint Transport Committee 
 
7. The Joint Transport Committee will comprise four members (and four 

substitutes) from the revised NECA, and three members (and three substitute 
members) from the new Mayoral Combined Authority (MCA), one of the 
members being the Mayor, unless the Mayor agrees otherwise. 

 

8. The Transport Committee will discharge the transport functions of both 

Combined Authorities, set the transport levies, and determine anything to be 

done in relation to property, rights and liabilities held in relation to transport. 

 
9. The statutory Order will allow for different levies to be raised for Tyne and 

Wear, County Durham and Northumberland, and also allow for the delegation 

of transport functions to constituent authorities, reflecting the current 

arrangements for Durham. 

 
10. The Order also makes provision for the Joint Transport Committee to appoint a 

Proper Officer for transport, being the principle officer to assist the committee in 

the exercise of its transport functions. 

 
11. Joint arrangements between NECA and North of Tyne MCA will be established 

to provide for the scrutiny and audit of the responsibilities of the Transport Joint 

Committee.  The joint arrangements will provide for an Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee and an Audit Committee comprising elected Members from the 

constituent authorities of both Combined Authorities. 

 

Joint Working Arrangements – Deed of Co-operation 
 
12. In April 2018, the NECA Leadership Board resolved to agree in principle to 

amend NECA's boundary to remove Newcastle upon Tyne, North Tyneside and 
Northumberland, to permit the creation of a Mayoral Combined Authority 
covering these areas, and to establish joint transport governance 
arrangements, which cover the seven local authorities. 

 

North of Tyne Mayoral 

Combined Authority 
(3 LAs of Newcastle, North 
Tyneside, Northumberland) 

North East Combined 

Authority 
(4 LAs of Durham, Gateshead, 
South Tyneside, Sunderland) 

North East LEP 
(All 7 LAs) 

Joint Transport 

Committee 
(All 7 LAs) 

Page 272



 

13. The Leadership Board instructed its Officers to develop a ‘Deed of Co-
operation’, setting out a legal framework for future joint working and co-
operation in relation to transport matters and the North East Local Enterprise 
Partnership, to implement the Order. 

 
14. The decision to agree the terms of the Deed of Cooperation had to be taken as 

a matter of urgency prior to July Cabinet to ensure that formal consent to the 
making of the changes to NECA could be given as soon as required by 
Government.  The decision of the Chief Executive and Corporate Directors of 
Regeneration and Local Services and Resources is attached at Appendix 2. 

 
15. Paragraph 12 of Table One of the Constitution which authorises decisions to be 

taken by the Corporate Directors in the event of urgency requires such 
decisions to be reported for information to the next convenient meeting of the 
body which would normally make the decision. 

 
Parliamentary process and timescales 
 
16. The draft Order was laid in Parliament before the summer recess.  It is 

anticipated that Parliament will debate the Order during September/October, 
with an earliest potential implementation date of 1 November 2018. 

 
17. In preparation for the implementation of the Order, officers from the existing 

NECA and the proposed revised membership of NECA are reviewing the 
operational implications of the changes. 

 
Summary and Conclusions 
 
18. This report is for information only and requires no decisions.  
 
Recommendations and reasons 
 
19. Cabinet are recommended to note the update on changes to NECA and 

revised governance arrangements; and to note the decision taken under 
urgency powers to enter into a Deed of Cooperation with NECA and the other 
six local authorities setting out the legal framework for joint working going 
forward. 
 

Background Documents 
 
20. Report to the Council “The Durham, Gateshead, Newcastle upon Tyne, North 

Tyneside, Northumberland, South Tyneside and Sunderland Combined 
Authority” dated 2 April 2014. 

 
 

Contact:       Adrian White          Tel:    03000 267455 
  

Page 273



 

Appendix 1: Implications 

 
Finance –  
None specific in this report 

 
Staffing –  
None. 

 
Risk –  
None. 

 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty –  
None. 

 
Accommodation –  
None. 
 
Crime and Disorder –  
None. 
 
Human Rights –  
None. 
 
Consultation –  
None. 
 
Procurement –  
None. 
 
Disability Issues –  
None. 
 
Legal Implications –  
The Deed of Cooperation supplements the provisions of the Order creating a new 
Combined Mayoral Authority and making consequential changes to the governance 
arrangements for NECA. 

 

Page 274



Appendix 2 

 

 

DELEGATED DECISION 
 

Corporate Management Team  
 
July 2018 
 

Entry into a Deed of Cooperation with the 
Constituent Councils of the North East 
Combined Authority 
 

 

 

 
 

Report of Corporate Management Team  

Terry Collins Chief Executive 

Ian Thompson Corporate Director Regeneration and Local Services 

John Hewitt Corporate Director Resources 

 

 
Purpose of the Report 

1. To authorise entry into a Deed of Cooperation recording an agreement 
 between the constituent councils on the handling of the consequences of the 
 formation of a new Mayoral Combined Authority for Newcastle, North 
 Tyneside and Northumberland.  

Background 

On 26th April 2018, The Leadership Board of the North East Combined Authority 
(“NECA”) consented in principle to the making of an Order by the Secretary of State 
which would have the following effects: 
 
a. amend the boundaries of NECA to remove the North of Tyne local 
authority areas (Newcastle upon Tyne, North Tyneside and 
Northumberland); 
b. create and give powers to a new Mayoral Combined Authority; 
c. provide for a Joint Transport Committee and a Proper Officer for Transport; 
d. transfer transport related assets into the joint ownership of the two 
Combined Authorities; 
e. make the Tyne and Wear Passenger Transport Executive (NEXUS) an 
executive body of each of the Combined Authorities and  amend 
legislation to extend its duties to both Combined Authorities; and 
f. make consequential amendments including amendments to the NECA 
Order and relevant legislation to give effect to the above. 
 
The Leadership Board agreed that NECA would enter into a Deed of Co-operation 
with each of the Councils for the Local Government areas of Durham, Gateshead, 
Newcastle upon Tyne, North Tyneside, Northumberland, South Tyneside and 

Page 275



Appendix 2 

Sunderland reflecting the terms set out in the Heads of Terms attached in Appendix 
2 to this report  
 
Those decisions were expressly made subject to: 
a. all seven current constituent authorities of NECA and NECA itself entering into 
the Deed of Co-operation referred to in  above; and 
b. the final Secretary of State’s Order reflecting all principles agreed upon 
between the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government and 
all constituent Authorities; 

 

 The Legal officers for the seven Councils and the Monitoring Officer for NECA have 
approved the wording of an agreement which reflects the Heads of Terms original 
produced and agreed on 26th April 2018.  

Details of any alternative options considered and rejected when making the 
decision 

1. Deciding not to accept the assurances provided by the draft Deed of 
 Cooperation  

Recommendations and reasons 

2. The draft deed of cooperation sets out proposals for future decision making 
 which  protects the position of the constituent Councils of the two Combined 
 Authorities and which is not detrimental to the interests of County Durham. It 
 follows the principle that only the minimum changes should be made to the 
 existing arrangements which would be necessary to reflect the consequences 
 of operating as two separate Combined Authorities. The major area covered 
 is the new Joint Committee which will make decisions on transport matters. 
 The Agreement also deals with the consequences of reallocating 
 responsibility to act as Accountable Bodies for Transport and the NELEP. It 
 covers certain costs implications which may arise from transfer of staff.  
 

Decision 

3. Approval of entry into the finalised Deed of Cooperation requires an urgent 
 decision which will not await the next scheduled meeting of Cabinet. It is 
 therefore  agreed to approve the Council’s entry into the Deed of Cooperation 
 and authorise sealing of the Deed.  

 
 

Contact:  David Taylor  Tel: 03000 269727 

  

Page 276



Appendix 2 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Finance – The Agreement provides that the North of Tyne Authorities will pay the 
professional fees incurred due to the making of the Order and will meet additional 
pension related costs of transferring staff up until 31st March 2020 

 

Staffing - No effect on DCC staff 

 

Risk – The Agreement facilitates submission of consent to permit the Order to be 
made. It is a pre-condition of NECA approval to the granting of consent. Refusal 
would impede creation of the new mayoral combined Authority. The terms of the 
Agreement protect the council’s position in maintaining so far as possible the 
arrangements since have prevailed since 2014.  

 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty - None 

 

Accommodation - None 

 

Crime and Disorder - None 

 

Human Rights - None 

 

Consultation – The council in common with the other constituent Councils of NECA 
consulted on the principle of the changes to NECA which would arise from the 
formation of a new Mayoral Combined Authority for Newcastle, North Tyneside and 
Northumberland.  

 

Procurement – None 

 

Disability Issues - None 

 

Legal Implications – The agreement will supplement the provisions of the Order 
creating a new mayoral combined authority and revising arrangements for the 
operation of NECA in its reduced form.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 277



Appendix 2 

Appendix 2  

Heads of Terms  
 
1. Form: Deed 
2. Parties: 
a. The seven authorities for the Local Government areas of Durham, 
Gateshead, Newcastle upon Tyne, North Tyneside, Northumberland, 
South Tyneside and Sunderland (‘LA7’). 
b. The North East Combined Authority (‘NECA’). 
c. The three local authorities North of Tyne will procure that the North of 
Tyne Mayoral Combined Authority (‘NTMCA’) will become a party 
within 90 days of the commencement of an order creating the 
Combined Authority, and will procure that the terms of this agreement 
are honoured by the actions of the NTMCA until it becomes a party. 
3. Recitals/Preamble: 
a. This agreement is made in anticipation of consent being given to the 
making of an order by the Secretary of State for the reduction in size of 
the NECA area and the creation of NTMCA. 
b. The purpose of the agreement is as a framework for collaborative 
working and continuing the strong working relationship of the LA7 and 
the overall commitment that the two Combined Authorities will work 
together constructively; will continue partnership arrangements at 
relevant geographies and will unequivocally support the work of the 
North East Local Enterprise Partnership and the North East Strategic 
Economic Plan. 
c. The intention that the new arrangements replicate, as far as possible, 
the governance already in place in relation to transport. 
d. The opportunity to strengthen Executive Officer support for transport, 
reflecting the strategic importance of transport across the North East 
and to ensure that all decision making is transparent. 
e. Maintaining a clear distinction between the Transport Joint Committee 
arrangements and those of individual local highway authorities. 
f. Noting that Local Transport Plan funding and Highways Maintenance 
funding will continue to be directed to each of the LA7 local authorities. 
2 
4. Commencement Date and Term: 
a. The agreement will be signed by all parties on or before the date that 
consent is given to the making of the order. 
b. The agreement will come into force on the same date as the order 
comes into effect and will remain in force until varied or terminated by 
agreement of all parties or on the dissolution of either Combined 
Authority by order. 
c. The agreement will be effective in relation to the NTMCA from the date 
of execution and service of notice on the other parties. 
5. Executive Structures LA7: 
a. Continuation of the Chief Executives group (‘CExG’) made up of the 
LA7 Chief Executives or their appointed deputies, the Heads of Paid 
Service of the two Combined Authorities (if separate post-holder) and 
the Executive Director of the North East Local Enterprise Partnership (if 
a separate post-holder) or their appointed deputies. 

Page 278



Appendix 2 

b. This group is responsible for the support and sponsorship of the 
effective strategic direction of executive activities across the LA7 area 
in relation to transport and economic development. 
c. The Proper Officer appointed by the Transport Joint Committee will 
report into this group. 
6. Governance Structure – Transport: 
a. The Transport Joint Committee will have no authority in relation to the 
Local Transport Plan Integrated Transport block funding or the 
Highways Maintenance block funding which will, as present, continue 
to be paid to individual LA7 authorities or passported by the relevant 
Combined Authority to the LA7 authorities in the amounts specified by 
the Department for Transport. 
b. The Transport Joint Committee will have all the powers and 
responsibilities in the NECA Constitution of the current NECA 
Transport North East Committee or the NECA Leadership Board, to the 
extent they relate to Transport (updated to reflect any recent changes 
in the law). 
c. The Transport Joint Committee will create a Tyne and Wear Sub- 
Committee. 
d. The Tyne and Wear Sub-Committee will have all the powers and 
responsibilities in the NECA Constitution for the TWSC (updated to 
reflect any recent changes in the law) and the inclusion of express 
reference to setting Tyne Tunnels tolls. 
3 
e. Each Combined Authority will, in its standing orders (Constitution), 
delegate authority to the County Council in their area to the same effect 
as those currently included in the NECA Constitution. 
f. Transport protocols: 
i. The Combined Authorities will develop protocols covering the 
following areas: 
1. The passporting of Local Transport Plan Integrated 
Transport block funding to Local Authorities (in the 
amount specified by the Department for Transport, 
minus any agreed top-slice to fund the Regional 
Transport Team). The agreement of constituent 
authorities will be required for any change in this 
arrangement. This protocol will also confirm that there 
will be no change in relation to the payment of highway 
maintenance block funding to individual local 
authorities and the Transport Joint Committee will 
have no authority in relation to these funding streams. 
2. The practical management of funding swaps between 
the Combined Authorities. 
3. The exercise of transport functions by Durham and 
Northumberland County Councils to the same effect as 
those already agreed. 
7. Executive Structures – Transport 
a. The Proper Officer for transport will be responsible for strategy, policy 
and operational alignment of the LA7 authorities including the role of 
NEXUS. 

Page 279



Appendix 2 

b. The Proper Officer for transport will report to and take strategic 
direction from both the LA7 Chief Executives group and the Transport 
Joint Committee. 
c. Subject to the agreement of the Transport Joint Committee the parties 
agree that NECA will act as Accountable Body and hold and account 
for the finances in relation to transport. 
d. Transport Joint Committee will be free to determine its own rules and 
procedures which, to the extent necessary, will be incorporated into the 
Accountable Body’s standing orders (Constitution). 
e. In discharging its Accountable Body responsibilities, the Accountable 
Body will accept responsibilities and obligations to implement Transport 
Joint Committee and sub-committee decisions in similar terms to those 
4 currently set out in the Accountable Body Agreement (currently in place 
in relation to NECA’s role in relation to the North East Local Enterprise 
Partnership (North East LEP)). 
f. Where assets are held jointly both Combined Authorities will agree to 
procure that the actions agreed by the Transport Joint Committee are 
promptly completed (e.g. the sale, purchase or development of 
property). A protocol will be developed if necessary to describe 
agreement on the operation of this. 
g. The regional transport team will report to the Proper Officer for 
transport. 
h. Provisions concerning, effectiveness reviews, the appointment and 
dismissal of the Proper Officer for transport and support standards from 
the Accountable Body will be included in the agreement. 
i. Additional capacity and expert support provided under SLA terms from 
any LA7 authority subject to agreeing recharging arrangements. 
j. Running costs and liabilities in relation to the Joint Transport functions 
will be shared by the LA7, in the manner that they currently are. 
8. Governance and Executive Structures - North East Local Enterprise 
Partnership 
a. Whilst respecting the terms of the Accountable Body agreement, the 
North East LEP will agree which Combined Authority will act as its 
Accountable Body. The parties expect that the Accountable Body for 
transport will not also be the Accountable Body for the North East LEP. 
b. The North East LEP will be free to determine its own rules and 
procedures which, to the extent necessary, will be incorporated into the 
Accountable Body’s standing orders (Constitution). It is however 
acknowledged that re-charging arrangements may need to be 
refreshed to take account of the fact that some services are being 
provided without charge or at less than full cost. 
c. In discharging its Accountable Body responsibilities, the Accountable 
Body will accept responsibilities and obligations to North East LEP 
decisions in similar terms to those currently set out in the Accountable 
Body Agreement. 
d. Provisions concerning, effectiveness reviews, the appointment and 
dismissal of the Executive Director of the North East LEP and support 
standards from the Accountable Body will be included in the 
agreement. Expressly, the North East LEP will suffer no detriment – 
operationally or financially – as a result in any change of Accountable 

Page 280



Appendix 2 

Body. 
5 
e. The running costs and liabilities in relation to the North East LEP will be 
shared by the LA7 in current manner. 
9. Indemnities by LA7 authorities 
The agreement will include indemnities by which each of the LA7 local 
authorities indemnify the others in relation to liabilities arising out of: 
a. All actions of current or predecessor accountable bodies for the North East 
LEP and the Regional Transport matters; 
b. The transfer of accountable body contemplated by or pursuant to the 
agreement; 
c. The future discharge of accountable body functions for transport and the 
North East LEP; and 
d. Pensions matters – past and future liability (including an express provision 
that post-completion work should be shared between LA7 on current 
basis). 
10.General 
a. Review of arrangements – an annual review of the functioning of the 
relevant arrangements and procedural rules will be undertaken and 
reported respectively to the Transport Joint Committee and the North 
East Local Enterprise Partnership Board by the relevant accountable 
body Combined Authority. 
b. Amendments to Deed – the Deed may be amended by agreement of 
all parties to it. 
c. Dispute resolution – Proper Officer dispute resolution first between the 
two CA Heads of Paid Service escalating to 7CExs. 
d. Termination – by agreement of all parties or automatically if a 
Secretary of State order is made dissolving or amending the boundary 
of either Combined Authority. 
e. Notices – at the principle offices of each Combined Authority 
addressed to the Monitoring Officer and to the Monitoring Officers of 
each Combined Authority. 
 

 
 

Page 281



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 283

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 291

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the meeting held on 11 July 2018
	4 Delivery proposals for Aykley Heads Strategic Employment Site - Joint Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services and Corporate Director of Resources [Key Decision: REAL/06/18]
	5 Annual Reports 2017/18 - Health and Wellbeing Board and Local Safeguarding Adults Board - Joint Report of Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services, Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services, Director of Transformation and Partnerships and  Director of Public Health County Durham
	5 Final Joint HWB Appendix 2 HWB annual report 2017-18 (003)
	5 Final Joint HWB Appendix 3 LSAB annual report (003)

	6 Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2018/19 - Period to 30 June 2018 - Report of Corporate Director of Resources
	7 Update on the delivery of the Medium Term Financial Plan 8 - Report of Director of Transformation and Partnerships
	8 Quarter One 2018/19 Performance Management Report - Report of Director of Transformation and Partnerships
	9 Transport Asset Management Plan - Annual Update - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services
	9TAMP Appendix 2
	9TAMP Appendix 3

	10 Update on North East Combined Authority - Joint Report of Chief Executive Officer and Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services
	10 Final NECA Appendix 2

	13 Delivery proposals for Aykley Heads Strategic Employment Site - Joint Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services and Corporate Director of Resources [Key Decision: REAL/06/18]
	14 Commercial Development Opportunity in the County - Joint Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services and Corporate Director of Resources

